World Journal of *Clinical Oncology*

World J Clin Oncol 2022 May 24; 13(5): 314-422





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

WJC0

World Journal of Worin jon... Clinical Oncology

Contents

Monthly Volume 13 Number 5 May 24, 2022

MINIREVIEWS

314 Neoadjuvant treatment in non-small cell lung cancer: New perspectives with the incorporation of immunotherapy

Aguado C, Chara L, Antoñanzas M, Matilla Gonzalez JM, Jiménez U, Hernanz R, Mielgo-Rubio X, Trujillo-Reves JC, Couñago F

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

323 Tumor specifically internalizing peptide 'HN-1': Targeting the putative receptor retinoblastoma-regulated discoidin domain receptor 1 involved in metastasis

Hong FU, Castro M, Linse K

Retrospective Study

Co-relation of SARS-CoV-2 related 30-d mortality with HRCT score and RT-PCR Ct value-based viral load 339 in patients with solid malignancy

Narayan S, Talwar V, Goel V, Chaudhary K, Sharma A, Redhu P, Soni S, Jain A

352 Survival characteristics of fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma: A Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results database study

Sempokuya T, Forlemu A, Azawi M, Silangcruz K, Khoury N, Ma J, Wong LL

Modified binding pancreaticogastrostomy vs modified Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy after 366 laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic or periampullary tumors

Choudhury SR, Kalayarasan R, Gnanasekaran S, Pottakkat B

Observational Study

376 Assessing optimal Roux-en-Y reconstruction technique after total gastrectomy using the Postgastrectomy Syndrome Assessment Scale-45

Ikeda M, Yoshida M, Mitsumori N, Etoh T, Shibata C, Terashima M, Fujita J, Tanabe K, Takiguchi N, Oshio A, Nakada K

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

388 Immune checkpoint inhibitors in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: A systematic review of phase-3 clinical trials

Poulose JV, Kainickal CT

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

412

Commentary: Evaluating potential glioma serum biomarkers, with future applications

Goutnik M, Lucke-Wold B



Conto	World Journal of Clinical Oncology
Conte	Monthly Volume 13 Number 5 May 24, 2022
417	How to improve metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma patients' selection: Between clinical trials and the real-world
	Pretta A, Spanu D, Mariani S, Liscia N, Ziranu P, Pusceddu V, Puzzoni M, Massa E, Scartozzi M, Lai E



Contents

Monthly Volume 13 Number 5 May 24, 2022

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Clinical Oncology, Fabrício Freire de Melo, PhD, Professor, Instituto Multidisciplinar em Saúde, Universidade Federal da Bahia, Rua Hormindo Barros, 58, Candeias, Vitória da Conquista, Bahia 45029-094, Brazil. fabricio.freire@ufba.br

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Clinical Oncology (WJCO, World J Clin Oncol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of oncology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJCO mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of oncology and covering a wide range of topics including art of oncology, biology of neoplasia, breast cancer, cancer prevention and control, cancer-related complications, diagnosis in oncology, gastrointestinal cancer, genetic testing for cancer, gynecologic cancer, head and neck cancer, hematologic malignancy, lung cancer, melanoma, molecular oncology, neurooncology, palliative and supportive care, pediatric oncology, surgical oncology, translational oncology, and urologic oncology.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJCO is now abstracted and indexed in PubMed, PubMed Central, Emerging Sources Citation Index (Web of Science), Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2021 edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2020 Journal Citation Indicator (JCI) for WJCO as 0.48.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Wen-Wen Qi; Production Department Director: Xu Guo; Editorial Office Director: Ze-Mao Gong.

NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Clinical Oncology	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 2218-4333 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
November 10, 2010	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Hiten RH Patel, Stephen Safe, Jian-Hua Mao, Ken H Young	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
May 24, 2022	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2022 May 24; 13(5): 314-322

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.314

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Neoadjuvant treatment in non-small cell lung cancer: New perspectives with the incorporation of immunotherapy

Carlos Aguado, Luis Chara, Mónica Antoñanzas, Jose Maria Matilla Gonzalez, Unai Jiménez, Raul Hernanz, Xabier Mielgo-Rubio, Juan Carlos Trujillo-Reyes, Felipe Couñago

Specialty type: Oncology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Yelamanchi R, India

Received: April 28, 2021 Peer-review started: April 28, 2021 First decision: June 7, 2021 Revised: June 24, 2021 Accepted: May 7, 2022 Article in press: May 7, 2022 Published online: May 24, 2022



Carlos Aguado, Mónica Antoñanzas, Department of Medical Oncology, Hospital Clínico Universitario San Carlos, Madrid 28040, Spain

Luis Chara, Department of Medical Oncology, Hospital Universitario de Guadalajara, Guadalajara 19002, Spain

Jose Maria Matilla Gonzalez, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Hospital Clínico Universitario de Valladolid, Valladolid 47005, Spain

Unai Jiménez, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Hospital Universitario Cruces, Barakaldo, Bizkaia 48903, Basque Country, Spain

Raul Hernanz, Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital Universitario Ramón y Cajal, Madrid 28034, Spain

Xabier Mielgo-Rubio, Department of Medical Oncology, Hospital Universitario Fundación Alcorcón, Alcorcón 28922, Madrid, Spain

Juan Carlos Trujillo-Reyes, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Hospital de la Santa Creu I Sant Pau, Barcelona 08029, Catalonia, Spain

Juan Carlos Trujillo-Reyes, Department of Surgery, Universitat Autonoma de Barcelona, Barcelona 08029, Catalonia, Spain

Felipe Couñago, Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital Universitario Quirónsalud Madrid, Pozuelo de Alarcón 28223, Madrid, Spain

Felipe Couñago, Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital La Luz, Madrid 28003, Spain

Felipe Couñago, Medicine Department, School of Biomedical Sciences, Universidad Europea de Madrid, Villaviciosa de Odón 28670, Madrid, Spain

Corresponding author: Carlos Aguado, MD, Consultant Physician-Scientist, Department of Medical Oncology, Hospital Clínico Universitario San Carlos, Calle del Prof Martín Lagos, s/n, Madrid 28040, Spain. carlos.aguado84@gmail.com

Abstract

The aim of neoadjuvant treatment in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) is to eliminate micrometastatic disease to facilitate surgical resection. Neoadjuvant



chemotherapy (ChT) in localised NSCLC has numerous advantages over other therapeutic modalities and is considered standard treatment in resectable disease. Treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI) improves long-term survival in advanced disease and has a better toxicity profile than conventional therapies. These immunotherapy agents (anti-PD1/PD-L1), administered with or without ChT, are currently being evaluated in the preoperative setting, with initial results showing better pathological response rates and more long-term benefits. Importantly, these drugs do not appear to increase the rate of severe adverse effects and/or postoperative complications. However, several questions still need to be resolved, including the identification of predictive biomarkers; comparative studies of immunotherapy alone vs combined treatment with ChT and/or radiotherapy; the optimal duration of treatment; the timing of surgery; the need for adjuvant treatment; appropriate radiologic evaluation and mediastinal staging; and the correlation between pathological response and survival outcomes. Here we review the current evidence for immunotherapy from a multidisciplinary perspective and discuss current and future controversies.

Key Words: Non-small cell lung cancer; Neoadjuvant; Immune checkpoint inhibitors; Immunotherapy; Anti-PD1; Anti-PD-L1; Complete pathological response

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Studies evaluating neoadjuvant immunotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer have reported extraordinary pathological response rates without any increase in postoperative complications. However, before immunotherapy is implemented in routine clinical practice, several issues still need to be resolved. This review analyses the current evidence for immunotherapy from a multidisciplinary perspective and discusses current and future controversies.

Citation: Aguado C, Chara L, Antoñanzas M, Matilla Gonzalez JM, Jiménez U, Hernanz R, Mielgo-Rubio X, Trujillo-Reyes JC, Couñago F. Neoadjuvant treatment in non-small cell lung cancer: New perspectives with the incorporation of immunotherapy. World J Clin Oncol 2022; 13(5): 314-322 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v13/i5/314.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.314

INTRODUCTION

Approximately 30% of patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) are diagnosed with early-stage disease and most will undergo curative intent surgery. However, a substantial proportion of these patients will develop distant metastases, leading to a poor 5-year overall survival (OS) rate (< 35%) in patients with stage IIIA disease. Platinum-based adjuvant chemotherapy (ChT) has shown a marginal benefit in these patients, increasing 5-year survival rates by an additional 5%[1].

Multiple studies have directly compared adjuvant to neoadjuvant (preoperative) treatment, but have failed to demonstrate differences in efficacy between these two strategies. Nonetheless, neoadjuvant treatment has several advantages over adjuvant therapy, including: (1) A reduction in tumour volume and disease stage (thus increasing the potential for complete surgical resection); (2) early treatment of micrometastatic disease; (3) assessment of in vivo response to systemic therapy; and (4) improvement in the patient's preoperative performance status, which may increase adherence to the therapeutic plan.

The introduction of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI), which have been shown to substantially prolong survival in many patients, has radically altered the therapeutic landscape in advanced NSCLC. By contrast, the role of ICIs in localised disease is poorly understood. In this context, the aim of this article is to provide a detailed review, from a multidisciplinary perspective, of the current status of neoadjuvant therapy and the future of immunotherapy in locally-advanced NSCLC.

CONTRIBUTION OF NEOADJUVANT TREATMENT TO SURGERY IN STAGE III NSCLC

Numerous studies have evaluated the role of neoadjuvant therapy-mainly ChT-in surgically-treated patients with stage IIIA NSCLC. However, this approach remains controversial, in part due to the contradictory findings. Randomised studies have failed to demonstrate a clear advantage for neoadjuvant ChT followed by surgery vs definitive chemoradiotherapy (CRT). It seems likely that these



conflicting results are due to the wide heterogeneity in study designs (patient selection, treatment regimens, and treatment duration periods). Moreover, the type of surgery can also have a large influence on the outcomes. For example, in the Intergroup 0139 trial[2], neoadjuvant therapy significantly improved 5-year survival compared to CRT, but only in the lobectomy arm, mainly due to the high postoperative mortality rate (26%) in the pneumonectomy arm. Similarly, a subgroup analysis of the EORTC 08941 trial 3 also found that lobectomy was a predictor of better survival. That trial also included patients with unresectable disease, many of whom were treated with sequential CRT. By contrast, the ESPATUE trial failed to confirm these differences in survival outcomes according to type of treatment or surgical procedure, finding no significant differences in 5-year OS between the neoadjuvant and CRT arms (44% vs 40%)[4]

CRT has also been compared to induction ChT alone in the neoadjuvant setting [5], with no clear differences between these approaches in stage IIIA disease. Several studies have found that CRT does not significantly increase mortality or postoperative complications, even in patients undergoing pneumonectomy [6,7]. A major limitation of neoadjuvant treatment is the increased surgical complexity caused by the presence of thoracic adhesions and fibrosis, although complications associated with these treatments have decreased in recent years[8].

NEW HORIZONS FOR PREOPERATIVE RADIOTHERAPY

Radiotherapy (RT) continues to play a fundamental role in the management of localised NSCLC, either as radical-intent monotherapy [e.g., stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT)] or combined (pre- or postoperatively) with ChT. In advanced disease, palliative RT can help manage symptoms such as hemoptysis, pain, and dyspnea. For this reason, it is crucial to determine the optimal timing and treatment modality.

Although the immune system will trigger an effective innate response when it detects the presence of cancer cells, in some cases tumours may become resistant to this immune response[9,10]. Exposure to ionising radiation induces changes in the tumour microenvironment, triggering the release of antigens that stimulate the immune system through a "vaccine" effect. In this clinical scenario, immunotherapy can trigger both a local response as well as a systemic response against tumour cells located outside the irradiation field, known as the "abscopal effect" [11,12]. However, several studies have shown that the real incidence of these responses in clinical practice is low.

Based on the results reported to date, the combination of radiotherapy and immunotherapy in NSCLC appears to be a promising strategy, but more robust data are needed to definitively establish the most appropriate treatment regimen for this combined approach, especially in localised disease. More specifically, studies are needed to evaluate this combination in the neoadjuvant setting in NSCLC.

REINVENTING SYSTEMIC TREATMENT: ROLE OF IMMUNOTHERAPY

General aspects

The main advantage of neoadjuvant immunotherapy is its capacity to stimulate the production and activation of T cells. In this therapeutic approach, the primary tumour cells are used as a source of antigen production, thus activating different types or clones of effector T cells, which may then act against tumour cells throughout the body (primary tumour, metastatic sites, circulation, etc.), thus allowing systemic elimination of micrometastases[13]. Compared to adjuvant therapy, the structure of the pulmonary lymphatic system before surgery remains intact, which enhances the potential for tumour cell-immune interaction. This ability to maximize antigen exposure to T cells not only permits a stronger initial response, but a longer lasting one. However, neoadjuvant immunotherapy also has several possible disadvantages, including the lack of long-term survival and safety data, and the potential impact on the timing of surgery and surgical complications.

Clinical evidence for neoadjuvant immunotherapy in NSCLC

Neoadjuvant therapy with ICI monotherapy: The first study to prospectively assess the role of neoadjuvant immunotherapy in NSCLC was a pilot study by Forde et al[8], who evaluated 21 patients with stage I-IIIA NSCLC treated preoperatively with two cycles of the anti-PD-1 agent nivolumab. Of these, nine patients (45%) achieved a major pathological response (MPR) and two patients (10%) a pathological complete response (pCR). By RECIST criteria, most patients (85%) had stable disease and 10% showed a partial response. A stage reduction was observed in eight patients (40%). At a median follow-up of 18 mo, the disease-free survival (DFS) rate was 73%.

The phase II LCMC3 trial[14] was performed to evaluate the effects of two cycles of atezolizumab followed by surgery in stage IB-IIIB disease. Of the 181 patients included, 159 underwent surgery. In the surgically-treated patients without a known EGFR/ALK mutation, MPR was observed in 20% (30/147) and pCR in 7% (10/147). In 43% of patients (66/155), the tumour was downstaged. At 18 mo of follow-



up, the DFS and OS rates in patients with stage I-II disease were 79% and 91%, respectively, *vs* 77% and 87% in stage III patients.

Other anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 agents have also been investigated in recent years. One study evaluated sintilimab in 40 patients with stage IA-IIIB NSCLC, with 40% of patients achieving MPR and 16% pCR[15]. Most patients (70%) in that study had stable disease on radiologic assessment. In contrast to many studies, the tumour histology in most patients (80%) was squamous cell carcinoma. Another study evaluated the effects of two cycles of pembrolizumab, another anti-PD-1 agent, in stage II-IIIA NSCLC, with similar results (MPR, 27% and pCR, 13%)[16]

In the phase II IONESCO trial[17], patients with stage IB-IIIA NSCLC received three cycles of durvalumab. The preliminary results (n = 46) showed an MPR and pCR of 18% and 7%, respectively, with an objective response rate (ORR) of 8%. Despite promising 12-mo DFS and OS (78% and 89%, respectively), the trial was closed early due to high postoperative mortality (9%).

The combination of nivolumab and ipilimumab was evaluated in the phase II NEOSTAR trial[18]. In the 37 surgically-treated patients, combined therapy achieved higher MPR (50% *vs* 24%) and pCR (38% *vs* 10%) rates than nivolumab alone. There were no significant between-group differences in severe (\geq grade 3) toxicity (13% *vs* 10%).

Neoadjuvant therapy: immune checkpoint inhibitors combined with chemotherapy: Several studies have been performed (or are currently underway) to evaluate immunotherapy combined with ChT in an attempt to further improve the survival and pathologic response rates observed with ICI monotherapy. In a single-arm open label trial, Shu *et al*[19] preoperatively administered four cycles of atezolizumab plus carboplatin + nab-paclitaxel in patients with stage IB-IIIA NSCLC (77% stage IIIA). The MPR, pCR, and ORR rates were 57%, 33%, and 63%, respectively, all of which are higher than typically achieved with monotherapy. Median OS has not yet been reached due to the short follow-up.

The phase II NADIM trial[20] evaluated the combination of carboplatin + paclitaxel + nivolumab for three cycles in 46 patients with stage IIIA disease followed by adjuvant nivolumab for six months. In the 41 patients who underwent surgery, the MPR, pCR, and ORR were 83%, 63%, and 76%, respectively. No cases of disease progression were observed during neoadjuvant treatment. At 2-years of follow-up, DFS and OS were 77% and 90%, respectively. Adverse events \geq grade 3 were observed in 30% of patients, but not associated with delays in surgery or death.

The findings of the phase II SAKK 16/14 trial in patients (n = 62) with stage IIIa NSCLC[21] were recently reported. In that study, patients received three cycles of cisplatin + docetaxel followed by two cycles of durvalumab and one-year of postoperative durvalumab maintenance therapy. The MPR, pCR, and overall response rates were 60%, 18%, and 58%, respectively. At 12 mo, the DFS was 73.4% (Table 1).

Unresolved questions

Assessment of response to immunotherapy: The ORR is a key indicator for evaluating the antitumour activity of neoadjuvant therapy; however, postoperative pathological findings are not always consistent with the radiologic response[22]. For this reason, fluorodeoxyglucose-positron emission tomography-computed tomography (FDG-PET-CT)[23] remains the gold standard for assessing response to neoadjuvant therapy. FDG-PET-CT imaging measures tumour metabolic activity to assess response and rule out distant disease. However, in some cases, neoadjuvant immunotherapy modifies the peritumoral inflammatory environment, and it can be difficult to determine whether there is a tumour response (increase or decrease) due to the presence of lymphocytic infiltrates. This phenomenon was described in the NEOSTAR trial[24] as "nodal immune flare", which was observed in 11% of cases with proven histological pCR after surgical resection. Several of the aforementioned studies have reported this phenomenon.

Correlation with long-term survival: One of the most striking results of immunotherapy is the marked increase in the MPR and/or pCR rates; in fact, some authors[25] have proposed using these parameters as surrogates for OS. For this reason, the systematic, standardised evaluation of surgical specimens should be prioritised. Various algorithms have been proposed[26] and several groups have also published consensus statements aimed at standardising assessment of pathological response after systemic therapy (including immunotherapy)[27,28]. Given the higher pathological response rates observed in phase II trials[20], it seems highly likely that, when long-term data become available, OS rates should increase; however, this expected benefit needs to be confirmed in prospective randomised trials, many of which are still ongoing.

Biomarkers: The neoadjuvant scenario is an excellent context in which to explore biomarkers that may predict the benefit of immunotherapy. As in metastatic disease, PD-L1 expression and tumour mutational burden are the two most well-documented biomarkers in clinical trials of ICI[29]. Higher pretreatment PD-L1 expression levels have been associated with a greater probability of achieving MPR [18] or pCR[20]. However, no association has been observed between elevated PD-L1 expression and longer survival, and a substantial proportion of patients without PD-L1 expression also achieve MPR.

Table Tomical evidence for neoadjuvant inmunotierapy in non-small cell lung cancel									
Study	Phase	Stages	Treatment	Cycles	Patients included	Main endpoint	ORR	MPR	pCR
Forde <i>et al</i> [8]	Ι	I-IIIA	Nivolumab	2	21	Safety and feasibility	10%	45%	10%
LCMC3[14]	II	IB-IIIB	Atezolizumab	2	181	MPR	7%	20%	7%
NEOSTAR[<mark>18</mark>]	II	I-IIIA	Nivolumab <i>vs</i> nivolumab + ipilimumab ¹	3	44	MPR	22% vs 19%	24% <i>vs</i> 50%	10% vs 38%
Gao et al[15]	IB	IA-IIIB	Sintilimab	2	40	Safety	20%	40%	16%
NEOMUN[<mark>16</mark>]	Π	II-IIIA	Pembrolizumab	2	15	Safety and feasibility	28%	27%	13%
IONESCO[17]	II	IB-IIIA	Durvalumab	3	46	% R0	8%	18%	7%
Shu <i>et al</i> [19]	Π	IB-IIIA	Atezolizumab + carboplatin + nab-paclitaxel	4	30	MPR	63%	57%	33%
NADIM[<mark>20</mark>]	Π	IIIA	Nivolumab + carboplatin + paclitaxel	3	46	PFS 24 mo	76%	83%	63%
SAK 16/14[21]	Π	IIIA	Cisplatin + docetaxel followed by durvalumab ²	2	62	DFS 12 mo	58%	60%	18%

¹Nivolumab x3 cycles with or without a single dose of ipilimumab.

²Cisplatin + docetaxel x3 cycles followed by 2 cycles of durvalumab. ORR: Objective response rate; MPR: Major pathological response; pCR: Pathological complete response; % R0: % complete resection; PFS 24 mo: Progression-free survival at 24 mo; DFS 12 mo: Disease-free survival at 12 mo.

> A higher density of tumour infiltrating lymphocytes-especially CD3+, CD8+, and CD103+-has been described as a prognostic factor associated with longer survival. The NEOSTAR and LCMC3 trials both assessed the influence of these lymphocytes[30], finding that resected tumours in patients with MPR presented a higher level of infiltration by effector-memory T-cells (CD3+, CD4+, CD45RO+) compared to those without MPR, suggesting a possible predictive capacity.

> Other predictive biomarkers in peripheral blood are being evaluated: T-cell receptor, circulating tumour DNA, and somatic mutations (KEAP, STK11, RB1)[20], although these all need to be validated in prospective trials.

Beyond immunotherapy: the role of targeted therapy

In patients with metastatic NSCLC with certain molecular alterations (EGFR mutations, ALK rearrangements), treatment with tyrosine kinase inhibitors has shown a large benefit. Preoperative administration of drugs such as erlotinib[31] and crizotinib[32] improves ORR, but not OS, and postoperative recurrence rate after treatment discontinuation is high[33]. In this regard, prolonged treatment after surgery will probably be needed to reduce the likelihood of recurrence. Several studies are currently exploring this strategy, including the phase III NeoADAURA trial (NCT04351555), which is evaluating neoadjuvant osimertinib as monotherapy or combined with ChT.

NEW CHALLENGES: CHANGES FROM THE SURGICAL PERSPECTIVE

The high MPR and pCR rates obtained in clinical trials with neoadjuvant immunotherapy, with or without ChT, suggest that more patients with stage II-III disease will be candidates for surgery, even with the same operability and resectability criteria.

However, immunotherapy can induce atypical radiologic response patterns (i.e., pseudoprogression, hyperprogression), which can make it more challenging to identify patients with negativization of the mediastinal nodes and therefore ideal candidates for surgical resection. Traditional response assessment criteria may not be optimal to adequately classify patients after immunotherapy, especially with regard to mediastinal evaluation. For this reason, new protocols with specific restaging criteria need to be developed and validated.

In current treatment algorithms, the indication for surgery depends on the presence or absence of contrast uptake on the PET-CT scan after neoadjuvant therapy, considered together with the findings of invasive diagnostic tests. However, high mediastinal uptake on PET-CT images should not immediately rule out surgery in these patients, since this finding is more common after immunotherapy than induction ChT or radiotherapy. For this reason, the introduction of new PET-CT response criteria[34] is expected to lead to an increase in invasive testing. However, the diagnostic efficacy of these invasive



Table 2 Ongoing clinical trials of neoadjuvant therapy						
Treatment strategy	Study number (name)	Phase	Treatment			
Anti-PD-1 + chemotherapy	NCT03838159 (NADIM II)	Phase 2 randomised	3 cycles of carboplatin + paclitaxel +/- nivolumab \rightarrow surgery \rightarrow 6 mo of adjuvant nivolumab (experimental arm)			
	NCT04728724	Phase 2	Grupo A: sintilimab 2-4 cycles \rightarrow surgery; Group B: sintilimab + chemotherapy (carboplatin + pemetrexed/gemcitabine/paclitaxel) 2-4 cycles \rightarrow surgery			
	NCT04326153	Phase 2	2 cycles of sintilimab + carboplatin + nab-paclitaxel \rightarrow surgery \rightarrow 8 cycles of sintilimab			
	NCT04379739	Phase 2	2-4 cycles of camrelizumab + apatinib or camrelizumab + chemotherapy (carboplatin + pemetrexed/ gemcitabine) \rightarrow surgery			
	NCT04061590	Phase 2	2 cycles of pembrolizumab + chemotherapy (cisplatin + pemetrexed) \rightarrow surgery			
	NCT04638582	Phase 2	3 cycles of pembrolizum ab +/- chemotherapy (carboplatin + pemetrexed/paclitaxel) \rightarrow surgery			
	NCT04025879	Phase 3	chemotherapy +/- nivolumab \rightarrow surgery \rightarrow adjuvant nivolumab (experimental arm)			
	NCT02998528 (CheckMate 816)	Phase 3	3 cycles of chemotherapy (platinum doublet) + nivolumab \rightarrow surgery +/- adjuvant chemotherapy (one experimental arm)			
Anti-PD-L1 + chemotherapy	NCT04646837	Phase 2	2 cycles of chemotherapy (platinum-based + nab-paclitaxel) + durvalumab \rightarrow surgery \rightarrow durvalumab 1 yr			
Anti-PD-L1 + anti- CTLA-4	NCT02998528 (CheckMate 816)	Phase 3	3 cycles of nivolumab + 1 cycle of ipilimumab \rightarrow surgery +/- adjuvant chemotherapy (one experimental arm)			
Anti-PD-1	NCT03197467 (NEOMUN)	Phase 2	2 cycles of pembrolizumab \rightarrow surgery			
Anti-PD-1 + anti- LAG3	NCT04205552 (NEOpredict)	Phase 2	2 cycles of nivolumab +/- relatlimab \rightarrow surgery			
Anti-PD-L1 + radiotherapy	NCT04245514	Phase 2	3 cycles of chemotherapy \rightarrow 1 cycle durvalumab + radiotherapy \rightarrow surgery \rightarrow durvalumab 1 yr			
	NCT03237377	Phase 2	2 cycles of durvalumab +/- tremelimumab (antiCTLA-4) + radiotherapy \rightarrow surgery \rightarrow adjuvant chemotherapy			
	NCT03871153	Phase 2	Carboplatin + paclitaxel + radiotherapy + durvalumab \rightarrow surgery \rightarrow durvalumab 1 yr			

tests in this clinical context are not known, and there is little data on the utility of EBUS-TBNA after immunotherapy[35].

Another question surrounding immunotherapy is the potential interference with the timing of surgery. In patients treated with monotherapy, surgery can be performed earlier (1-2 wk after treatment); by contrast, after combined treatment (immunotherapy and ChT), surgery will need to be delayed by 4-6 wk. Nevertheless, major changes in the timing of surgery are not expected.

Another issue is that the surgical procedure may be more technically challenging due to the possible presence of multiple inflamed lymph nodes induced by neoadjuvant immunotherapy. While thoracotomy is the most common route of access, minimally invasive surgery is generally indicated when an optimal resection is considered feasible. Nonetheless, several studies have reported a high conversion rate to open surgery (23%-54%)[36,37]. Minimally-invasive techniques are expected to become more standardised and reproducible as surgical teams gain more experience.

CONCLUSION

The emergence of immunotherapy with ICIs has radically altered the course of disease in advanced NSCLC. The results reported to date for neoadjuvant immunotherapy-demonstrating significant increases in major and complete pathological response rates-suggest that patients with localised disease could also benefit from ICIs, potentially increasing cure rates and prolonging survival in these patients.

The currently available pre- and postoperative safety data support the use of this therapeutic strategy. However, many open questions remain: (1) Does combined chemo-immunotherapy provide greater long-term benefits than immunotherapy alone? (2) Are there any predictive biomarkers of response? (3) What is optimal treatment duration and timing of surgery? (4) Is adjuvant treatment necessary in all patients? and (5) Are new protocols needed for re-evaluation and restaging?

Several ongoing studies are evaluating different therapeutic strategies (Table 2), and will allow us to answer these and other questions that may emerge in the future.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Aguado C, Chara LE, Antoñanzas M, Matilla JM, Jiménez U and Hernanz R drafted the manuscript; Couñago F, Trujillo JC and Mielgo-Rubio X critically revised the content of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors declare no conflict of interests related to this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Spain

ORCID number: Carlos Aguado 0000-0002-5624-8035; Luis Chara 0000-0001-5143-7331; Mónica Antoñanzas 0000-0002-7434-9059; Jose Maria Matilla Gonzalez 0000-0002-6157-0758; Unai Jiménez 0000-0001-5034-4723; Raul Hernanz 0000-0002-7161-8321; Xabier Mielgo-Rubio 0000-0002-0985-6150; Juan Carlos Trujillo-Reyes 0000-0002-3370-0869; Felipe Couñago 0000-0001-7233-0234.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Gong ZM

REFERENCES

- Pignon JP, Tribodet H, Scagliotti GV, Douillard JY, Shepherd FA, Stephens RJ, Dunant A, Torri V, Rosell R, Seymour L, Spiro SG, Rolland E, Fossati R, Aubert D, Ding K, Waller D, Le Chevalier T; LACE Collaborative Group. Lung adjuvant cisplatin evaluation: a pooled analysis by the LACE Collaborative Group. J Clin Oncol 2008; 26: 3552-3559 [PMID: 18506026 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2007.13.9030]
- 2 Albain KS, Rusch VW, Crowley JJ, Rice TW, Turrisi AT 3rd, Weick JK, Lonchyna VA, Presant CA, McKenna RJ, Gandara DR. Concurrent cisplatin/etoposide plus chest radiotherapy followed by surgery for stages IIIA (N2) and IIIB nonsmall-cell lung cancer: mature results of Southwest Oncology Group phase II study 8805. J Clin Oncol 1995; 13: 1880-1892 [PMID: 7636530 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.1995.13.8.1880]
- van Meerbeeck JP, Kramer GW, Van Schil PE, Legrand C, Smit EF, Schramel F, Tjan-Heijnen VC, Biesma B, Debruyne 3 C, van Zandwijk N, Splinter TA, Giaccone G; European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer-Lung Cancer Group. Randomized controlled trial of resection versus radiotherapy after induction chemotherapy in stage IIIA-N2 nonsmall-cell lung cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2007; 99: 442-450 [PMID: 17374834 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djk093]
- Eberhardt WE, Pöttgen C, Gauler TC, Friedel G, Veit S, Heinrich V, Welter S, Budach W, Spengler W, Kimmich M, Fischer B, Schmidberger H, De Ruysscher D, Belka C, Cordes S, Hepp R, Lütke-Brintrup D, Lehmann N, Schuler M, Jöckel KH, Stamatis G, Stuschke M. Phase III Study of Surgery Versus Definitive Concurrent Chemoradiotherapy Boost in Patients With Resectable Stage IIIA(N2) and Selected IIIB Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer After Induction Chemotherapy and Concurrent Chemoradiotherapy (ESPATUE). J Clin Oncol 2015; 33: 4194-4201 [PMID: 26527789 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2015.62.6812]
- 5 NSCLC Meta-analysis Collaborative Group. Preoperative chemotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data. Lancet 2014; 383: 1561-1571 [PMID: 24576776 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62159-5]
- 6 Couñago F, Rodriguez de Dios N, Montemuiño S, Jové-Teixidó J, Martin M, Calvo-Crespo P, López-Mata M, Samper-Ots MP, López-Guerra JL, García-Cañibano T, Díaz-Díaz V, de Ingunza-Barón L, Murcia-Mejía M, Alcántara P, Corona J, Puertas MM, Chust M, Couselo ML, Del Cerro E, Moradiellos J, Amor S, Varela A, Thuissard IJ, Sanz-Rosa D, Taboada B. Neoadjuvant treatment followed by surgery versus definitive chemoradiation in stage IIIA-N2 non-small-cell lung cancer: A multi-institutional study by the oncologic group for the study of lung cancer (Spanish Radiation Oncology Society). Lung Cancer 2018; 118: 119-127 [PMID: 29571989 DOI: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2018.02.008]
- 7 Stupp R, Mayer M, Kann R, Weder W, Zouhair A, Betticher DC, Roth AD, Stahel RA, Majno SB, Peters S, Jost L, Furrer M, Thierstein S, Schmid RA, Hsu-Schmitz SF, Mirimanoff RO, Ris HB, Pless M. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy followed by surgery in selected patients with stage IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer: a multicentre phase II trial. Lancet Oncol 2009; 10: 785-793 [PMID: 19604722 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70172-X]
- Forde PM, Chaft JE, Smith KN, Anagnostou V, Cottrell TR, Hellmann MD, Zahurak M, Yang SC, Jones DR, Broderick S, 8 Battafarano RJ, Velez MJ, Rekhtman N, Olah Z, Naidoo J, Marrone KA, Verde F, Guo H, Zhang J, Caushi JX, Chan HY, Sidhom JW, Scharpf RB, White J, Gabrielson E, Wang H, Rosner GL, Rusch V, Wolchok JD, Merghoub T, Taube JM, Velculescu VE, Topalian SL, Brahmer JR, Pardoll DM. Neoadjuvant PD-1 Blockade in Resectable Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2018; 378: 1976-1986 [PMID: 29658848 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1716078]
- 9 Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science 2011; 331: 1565-1570 [PMID: 21436444 DOI: 10.1126/science.1203486]
- Koebel CM, Vermi W, Swann JB, Zerafa N, Rodig SJ, Old LJ, Smyth MJ, Schreiber RD. Adaptive immunity maintains 10 occult cancer in an equilibrium state. Nature 2007; 450: 903-907 [PMID: 18026089 DOI: 10.1038/nature06309]
- Chakravarty PK, Alfieri A, Thomas EK, Beri V, Tanaka KE, Vikram B, Guha C. Flt3-ligand administration after 11



radiation therapy prolongs survival in a murine model of metastatic lung cancer. Cancer Res 1999; 59: 6028-6032 [PMID: 10626784]

- 12 Teitz-Tennenbaum S, Li Q, Rynkiewicz S, Ito F, Davis MA, McGinn CJ, Chang AE. Radiotherapy potentiates the therapeutic efficacy of intratumoral dendritic cell administration. Cancer Res 2003; 63: 8466-8475 [PMID: 14679011]
- 13 Versluis JM, Long GV, Blank CU. Learning from clinical trials of neoadjuvant checkpoint blockade. Nat Med 2020; 26: 475-484 [PMID: 32273608 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-020-0829-0]
- 14 Lee J, Chaft J, Nicholas A, Patterson A, Waqar S, Toloza E, Haura E, Raz D, Reckamp K, Merritt R, Owen D, Finley D, Mcnamee C, Blasberg J, Garon E, Mitchell J, Doebele R, Baciewicz F, Nagasaka M, Pass H, Schulze K, Phan S, Johnson A, Bunn P, Johnson B, Kris M, Kwiatkowski D, Wistuba I, Carbone D, Rusch V. PS01.05 Surgical and Clinical Outcomes With Neoadjuvant Atezolizumab in Resectable Stage IB-IIIB NSCLC: LCMC3 Trial Primary Analysis. J Thorac Oncol 2021; 16 [DOI: 10.1016/j.jtho.2021.01.320]
- 15 Gao S, Li N, Gao S, Xue Q, Ying J, Wang S, Tao X, Zhao J, Mao Y, Wang B, Shao K, Lei W, Wang D, Lv F, Zhao L, Zhang F, Zhao Z, Su K, Tan F, Gao Y, Sun N, Wu D, Yu Y, Ling Y, Wang Z, Duan C, Tang W, Zhang L, He S, Wu N, Wang J, He J. Neoadjuvant PD-1 inhibitor (Sintilimab) in NSCLC. J Thorac Oncol 2020; 15: 816-826 [PMID: 32036071 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.01.017]
- Eichhorn F, Klotz LV, Kriegsmann M, Bischoff H, Schneider MA, Muley T, Kriegsmann K, Haberkorn U, Heussel CP, Savai R, Zoernig I, Jaeger D, Thomas M, Hoffmann H, Winter H, Eichhorn ME. Neoadjuvant anti-programmed death-1 immunotherapy by pembrolizumab in resectable non-small cell lung cancer: First clinical experience. Lung Cancer 2021; 153: 150-157 [PMID: 33529989 DOI: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2021.01.018]
- Wislez M, Mazieres J, Lavole A, Zalcman G, Carre O, Egenod T, Caliandro R, Gervais R, Jeannin G, Molinier O, Massiani 17 MA, Langlais A, Morin F, Le Pimpec Barthes F, Brouchet L, Assouad J, Milleron B, Damotte D, Antoine M, Westeel V. Neoadjuvant durvalumab in resectable non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): Preliminary results from a multicenter study (IFCT-1601 IONESCO). Ann Oncol 31: S794 [DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.08.1416]
- Cascone T, William WN Jr, Weissferdt A, Leung CH, Lin HY, Pataer A, Godoy MCB, Carter BW, Federico L, Reuben A, 18 Khan MAW, Dejima H, Francisco-Cruz A, Parra ER, Solis LM, Fujimoto J, Tran HT, Kalhor N, Fossella FV, Mott FE, Tsao AS, Blumenschein G Jr, Le X, Zhang J, Skoulidis F, Kurie JM, Altan M, Lu C, Glisson BS, Byers LA, Elamin YY, Mehran RJ, Rice DC, Walsh GL, Hofstetter WL, Roth JA, Antonoff MB, Kadara H, Haymaker C, Bernatchez C, Ajami NJ, Jenq RR, Sharma P, Allison JP, Futreal A, Wargo JA, Wistuba II, Swisher SG, Lee JJ, Gibbons DL, Vaporciyan AA, Heymach JV, Sepesi B. Neoadjuvant nivolumab or nivolumab plus ipilimumab in operable non-small cell lung cancer: the phase 2 randomized NEOSTAR trial. Nat Med 2021; 27: 504-514 [PMID: 33603241 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-020-01224-2]
- 19 Shu CA, Gainor JF, Awad MM, Chiuzan C, Grigg CM, Pabani A, Garofano RF, Stoopler MB, Cheng SK, White A, Lanuti M, D'Ovidio F, Bacchetta M, Sonett JR, Saqi A, Rizvi NA. Neoadjuvant atezolizumab and chemotherapy in patients with resectable non-small-cell lung cancer: an open-label, multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 2020; 21: 786-795 [PMID: 32386568 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30140-6]
- Provencio M, Nadal E, Insa A, García-Campelo MR, Casal-Rubio J, Dómine M, Majem M, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Martínez-20 Martí A, De Castro Carpeño J, Cobo M, López Vivanco G, Del Barco E, Bernabé Caro R, Viñolas N, Barneto Aranda I, Viteri S, Pereira E, Royuela A, Casarrubios M, Salas Antón C, Parra ER, Wistuba I, Calvo V, Laza-Briviesca R, Romero A, Massuti B, Cruz-Bermúdez A. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy and nivolumab in resectable non-small-cell lung cancer (NADIM): an open-label, multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 2020; 21: 1413-1422 [PMID: 32979984 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30453-8]
- 21 Rothschild SI, Zippelius A, Eboulet EI, Savic Prince S, Betticher D, Bettini A, Früh M, Joerger M, Britschgi C, Peters S, Mark MT, Ochsenbein AF, Janthur WD, Waibel C, Mach N, Gonzalez M, Froesch MR, Godar G, Rusterholz C, Pless M. SAKK 16/14: Anti-PD-L1 antibody durvalumab in addition to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in patients with stage IIIA (N2) non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) - A multicenter single-arm phase II trial. Ann Oncol 2020; 31: S803-S804 [DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.08.110
- Nishino M, Hatabu H, Hodi FS. Imaging of Cancer Immunotherapy: Current Approaches and Future Directions. Radiology 22 2019; 290: 9-22 [PMID: 30457485 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2018181349]
- Liang W, Cai K, Chen C, Chen H, Chen Q, Fu J, Hu J, Jiang T, Jiao W, Li S, Liu C, Liu D, Liu W, Liu Y, Ma H, Pan X, 23 Qiao G, Tian H, Wei L, Zhang Y, Zhao S, Zhao X, Zhou C, Zhu Y, Zhong R, Li F, Rosell R, Provencio M, Massarelli E, Antonoff MB, Hida T, de Perrot M, Lin SH, Di Maio M, Rossi A, De Ruysscher D, Ramirez RA, Dempke WCM, Camidge DR, Guibert N, Califano R, Wang Q, Ren S, He J. Expert consensus on neoadjuvant immunotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2020; 9: 2696-2715 [PMID: 33489828 DOI: 10.21037/tlcr-2020-63]
- 24 Sepesi B, Godoy M, William W, Vaporciyan A, Lin H, Leung C, Lee J, Mitchell K, Weissferdt A, Le X, Lam V, Fossella F, Swisher S, Heymach J, Cascone T. Nodal Immune Flare (NIF) Following Neoadjuvant Anti-PD-1 and Anti-CTLA-4 Therapy in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2019; 14: S745 [DOI: 10.1016/j.jtho.2019.08.1595]
- Hellmann MD, Chaft JE, William WN Jr, Rusch V, Pisters KM, Kalhor N, Pataer A, Travis WD, Swisher SG, Kris MG; 25 University of Texas MD Anderson Lung Cancer Collaborative Group. Pathological response after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in resectable non-small-cell lung cancers: proposal for the use of major pathological response as a surrogate endpoint. Lancet Oncol 2014; 15: e42-e50 [PMID: 24384493 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70334-6]
- Travis WD, Dacic S, Wistuba I, Sholl L, Adusumilli P, Bubendorf L, Bunn P, Cascone T, Chaft J, Chen G, Chou TY, Cooper W, Erasmus JJ, Ferreira CG, Goo JM, Heymach J, Hirsch FR, Horinouchi H, Kerr K, Kris M, Jain D, Kim YT, Lopez-Rios F, Lu S, Mitsudomi T, Moreira A, Motoi N, Nicholson AG, Oliveira R, Papotti M, Pastorino U, Paz-Ares L, Pelosi G, Poleri C, Provencio M, Roden AC, Scagliotti G, Swisher SG, Thunnissen E, Tsao MS, Vansteenkiste J, Weder W, Yatabe Y. IASLC Multidisciplinary Recommendations for Pathologic Assessment of Lung Cancer Resection Specimens After Neoadjuvant Therapy. J Thorac Oncol 2020; 15: 709-740 [PMID: 32004713 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.01.005]
- Weissferdt A, Pataer A, Vaporciyan AA, Correa AM, Sepesi B, Moran CA, Wistuba II, Roth JA, Shewale JB, Heymach JV, Kalhor N, Cascone T, Hofstetter WL, Lee JJ, Swisher SG. Agreement on Major Pathological Response in NSCLC Patients Receiving Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy. Clin Lung Cancer 2020; 21: 341-348 [PMID: 32279936 DOI: 10.1016/j.cllc.2019.11.003



- Cottrell TR, Thompson ED, Forde PM, Stein JE, Duffield AS, Anagnostou V, Rekhtman N, Anders RA, Cuda JD, Illei 28 PB, Gabrielson E, Askin FB, Niknafs N, Smith KN, Velez MJ, Sauter JL, Isbell JM, Jones DR, Battafarano RJ, Yang SC, Danilova L, Wolchok JD, Topalian SL, Velculescu VE, Pardoll DM, Brahmer JR, Hellmann MD, Chaft JE, Cimino-Mathews A, Taube JM. Pathologic features of response to neoadjuvant anti-PD-1 in resected non-small-cell lung carcinoma: a proposal for quantitative immune-related pathologic response criteria (irPRC). Ann Oncol 2018; 29: 1853-1860 [PMID: 29982279 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdy218]
- 29 Pradhan M, Chocry M, Gibbons DL, Sepesi B, Cascone T. Emerging biomarkers for neoadjuvant immune checkpoint inhibitors in operable non-small cell lung cancer. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2021; 10: 590-606 [PMID: 33569339 DOI: 10.21037/tlcr-20-573]
- 30 Kwiatkowski DJ, Rusch VW, Chaft JE, Johnson BE, Nicholas A, Wistuba II, Merritt R, Lee JM, Bunn PA, Tang Y, Phan SC, Wagar SN, Patterson A, Haura EB, Toloza EM, Reckamp KL, Raz D, Schulze K, Johnson A, Carbone DP. Neoadjuvant atezolizumab in resectable non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): Interim analysis and biomarker data from a multicenter study (LCMC3). J Clin Oncol 2019; 37 (15 suppl): 8503 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2019.37.15_suppl.8503]
- Zhong WZ, Chen KN, Chen C, Gu CD, Wang J, Yang XN, Mao WM, Wang Q, Qiao GB, Cheng Y, Xu L, Wang CL, Chen MW, Kang X, Yan W, Yan HH, Liao RQ, Yang JJ, Zhang XC, Zhou Q, Wu YL. Erlotinib Versus Gemcitabine Plus Cisplatin as Neoadjuvant Treatment of Stage IIIA-N2 EGFR-Mutant Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer (EMERGING-CTONG 1103): A Randomized Phase II Study. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37: 2235-2245 [PMID: 31194613 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.19.00075]
- 32 Zhang C, Li SL, Nie Q, Dong S, Shao Y, Yang XN, Wu YL, Yang Y, Zhong WZ. Neoadjuvant Crizotinib in Resectable Locally Advanced Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer with ALK Rearrangement. J Thorac Oncol 2019; 14: 726-731 [PMID: 30408570 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtho.2018.10.161]
- Reyes R, Reguart N. Neoadjuvant treatment of stage IIIA-N2 in EGFR-Mutant/ALK-rearranged non-small cell lung cancer. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2021; 10: 607-621 [PMID: 33569340 DOI: 10.21037/tlcr-20-780]
- 34 Decazes P, Bohn P. Immunotherapy by Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors and Nuclear Medicine Imaging: Current and Future Applications. Cancers (Basel) 2020; 12 [PMID: 32041105 DOI: 10.3390/cancers12020371]
- 35 Lainez S, Tissot C, Cottier M, Vergnon JM. EBUS-TBNA Can Distinguish Sarcoid-Like Side Effect of Nivolumab Treatment from Tumor Progression in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Respiration 2017; 94: 518-521 [PMID: 28910804 DOI: 10.1159/0004801551
- Yang CJ, McSherry F, Mayne NR, Wang X, Berry MF, Tong B, Harpole DH Jr, D'Amico TA, Christensen JD, Ready NE, 36 Klapper JA. Surgical Outcomes After Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy and Ipilimumab for Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2018; 105: 924-929 [PMID: 29258674 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2017.09.030]
- Bott MJ, Yang SC, Park BJ, Adusumilli PS, Rusch VW, Isbell JM, Downey RJ, Brahmer JR, Battafarano R, Bush E, Chaft 37 J, Forde PM, Jones DR, Broderick SR. Initial results of pulmonary resection after neoadjuvant nivolumab in patients with resectable non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2019; 158: 269-276 [PMID: 30718052 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2018.11.124]



World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2022 May 24; 13(5): 323-338

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.323

Basic Study

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Tumor specifically internalizing peptide 'HN-1': Targeting the putative receptor retinoblastoma-regulated discoidin domain receptor 1 involved in metastasis

Frank-Un Hong, Miguel Castro, Klaus Linse

Specialty type: Oncology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Benekli M, Turkey

Received: April 9, 2021 Peer-review started: April 9, 2021 First decision: June 28, 2021 Revised: July 6, 2021 Accepted: April 22, 2022 Article in press: April 22, 2022 Published online: May 24, 2022



Frank-Un Hong, Miguel Castro, Klaus Linse, Research & Development, Bio-Synthesis, Inc., Lewisville, TX 75057, United States

Corresponding author: Frank-Un Hong, PhD, Research Scientist, Research & Development, Bio-Synthesis, Inc., 612 E Main St, Lewisville, TX 75057, United States. frank hong@biosyn.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Less than 0.5% of intravenously injected drugs reach tumors, contributing to side effects. To limit damage to healthy cells, various delivery vectors have been formulated; yet, previously developed vectors suffer from poor penetration into solid tumors. This issue was resolved by the discovery of HN-1 peptide isolated via biopanning a phage-display library. HN-1 targets human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) (breast, thyroid; potentially lung, cervix, uterine, colon cancer), translocates across the cell membrane, and efficiently infiltrates solid tumors. HN-1 peptide has been conjugated to various anticancer drugs and imaging agents though the identity of its receptor remained enigmatic.

AIM

To decipher the clues that pointed to retinoblastoma (Rb)-regulated discoidindomain receptor 1 as the putative receptor for HN-1 is described.

METHODS

HN-1 peptide was synthesized and purified using reverse-phase highperformance liquid chromatography and gel electrophoresis. The predicted mass was confirmed by mass spectroscopy. To image the 3-dimensional structure of HN-1 peptide, PyMOL was used. Molecular modeling was also performed with PEP-FOLD3 software via RPBS bioinformatics web portal (INSERM, France). The immunohistochemistry results of discoidin domain receptor 1 (DDR1) protein were obtained from the publicly accessible database in the Human Protein Atlas portal, which contained the images of immunohistochemically labeled human cancers and the corresponding normal tissues.

RESULTS

The clues that led to DDR1 involved in metastasis as the putative receptor



mediating HN-1 endocytosis are the following: (1) HN-1 is internalized in phosphate-buffered saline and its uptake is competitively inhibited; (2) HN-1 (TSPLNIHNGQKL) exhibits similarity with a stretch of amino acids in alpha5 beta3 integrin (KLLITIHDRKEF). Aside from two identical residues (Ile-His) in the middle, the overall distribution of polar and nonpolar residues throughout the sequences is nearly identical. As HN-1 sequence lacks the Arg-Gly-Asp motif recognized by integrins, HN-1 may interact with an "integrin-like" molecule. The tertiary structure of both peptides showed similarity at the 3-dimensional level; (3) HN-1 is internalized by attached cells but not by suspended cells. As culture plates are typically coated with collagen, collagen-binding receptor (expressed by adherent but not suspended cells) may represent the receptor for HN-1; (4) DDR1 is highly expressed in head and neck cancer (or breast cancer) targeted by HN-1; (5) Upon activation by collagen, DDR1 becomes internalized and compartmentalized in endosomes consistent with the determination of 'energy-dependent clathrin-mediated endocytosis' as the HN-1 entry route and the identification of HN-1 entrapped vesicles as endosomes; and (6) DDR1 is essential for the development of mammary glands consistent with the common embryonic lineage rationale used to identify breast cancer as an additional target of HN-1. In summary, collagenactivated tyrosine kinase receptor DDR1 overexpressed in HNSCC assumes a critical role in metastasis. Further studies are warranted to assess HN-1 peptide's interaction with DDR1 and the therapeutic potential of treating metastatic cancer. Additionally, advances in delivery (conformation, endocytic mechanism, repertoire of targeted cancers of HN-1 peptide), tracking (HN-1 conjugated imaging agents), and activity (HN-1 conjugated therapeutic agents) are described.

CONCLUSION

The discovery of DDR1 as HN-1 peptide's putative receptor represents a significant advance as it enables identification of metastatic cancers or clinical application of previously developed therapeutics to block metastasis.

Key Words: HN-1 peptide; Solid tumor; Targeted drug delivery; Discoidin domain receptor 1; Tyrosine kinase; Metastasis

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The side effects associated with current drugs are exacerbated by the accumulation of administered drugs in non-tumor tissues. To guide, various tumor-homing vectors have been developed though their delivery efficacy is limited by poor penetration into solid tumors. To resolve, the 'tumor specifically internalizing peptide' HN-1 was isolated via biopanning a phage-display library. HN-1 peptide targets human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (breast, thyroid, potentially cervical, lung, uterine, colon cancer), translocates across the cell membrane and effectively penetrates solid tumors. Here, deciphering of the clues that pointed to discoidin domain receptor 1 as the putative receptor for HN-1 is described.

Citation: Hong FU, Castro M, Linse K. Tumor specifically internalizing peptide 'HN-1': Targeting the putative receptor retinoblastoma-regulated discoidin domain receptor 1 involved in metastasis. World J Clin Oncol 2022; 13(5): 323-338

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v13/i5/323.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.323

INTRODUCTION

The genetic analysis of head and neck cancer has uncovered novel therapeutic targets. Head and neck cancer represents ~5% of all cancers diagnosed in the United States and the affected regions include the oral cavity, paranasal sinuses, pharynx, nasal cavity, larynx, thyroid gland, parathyroid gland, salivary gland, skin or cervical lymph nodes. Aesthetic loss or functional impairment (ex. difficulties with swallowing, speech, chewing) frequently accompany the disorder. Squamous cells constitute the mucosal membranes lining the lips, mouth, throat, breathing tubes, nose, eyelids, etc. and head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) (the second most common type of skin cancer) affects more men than women. Its mortality rate (~50%) has not changed significantly over the past several decades although early diagnosis may increase survival. Most HNSCC-associated deaths are caused by locoregional recurrence or distant metastasis[1].



Epithelial carcinogenesis leading to head and neck cancer involves progression through multiple stages (from normal to hyperplasia to dysplasia to carcinoma to invasive carcinoma) accompanied by distinct genetic changes. Among the alterations are the loss of heterozygosity at chromosomal region 9p21 or 3p12-14 (squamous dysplasia, carcinoma in situ, invasive carcinoma), loss of heterozygosity at 9p21 or 3p14 (oral leukoplakia), and translocation between chromosomes 11 and 19 (mucoepidermoid carcinoma of the minor salivary gland). Microsatellite instability is observed in a subset of dysplastic, invasive, and aggressive lesions while an euploidy is a frequent occurrence amongst HNSCC tumors[2].

The inactivation of retinoblastoma (Rb) function represents a critical step in HNSCC development. Briefly, following the identification of the prototypic tumor suppressor *RB* gene, its role in mammalian DNA damage checkpoint (in G1 or S phase) was elucidated[3]. Rb's ability to arrest at G1 is negatively regulated by distinct cyclin-dependent kinases (Cdks) through phosphorylation by cyclin D-Cdk4/6 at early G1 phase and cyclin E-Cdk2 late G1 phase [4,5]. Cdks are, in turn, negatively regulated by p14^{Art}, p16^{INK4A}, or other factors including p21^{Cip1}, which is transactivated by p53. The above 'Rb pathway' is dysregulated in nearly all human cancers and is also targeted by oncogenic viruses (ex. papillomavirus, adenovirus) to transform human cells. In HNSCC, the loss of p16^{INK4A} is characteristic of hyperplasia and the loss of 3p21 and 17p13 (inactivates p53) is observed during progression to dysplasia. The amplification of the CCND1 gene (encodes cyclin D) and the loss of 11q13, 14q32, or 13q21 is associated with carcinoma. The loss of 6p, 4q27, 8 or 10q23 as well as the inactivation of phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) has been documented in invasive carcinoma[6]. In a significant fraction of HNSCC patients with poor prognosis, human papillomavirus DNA is found in tumors, whose gene product E7 inactivates Rb while E6 inactivates p53. Additionally, FAT1, NOTCH1, KMT2D, NSD1, TGFBR2, PIK3CA, and HER-2/neu are frequently upregulated in a subset of HNSCC.

The above advances have led to the development of targeted therapies, i.e., Cdk4/6 inhibitor, epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor, etc. However, even with targeted drugs, the problem of side effects persists. Furthermore, less than 0.5% of systemically administered drugs reach tumors, requiring a higher dose for treatment which exacerbates side effects[7]. To resolve, tumor-homing vectors are increasingly sought for targeted delivery of existing drugs. In the case of HNSCC, 'sac'-like structures contain tumor cells enclosed within the basement membrane. The parenchyma is comprised of tumor cells with intercellular spaces. A solid tumor may contain multiple such 'sacs' interspersed within the stroma. Stroma is a complex structure comprised of cytokeratin and normal cells, ex. fibroblasts, endothelial cells, immune cells. As such, an ideal delivery vector should be capable of penetrating these barriers to reach tumor cells located at the interior of the sac-like structures.

For targeted delivery, antibodies recognizing tumor-specific antigens such as CD20 (B-cell lymphoma), HER-2 (breast cancer), CD33 (acute myeloid leukemia), epidermal growth factor receptor have been developed. Anticancer agents conjugated to these antibodies include radioactive isotopes (non-Hodgkin's lymphoma) and chemotherapeutics, ex. doxorubicin, maytansine, and calicheamicin (acute myelogenous leukemia). Alternatively, larger molecules such as polyethylene glycol have been used as they can escape through leaky tumor vasculature to deposit on a tumor. The leakage occurs primarily at venules and small veins that are lined by a continuous endothelium. Their exiting route consists of a system of vesiculo-vacuolar organelles, cell junction, or endothelial fenestrae. Previously, polyethylene glycol has been conjugated to taxol or tumor-specific antibodies. Also, liposomes have been utilized as they can accumulate at the tumor due to enhanced permeability and retention. Liposomes deliver drugs via fusion, destabilization of the membrane or endocytosis. Liposomes conjugated to polyethylene glycol exhibit greater stability due to lesser removal by the reticuloendothelial system^[8]. Pegylated liposomes containing doxorubicin or cisplatin or liposomes coupled to tumor-targeting molecules have been developed.

However, the above delivery vectors face several limitations. For antibody vectors, its preparation or purification is complex due to the relative ease with which antibodies can denature. Other potential issues are immunogenicity (requires humanization) and the lack of internalization by the cancer cells. Poor penetration of solid tumors by antibodies further limits their use and may contribute to a higher level of drugs in circulation contributing to toxicity, ex. Herceptin antibody penetrates mere 38 micrometers after exiting blood vessels^[9]. For these reasons, its use has been limited to lymphocytic cancers. For minute micrometastasized tumors that rely on nutrients obtained from adjacent blood vessels via diffusion, nanoparticles such as polyethylene glycol or liposome-based vectors that escape through leaky tumor vasculature may find little utility. The use of liposomes is delimited by the inefficient release of the enclosed drugs^[10]. Overall, inefficient penetration of solid tumors has been a major issue with larger nanoparticles. As the interior of solid tumors may harbor hypoxic regions that give rise to refractory metastatic cancer cells to which patients ultimately succumb, the need to develop delivery vectors with greater infiltrating potential remains a priority[11].

The above issues have been largely resolved through the discovery of the prototypic 'tumor specifically internalizing peptide' HN-1, which was reported in Cancer Research in 2000[12]. HN-1 peptide is unique as it provided multiple advantages including tumor-selectivity for HNSCC, the capacity to translocate across the cell membrane, and the ability to penetrate solid tumors to reach cancer cells located within the sac-like structures. Since its discovery, HN-1 has been conjugated to various agents for both cancer therapy (taxol, doxorubicin, protein kinase C inhibiting peptide, ribonucleotide reductase inhibiting siRNA, diphtheria toxin, polyethylene glycol linked to doxorubicin,



graphene oxide nanoparticle-containing doxorubicin) and imaging (gamma-ray emitting isotopes for radiotherapy, near-infrared fluorescent dyes for surgical navigation) (see below). Recently, the target of HN-1 has been extended to breast cancer, thyroid cancer, and potentially cervical, lung, uterine, or colon cancer. Here, we describe the deciphering of clues that helped to unravel a 20 year-old enigma regarding the identity of the receptor mediating HN-1 endocytosis. Discoidin domain receptor 1 (DDR1) is a collagen tyrosine kinase overexpressed in head and neck cancer (also breast cancer), and the transcription of DDR1 gene is regulated by the RB-interacting protein E2F[13]. DDR1 differs from conventional tyrosine kinases as it is activated by collagen, and plays a critical role in metastasis by facilitating invasion or migration, promoting epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, reactivating previously disseminated metastasis-initiating cancer cells, etc. As such, it has become a novel therapeutic target of high importance for the pharmacological management of metastatic cancers (see below).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Peptide

HN-1 peptide was synthesized and purified using reverse-phase high-performance liquid chromatography to attain ~95% purity. For *in vivo* application, it was further purified using gel electrophoresis. The predicted mass was confirmed by mass spectroscopy.

Molecular modeling

PyMOL (Python-enhanced molecular graphics) was used to image the 3-dimensional structure of the HN-1 peptide. Additional molecular modeling was performed using PEP-FOLD3 software via RPBS (Ressource Parisienne en Bioinformatique Structurale) bioinformatics web portal (INSERM, France) (https://bioserv.rpbs.univ-paris-diderot.fr/services/PEP-FOLD/)[14,15].

Immunohistochemistry

The immunohistochemistry images of DDR1 protein in a panel of human head and neck cancer specimens vs normal human oral mucosa were obtained from the publicly accessible database in the Human Protein Atlas portal (http://www.proteinatlas.org/). It contained the images of immunohistochemically labeled human cancers and the corresponding normal tissues.

RESULTS

Structure of HN-1 peptide

F. Hong (a.k.a. Frank Un, Frank D. Hong)'s contributions to the RB gene field was previously described [16]. Briefly, for cancer biology and genetics, his works include the identification of the human *RB* gene and its sequence containing cyclin-dependent kinase recognition motifs[3], determination of RB genome structure including the promoter[17] and its mutant in prostate cancer[18], the discovery of the DNA binding property of Rb protein indicative of its function as a transcription factor [19], uncovering of RBto-RB self-interaction to form higher-ordered structures implicating its role in epigenetics, DNA replication, histone modification, heterochromatin, DNA condensation, *etc*[20-23]. For cancer therapy, his works concerned elucidating the cytotoxic mechanism of anticancer drugs to solve the side effects or drug resistance problem. He discovered tumor-specific lytic path 'hyperploid progression mediated death' targeting G1 DNA damage checkpoint-defective RB or p53 mutants induced by antimicrotubule drugs (ex. Taxol)[24], RB's role as the mediator of DNA crosslinking drug cytotoxicity (ex. cisplatin) in G1 checkpoint retaining human cancers^[25], and the reversal of drug resistance to antimetabolite drugs (ex. hydroxyurea) via attenuating the Rb-associating protein ICBP90 (UHRF1)[26].

Following the identification of the human RB gene, W. Lee (University of California at San Diego, La Jolla, United States) collaborated with T. Friedmann (University of California at San Diego, La Jolla, United States) to develop a recombinant retrovirus expressing human *RB* or *p53* gene during 1988-1993. The retrovirally expressed RB or p53 suppressed the formation of tumors derived from human retinoblastoma, breast, or prostate cancer cells in murine xenograft models[27-29]. These works led to gene therapy clinical trials testing the efficacy of p53 expressing retrovirus or adenovirus in non-small cell lung cancer patients by J. Roth (University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, United States) in 1996 and HNSCC patients by G. Clayman (University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, United States) in 1998[30,31]. The clinical trial was conducted in collaboration with W. K. Hong (University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, United States), who pioneered the chemoprevention of cancer[32]. Despite the therapeutic gains made in gene transduction, gene expression, and clinical response, further improvement was necessary regarding tumor specificity, solid tumor penetration, and *in vivo* stability.



The side effects occurred as the RB or p53 expressing recombinant virus indiscriminately infects both cancer and normal cells. To provide tumor specificity, F. Hong sought to identify a human HNSCCspecific peptide to be displayed on the surface of viral vectors. Earlier In 1984-1985, he used M13 singlestranded bacteriophage to perform site-directed mutagenesis at the Salk Institute (Molecular Biology & Virology Laboratory). Later, in 1993-1995, he worked with normal human fibroblasts while studying the mechanism of aging at the Salk Institute (Neurobiology Laboratory). During 1998-2000, F. Hong screened M13 bacteriophage-displayed random peptide libraries (2.5×10^{12} random peptides) using live cancer cells at the University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center[12]. Filamentous phages displaying peptides fused to coat proteins were designed by G. Smith (Nobel prize, 2018). The biopanning involved 5 successive rounds of selection using human HNSCC cells, followed by 3 cycles of subtraction using normal human fibroblasts in the presence of serum to ensure stability in vivo. It led to the discovery of HN-1 peptide (TSPLNIHNGQKL; ~1.2 kDa) that meets multiple criteria for targeted drug delivery into solid tumors: (1) Translocates drugs across the cell membrane into the cytosol; (2) Tumor specifically internalized; and (3) Capable of penetrating solid tumors. Further, HN-1 peptide is nontoxic, nonimmunogenic, stable in vivo, transports payload efficiently within 48 h, and does not trigger biological responses.

Recent researches increasingly indicate the dynamic nature of protein structures, i.e., 'intrinsically disordered protein' [33]. Despite the conformational flexibility, they can adopt a fixed or rigid structure upon recognizing the interacting target. Such properties have been harnessed by peptides, which provide further advantages over antibodies or small molecules for pharmaceutical treatment, resulting in the approval of > 60 peptide drugs worldwide in the last two decades. In the case of HN-1, computational modeling predicted several structural conformations. A 3-dimensional model depicting HN-1 peptide in a beta-sheet configuration is shown (Figure 1A). Alternate conformations of HN-1 peptide predicted by the PEP-FOLD modeling program are also shown (Figure 1B). Finally, a structural model consisting of a gamma-turn is shown (Figure 1C).

DDR1 may mediate HN-1 endocytosis

The treatment issue of recurrent metastatic cancer refractory to current drugs remains unresolved for HNSCC as well as breast cancer. The dysregulation of the extracellular matrix dynamics is thought to play a significant role in metastasis. The extracellular matrix is comprised of glycoproteins, proteoglycans, and other proteins that function in biomechanics, cell motility, growth factor reservoir, cell-to-cell communication, etc. An early event in tumor development involves neovascularization (for nutrient, oxygen, excretion), which requires the outgrowth of blood vessels via endothelial branching mediated by tip cells and stalk cells that depend on the extracellular matrix. The extracellular matrix also attracts immune cells and activates them to release cytokines and proteases (causes tumorassociated inflammation) while suppressing the activation of macrophages that lyse cancer cells. The dysregulated extracellular matrix exhibits altered activities of remodeling enzymes (ex. collagenase or metalloprotease secreted by stroma), excess deposition of the matrix components (ex. collagen types I, IV or XVII by tumor cells, cancer-associated fibroblasts or tumor-associated macrophages in colorectal cancer; heparan sulfate proteoglycan), stiffness through the crosslinking by lysyl oxidase, etc. Distinct collagen types found in the microenvironment of various cancers have been compiled, e.g., type I (head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, non-small cell lung cancer, breast cancer), type III (breast cancer), type IV (oral squamous cell cancer, colorectal cancer)[34]. Other changes include the altered orientation (linearization) of collagen fibers, which facilitates tumor cell migration (for invasion into adjacent tissues following the breakdown of basement membrane by matrix metalloproteinase)[35]. Further, the extracellular matrix is involved in the development of lymphatic vessels that serve as a conduit (in addition to the leaky tumor vasculature) for metastasis.

Discoidin domain receptors DDR1 and DDR2 are cell membrane-associated receptors with tyrosine kinase activity, whose extracellular domain resembles discoidin of *Dictyostelium discoideum*. DDR1 is activated by most collagen types including I and IV (abundant in the basement membrane) whereas DDR2 is activated by fibrillar collagen types I, III, and X but not II or IV[36]. Discoidin domain receptors regulate cell adhesion, growth, polarity, and migration through sensing extracellular matrix and interacting with TGF-beta, Notch, or adhesive receptors for signaling. The stromal-epithelial interaction mediated by DDR1 is essential for the normal development of mammary glands in mice[37]. DDR1 promotes cancer progression by facilitating the migration of squamous cell carcinoma cells[38], bone metastasis by lung cancer^[39], lung metastasis by breast cancer^[40], stroma-induced peritoneal metastasis of gastric cancer^[41], and tissue invasion by metastatic colorectal cancer cells^[42]. Mechanistically, activation of DDR1 by collagen induces matrix metalloproteinase to degrade extracellular matrix [43]. DDR1 overexpressed in oral squamous carcinoma is involved in angiolymphatic invasion[44]. DDR1 is involved in invadosome formation via collagen-mediated activation of Rho-GTPase Cdc42[45]. DDR1 facilitates the invasion of a collective group of tumor cells by modulating actomyosin contractility at the cell-cell contacts[38]. Collagen type IV was shown to activate DDR1 to induce migration of breast cancer cells[46]. The epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition represents a critical step for metastasis and is triggered by extracellular matrix molecules or growth factors. The triggering by collagen type I is mediated by DDR1, whose signaling is transduced by proline-rich tyrosine kinase 2 to upregulate Ncadherin[47]. The DDR1 expression positively correlates with epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in





Figure 1 Three-dimensional structure of HN-1 peptide. A: A 3D model of HN-1 peptide generated using PyMol molecular graphics system, version 1.2r3pre, Schrödinger, LLC. All graphics depict an identical configuration with the bottom two panels in the opposite orientation; B: An ensemble of de novo conformations generated by PEP-FOLD (INSERM, France) in RPBS bioinformatics web portal: https://bioserv.rpbs.univ-paris-diderot.fr/services/PEP-FOLD/; C: A 3dimensional profile of the lowest energy structure obtained for HN-1 peptide was viewed using Raswin computer modeling software. All structures were generated using TSPLNIHNGQKL as the raw input peptide sequence. N1: The N-terminal residue.

squamous cell carcinoma, breast cancer, ovarian cancer, and hepatoma[48]. Additionally, DDR1 (activated by collagen type I) functions in the reactivation of previously disseminated metastasisinitiating cancer cells after dormancy[13,40].

Rb's tumor-suppressing function extends to the genetic regulation of DDR1 to inhibit metastasis. Through associating with E2F, Rb inhibits the transactivation of DDR1 by E2F[49]. The transcription of DDR1 is also regulated by p53 of the 'Rb pathway' [50]. The human DDR1 gene consists of 17 exons, which encode an extracellular domain (discoidin domain for ligand binding), a transmembrane domain, and an intracellular domain (tyrosine kinase). Alternative splicing generates multiple isoforms, which include DDR1c encoding the full-length receptor, DDR1b lacking 6 residues (between exon 13 and 14), DDR1a lacking these and additional 37 residues (juxtamembrane region), and DDR1d plus DDR1e (both tyrosine kinase-deficient due to C-terminal truncation)[48,51]. DDR1 remains a dimer (N-glycosylated) without the bound ligand. Binding to collagen activates DDR1 via clustering, causing autophosphorylation to initiate signaling[43,52]. DDR1 is overexpressed in head and neck, esophagus, lung, breast, ovarian, prostate, and brain cancers in addition to leukemia and lymphoma. DDR1 is also upregulated in osteosarcoma, endometrial cancer, primary central nervous system lymphoma, and liver cancer[13]. It correlated with a reduced overall survival (e.g., metastatic colorectal cancer)[36] and a poor prognosis (e.g., non-small cell lung cancer) for most cancers. Figure 2 shows the overexpression of DDR1 in human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma.

Multiple data indicate that the entry of HN-1 peptide is mediated by DDR1. First, HN-1 is internalized in phosphate-buffered saline (lacking the components of fetal bovine solution); plus, its uptake is competitively inhibited, indicating that specific interaction with cell surface receptor is necessary for its uptake[12]. Second, a high degree of similarity was discovered between HN-1 (TSPLNIHNGQKL) and a stretch of amino acids in alpha5 beta3 integrin (KLLITIHDRKEF). Aside from two identical residues (Ile-His) in the middle, the overall distribution of polar and nonpolar residues throughout the sequences was nearly identical (Figure 3A). The tertiary structure of both peptides exhibited similarity at the 3dimensional level (Figure 3B). The found motif represents the membrane-proximal sequence of the beta subunit's cytoplasmic tail that interacts with the alpha subunit's cytoplasmic tail, whose disruption changes the conformation of the extracellular domain to engage the ligand [53,54]. As the HN-1 sequence lacks the Arg-Gly-Asp motif recognized by integrins, HN-1 may interact with an "integrin-like" molecule (instead of integrin). Third, HN-1 is uptaken by attached cells but not by suspended cells^[55]. As tissue culture plates are typically coated with collagen (type I or IV), it suggests that collagenbinding receptor (expressed by adherent but not suspended cells) may represent the receptor for HN-1. Fourth, DDR1 is overexpressed by head and neck cancer or breast cancer targeted by HN-1. Fifth, upon



DDR1 is overexpressed in human HNSCC

Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (male, age 51)

Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (male, age 66)

Metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (male, age 62)





Normal oral mucosa squamous Normal oral mucosa squamous



DDR1 protein DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.323 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 2 Discoidin domain receptor 1 may mediate HN-1 endocytosis. Discoidin domain receptor 1 (DDR1) protein is upregulated in human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Immunohistochemical analysis of DDR1 was conducted by comparing tumor vs normal tissues in Human Protein Atlas database (http://www.proteinatlas.org/). The results showed positive cytoplasmic and membranous staining. Bar: 25 micrometers; DDR1: Discoidin domain receptor 1.

> activation by collagen, DDR1 becomes internalized and compartmentalized in endosomes[56], which is consistent with the identification of energy-dependent clathrin-mediated endocytosis as the entry route of HN-1[57] and the determination of HN-1 entrapped vesicles as endosomes[38]. Sixth, DDR1 is essential for the development of mammary glands^[37] in keeping with the common embryonic lineage rationale used to identify breast cancer as an additional cancer target of HN-1[58]. Taken together, these results suggest that DDR1 may mediate the endocytosis of the HN-1 peptide.

DISCUSSION

HN-1 peptide is preferentially internalized by cancer cells. HN-1 was internalized by almost all human HNSCC cell lines examined to date (MDA177Tu, MDA138Tu, MDA59Tu, MDA167Tu, MDA686Tu, MDA1986Tu, UMSCC1, UMSCC36)[12,59]. UMB-SCC-745, UT-SCC-36, UT-SCC-38[60], SCC-25, Detroit 562[61], CAL-27, and SCC-25 human HNSCC cells[62] also internalized HN-1. Recently, the uptake of HN-1 by human oral squamous cell carcinoma SCC-25 and CAL-27 cells was reported[63]. Further, HN-1 was selectively internalized by human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma derived SCC4, SCC9, and CAL27[57]. Little uptake of HN-1 was observed with MDA182Tu cells. Additionally, HN-1 peptide was internalized by human pharynx squamous cell carcinoma FaDu cells used in the mouse xenograft model study[64]. In vivo, intravenously administered HN-1 selectively localized to human HNSCC-



Comparison of HN-1 peptide and integrin Α TSPLNIHNGQKL Polar Nonpolar В HN-1 peptide: TSPLNIHNGQKL Model 6 Model 10 Membrane proximal sequence of beta subunit's cytoplasmic tail (in alpha5 beta3 integrin): KLLITIHDRKEF Model 9 Model 3

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.323 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 3 HN-1 peptide exhibits similarity to integrin peptide. A: The similarities between the HN-1 sequence (TSPLNIHNGQKL) and a stretch of amino acids in alpha5 beta3 integrin (KLLITIHDRKEF) are highlighted. As HN-1 peptide lacks the recognition motif (RGD) of integrin, HN-1 may interact with an "integrinlike" molecule. HN-1 is internalized by attached cells but not by suspended cells. As tissue culture plates are typically coated with collagen, collagen-binding DDR1 receptor (expressed by adherent but not suspended cells) may represent the receptor for HN-1 consistent with that DDR1 is overexpressed in human head and neck cancer (also breast cancer) targeted by HN-1. avb3: alpha5 beta3; B: Comparison of 3D models generated by PEP-FOLD (INSERM, France) in RPBS bioinformatics web portal: https://bioserv.rpbs.univ-paris-diderot.fr/services/PEP-FOLD/ TSPLNIHNGQKL: HN-1 peptide (top panels); KLLITIHDRKEF, membrane proximal sequence of beta subunit's cytoplasmic tail in alpha5 beta3 integrin (bottom panels); TSPLNIHNGQKL: Thr-Ser-Pro-Leu-Asn-Ile-His-Asn-Gly-Gln-Lys-Leu; KLLITIHDRKEF: Lys-Leu-Leu-Ile-Thr-Ile-His-Asp-Arg-Lys-Glu-Phe.

> derived tumors in a mouse xenograft model[12,57,59,62,65]. In contrast, HN-1 was poorly uptaken by their normal counterpart (human oral keratinocytes HOK16B, NOE human normal oral epithelial cells, NHDF normal human dermal fibroblasts)[12,58,59].

> Recent works have uncovered additional cancer types targeted by HN-1 peptide (Figure 4A). HN-1 uptake was also observed with human large cell lung carcinoma H460a cells[64]. Also, the HN-1 derived peptide HN17 (contains rearranged HN-1 sequence) was internalized by MZ-CRC 1 and TT human thyroid cancer cells[66]. HN-1 was also shown to target breast cancer irrespective of their 'triple status'. HN-1 or HN-1^{TYR} (HN-1 with two extra tyrosine residues added N-terminally) was internalized by MDA-MB231, SKBR3, MDA-MB-468, ZR-75-1, or MCF-7 breast cancer cells while MCF10A nontumorigenic mammary epithelial cells exhibited little HN-1 uptake[58,59]. Additionally, HN-1 was internalized by MDA-MB-435, MDA-MB-231, and MTLn3 breast cancer cells[64]. Further, HN-1 was internalized by KB cells[58] (originally human oral epidermoid carcinoma cells but subsequently found to contain HeLa human cervical adenocarcinoma cells)[67], raising the prospect that HN-1 may target



HN-1 peptide: Targeted cancer types and therapeutic

Figure 4 The repertoire of targeted cancers and therapeutic application of HN-1 peptide. A: HN-1 uptake profile. The internalization of HN-1 peptide by various human cancer cells *vs* the corresponding normal human cells was compared. HN-1 uptake: red arrow (internalized), blue arrow (undetectable); B: Previously developed HN-1 based conjugates for therapy or diagnosis. Note: whether HN-17 peptide (consisting of a permutated version of HN-1 sequence) enters cells *via* the same route as HN-1 peptide or through a distinct route is not known. HOK: Human oral keratinocyte; NOE: Normal oral epithelial; NHDF: Normal human dermal fibroblasts; Cu: Copper; Tc: Technetium; PKCe: Protein kinase C epsilon; siRNA: Small interfering RNA; PEG: Polyethylene glycol.

cervical cancer. For uterine cancer, HN-1 uptake by MES-SA/Dx5, a multi-drug resistant cell-line derived from the human uterine sarcoma cell line MES-SA, was documented[64]. For gastrointestinal cancer, HN-1 uptake was observed with human colorectal carcinoma LS513 and LS1034 cells[64].

HN-1 peptide translocates across the cell membrane to facilitate drug delivery. Upon entry, HN-1 is localized in punctate particles, which were subsequently identified as endosomes[57,60]. Multiple reports suggest that HN-1 is internalized *via* the 'receptor-mediated endocytosis': (1) The internalization of HN-1 is 'specific' (based on competition assay); (2) HN-1 can be uptaken in a serum-free medium (*i.e.*, its receptor is cell-associated); (3) HN-1 is compartmentalized in endosomes after entry; and (4) Fusing the translocation domain of diphtheria toxin allows HN-1 to escape from the endosome into the cytosol. Using inhibitors of various entry routes (receptor-dependent endocytosis, pinocytosis, simple transmembrane diffusion, caveolae-mediated pathway), HN-1 uptake was shown to be mediated by 'energy-dependent clathrin-mediated endocytosis'[57].

HN-1 efficiently penetrates tumor mass, which is significant as > 90% of human cancers are comprised of solid tumors. The intravenously injected HN-1 was localized at the interior of solid tumors derived from MDA177Tu or MDA167Tu human HNSCC cells in a mouse xenograft model[12]. An independent report showed that the intravenously injected HN1 penetrates solid tumors derived from UMSCC1 human HNSCC cells *in vivo*[59]. Using radiolabeled HN-5 peptide, a derivative of HN-1, its penetration into solid tumors formed by SCC4 human HNSCC cells was documented using a nude rat model[57]. Further, nanoparticles displaying HN-1 peptide effectively penetrated solid tumors derived from human oral squamous cell carcinoma SCC-25 cells in a murine xenograft model[62]. Through these

works, the pharmacological properties of HN-1 have been confirmed globally.

The unique properties of HN-1 have been exploited to develop novel anticancer therapeutics (Figure 4B). In 2009, Henri et al[64] (Tapestry Pharmaceuticals, Boulder, United States) developed targeted chemotherapy comprised of HN-1 peptide and taxol. Taxol is an antimicrotubule drug that induces lethality by triggering 'hyperploid progression mediated death' in G1 DNA damage checkpoint defective human cancer cells due to mutant *Rb* or *p53* gene[16,24,68]. The authors delineated a series of complex organic chemistry synthesis steps to conjugate HN-1 to taxol without affecting the latter's antimicrotubule property. Using a murine xenograft model derived from human head and neck cancer FaDu cells, the authors demonstrated that the HN-1 peptide-to-taxol conjugate completely suppresses the growth of tumors. Further, it exhibited synergy with a second chemotherapeutic agent against breast, lung, uterine, or colon cancer cells. Of significance, the combined regimen increased growth inhibition from < 15% (by a single agent) to $\sim 80\%$ against breast cancer cells. For drug resistance, the conjugate showed activity against multi-drug resistant human uterine sarcoma cells.

In 2007, Zheng (University of Texas Health Science Center, San Antonio, United States) developed HN-5 (CYTSPLNIHNGQKL), a derivative of HN-1 peptide containing one cysteine and one tyrosine residue at the N terminus[57]. Using HN-5 peptide radiolabeled with Cu-64 gamma-ray emitter, human HNSCC cell-derived tumor xenograft in a nude rat model was successfully imaged via positron emission tomography. HN-5 peptide exhibited specificity and affinity to HNSCC and exhibited a high diffusion capacity within a solid tumor. More significantly, by conjugating to HN-5, a significant reduction in the accumulation of unconjugated Cu-64 radioisotopes in the liver, heart, kidney, lung, and small intestine was observed. Subsequently, in 2013, Nordquist (University of Texas Health Science Center, San Antonio, United States) quantitatively documented selective accumulation of the radiolabeled HN-5 peptide in HNSCC-derived tumor xenografts. Of relevance, HN-4 peptide linked to the radioisotope Tc-99m has been presented at the 2007 American Association for Advancement of Science annual meeting.

In 2008, the HN-4 peptide was used to develop a human HNSCC-targeting liposome for targeted drug delivery. The components used to construct the liposomes included the lipids DPPC, DMPG, and PEG. The synthesis involved the preparation of lipid film, reconstitution in sucrose solution, and extrusion to limit particle size to 100 nm, which was presented at the 2008 Texas Science & Engineering Fair.

In 2010, Bao et al [59] (Ohio State University Medical, Center, Columbus, United States) developed HN1-PKC(epsilon), a capped bi-functional peptide comprised of HN-1 peptide and PKC(epsilon)inhibitory peptide connected through a linker. The bifunctional inhibitory peptide was selectively internalized by human HNSCC cells and suppressed the growth of HNSCC xenograft in nude mice. The report also extended the targets of HN1 peptide to breast cancer. Of clinical significance, whereas cisplatin alone inhibited the growth of HNSCC cells by 49%, combining cisplatin with the above bifunctional peptide suppressed growth by 72%.

In 2011, Potala et al[60] (Indian Institute of Technology Madras, Chennai, India) developed a novel fusion toxin comprised of HN-1 peptide and diphtheria toxin. The fusion toxin displayed a high degree of selectivity towards HNSCC and exhibited IC_{50} of 1-5 nM (nanomolar). They characterized 'energydependent clathrin-mediated endocytosis' as the HN-1 entry route and identified the intracellular punctate particles containing internalized HN-1 peptides as endosomes. The authors also found that the internalized fusion toxin utilized the translocation domain (of diphtheria toxin) to gain entry into the cytosol from endosomes.

In 2011, Dudas et al [55] (Medical University Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria) reported that the pharmacological properties of HN-1 peptide could be recapitulated using distinct human HNSCC cells. Further, the authors reported a seminal finding that the binding of HN-1 peptide to human HNSCC cells occurred in attached but not suspended cells[55]. It suggested that the expression level of the cognate cell surface receptor for HN-1 is governed by the presence of an extracellular matrix to which it adheres, providing an important clue for the discovery of DDR1 as the putative receptor for HN-1 peptide (see above).

In 2012, for gene therapy, Un et al [58] (Beckman Research Institute of City of Hope National Medical Center, Duarte, United States) developed a therapeutic conjugate composed of HN-1(Tyr) and a siRNA targeting human ribonucleotide reductase subunit M2. HN-1(Tyr) contains two tyrosine residues added N-terminally to the HN-1 peptide [58]. The siRNA(R) resistant to RNase degradation was designed by J. Rossi (City of Hope National Medical Center, Duarte, United States)[69] and was able to suppress endogenously expressed ribonucleotide reductase in vivo after delivering in a nanoparticle constructed by M. Davis (California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, United States)[70]. The clinical trial involving melanoma patients was conducted by Y. Yen (City of Hope National Medical Center, Duarte, United States), a former colleague of J. Doroshow (National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, United States). For RNA interference therapy, the HN-1(TYR)-anti-hRRM2 siRNA(R) construct moderatly suppressed the endogenously expressed ribonucleotide reductase M2 subunit in breast cancer cells.

In 2017, Wang et al[62] (Tianjin Medical University, Tianjin, China) constructed a nanoparticle comprised of polyethylene glycol via self-assembly, which contained the chemotherapeutic doxorubicin. Doxorubicin's primary anticancer activity is associated with its propensity to intercalate with doublestranded DNA and inhibit topoisomerase II, and it has been used to treat leukemia, breast, lung,



bladder, and other cancers. The nanoparticle was further modified to display HN-1 peptide at the exterior [62,71]. The spherical construct (~150 nanometers) exhibited HNSCC-specific uptake and cytotoxicity. In vivo, HN-1 peptide endowed greater HNSCC targeting capacity and tumor penetrating potential to the PEGylated nanoparticle. Whereas unconjugated doxorubicin remained at the periphery, HN-1 Linked nanoparticle readily infiltrated to deeper regions of the tumor. The clinical use of doxorubicin is hampered by side effects-especially, cardiac damage. Intriguingly, a significantly lower amount (~1/15 fold) of doxorubicin accumulated in the heart and other organs (ex. liver, kidney, spleen, lung) after administering the construct in a murine xenograft model.

In 2017, Rossfeld et al [66] (Arthur G. James Comprehensive Cancer Center and Ohio State University, Columbus, United States) developed a conjugate comprised of the near-infrared dye IRdye800 and HN-17 (TLPNSNHI KQGL), a derivative of HN-1 peptide, for intraoperative fluorescence imaging of tumors for optical surgical navigation. HN-17 (also called Compound-17) differs significantly from HN-1 at the primary structural level as it consists of a differentially permutated version of the HN-1 sequence. Though the sequence of HN-17 is comprised of identical amino acids (or their representation) as HN-1, it may not necessarily utilize the same entry mechanism as HN-1 (as indicated by its considerably faster rate of uptake). Further, whether HN-17 targets the same types of cancer as HN-1 is not known. Nevertheless, the study demonstrated that HN-1 peptide or its derivatives target medullary thyroid cancer. Subsequently, in 2019, Ding et al[65] (Ohio State University, Columbus, United States) demonstrated that IRdye800 conjugated HN-1 or HN-17 peptide could be used for fluorescence image guided resection of HNSCC during surgery using an animal model harboring an HNSCC-derived tumor xenograft.

In 2021, Li et al [63] (Shanxi Medical University School and Hospital of Stomatology, Taiyuan, China) developed a pH-sensitive (for drug release) delivery vector comprised of HN-1 peptide and nanoscale graphene oxide. After introducing polyethylene glycol to stabilize nanoscale graphene oxide, the construct was further modified to display HN-1 peptide to provide specificity for oral squamous cell cancer and achieve greater penetration into solid tumors. Doxorubicin was then loaded through the formation of hydrogen bond and pie-bond, which is weakened in an acidic milieu to allow drug release. Nearly 70% release of loaded drugs occurred at pH 5.6 compared to a significantly lower percentage at pH 7.4. As the tumor tissue exhibits an acidic environment, lower toxicity of the doxorubicin-containing nanoparticle to normal tissues (displaying higher pH) is expected.

CONCLUSION

In closing, we would like to reiterate that the accumulation of systemically administered cytotoxic anticancer drugs at various normal tissues following the intravenous injection can be debilitating for many cancer patients. To a large extent, the failure to guide drugs to tumors (resulting in < 0.5% of drugs reaching tumors) represents one of the major causes of side effects. Given the number of obstacles that the microenvironment of solid tumors poses (ex. stroma, basement membrane, interstitial pressure), overcoming these hindrances remains a major challenge in drug delivery. To reduce side effects, tumorhoming vectors are increasingly sought for targeted delivery. The use of previously developed vectors has been limited by inefficient penetration into solid tumors. Through the isolation of tumor specifically internalizing peptides such as HN-1, we have begun to chip away at the formidable problem of eliminating side effects associated with current drugs--hence, providing a molecular biological solution to the drug delivery problem. Following its discovery, multiple laboratories located globally have developed HN-1 conjugated therapeutics to mitigate side effects[61]. The international effort has been extended to developing imaging agents for tumor diagnosis as well as surgical navigation. Taken together, these works confirm the tumor specificity of the HN-1 peptide and underscore the expanding repertoire of its therapeutic application. Finally, the deciphering of clues that pointed to DDR1 tyrosine kinase as the putative receptor of HN1 may prove to be critical in moving toward clinical application. Further studies are planned to assess HN-1 peptide's interaction with DDR1 and the therapeutic potential of treating metastatic cancer.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The genetic basis of human cancers was elucidated *via* the identification of the prototypic human tumor suppressor retinoblastoma (*Rb*) gene by F. Hong (previously worked on phosphate transferase system governing diauxie at the Johns Hopkins University, whose alternate interpretation inspired operon concept) at the University of California at San Diego. His determination of the Rb gene sequence helped to uncover the central role of Rb in regulating the cell cycle as a component of DNA damage checkpoint at the G1 or S phase, which is regulated by cyclin-dependent kinase (Cdk) resulting in FDA-approved Cdk4/6 inhibitors for treating advanced-stage breast cancer. His discovery of Rb's intrinsic properties to



interact with DNA as well as to form oligomers like the breast cancer type 1 susceptibility protein Cterminus (BRCT) laid the foundation for understanding Rb's function in regulating DNA replication, transcription (ex. E2F), epigenetics (histone modification), heterochromatin, and condensation. These works culminated in his discovery of the tumor-specific lytic path 'hyperploid progression mediated death' targeting Rb or p53 mutant cancers.

Research motivation

Metastatic cancer diagnosed in late-stage remains a formidable challenge, often resulting in mortality. Combinatorial regimens consisting of multiple chemotherapeutic agents administered to treat metastatic cancer incur an unacceptably high level of morbidity.

Research objectives

There is a great unmet need to direct or guide the intravenously injected drugs to tumors as less than 0.5% reach tumors currently, contributing to severe side effects.

Research methods

Harnessing the power of molecular biology, random peptide displaying M13 bacteriophage-based library was screened by F. Hong, who previously utilized the recombinant phages to determine the genomic sequence of avian infectious bronchitis virus' spike protein for vaccine development at the Salk Institute, which predated the emergence of COVID-19 coronavirus. The screening was conducted at the University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center using live surgically derived human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells. After screening 2.5×10^{12} random peptides, a single peptide TSPLNIHNGQKL (HN-1) was isolated, which is tumor-specific, translocates across the cell membrane, and capable of penetrating solid tumors for targeted drug delivery.

Research results

Through global participation, the above properties of the HN-1 peptide have been confirmed. The international endeavor also led to the development of numerous HN-1 peptide conjugated agents for therapy (taxol, doxorubicin, protein kinase C inhibiting peptide, ribonucleotide reductase inhibiting siRNA, diphtheria toxin, polyethylene glycol linked to doxorubicin, graphene oxide nanoparticlecontaining doxorubicin) as well as imaging (gamma-ray emitting isotopes for radiotherapy, nearinfrared fluorescent dyes for surgical navigation) of cancer. More significantly, we now know that HN-1 peptide also targets breast and thyroid (potentially cervical, lung, uterine, colon) cancers.

Research conclusions

While analyzing its amino acid content, an important clue was obtained that pointed to discoidin domain receptor 1 (DDR1) as the HN-1 peptide's cognate receptor. The finding is in alignment with previously accrued experimental data globally concerning the uptake route of HN-1. The identification of Rb-regulated DDR1 as the putative receptor for HN-1 opens unexpected opportunities to block cancer progression via targeting the very protein mediating metastasis.

Research perspectives

Through abrogating metastasis, it may preempt the recurrence of refractory metastatic cancers, which inevitably arise due to the acquiring of drug resistance.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to Tri Ngo (Bio-Synthesis, Lewisville, United States) and D. Root (University of North Texas, Denton, United States) for molecular modeling. Also acknowledged are R. Dulbecco (Nobel prize 1975, oncogenic virus) of Salk Institute (La Jolla, United States), and the staff at Geary's (Beverly Hills, United States). The discovery of HN-1 peptide by F. Hong was preceded by his prior works on gene transfer using lambda bacteriophage with S. Roseman (Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, United States) in 1981-82, M13 single-stranded bacteriophage with J. Rose (a former colleague of D. Baltimore, Nobel prize 1975, reverse transcriptase) at the Salk Institute (La Jolla, United States) in 1984-1985, retroviral gene therapy vector from D. Miller (a former colleague of I. Verma, Salk Institute) at the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center (Seattle, United States) in 1993, baculovirus gene expression system with D. Schubert (a former colleague of F. Jacob, Nobel prize 1965, operon) at the Salk Institute (La Jolla, United States) in 1993-1995, and adenovirus gene delivery vector with P. Nisen (a former colleague of S. Cohen, Nobel prize 1986, epidermal growth factor) at the University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center (Dallas, United States) in 1996-1997. F. Hong (consultant to the Beckman Research Institute of City of Hope National Medical Center) is listed as an inventor in United States patent 6,919,425 for HN-1 peptide filed by Fulbright & Jaworski (United States Special Prosecutor during the Watergate Scandal, Richard Nixon presidency) law firm (Houston, United States).



FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Hong FU has worked on cancer genetics and molecular pharmacology; Castro M participated in therapeutics research; Linse K performed molecular modeling to predict the structure of peptides; Hong FU, Castro M, and Linse K meet the criteria for authorship established by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors and verify the validity of the results reported; Hong FU wrote the manuscript; all authors approved the final version of the article.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Dr. Hong has received royalties from University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center patent covering materials related to HN-1 peptide. All other authors have nothing to disclose.

Data sharing statement: No additional data available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Frank-Un Hong 0000-0002-6814-4671; Miguel Castro 0000-0002-5499-5061; Klaus Linse 0000-0003-0408-9391

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Gong ZM

REFERENCES

- Vokes EE, Weichselbaum RR, Lippman SM, Hong WK. Head and neck cancer. N Engl J Med 1993; 328: 184-194 [PMID: 1 8417385 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199301213280306]
- 2 Mao L, Lee JS, Fan YH, Ro JY, Batsakis JG, Lippman S, Hittelman W, Hong WK. Frequent microsatellite alterations at chromosomes 9p21 and 3p14 in oral premalignant lesions and their value in cancer risk assessment. Nat Med 1996; 2: 682-685 [PMID: 8640560 DOI: 10.1038/nm0696-682]
- Lee WH, Bookstein R, Hong F, Young LJ, Shew JY, Lee EY. Human retinoblastoma susceptibility gene: cloning, 3 identification, and sequence. Science 1987; 235: 1394-1399 [PMID: 3823889 DOI: 10.1126/science.3823889]
- 4 Dyson NJ. RB1: a prototype tumor suppressor and an enigma. Genes Dev 2016; 30: 1492-1502 [PMID: 27401552 DOI: 10.1101/gad.282145.116]
- 5 Dick FA, Goodrich DW, Sage J, Dyson NJ. Non-canonical functions of the RB protein in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2018; 18: 442-451 [PMID: 29692417 DOI: 10.1038/s41568-018-0008-5]
- Johnson DE, Burtness B, Leemans CR, Lui VWY, Bauman JE, Grandis JR. Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2020; 6: 92 [PMID: 33243986 DOI: 10.1038/s41572-020-00224-3]
- Wolinsky JB, Colson YL, Grinstaff MW. Local drug delivery strategies for cancer treatment: gels, nanoparticles, polymeric films, rods, and wafers. J Control Release 2012; 159: 14-26 [PMID: 22154931 DOI: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.11.031
- Park JW. Liposome-based drug delivery in breast cancer treatment. Breast Cancer Res 2002; 4: 95-99 [PMID: 12052251 DOI: 10.1186/bcr432]
- Lee SS, Bindokas VP, Kron SJ. Multiplex Three-Dimensional Mapping of Macromolecular Drug Distribution in the Tumor 9 Microenvironment. Mol Cancer Ther 2019; 18: 213-226 [PMID: 30322947 DOI: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-18-0554]
- 10 Maeda H, Khatami M. Analyses of repeated failures in cancer therapy for solid tumors: poor tumor-selective drug delivery, low therapeutic efficacy and unsustainable costs. Clin Transl Med 2018; 7: 11 [PMID: 29541939 DOI: 10.1186/s40169-018-0185-6
- Ruenraroengsak P, Cook JM, Florence AT. Nanosystem drug targeting: Facing up to complex realities. J Control Release 11 2010; 141: 265-276 [PMID: 19895862 DOI: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2009.10.032]
- Hong FD, Clayman GL. Isolation of a peptide for targeted drug delivery into human head and neck solid tumors. Cancer 12 *Res* 2000; **60**: 6551-6556 [PMID: 11118031]
- Auguste P, Leitinger B, Liard C, Rocher V, Azema L, Saltel F, Santamaria D. Meeting report first discoidin domain 13 receptors meeting. J Cell Sci 2020; 133 [PMID: 32094286 DOI: 10.1242/jcs.243824]
- 14 Shen Y, Maupetit J, Derreumaux P, Tufféry P. Improved PEP-FOLD Approach for Peptide and Miniprotein Structure Prediction. J Chem Theory Comput 2014; 10: 4745-4758 [PMID: 26588162 DOI: 10.1021/ct500592m]
- 15 Thévenet P, Shen Y, Maupetit J, Guyon F, Derreumaux P, Tufféry P. PEP-FOLD: an updated de novo structure prediction server for both linear and disulfide bonded cyclic peptides. Nucleic Acids Res 2012; 40: W288-W293 [PMID: 22581768 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gks419]
- Hong FU, Castro M, Linse K. Tumor-specific lytic path "hyperploid progression mediated death": Resolving side effects 16 through targeting retinoblastoma or p53 mutant. World J Clin Oncol 2020; 11: 854-867 [PMID: 33312882 DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v11.i11.854]



- 17 Hong FD, Huang HJ, To H, Young LJ, Oro A, Bookstein R, Lee EY, Lee WH. Structure of the human retinoblastoma gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1989; 86: 5502-5506 [PMID: 2748600 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.86.14.5502]
- 18 Bookstein R, Rio P, Madreperla SA, Hong F, Allred C, Grizzle WE, Lee WH. Promoter deletion and loss of retinoblastoma gene expression in human prostate carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1990; 87: 7762-7766 [PMID: 2217208 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.87.19.7762]
- 19 Lee WH, Shew JY, Hong FD, Sery TW, Donoso LA, Young LJ, Bookstein R, Lee EY. The retinoblastoma susceptibility gene encodes a nuclear phosphoprotein associated with DNA binding activity. Nature 1987; 329: 642-645 [PMID: 3657987 DOI: 10.1038/329642a0]
- 20 Hong F, Lee WH. Sequence similarity between part of human retinoblastoma susceptibility gene product and a neurofilament protein subunit. Biosci Rep 1991; 11: 159-163 [PMID: 1958811 DOI: 10.1007/BF01182484]
- 21 Hensey CE, Hong F, Durfee T, Qian YW, Lee EY, Lee WH. Identification of discrete structural domains in the retinoblastoma protein. Amino-terminal domain is required for its oligomerization. J Biol Chem 1994; 269: 1380-1387 [PMID: 8288605]
- 22 Lee WH, Hollingsworth RE Jr, Qian YW, Chen PL, Hong F, Lee EY. RB protein as a cellular "corral" for growthpromoting proteins. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 1991; 56: 211-217 [PMID: 1819487 DOI: 10.1101/sqb.1991.056.01.026]
- Lee WH, Xu Y, Hong F, Durfee T, Mancini MA, Ueng YC, Chen PL, Riley D. The corral hypothesis: a novel regulatory 23 mode for retinoblastoma protein function. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 1994; 59: 97-107 [PMID: 7587136 DOI: 10.1101/sqb.1994.059.01.013]
- 24 Hong FD, Chen J, Donovan S, Schneider N, Nisen PD. Taxol, vincristine or nocodazole induces lethality in G1checkpoint-defective human astrocytoma U373MG cells by triggering hyperploid progression. Carcinogenesis 1999; 20: 1161-1168 [PMID: 10383885 DOI: 10.1093/carcin/20.7.1161]
- 25 Un F. G1 arrest induction represents a critical determinant for cisplatin cytotoxicity in G1 checkpoint-retaining human cancers. Anticancer Drugs 2007; 18: 411-417 [PMID: 17351393 DOI: 10.1097/CAD.0b013e32801429ed]
- 26 Un F, Qi C, Prosser M, Wang N, Zhou B, Bronner C, Yen Y. Modulating ICBP90 to suppress human ribonucleotide reductase M2 induction restores sensitivity to hydroxyurea cytotoxicity. Anticancer Res 2006; 26: 2761-2767 [PMID: 16886595
- Huang HJ, Yee JK, Shew JY, Chen PL, Bookstein R, Friedmann T, Lee EY, Lee WH. Suppression of the neoplastic 27 phenotype by replacement of the RB gene in human cancer cells. Science 1988; 242: 1563-1566 [PMID: 3201247 DOI: 10.1126/science.3201247
- Bookstein R, Shew JY, Chen PL, Scully P, Lee WH. Suppression of tumorigenicity of human prostate carcinoma cells by 28 replacing a mutated RB gene. Science 1990; 247: 712-715 [PMID: 2300823 DOI: 10.1126/science.2300823]
- 29 Chen PL, Chen YM, Bookstein R, Lee WH. Genetic mechanisms of tumor suppression by the human p53 gene. Science 1990; 250: 1576-1580 [PMID: 2274789 DOI: 10.1126/science.2274789]
- Roth JA, Nguyen D, Lawrence DD, Kemp BL, Carrasco CH, Ferson DZ, Hong WK, Komaki R, Lee JJ, Nesbitt JC, Pisters 30 KM, Putnam JB, Schea R, Shin DM, Walsh GL, Dolormente MM, Han CI, Martin FD, Yen N, Xu K, Stephens LC, McDonnell TJ, Mukhopadhyay T, Cai D. Retrovirus-mediated wild-type p53 gene transfer to tumors of patients with lung cancer. Nat Med 1996; 2: 985-991 [PMID: 8782455 DOI: 10.1038/nm0996-985]
- Clayman GL, el-Naggar AK, Lippman SM, Henderson YC, Frederick M, Merritt JA, Zumstein LA, Timmons TM, Liu TJ, 31 Ginsberg L, Roth JA, Hong WK, Bruso P, Goepfert H. Adenovirus-mediated p53 gene transfer in patients with advanced recurrent head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 1998; 16: 2221-2232 [PMID: 9626224 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.1998.16.6.2221
- 32 Hong WK, Sporn MB. Recent advances in chemoprevention of cancer. Science 1997; 278: 1073-1077 [PMID: 9353183 DOI: 10.1126/science.278.5340.1073]
- van der Lee R, Buljan M, Lang B, Weatheritt RJ, Daughdrill GW, Dunker AK, Fuxreiter M, Gough J, Gsponer J, Jones 33 DT, Kim PM, Kriwacki RW, Oldfield CJ, Pappu RV, Tompa P, Uversky VN, Wright PE, Babu MM. Classification of intrinsically disordered regions and proteins. Chem Rev 2014; 114: 6589-6631 [PMID: 24773235 DOI: 10.1021/cr400525m]
- 34 Xu S, Xu H, Wang W, Li S, Li H, Li T, Zhang W, Yu X, Liu L. The role of collagen in cancer: from bench to bedside. J Transl Med 2019; 17: 309 [PMID: 31521169 DOI: 10.1186/s12967-019-2058-1]
- 35 Lu P, Weaver VM, Werb Z. The extracellular matrix: a dynamic niche in cancer progression. J Cell Biol 2012; 196: 395-406 [PMID: 22351925 DOI: 10.1083/jcb.201102147]
- 36 Lafitte M, Sirvent A, Roche S. Collagen Kinase Receptors as Potential Therapeutic Targets in Metastatic Colon Cancer. Front Oncol 2020; 10: 125 [PMID: 32117772 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00125]
- 37 Vogel WF, Aszódi A, Alves F, Pawson T. Discoidin domain receptor 1 tyrosine kinase has an essential role in mammary gland development. Mol Cell Biol 2001; 21: 2906-2917 [PMID: 11283268 DOI: 10.1128/MCB.21.8.2906-2917.2001]
- Hidalgo-Carcedo C, Hooper S, Chaudhry SI, Williamson P, Harrington K, Leitinger B, Sahai E. Collective cell migration 38 requires suppression of actomyosin at cell-cell contacts mediated by DDR1 and the cell polarity regulators Par3 and Par6. *Nat Cell Biol* 2011; **13**: 49-58 [PMID: 21170030 DOI: 10.1038/ncb2133]
- 39 Valencia K, Ormazábal C, Zandueta C, Luis-Ravelo D, Antón I, Pajares MJ, Agorreta J, Montuenga LM, Martínez-Canarias S, Leitinger B, Lecanda F. Inhibition of collagen receptor discoidin domain receptor-1 (DDR1) reduces cell survival, homing, and colonization in lung cancer bone metastasis. Clin Cancer Res 2012; 18: 969-980 [PMID: 22223527 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-1686]
- 40 Gao H, Chakraborty G, Zhang Z, Akalay I, Gadiya M, Gao Y, Sinha S, Hu J, Jiang C, Akram M, Brogi E, Leitinger B, Giancotti FG. Multi-organ Site Metastatic Reactivation Mediated by Non-canonical Discoidin Domain Receptor 1 Signaling. Cell 2016; 166: 47-62 [PMID: 27368100 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.06.009]
- Jin H, Ham IH, Oh HJ, Bae CA, Lee D, Kim YB, Son SY, Chwae YJ, Han SU, Brekken RA, Hur H. Inhibition of 41 Discoidin Domain Receptor 1 Prevents Stroma-Induced Peritoneal Metastasis in Gastric Carcinoma. Mol Cancer Res 2018; 16: 1590-1600 [PMID: 29866925 DOI: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-17-0710]



- 42 Jeitany M, Leroy C, Tosti P, Lafitte M, Le Guet J, Simon V, Bonenfant D, Robert B, Grillet F, Mollevi C, El Messaoudi S, Otandault A, Canterel-Thouennon L, Busson M, Thierry AR, Martineau P, Pannequin J, Roche S, Sirvent A. Inhibition of DDR1-BCR signalling by nilotinib as a new therapeutic strategy for metastatic colorectal cancer. EMBO Mol Med 2018; 10 [PMID: 29438985 DOI: 10.15252/emmm.201707918]
- Gadiya M, Chakraborty G. Signaling by discoidin domain receptor 1 in cancer metastasis. Cell Adh Migr 2018; 12: 315-43 323 [PMID: 30187813 DOI: 10.1080/19336918.2018.1520556]
- 44 Chen YL, Tsai WH, Ko YC, Lai TY, Cheng AJ, Shiah SG, Hsiao JR, Chang JY, Lin SF. Discoidin Domain Receptor-1 (DDR1) is Involved in Angiolymphatic Invasion in Oral Cancer. Cancers (Basel) 2020; 12 [PMID: 32244515 DOI: 10.3390/cancers12040841]
- 45 Juin A, Di Martino J, Leitinger B, Henriet E, Gary AS, Paysan L, Bomo J, Baffet G, Gauthier-Rouvière C, Rosenbaum J, Moreau V, Saltel F. Discoidin domain receptor 1 controls linear invadosome formation via a Cdc42-Tuba pathway. J Cell Biol 2014; 207: 517-533 [PMID: 25422375 DOI: 10.1083/jcb.201404079]
- Castro-Sanchez L, Soto-Guzman A, Navarro-Tito N, Martinez-Orozco R, Salazar EP. Native type IV collagen induces cell 46 migration through a CD9 and DDR1-dependent pathway in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. Eur J Cell Biol 2010; 89: 843-852 [PMID: 20709424 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2010.07.004]
- Shintani Y, Fukumoto Y, Chaika N, Svoboda R, Wheelock MJ, Johnson KR. Collagen I-mediated up-regulation of N-47 cadherin requires cooperative signals from integrins and discoidin domain receptor 1. J Cell Biol 2008; 180: 1277-1289 [PMID: 18362184 DOI: 10.1083/jcb.200708137]
- Yeh YC, Lin HH, Tang MJ. Dichotomy of the function of DDR1 in cells and disease progression. Biochim Biophys Acta 48 Mol Cell Res 2019; 1866: 118473 [PMID: 30954568 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2019.04.003]
- Wang Z, Sun X, Bao Y, Mo J, Du H, Hu J, Zhang X. E2F1 silencing inhibits migration and invasion of osteosarcoma cells 49 via regulating DDR1 expression. Int J Oncol 2017; 51: 1639-1650 [PMID: 29039472 DOI: 10.3892/ijo.2017.4165]
- Ongusaha PP, Kim JI, Fang L, Wong TW, Yancopoulos GD, Aaronson SA, Lee SW. p53 induction and activation of DDR1 kinase counteract p53-mediated apoptosis and influence p53 regulation through a positive feedback loop. EMBO J 2003; 22: 1289-1301 [PMID: 12628922 DOI: 10.1093/emboj/cdg129]
- 51 Alves F, Saupe S, Ledwon M, Schaub F, Hiddemann W, Vogel WF. Identification of two novel, kinase-deficient variants of discoidin domain receptor 1: differential expression in human colon cancer cell lines. FASEB J 2001; 15: 1321-1323 [PMID: 11344127 DOI: 10.1096/fj.00-0626fje]
- Corcoran DS, Juskaite V, Xu Y, Görlitz F, Alexandrov Y, Dunsby C, French PMW, Leitinger B. DDR1 52 autophosphorylation is a result of aggregation into dense clusters. Sci Rep 2019; 9: 17104 [PMID: 31745115 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-019-53176-4
- Stupack DG, Puente XS, Boutsaboualoy S, Storgard CM, Cheresh DA. Apoptosis of adherent cells by recruitment of 53 caspase-8 to unligated integrins. J Cell Biol 2001; 155: 459-470 [PMID: 11684710 DOI: 10.1083/jcb.200106070]
- 54 Vinogradova O, Velyvis A, Velyviene A, Hu B, Haas T, Plow E, Qin J. A structural mechanism of integrin alpha(IIb)beta(3) "inside-out" activation as regulated by its cytoplasmic face. Cell 2002; 110: 587-597 [PMID: 12230976 DOI: 10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00906-6]
- 55 Dudas J, Idler C, Sprinzl G, Bernkop-Schnuerch A, Riechelmann H. Identification of HN-1-Peptide Target in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma Cells. ISRN Oncol 2011; 2011: 140316 [PMID: 22084724 DOI: 10.5402/2011/140316]
- 56 Mihai C, Chotani M, Elton TS, Agarwal G. Mapping of DDR1 distribution and oligomerization on the cell surface by FRET microscopy. J Mol Biol 2009; 385: 432-445 [PMID: 19007791 DOI: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008.10.067]
- 57 Zheng X. Specificity and feasibility of HN-5 peptide for diagnosis and targeted therapy of head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. Thesis, The University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, 2007. Available from: https://www.proquest.com/products-services/dissertations/Milestone-Editions-for-Authors.html
- 58 Un F, Zhou B, Yen Y. The utility of tumor-specifically internalizing peptides for targeted siRNA delivery into human solid tumors. Anticancer Res 2012; 32: 4685-4690 [PMID: 23155230]
- Bao L, Gorin MA, Zhang M, Ventura AC, Pomerantz WC, Merajver SD, Teknos TN, Mapp AK, Pan Q. Preclinical 59 development of a bifunctional cancer cell homing, PKCepsilon inhibitory peptide for the treatment of head and neck cancer. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 5829-5834 [PMID: 19567682 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3465]
- 60 Potala S, Verma RS. Targeting head and neck squamous cell carcinoma using a novel fusion toxin-diphtheria toxin/HN-1. Mol Biol Rep 2011; 38: 1389-1397 [PMID: 20814829 DOI: 10.1007/s11033-010-0242-8]
- Wright CL, Pan Q, Knopp MV, Tweedle MF. Advancing theranostics with tumor-targeting peptides for precision 61 otolaryngology. World J Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2016; 2: 98-108 [PMID: 29204554 DOI: 10.1016/j.wjorl.2016.05.006
- 62 Wang Y, Wan G, Li Z, Shi S, Chen B, Li C, Zhang L, Wang Y. PEGylated doxorubicin nanoparticles mediated by HN-1 peptide for targeted treatment of oral squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Pharm 2017; 525: 21-31 [PMID: 28412450 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.04.027]
- Li R, Wang Y, Du J, Wang X, Duan A, Gao R, Liu J, Li B. Graphene oxide loaded with tumor-targeted peptide and anti-63 cancer drugs for cancer target therapy. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 1725 [PMID: 33462277 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-81218-3]
- 64 Henri JT, McChesney JD, Lamb R, Venkataraman SK. Molecular construct suitable for targeted conjugates. United States Patent Application 20090246211. Available from: https://www.freepatentsonline.com/20090246211.pdf
- Ding H, Kothandaraman S, Gong L, Wright CL, Pan Q, Teknos T, Tweedle MF. Novel Peptide NIRF Optical Surgical 65 Navigation Agents for HNSCC. Molecules 2019; 24 [PMID: 31450798 DOI: 10.3390/molecules24173070]
- Rossfeld KK, Justiniano SE, Ding H, Gong L, Kothandaraman S, Sawant D, Saji M, Wright CL, Kirschner LS, Ringel 66 MD, Tweedle MF, Phay JE. Biological Evaluation of a Fluorescent-Imaging Agent for Medullary Thyroid Cancer in an Orthotopic Model. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2017; 102: 3268-3277 [PMID: 28591772 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2017-00573]
- 67 Vaughan L, Glänzel W, Korch C, Capes-Davis A. Widespread Use of Misidentified Cell Line KB (HeLa): Incorrect Attribution and Its Impact Revealed through Mining the Scientific Literature. Cancer Res 2017; 77: 2784-2788 [PMID: 28455420 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-2258]
- Un F. Finding the genetic solution for cancer in the mechanism of Taxol cytotoxicity. In: Meszaros A, Balogh G. Multiple



Drug Resistance. New York: Nova Science Publishers, 2010: 219-223

- 69 Heidel JD, Liu JY, Yen Y, Zhou B, Heale BS, Rossi JJ, Bartlett DW, Davis ME. Potent siRNA inhibitors of ribonucleotide reductase subunit RRM2 reduce cell proliferation in vitro and in vivo. Clin Cancer Res 2007; 13: 2207-2215 [PMID: 17404105 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2218]
- 70 Davis ME, Zuckerman JE, Choi CH, Seligson D, Tolcher A, Alabi CA, Yen Y, Heidel JD, Ribas A. Evidence of RNAi in humans from systemically administered siRNA via targeted nanoparticles. Nature 2010; 464: 1067-1070 [PMID: 20305636 DOI: 10.1038/nature08956]
- 71 Liang J, Yang B, Zhou X, Han Q, Zou J, Cheng L. Stimuli-responsive drug delivery systems for head and neck cancer therapy. Drug Deliv 2021; 28: 272-284 [PMID: 33501883 DOI: 10.1080/10717544.2021.1876182]



WJC0

World Journal of Worin jon... Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2022 May 24; 13(5): 339-351

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.339

Retrospective Study

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Co-relation of SARS-CoV-2 related 30-d mortality with HRCT score and RT-PCR Ct value-based viral load in patients with solid malignancy

Satya Narayan, Vineet Talwar, Varun Goel, Krushna Chaudhary, Anurag Sharma, Pallavi Redhu, Satyajeet Soni, Arpit Jain

Specialty type: Oncology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Phiri P, United Kingdom; Yu L, Singapore

Received: October 3, 2021 Peer-review started: October 3, 2021 First decision: November 19, 2021 Revised: November 30, 2021 Accepted: April 25, 2022 Article in press: April 25, 2022 Published online: May 24, 2022



Satya Narayan, Vineet Talwar, Varun Goel, Krushna Chaudhary, Pallavi Redhu, Satyajeet Soni, Arpit Jain, Department of Medical Oncology, Rajiv Gandhi Cancer Institute and Research Centre, New Delhi 110085, India

Anurag Sharma, Department of Research, Rajiv Gandhi Cancer Institute and Research Centre, New Delhi 110085, India

Corresponding author: Varun Goel, DNB, Doctor, Consultant Physician-Scientist, Department of Medical Oncology, Rajiv Gandhi Cancer Institute and Research Centre, Sector 5 Rohini, Sir Chhotu Ram Marg, New Delhi 110085, India. drvarungoyaloncologist@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) patients with malignancy are published worldwide but are lacking in data from India.

AIM

To characterize COVID-19 related mortality outcomes within 30 d of diagnosis with HRCT score and RT-PCR Ct value-based viral load in various solid malignancies.

METHODS

Patients included in this study were with an active or previous malignancy and with confirmed severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection from the institute database. We collected data on demographic details, baseline clinical conditions, medications, cancer diagnosis, treatment and the COVID-19 disease course. The primary endpoint was the association between the mortality outcome and the potential prognostic variables, specially, HRCT score, RT-PCR Ct value-based viral load, etc. using logistic regression analyses treatment received in 30 d.

RESULTS

Out of 131 patients, 123 met inclusion criteria for our analysis. The median age was 57 years (interquartile range = 19-82) while 7 (5.7%) were aged 75 years or older. The most prevalent malignancies were of GUT origin 49 (39.8%), hepato-



pancreatobiliary (HPB) 40 (32.5%). 109 (88.6%) patients were on active anticancer treatment, 115 (93.5%) had active (measurable) cancer. At analysis on May 20, 2021, 26 (21.1%) patients had died. In logistic regression analysis, independent factors associated with an increased 30-d mortality were in patients with the symptomatic presentation. Chemotherapy in the last 4 wk, number of comorbidities ($\geq 2 vs$ none: 3.43, 1.08-8.56). The univariate analysis showed that the risk of death was significantly associated with the HRCT score: for moderate (8-15) [odds ratio (OR): 3.44; 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.3-9.12; *P* = 0.0132], severe (> 15) (OR: 7.44; 95% CI: 1.58-35.1; *P* = 0.0112).

CONCLUSION

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study from India reporting the association of HRCT score and RT-PCR Ct value-based 30-d mortality outcomes in SARS-CoV-2 infected cancer patients.

Key Words: SARS-CoV-2; COVID-19; Cancer; HRCT; Viral load

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: There is a higher fatality rate in cancer patients as compared to non-cancer patients. Also, a higher incidence of serious clinical events and intensive care unit (ICU) admissions in cancer patients. Analysis suggests patients have increased morbidity and mortality from recent cytotoxic chemotherapy. Patients with active untreated cancer, metastatic disease, progressive disease with multiple co-morbidity as well as getting palliative treatment are at a higher risk of mortality. Mortality rates are higher in patients with high baseline HRCT values at presentation and need longer ICU stays. Mortality rates are not a statistically significant co-relation with higher baseline RT-PCR based viral load values at presentation. Mortality rates are not higher in older cancer patients as compared to younger counterparts with cancer.

Citation: Narayan S, Talwar V, Goel V, Chaudhary K, Sharma A, Redhu P, Soni S, Jain A. Co-relation of SARS-CoV-2 related 30-d mortality with HRCT score and RT-PCR Ct value-based viral load in patients with solid malignancy. World J Clin Oncol 2022; 13(5): 339-351 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v13/i5/339.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.339

INTRODUCTION

After initially being identified in December 2019 in the Chinese city of Wuhan, the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) and the associated sickness of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) has become a global pandemic[1]. The novel enveloped beta-coronavirus was immediately recognized as the infecting agent[2,3]. Coronaviruses are non-segmented enveloped positive-sense RNA viruses that belong to the Coronaviridae family[4]. This is the 3rd large-scale health crisis caused by beta-coronaviruses. The novel coronavirus pandemic (2019-nCoV) was designated a public health emergency of international concern by the World Health Organization (WHO) on January 30 and COVID19 was classified as a pandemic by the WHO on March 11, 2020[5]. As of May 31, 2021, there have been 171 million cases reported worldwide in 222 countries with 3.55 million deaths. In India alone, there are 28 million cases and 0.32 million fatalities. India represents an approximately 16.3% share of worldwide coronavirus cases and a 9.1% share of worldwide mortality[6]. Patients with a history of active malignancy may be at a higher risk of getting COVID-19 and having COVID-19-related problems according to various reports[7-9]. Initial reports, however, are limited by sample size, geographic region and the inability to generalize findings to the entire community of cancer patients. The impact of antineoplastic therapy and supportive care for cancer patients may impair their immune system. We conducted a retrospective study on cancer patients with COVID-19 infection comparing different demographic and clinical parameters with treatment-related mortality.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and settings

This is a single-center, retrospective study conducted at a tertiary cancer care hospital. Patients with active cancer presented to the hospital between April 2020 to April 2021 with a confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection. The inclusion criteria were the patients with confirmed COVID-19 in a diagnosed case of solid



malignancy.

The study has been approved by our Institutional Review Board (RGCIRC/Res/SCM/46 2021/95) and was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki.

Variables and outcomes

The primary endpoint was to measure mortality within 30 d of diagnosis of COVID-19 with HRCT score and RT-PCR Ct value-based viral load. Secondary endpoints were measuring mortality compared with demographic variables (i.e. age, sex, obesity, smoking status) and clinic variables such as HRCT scoring including baseline laboratory values for D dimer, C-reactive protein (CRP), number of comorbidities, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status, requiring active treatment, recent surgery (including, but not limited to cancer surgeries, within 4 wk of COVID-19 diagnosis), type of malignancy, cancer status (remission vs active disease), with active further need as stable vs responding to treatment vs progressing disease), anticancer therapy and COVID-19 treatment with azithromycin, hydroxychloroquine, ivermectin or in combination vs various other treatment options used, *i.e.* Steroid alone or in combination with Remdesivir, Tocilizumab, Plasma therapy during infection. As it is a retrospective cohort study, selection bias occurred due to the unavailability of data for a few patients.

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics such as age and sex was used to show the baseline demographic information of the participants included in our analyses. All quantitative data are expressed as a mean ± SD. Categorical variables are expressed as numbers and their respective percentage. Univariate analysis was conducted to determine the risk factor of death in all the admitted patients by using Logistic regression. All data entries and statistical analyses will be performed by using SPSS® Version 23.0 software. All these statistics will be accompanied by 95% confidence intervals (CI). All the reported p-values will be twosided and *P*-values < 0.05 shall be considered to indicate statistical significance.

RESULTS

Out of 131 patients, 123 met the inclusion criteria for our analysis. The clinical features are shown in Table 1. The median age was 57 years (interquartile range [IQR] 19-82), 7 (5.7%) were aged \geq 75 and 64 (52%) of the patients were female. The most common malignancies were of GUT origin 49 (39.8%) and hepato-pancreaticobiliary 40 (32.5%). 109 (88.6%) patients were receiving active anticancer therapy with 115 (93.5%) patients having active (measurable) cancer. At analysis on May 20, 2021, 26 (21.1%) of the patients had died.

Patients with mild or moderate disease were given symptomatic treatment, and most mild disease patients were treated with home-based care. Hydroxychloroquine, ivermectin and/or dexamethasone were administered in moderate disease cases. Corticosteroids, hydroxychloroquine, ivermectin, remdesivir, tocilizumab and convalescent plasma therapy were used to treat severe COVID-19-infected cancer patients. Assisted ventilation was given to 18 patients (6.45%) but all of these patients later experienced COVID-19-related complications such as pneumonitis and subsequent respiratory failure, septic shock, or sudden cardiac arrest and succumbed to their illness.

The univariate logistic regression analysis for mortality has been shown in Table 2. The risk of death was statistically significant with the presence of symptomatic presentation (odds ratio [OR] = 11.1, P =0.0211), number of comorbidities $\geq 2 vs$ none (OR = 3.43, P = 0.0303), Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status of $0/1 \text{ v/s} \ge 2$ (OR = 3.88, *P* = 0.047). The odds of mortality were significantly higher in patients presenting with moderate OR = 3.44, P = 0.0132) and severe HRCT score (OR = 7.44, P = 0.0112) as compared to patients with mild HRCT score (Table 3). Similarly, patients with smoking habits were at a high risk of 30-d mortality (OR = 5.54, P < 0.001). Progressive disease was also found to be a significant risk factor for mortality with OR = 25.5) (Figure 1).

No statistically significant association of 30-d mortality was found concerning age, sex, type of malignancy, type of anticancer therapy obesity status, recent surgery and active cancer (progressing vs remission). Also, no significant effect on mortality was noted for the patients with RT PCR based on different viral load levels.

DISCUSSION

Cancer patients are a particularly vulnerable group in the current COVID-19 pandemic. They are at a higher probability of severe illness and increased mortality once diagnosed with COVID-19. This article analyzes previously known cancer patients and COVID-19 prognostic factors provide information on clinical management and outcomes of cancer and COVID-19 patients.

In a few studies, men were found to have a higher mortality risk than women. In addition to sex disparities and smoking rates, this is due to the difference in immunological and endocrine systems



Table 1 Patient demographic, clinical, baseline laboratory parameter and tumour characteristics, n (%)					
Characteristics	Analysable population (<i>n</i> = 123)				
Age, yr					
Median	59				
Range	19-82				
< 65	91 (74)				
65-74	25 (20.3)				
≥75	7 (5.7)				
Sex					
Male	59 (48)				
Female	64 (52)				
Smoking status					
Never smoked	69 (58.9)				
Smoker (former/current)	31 (26.3)				
Unknown	18 (15.2)				
Obesity status					
Not specified	106 (86.2)				
Obese	13 (10.4)				
Data missing	4 (3.4)				
Number of comorbidities					
0	54 (43.9)				
1	32 (26)				
≥2	37 (30.1)				
Type of malignancy					
Thorax	10 (8.1)				
GIT	9 (7.3)				
НРВ	40 (32.5)				
GUT	49 (39.8)				
Others	15 (12.2)				
Cancer status					
Remission or no evidence of disease	8 (6.5)				
Present, stable, or responding to treatment	66 (53.7)				
Present, progressive disease unknown	49 (39.8)				
ECOG performance status					
0 or 1	90 (73.2)				
2	18 (14.6)				
≥3	15 (12.2)				
Type of anticancer therapy					
None in the 4 wk before COVID-19 diagnosis	14 (11.4)				
Non-cytotoxic therapy targeted therapy/endocrine therapy	9 (7.3)				
Immunotherapy	3 (2.4)				
Cytotoxic systemic therapy	90 (73.2)				
External beam radiotherapy	7 (5 7)				



Recent surgery	
None in the 4 wk before COVID-19 diagnosis	113 (91.9)
Yes	10 (8.9)
Baseline laboratory parameters	
C Reactive protein	44 (35.8)
D-Dimer	11 (8.9)
IL-6	5 (4.1)
RT-PCR test (viral load)	
Mild (17-24)	49 (39.8)
Moderate (25-31)	30 (24.4)
High (> 31)	44 (35.8)
HRCT score	
Mild	77 (62.6)
Moderate	38 (30.8)
Severe	8 (6.5)
Treatment of COVID-19	
Hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) alone, azithromycin alone or with combination HCQ/azithromycin/ivermectin	22 (17.9)
+ Steroids	36 (293)
+ Remdesivir	29 (23.6)
+ Tocilizumab	3 (2.4)
+ Plasma therapy	11 (8.9)
Neither	22 (17.9)

GIT: Gastrointestinal tract; HPB: Hepatopancreatobiliary; GUT: Genitourinary tract; COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019; ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group.

> between men and women which may result in differential responses to the SARS-CoV-2 infection. The present study has no similar difference related to the sex of the patient. In reports from Europe, the United States and China, non-malignant populations are consistent with COVID-19 outcome data reported for overall mortality and was associated with comorbidities such as obesity and advanced population age[10,11].

> Moreover, case-fatality rates for patients with COVID-19 who had breast, thyroid, or cervical cancer were low in the previously published study. As reported, 62 (57%) of 109 women had one of these three types of cancers[12-14]. The United Kingdom Coronavirus Cancer Monitoring project (UKCCMP) with a database of 800 patients with the most common cancers were the gastrointestinal, respiratory, breast, male genital and hematological cancers. In our study, 43% of our patients had metastatic disease and 89 (72.3%) of these patients having the metastatic disease were in the GIT and HPB malignancy cohorts. Sixty-five patients had cancer treatment in the previous 4 wk for the UKCCMP while in our study 88.6% of patients had received some form of treatment in the last 4 wk. In the UKCCMP study and in our study $\geq 50\%$ of the patients receiving treatment had received cytotoxic chemotherapy. 45 patients had a severe form of infection. The mortality rates were high at 28% (226 out of 800 in the UKCCMP) while in our present study 21.1% (26 out of 123). Disease fatality is the function of pathogen virulence, host tolerance and pathogen load[15]. Pathogenicity is often the consequence of an overactive immune or inflammatory response[15,16]. Cancer patients normally have a compromised immunity due to their existing cancer and associated treatment^[17]. So, cancer patients may have persistent SARS-CoV-2 viral infection which cannot be cleared by their compromised immune system in a short time, but their COVID-19 disease is not severe and some of them may still recover from the COVID-19 disease. The majority of patients exhibited COVID-19-like symptoms and the overall rate of complications were higher. The patients who died had higher co-morbidities and were older than those who recovered. Patients who got chemotherapy within the last 4 wk of COVID-19 did not have a higher mortality rate than those who did not get chemotherapy. Patients who received non-chemotherapy treatments (radiation, hormone therapy, immunotherapy, and targeted therapy) did not have an increased risk of death[18]. COVID-19 has been associated to a greater fatality rate in cancer patients but cancer treatments have not been associated with an increased risk of mortality as found in this study.



Table 2 Primary and Secondary outcomes by potential prognostic variables ($n = 123$), n (%)							
	Admitted to ICU	Met composite endpoint	Required mechanical ventilation	Died			
Total (<i>n</i> = 123)	20 (16.2)	30 (24.3)	10 (8.1)	18 (14.6)			
Age, yr							
< 65 (n = 91)	18 (19.7)	22 (22.2)	9 (9.9)	16 (17.6)			
65-74 (<i>n</i> = 25)	1 (4)	5 (20)	1 (4)	1 (4)			
\geq 75 (<i>n</i> = 7)	1 (14.3)	3 (42.8)	0	1 (14.3)			
Sex							
Male (<i>n</i> = 59)	6 (10.2)	11 (18.6)	3 (5)	5 (8.5)			
Female $(n = 64)$	14 (21.8)	19 (29.7)	7 (10.9)	13 (20.3)			
Number of comorbidities							
0 (<i>n</i> = 54)	6 (11.1)	9 (16.7)	0	4 (7.4)			
1 (<i>n</i> = 32)	5 (15.6)	11 (34.4)	4 (12.5)	5 (15.6)			
$\geq 2 (n = 37)$	9 (24.3)	10 (27)	6 (16.2)	9 (24.3)			
Type of malignancy							
Thorax $(n = 10)$	1 (10)	2 (20)	1 (10)	1 (10)			
GIT (<i>n</i> = 9)	5 (55.5)	6 (66.6)	3 (33.3)	4 (44.5)			
HPB (<i>n</i> = 40)	8 (20)	14 (35)	4 (10)	7 (17.3)			
GUT (<i>n</i> = 49)	5 (10)	7 (14.2)	2 (4)	5 (10)			
Others (<i>n</i> = 15)	1 (6.7)	1 (6.7)	0	1 (6.7)			
Cancer status							
Remission or no evidence of disease ($n = 8$)	0	2 (25)	0	0			
Present, stable, or responding to treatment ($n = 66$)	6 (9.9)	9 (13.6)	5 (7.6)	5 (7.6)			
Present, progressive disease unknown ($n = 49$)	14 (28.6)	19 (38.7)	5 (10)	13 (26.5)			
ECOG performance status							
0 or 1 (n = 90)	0	10 (11.1)	0	0			
2 (<i>n</i> = 18)	2 (11.1)	5 (27.7)	2 (11.1)	4 (22.2)			
$\geq 3 \ (n = 15)$	15 (100)	15 (100)	8 (53.3)	14 (93.3)			
Type of anticancer therapy							
None in the 4 wk before COVID-19 diagnosis ($n = 14$)	6 (42.5)	8 (57.1)	3 (21.4)	5 (35.7)			
Non-cytotoxic therapy targeted therapy/endocrine therapy ($n = 9$)	2 (22.2)	5 (55.5)	1 (11.1)	2 (22.2)			
Immunotherapy (n = 3)	0	0	0	0			
Cytotoxic systemic therapy ($n = 90$)	11 (12.2)	16 (17.7)	6 (6.7)	10 (11.1)			
External beam radiotherapy ($n = 7$)	1 (14.3)	1 (14.3)	0	1 (14.3)			



Baisbideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

Recent surgery				
None in the 4 wk before COVID-19 diagnosis ($n = 113$)	19 (16.8)	28 (24.8)	9 (8)	17 (15)
Yes (<i>n</i> = 10)	1 (10)	2 (20)	1 (10)	1 (10)
RT-PCR Test (viral load)				
Mild (<i>n</i> = 49)	5 (10.2)	8 (16.3)	3 (6.1)	5 (10.2)
Moderate ($n = 30$)	5 (16.7)	9 (30)	4 (13.3)	5 (16.7)
$\mathrm{High}\ (n=44)$	10 (22.7)	13 (29.5)	3 (6.8)	8 (18.1)
HRCT Score				
Mild (<i>n</i> = 77)	7 (9)	13 (16.9)	0	5 (6.5)
Moderate ($n = 38$)	7 (18.4)	11 (28.9)	4 (10.5)	7 (18.4)
Severe $(n = 8)$	6 (75)	6 (75)	6 (75)	6 (75)
Treatment of COVID-19				
Hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) alone, azithromycin alone or with combination HCQ/azithromycin/ivermectin ($n = 22$)	1 (4.5)	3 (13.6)	0	1 (4.5)
+ Steroids ($n = 36$)	4 (11.1)	8 (22.2)	2 (5.6)	4 (11.1)
+ Remdesivir ($n = 29$)	8 (27.6)	11 (37.9)	4 (13.8)	7 (24.1)
+ Tocilizumab ($n = 3$)	1 (33.3)	1 (33.3)	0	1 (33.3)
+ Plasma therapy ($n = 11$)	6 (54.4)	7 (63.6)	4 (36.6)	4 (36.6)
Neither $(n = 22)$	0	0	0	0

GIT: Gastrointestinal tract; HPB: Hepatopancreatobiliary; GUT: Genitourinary tract; COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019; ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group; ICU: Intensive care unit.

The COVID-19 and Cancer Consortium (CCC19) published the results of 928 cancer patients from the United States, Canada and Spain who had COVID-19 infection. 654 patients with solid tumors, hemato-logical malignancies diagnosed in 167 patients and 107 patients with multiple malignancies. In this study, 73.2% of the patients got cytotoxic chemotherapy in the previous 4 wk, whereas 160 patients received chemotherapy treatment and 206 patients received alternative forms of cancer therapy. The mortality rate was 13% within 30 d of COVID-19 diagnosis. Interestingly, 59% (n = 71) of the patients who died were never admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU); while in this study 30.8% (n = 8) died who were never admitted to the ICU. Outside the ICU, patients with active cancer have a higher death rate than those in remission. There was no association between 30-d all-cause mortality and non-cytotoxic treatments, recent surgery and cytotoxic treatment[19].

Mehta *et al*[20] have reported outcomes on 218 cancer patients with COVID-19. Seventy-five patients had solid tumors and 25% had hematological malignancies. The most common tumor types were genitourinary, breast and colorectal cancer, respectively. A total of 61 (28%) patients died. The mortality rate was 55% in patients with lung cancer and 67% with pancreatic cancer. Breast (14%) and genitourinary cancer (15%) were associated with a relatively lower mortality rate. Active chemotherapy and radiation therapy were not associated with increased mortality. Active disease (< 1 year) and metastatic disease were associated with higher numerical mortality values but without statistical significance[20].

Studies that report Ct values of RT-PCR to quantify SARS-CoV-2 RNA in clinical material is limited. Patients with severe disease had significantly higher viral loads and the viral load was higher during the early stages of the disease according to Zheng *et al*[21]. Karahasan Yagci *et al*[22] reported that higher viral load was linked with increased age, comorbidities, smoking status and recent chemotherapy. SARS-CoV-2 RNA had a median Ct value of 28.16 (IQR: 24.5–31.6) in hospitalized patients and 26.77 (IQR: 23.1-29.7) in outpatients in the study. The number of comorbidities were higher in hospitalized patients (P < 0.01). In COVID-19, Huang *et al*[23], in 2020, reported that elevated CRP was associated with higher composite poor outcome and disease severity.
Table 3 Univariate regression models of potential variables associated with 30 d all-cause mortality (*n* = 123)

	Odds ratio	P value
Age, yr		
< 65	1	
65-74	0.48 (0.13-1.78)	0.2756
≥75	1.42 (0.26-7.88)	0.6883
Sex		
Male	1	
Female	1.22 (0.51-2.96)	0.6567
Smoking status		
Never smoked	1	
Smoker (former/current)	5.54 (2.05-14.99)	0.0008
Unknown	2.19 (0.39-12.21)	0.3711
Obesity status		
Not specified	1	
Obese	0.69 (0.14-3.32)	0.6414
Number of comorbidities		
0	1	
1	2.67 (0.83-8.56)	0.0993
≥2	3.38 (1.12-10.20)	0.0303
Type of malignancy		
Thorax	1	
GIT	2.57 (0.19-34.48)	0.4758
НРВ	4.5 (0.51-39.44)	0.1744
GUT	1.5 (0.16-13.75)	0.7198
Others	1.38 (0.11-17.67)	0.8022
Cancer status		
Remission or no evidence of disease	1	
Present, stable, or responding to treatment	1.02 (0.16-6.43)	0.9832
Present, progressive disease unknown	25.5 (5.14-126.59)	0.0001
Type of anticancer therapy		
None in the 4 wk before COVID-19 diagnosis	1	
Non-cytotoxic therapy targeted therapy/endocrine therapy	0.13 (0.01-1.28)	0.08
Immunotherapy	0	0.9981
Cytotoxic systemic therapy	0.19 (0.06-0.63)	0.0067
External beam radiotherapy	0.2 (0.02-2.18)	0.1867
Recent surgery		
None in the 4 wk before COVID-19 diagnosis	1	
Yes	0.41 (0.05-3.38)	0.4053
Baseline laboratory parameters		
C reactive protein	1	
D-dimer	4.44 (1.76-11.23)	0.0016
IL-6	18.48 (1.96-173.82)	0.0108

HRCT score		
Mild	1	
Moderate	3.44 (1.3-9.12)	0.0132
Severe	7.44 (1.58-35.1)	0.0112
RT-PCR Test (viral load)		
Mild (49)	1	
Moderate (30)	1.28 (0.40-4.14)	0.6786
High (44)	1.71 (0.62-4.76)	0.3933
Treatment of COVID-19		
Hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) alone, azithromycin alone or with combination HCQ/azithromycin/ivermectin	1	
+ Steroids	3.91 (0.39-39.31)	
+ Remdesivir	31.06 (3.79-255.41)	0.2470
+ Tocilizumab		0.0014
+ Plasma therapy	75.25 (7.30-775.28)	0.0003
Presentation		
Asymptomatic	1	
Symptomatic	11.1 (1.43-85.85)	0.0211
Managed at		
Home-based care	1	
Ward admission	121.6 (21.8-677.7)	< 0.0001
ICU admission	0.4 (0.04-3.57)	0.4119

GIT: Gastrointestinal tract; HPB: Hepatopancreatobiliary; GUT: Genitourinary tract; COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019; ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group; ICU: Intensive care unit.

> The CRP levels available at the time of the PCR request were largely for hospitalized patients, hence a statistical comparison could not be established in this study. In a study of 76 patients, it was found that the Ct values of severe cases remained considerably lower for the first 12 d following commencement as compared to moderate instances[24].

> Early in the disease course, Pan et al[25] observed a lot of ground-glass opacity abnormalities followed by the development of crazy paving patterns on chest CT and finally increasing consolidation later on. According to study outcomes, chest CT has a high specificity but a low sensitivity, particularly in patients who appear within the first 4 d of the sickness. The clinical value of chest CT was observed to be limited in a review article, particularly for individuals who have no symptoms and are screened early in the disease progression[26]. The inverse relationship between viral load and chest CT TSS was the most striking finding. In hospitalized patients and outpatients with extensive lesions on CT, the viral load of nasopharyngeal samples was considerably lower. The severity of a CT scan was related to the patient's age and older patients having higher severity scores (P < 0.01). Hospitalization was related to the presence of any kind and number of comorbidities, but not to CT severity. Patients with obesity or other metabolic syndromes like diabetes mellitus still have a competent immunity which may be malfunctioning due to overnutrition. When these patients are infected by the SARS-CoV-2 virus, the infection may trigger hyper inflammation which makes a lot of collateral damage to all organs (those who were not infected by the virus) in the body. So, the COVID-19 disease can be very severe or even the quick demise of the patient, even if their competent immune system is able to clear the SARS-CoV-2 viruses effectively.

> Even if the viral load of SARS CoV-2 in nasopharyngeal swab specimens is high in the early stages of COVID-19, it is not always related to changes in chest CT. The viral load of nasopharyngeal swab specimens decreases as SARS CoV-2 progresses but the viral load of lower respiratory tract samples increases and chest CT changes become more visible. It's thought that viral load is vital for recognizing early stages of Covid-19 infection and limiting transmission but CT can only help identify cases that require substantial medical care.

> Patients who died had lower average Ct values across multiple time points during the disease course than those who recovered or were still hospitalized at the end of the study [recovered: median 37.43





Figure 1 Forest plot for different parameters (demographic, clinical and laboratory) and 30-d mortality outcomes. GIT: Gastrointestinal tract; HPB: Hepatopancreatobiliary; GUT: Genitourinary tract; HPBT: Hepato-pancreato-biliary tract; EBRT: External beam radiotherapy.

(IQR 34.94-38.67); still hospitalized: median 36.97 (IQR 34.33-38.70); deceased: median 34.79 (IQR 24.46-37.65); P = 0.001] in a study of 308 patients from China. A study reported on the link between mortality and SARS-Cov-2 Ct values and found that lower Ct values were associated with a higher risk of death which is consistent with previous results regarding epidemic-causing coronaviruses[27,28]. C-reactive protein levels were shown to be adversely linked with Ct value in a study of 12 patients (r = -0.584; P = 0.03), but not in a study of 25 patients (P = 0.07)[29].

Several studies have reported the relationship between viral load as determined by Ct values and disease severity, and one of them (including 96 patients) found that higher viral loads were significantly related with more severe disease (Table 2)[30]. Mean viral loads were not significantly different between patients with pneumonia, severe pneumonia and those without pneumonia in a study by Shi *et al*[31]. Patients with severe pneumonia had a significantly higher viral load than those without pneumonia but severity outcomes were not statistically significant in this study. Shah *et al*[32] reported similar results in that there is no correlation between Ct values and severity of the disease.

CONCLUSION

With a CFR of 21.1%, this study reveals the significant rates of mortality in COVID-19 cancer patients. When comparing older cancer patients to younger cancer patients, mortality rates are not higher. Patients who had high baseline HRCT values at presentation and required ICU care had a higher mortality.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The lack of correlation data between coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and Solid malignancy limits the understanding of the true mortality impact of the COVID-19 in the Indian settings.

Research motivation

Higher incidence of serious clinical events and intensive care unit (ICU) admissions in cancer patients. Analysis suggests patients have increased morbidity and mortality from recent cytotoxic chemotherapy. Patients with active untreated cancer, metastatic disease, progressive disease with multiple comorbidity and getting palliative treatment are at a higher risk of mortality.

Zaishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

Research objectives

The primary objectives of the study include COVID-19 related mortality outcomes within 30 d of diagnosis with HRCT score and RT-PCR Ct value-based viral load in various solid malignancies.

Research methods

This is a single-center, retrospective study conducted at a tertiary cancer care hospital including confirmed COVID-19 in a diagnosed case of solid malignancy. The primary endpoint was to measure mortality within 30 d of diagnosis of COVID-19 with HRCT score and RT-PCR Ct value-based viral load.

Research results

The risk of death was statistically significant with the presence of symptomatic presentation, number of comorbidities $\geq 2 vs$ none, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status of $0/1 v/s \geq 2$. The odds ratio of mortality were significantly higher in patients presented with moderate and severe HRCT scores as compared to patients with mild HRCT scores. No statistically significant association of 30-d mortality was found concerning age, sex, type of malignancy, type of anticancer therapy, obesity status, recent surgery and active cancer (progressing *vs* remission). Also, no significant effect on mortality was noted for the patients with RT PCR based on different viral load levels.

Research conclusions

Mortality rates are higher in patients with high baseline HRCT values at presentation and who need longer ICU stays. Mortality rates are not higher in older cancer patients as compared to younger counterparts with cancer. Mortality rates are not statistically significant in co-relation with high baseline RT-PCR based viral load values at presentation.

Research perspectives

If there are further COVID-19 outbreaks, the findings of these studies will be helpful for clinical practice to categorize the patients on the basis of various demographic and clinical parameters for prognostication of patients.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Narayan S and Talwar V were involved in design of study and the acquisition of data; Goel V, Chaudhary K, Redhu P, Soni S, Jain A were involved in the drafting and revision of the manuscript; Narayan S and Sharma A were involved in the statistical calculation; All authors discussed and contributed to the final manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The study has been approved by our Institutional Review Board (RGCIRC/Res/SCM/46 2021/95) and was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors have no conflict of interest.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: India

ORCID number: Satya Narayan 0000-0003-1957-1674; Vineet Talwar 0000-0001-9149-6969; Varun Goel 0000-0003-3590-3261; Krushna Chaudhary 0000-0003-4952-8888; Anurag Sharma 0000-0002-3482-0774; Pallavi Redhu 0000-0001-8829-9438; Satyajeet Soni 0000-0003-2564-2619; Arpit Jain 0000-0002-3916-4411.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: European Society for Medical Oncology.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Gong ZM

Zaishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

REFERENCES

- 1 Lu H, Stratton CW, Tang YW. Outbreak of pneumonia of unknown etiology in Wuhan, China: The mystery and the miracle. J Med Virol 2020; 92: 401-402 [PMID: 31950516 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.25678]
- 2 Lu R, Zhao X, Li J, Niu P, Yang B, Wu H, Wang W, Song H, Huang B, Zhu N, Bi Y, Ma X, Zhan F, Wang L, Hu T, Zhou H, Hu Z, Zhou W, Zhao L, Chen J, Meng Y, Wang J, Lin Y, Yuan J, Xie Z, Ma J, Liu WJ, Wang D, Xu W, Holmes EC, Gao GF, Wu G, Chen W, Shi W, Tan W. Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: implications for virus origins and receptor binding. Lancet 2020; 395: 565-574 [PMID: 32007145 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30251-8]
- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, Zhao X, Huang B, Shi W, Lu R, Niu P, Zhan F, Ma X, Wang D, Xu W, 3 Wu G, Gao GF, Tan W; China Novel Coronavirus Investigating and Research Team. A Novel Coronavirus from Patients with Pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 727-733 [PMID: 31978945 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001017]
- Richman DD, Whitley RJ, Hayden FG, eds. Clinical virology, 4th edn Washington: ASM Press; 2016 [DOI: 10.1128/9781555819439
- World Health Organization. WHO time-line COVID19 [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 Sept 12] Available from: 5 https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/events-as-they-happen
- Johns Hopkins University. COVID-19 Dashboard [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 Oct 17] Available from: https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html
- 7 Liang W, Guan W, Chen R, Wang W, Li J, Xu K, Li C, Ai Q, Lu W, Liang H, Li S, He J. Cancer patients in SARS-CoV-2 infection: a nationwide analysis in China. Lancet Oncol 2020; 21: 335-337 [PMID: 32066541 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30096-6]
- Dai M, Liu D, Liu M, Zhou F, Li G, Chen Z, Zhang Z, You H, Wu M, Zheng Q, Xiong Y, Xiong H, Wang C, Chen C, Xiong F, Zhang Y, Peng Y, Ge S, Zhen B, Yu T, Wang L, Wang H, Liu Y, Chen Y, Mei J, Gao X, Li Z, Gan L, He C, Shi Y, Qi Y, Yang J, Tenen DG, Chai L, Mucci LA, Santillana M, Cai H. Patients with Cancer Appear More Vulnerable to SARS-CoV-2: A Multicenter Study during the COVID-19 Outbreak. Cancer Discov 2020; 10: 783-791 [PMID: 32345594 DOI: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-20-04221
- Miyashita H, Mikami T, Chopra N, Yamada T, Chernyavsky S, Rizk D, Cruz C. Do patients with cancer have a poorer 9 prognosis of COVID-19? Ann Oncol 2020; 31: 1088-1089 [PMID: 32330541 DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.04.006]
- 10 Onder G, Rezza G, Brusaferro S. Case-Fatality Rate and Characteristics of Patients Dying in Relation to COVID-19 in Italy. JAMA 2020; 323: 1775-1776 [PMID: 32203977 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2020.4683]
- Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and Important Lessons From the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) 11 Outbreak in China: Summary of a Report of 72 314 Cases From the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. JAMA 2020; 323: 1239-1242 [PMID: 32091533 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2020.2648]
- Chen Z, Peto R, Zhou M, Iona A, Smith M, Yang L, Guo Y, Chen Y, Bian Z, Lancaster G, Sherliker P, Pang S, Wang H, 12 Su H, Wu M, Wu X, Chen J, Collins R, Li L; China Kadoorie Biobank (CKB) collaborative group. Contrasting male and female trends in tobacco-attributed mortality in China: evidence from successive nationwide prospective cohort studies. Lancet 2015; 386: 1447-1456 [PMID: 26466050 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00340-2]
- 13 Giefing-Kröll C, Berger P, Lepperdinger G, Grubeck-Loebenstein B. How sex and age affect immune responses, susceptibility to infections, and response to vaccination. Aging Cell 2015; 14: 309-321 [PMID: 25720438 DOI: 10.1111/acel.12326]
- 14 Klein SL, Flanagan KL. Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 2016; 16: 626-638 [PMID: 27546235 DOI: 10.1038/nri.2016.901
- Humphries DL, Scott ME, Vermund SH. Pathways linking nutritional status and infectious disease. In: Humphries D, 15 Scott ME, Vermund SH, editors. Nutrition and infectious disease: shifting the clinical paradigm: Humana Press; 2020: 4-5 [DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-56913-6]
- 16 Levin BR, Antia R. Why we don't get sick: the within-host population dynamics of bacterial infections. Science 2001; 292: 1112-1115 [PMID: 11352067 DOI: 10.1126/science.1058879]
- 17 Couzin-Frankel J. A cancer survivor had the longest documented COVID-19 infection. Here's what scientists learned. SCIENCEINSIDER 2021 [DOI: 10.1126/science.acx9383]
- 18 Lee LY, Cazier JB, Angelis V, Arnold R, Bisht V, Campton NA, Chackathayil J, Cheng VW, Curley HM, Fittall MW, Freeman-Mills L, Gennatas S, Goel A, Hartley S, Hughes DJ, Kerr D, Lee AJ, Lee RJ, McGrath SE, Middleton CP, Murugaesu N, Newsom-Davis T, Okines AF, Olsson-Brown AC, Palles C, Pan Y, Pettengell R, Powles T, Protheroe EA, Purshouse K, Sharma-Oates A, Sivakumar S, Smith AJ, Starkey T, Turnbull CD, Várnai C, Yousaf N; UK Coronavirus Monitoring Project Team, Kerr R, Middleton G. COVID-19 mortality in patients with cancer on chemotherapy or other anticancer treatments: a prospective cohort study. Lancet 2020; 395: 1919-1926 [PMID: 32473682 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31173-9]
- Kuderer NM, Choueiri TK, Shah DP, Shyr Y, Rubinstein SM, Rivera DR, Shete S, Hsu CY, Desai A, de Lima Lopes G Jr, 19 Grivas P, Painter CA, Peters S, Thompson MA, Bakouny Z, Batist G, Bekaii-Saab T, Bilen MA, Bouganim N, Larroya MB, Castellano D, Del Prete SA, Doroshow DB, Egan PC, Elkrief A, Farmakiotis D, Flora D, Galsky MD, Glover MJ, Griffiths EA, Gulati AP, Gupta S, Hafez N, Halfdanarson TR, Hawley JE, Hsu E, Kasi A, Khaki AR, Lemmon CA, Lewis C, Logan B, Masters T, McKay RR, Mesa RA, Morgans AK, Mulcahy MF, Panagiotou OA, Peddi P, Pennell NA, Reynolds K, Rosen LR, Rosovsky R, Salazar M, Schmidt A, Shah SA, Shaya JA, Steinharter J, Stockerl-Goldstein KE, Subbiah S, Vinh DC, Wehbe FH, Weissmann LB, Wu JT, Wulff-Burchfield E, Xie Z, Yeh A, Yu PP, Zhou AY, Zubiri L, Mishra S, Lyman GH, Rini BI, Warner JL; COVID-19 and Cancer Consortium. Clinical impact of COVID-19 on patients with cancer (CCC19): a cohort study. Lancet 2020; 395: 1907-1918 [PMID: 32473681 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31187-9]
- Mehta V, Goel S, Kabarriti R, Cole D, Goldfinger M, Acuna-Villaorduna A, Pradhan K, Thota R, Reissman S, Sparano JA, 20 Gartrell BA, Smith RV, Ohri N, Garg M, Racine AD, Kalnicki S, Perez-Soler R, Halmos B, Verma A. Case Fatality Rate of Cancer Patients with COVID-19 in a New York Hospital System. Cancer Discov 2020; 10: 935-941 [PMID: 32357994



DOI: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-20-0516]

- 21 Zheng YY, Ma YT, Zhang JY, Xie X. COVID-19 and the cardiovascular system. Nat Rev Cardiol 2020; 17: 259-260 [PMID: 32139904 DOI: 10.1038/s41569-020-0360-5]
- 22 Karahasan Yagci A, Sarinoglu RC, Bilgin H, Yanılmaz Ö, Sayın E, Deniz G, Guncu MM, Doyuk Z, Barıs C, Kuzan BN, Aslan B, Korten V, Cimsit C. Relationship of the cycle threshold values of SARS-CoV-2 polymerase chain reaction and total severity score of computerized tomography in patients with COVID 19. Int J Infect Dis 2020; 101: 160-166 [PMID: 32992013 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.09.1449]
- Huang JT, Ran RX, Lv ZH, Feng LN, Ran CY, Tong YQ, Li D, Su HW, Zhu CL, Qiu SL, Yang J, Xiao MY, Liu MJ, 23 Yang YT, Liu SM, Li Y. Chronological Changes of Viral Shedding in Adult Inpatients With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. Clin Infect Dis 2020; 71: 2158-2166 [PMID: 32445580 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciaa631]
- Liu Y, Yang Y, Zhang C, Huang F, Wang F, Yuan J, Wang Z, Li J, Feng C, Zhang Z, Wang L, Peng L, Chen L, Qin Y, 24 Zhao D, Tan S, Yin L, Xu J, Zhou C, Jiang C, Liu L. Clinical and biochemical indexes from 2019-nCoV infected patients linked to viral loads and lung injury. Sci China Life Sci 2020; 63: 364-374 [PMID: 32048163 DOI: 10.1007/s11427-020-1643-8
- Pan F, Ye T, Sun P, Gui S, Liang B, Li L, Zheng D, Wang J, Hesketh RL, Yang L, Zheng C. Time Course of Lung 25 Changes at Chest CT during Recovery from Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Radiology 2020; 295: 715-721 [PMID: 32053470 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2020200370]
- 26 Waller JV, Allen IE, Lin KK, Diaz MJ, Henry TS, Hope MD. The Limited Sensitivity of Chest Computed Tomography Relative to Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction for Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 Infection: A Systematic Review on COVID-19 Diagnostics. Invest Radiol 2020; 55: 754-761 [PMID: 32554983 DOI: 10.1097/RLI.0000000000000700]
- Rao SN, Manissero D, Steele VR, Pareja J. A Systematic Review of the Clinical Utility of Cycle Threshold Values in the 27 Context of COVID-19. Infect Dis Ther 2020; 9: 573-586 [PMID: 32725536 DOI: 10.1007/s40121-020-00324-3]
- 28 Feikin DR, Alraddadi B, Qutub M, Shabouni O, Curns A, Oboho IK, Tomczyk SM, Wolff B, Watson JT, Madani TA. Association of Higher MERS-CoV Virus Load with Severe Disease and Death, Saudi Arabia, 2014. Emerg Infect Dis 2015; 21: 2029-2035 [PMID: 26488195 DOI: 10.3201/eid2111.150764]
- Azzi L, Carcano G, Gianfagna F, Grossi P, Gasperina DD, Genoni A, Fasano M, Sessa F, Tettamanti L, Carinci F, Maurino 29 V, Rossi A, Tagliabue A, Baj A. Saliva is a reliable tool to detect SARS-CoV-2. J Infect 2020; 81: e45-e50 [PMID: 32298676 DOI: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.04.005]
- Zheng S, Fan J, Yu F, Feng B, Lou B, Zou Q, Xie G, Lin S, Wang R, Yang X, Chen W, Wang Q, Zhang D, Liu Y, Gong 30 R, Ma Z, Lu S, Xiao Y, Gu Y, Zhang J, Yao H, Xu K, Lu X, Wei G, Zhou J, Fang Q, Cai H, Qiu Y, Sheng J, Chen Y, Liang T. Viral load dynamics and disease severity in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 in Zhejiang province, China, January-March 2020: retrospective cohort study. BMJ 2020; 369: m1443 [PMID: 32317267 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.m1443]
- 31 Shi F, Wu T, Zhu X, Ge Y, Zeng X, Chi Y, Du X, Zhu L, Zhu F, Zhu B, Cui L, Wu B. Association of viral load with serum biomakers among COVID-19 cases. Virology 2020; 546: 122-126 [PMID: 32452410 DOI: 10.1016/j.virol.2020.04.011]
- Shah S, Singhal T, Davar N, Thakkar P. No correlation between Ct values and severity of disease or mortality in patients 32 with COVID 19 disease. Indian J Med Microbiol 2021; 39: 116-117 [PMID: 33610241 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijmmb.2020.10.021]



World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2022 May 24; 13(5): 352-365

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.352

Retrospective Study

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Survival characteristics of fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma: A Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results database study

Tomoki Sempokuya, Arnold Forlemu, Muaataz Azawi, Krixie Silangcruz, Nathalie Khoury, Jihyun Ma, Linda L Wong

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B, B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Casanova Rituerto D, Spain; Elkady N, Egypt; Fakhradiyev I, Kazakhstan; Gursel B, Turkey; Ling Q, China; Xu HT, China

Received: December 25, 2021 Peer-review started: December 25. 2021 First decision: March 16, 2022 Revised: March 29, 2022 Accepted: April 21, 2022 Article in press: April 21, 2022 Published online: May 24, 2022



Tomoki Sempokuya, Arnold Forlemu, Nathalie Khoury, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE 68198, United States

Muaataz Azawi, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Sanford Center for Digestive Health, Sioux Falls, SD 57105, United States

Krixie Silangcruz, Department of Medicine, John A. Burns School of Medicine, University of Hawaii at Manoa, Honolulu, HI 96813, United States

Jihyun Ma, Department of Biostatistics, College of Public Health, University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE 68198, United States

Linda L Wong, Department of Surgery, John A. Burns School of Medicine, University of Hawaii at Manoa, Honolulu, HI 96813, United States

Corresponding author: Tomoki Sempokuya, MD, Doctor, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Nebraska Medical Center, 982000 Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE 68198, United States. tsempoku@hawaii.edu

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma (FL-HCC) is a rare and distinct type of hepatocellular carcinoma that frequently presents in an advanced stage in younger patients with no underlying liver disease. Currently, there is a limited understanding of factors that impact outcomes in FL-HCC.

AIM

To characterize the survival of FL-HCC by age, race, and surgical intervention.

METHODS

This is a retrospective study of The Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results database. We identified patients with FL-HCC between 2000-2018 by using an ICD-O-3 site code C22.0 and a histology code 8171/3: Hepatocellular carcinoma, fibrolamellar. In addition, demographics, tumor characteristics, types of surgical procedure, stages, and survival data were obtained. We conducted three separate survival analyses by age groups; \leq 19, 20-59, and \geq 60-year-old, and race; White,



Black, Hispanic, Asian and Pacific islanders (API), and surgical types; Wedge resection or segmental resection, lobectomy, extended lobectomy (lobectomy + locoregional therapy or resection of the other lobe), and transplant. The Chi-Square test analyzed categorical variables, and continuous variables were examined using the Mann-Whitney U test. The Kaplan-Meier survival curve was used to compare survival. Multivariate analysis was done with Cox regression analysis.

RESULTS

We identified 225 FL-HCC patients with a mean age of 36.9. Overall median survival was 34 (95%CI: 27-41) mo. Patients \leq 19-years-old had more advanced disease with positive lymph nodes status. However, they received more surgical interventions such as a wedge, segmental resection, lobectomy, extended lobectomy, and transplant. Survival for \leq 19 was 85 (95%CI: 37-137) mo, age 20-59 was 29 (95%CI: 18-41) mo, and age \geq 60 years was 12 (95%CI: 7-31) mo (P < 0.001). There were no differences in stage, lymph node status, metastasis status, and surgical treatment among races. The median survival were; Whites had 39 (95%CI: 29-63), Blacks 26 (95%CI: 5-92), Hispanics 31 (95%CI: 11-54), and APIs 28 (95%CI: 5-39) mo (P = 0.28). Of 225 patients, 111 FL-HCC patients had surgical procedures. Median survivals for a wedge or segmental resection was 112 (95%CI: 78-NA), lobectomy was 92 (95%CI: 57-NA), extended lobectomy was 54 (95%CI: 23-NA), and a transplant was 63 (95%CI: 20-NA) mo (P < 0.001). The median survival was better in patients who had surgical treatments regardless of lymph nodes or metastasis status (P < 0.001).

CONCLUSION

FL-HCC occurs in a primarily younger population, but survival can be prolonged despite the aggressive disease. There were no racial differences in the survival of FL-HCC; however, Asians with FL-HCC tended to be older than in other races. Surgical treatment provided better survival even in those patients with nodal disease or metastases. Although future studies are needed to explore other therapies for FL-HCC, surgical options should be considered in all cases of FL-HCC unless contraindicated.

Key Words: Fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma; Transplant; Race; Age; Survival

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma (FL-HCC) is a rare and distinct type of hepatocellular carcinoma. Currently, there is limited data on survival associated with FL-HCC. This retrospective study based on the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results database suggests a better survival of younger patients with FL-HCC, although they had aggressive diseases. This trend may be because they received more surgical interventions. There were no racial differences in survival for FL-HCC, which is seen in HCC. The patient who had wedge or segmental resection or lobectomy had better survival.

Citation: Sempokuya T, Forlemu A, Azawi M, Silangcruz K, Khoury N, Ma J, Wong LL. Survival characteristics of fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma: A Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results database study. *World J Clin Oncol* 2022; 13(5): 352-365

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v13/i5/352.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.352

INTRODUCTION

Fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma (FL-HCC) is a rare and distinct type of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) with an estimated incidence of 0.02 per 100000 in the U.S., and it accounts for < 1% of all primary liver tumors[1-3]. It is often found in the younger patients without known underlying cirrhosis or hepatic dysfunction and may present with advanced stages[4,5]. The pathogenesis of FL-HCC remains unclear, and it has not been associated with alcohol intake or viral hepatitis infections[6]. HCC was thought to originate from mature hepatocytes[7]. However, recent studies have suggested that FL-HCC may be derived from neuroendocrine progenitors[1]. FL-HCC is a vascular tumor with significant fibrosis and a well-differentiated tumor[1,5]. On computed tomography scan, FL-HCC appears as a hypodense mass with arterial enhancement and calcifications[8]. FL-HCC patients may present with non-specific symptoms such as abdominal pain and fullness, weight loss, fatigue, nausea, and vomiting [5], or asymptomatic with tumors found incidentally[9].

As FL-HCC is a rare type of cancer, there are no specific guidelines from the National Comprehensive Cancer Network in the United States to direct therapy. The majority of HCC clinical trials have excluded FL-HCC patients due to distinct disease progressions[10]. Therefore, treatment outcome with systemic therapy or immunotherapy has yet to be elucidated. A small study with 5-fluorouracil based chemotherapy demonstrated an incomplete response to treatment[11]. In general, FL-HCC has better survival than the common type of HCC, likely because these patients are younger and in the absence of underlying liver disease, they are more likely to qualify for curative surgical procedures[12]. While treatment modalities vary based on the tumor stages and resectability, complete resection with regional lymphadenectomy has the longest survival^[13]. In a study by Stipa *et al*^[9], 28 patients with FL-HCC who underwent complete resection had a 5-year overall survival of 76%. However, advanced stage FL-HCC has poor prognosis with a median survival of fewer than 12 mo^[7].

There is a limited understanding of disease characteristics and factors affecting the survival outcomes on FL-HCC due to disease rarity and lack of randomized control trials. Single institution or multicenter studies do not have enough cases to characterize FL-HCC survival. This study aimed to characterize the survival of FL-HCC by age, race, and surgical intervention using a larger population-based database.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design

The National Cancer Institute publishes population data on the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) database, and research data was obtained through Surveillance Research Program, National Cancer Institute SEER*Stat software (https://seer.cancer.gov/seerstat/) version 8.3.6[14]. SEER Registries contains population-based data on cancer incidence, characteristics, treatment, and mortality in select states in United States since 1973. Approximately 34.6% of all cancer cases in the United States population are included [15]. The SEER dataset utilized in this study is based on 18 states in United States and regions available to conduct survival analysis: Alaska Native Tumor Registry, California (San Francisco-Oakland, San Jose-Monterey, Los Angeles, Greater California), Connecticut, Georgia (Atlanta, Greater Georgia, Rural Georgia), Hawaii, Iowa, Kentucky, Louisiana, Michigan (Detroit), New Jersey, New Mexico, Utah and Washington (Seattle-Puget Sound) (more details are available at https://seer.cancer.gov/registries/terms.html). This study followed the SEER Research Data Use Agreement. As we utilized a publicly available, de-identified database, approval from an Institutional Review Board was not required to conduct this study.

Patients

We initially identified patients with FL-HCC between 2000-2018 by using an ICD-O-3 site code C22.0 and a histology code 8171/3: Hepatocellular carcinoma, fibrolamellar. Subsequently, we excluded patients from 2000-2003 and 2016-2018 due to the high number of missing data on demographic and disease-specific variables. Therefore, the years between 2004 and 2015 were included in this study. Additionally, one patient had duplicate data, so we used the variables with initial disease onset. Variables related to demographics data [age at the time of diagnosis, sex, race (Whites, Blacks, API, and Hispanics), living settings (population > 1 million and other), household income (< \$55000, \$55000-70000, and > \$70000], staging by American Joint Committee on Cancer Staging Manual, 6th edition[16] (categorized into stage I, II, III, IV, and unknown), tumor characteristics (size, metastasis status, lymph node status), surgical treatment modality (wedge or segmental resection, lobectomy, extended lobectomy (lobectomy + locoregional therapy or resection of the other lobe), transplant, and None (Including a small number of patients who had locoregional therapy and unspecified surgery), and survival data were obtained. Data on chemotherapy and interventional therapy was not included due to limitations acknowledged by the SEER database to avoid data inaccuracy.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, United States). The Chi-Square test was used to compare categorical variables. The Mann-Whitney U test compared continuous variables without normal distributions of two groups and Druska-Wallis for more than two groups. Survival analysis was done by using the Kaplan-Meier survival curve. Three separate analyses were done: Analysis by age groups, race, and surgical procedures. For age group analysis, patients were divided into three groups: \leq 19, 20-59, and \geq 60-year-old. For race analysis, we divided into four racial groups: White, Black, API, and Hispanic. For analysis of surgical procedures, we separated into five groups: Wedge resection or segmental resection, lobectomy, extended lobectomy, transplant, and none. For additional survival analysis, we separate the patients based on positive lymph nodes or metastasis status (N1M0, N1M1, N0M1, NxM1: NM+) vs negative (N0M0, NxM0, N0Mx, NxMx: NM-). We then stratified by surgical status vs. no surgery or locoregional therapy. We conducted multivariate Cox regression analysis. P < 0.05 was considered significant. The statistical methods of this study were reviewed by Jihyun Ma from the Department of Biostatistics, College of Public Health, University of Nebraska Medical Center.



RESULTS

Overall

We initially identified 339 FL-HCC patients between 2000 and 2018. After excluding 114 patients due to missing data, 225 FL-HCC patients were included in our study. Baseline characteristics are shown in Table 1. The mean age was 36.9 years, with a median age of 27 years. (Interquartile range: 19-56). One hundred fourteen (62.7%) patients were male. Sixty-five (28.9%) had stage I, 18 (8.0%) had stage II, 61 (27.1%) had stage IV, and 20 (89%) had unknown stages. Thirty-nine patients (17.8%) had a wedge or segmental resection, 42 (19.2%) had a lobectomy, 11 (5.0%) had an extended lobectomy, 19 (8.7%) underwent live transplant, 108 (49.3) did not have any surgical intervention. Overall median survival was 34 (95%CI: 27-41) mo (Figure 1). Overall 5-years survival rate was 37.3 \pm 3.3%.

Age

Table 1 summarizes the characteristics by age group. Sixty-two (27.5%) patients were age \leq 19 years, 114 (50.7%) patients were between 20 to 59 years, and 49 (21.8%) patients were age \geq 60 years. Patients \leq 19-year-old had more nodal involvement and higher stages. A higher proportion of patients \leq 19-year-old received the surgical intervention and none of the patients \geq 60-year-old received extended lobectomy or transplant. There were no differences in sex, race, living settings, household income, and metastasis status. Detailed characteristics are listed in Table 1. The median survival for \leq 19 years was 85 mo (95%CI: 37-137), 20-59 years was 29 mo (95%CI: 18-41), and \geq 60 years was 12 (95%CI: 7-31) mo (P < 0.001) (Figure 2). The five-year survival rate for patients \leq 19-year-old was 55.3 (6.5%), 20-59-year-old was 35.8 (4.6%), and \geq 60-year-old was 14.6 (5.9%).

Race

There were 124 (55.1%) Whites, 52 (23.1%) Hispanics, 27 (12.0%) Blacks, and 22 (9.8%) APIs. Mean ages were 35.9, 37.2, 33.6, and 49.5 years, respectively. There were no differences in the distribution between the age groups or sex. APIs lived in the area with a higher median household income, and Blacks lived in the area with a lower median household income. A higher proportion of Whites lives in areas with a population < 1 million. There were no differences in stages, lymph node status, metastasis status, and surgical treatment. Detailed characteristics are listed in Table 2. The median survival differences by race were not significant: Whites had 39 (95%CI: 29-63), Blacks 26 (95%CI: 5-92), APIs 28 (95%CI: 6-39), and Hispanics 31 (95%CI: 11-54) mo (P = 0.28) (Figure 3). Furthermore, Whites had similar median survival compared to all other non-White races combined (39 *vs* 29 mo, P = 0.11) (Figure 4).

Surgery

After excluding six patients with missing data on surgery status, one hundred eleven FL-HCC patients had surgical intervention. One hundred and eight patients did not have a surgical intervention or received life review therapy, 42 underwent liver transplantation, 19 had wedge or segmental liver resection, 39 had a lobectomy, and 11 had extended lobectomy. Age groups, stages, lymph nodes status, metastasis status, and tumor size had a significant difference among types of surgical intervention. Detailed characteristics are listed in Table 3. The median survivals for a wedge or segmental resection were 112 (78-NA), lobectomy was 92 (57-NA), extended lobectomy was 54 (23-NA), the transplant was 63 (20-NA), and none was 10 (6-13) mo (P < 0.001) (Figure 5). The median survival for NM+/no surgery was 9 (4-14) mo, NM+/surgery was 54 (34-85) mo, NM-/no surgery was 11 (6-17) mo, and NM-/surgery was 142 (92-NA) mo (P < 0.001) (Figure 6).

Stages

Median survival months for stage I was 97 (95%CI: 34-NA), stage II was 87 (95%CI: 35-NA), stage III was 45 (95%CI: 29-63), stage IV was 14 (95%CI: 8-21), and the unknown stage was 18 (95%CI: 7-75) mo. The five-year survival rate for stage I was 53.6 \pm 6.4%, stage II was 70.1 \pm 11.2%, stage III was 37.6 \pm 6.7%, stage IV was 13.1 \pm 4.3%, and the unknown stage was 31.3 \pm 10.9%.

Cox regression analysis

Multivariate Cox regression analysis included the following variables: age groups (compared to age \leq 19), sex (compared to female), race (compared to White), income (compared to < \$55000), surgery (compared to no surgery or locoregional therapy), population (compared to other), tumor size (compared to \leq 50 mm), lymph node status (compared to N0), and metastasis status (compared to M0). This model excluded two patients with unknown surgical status. Due to the interaction with tumor size, lymph node status, and metastasis status, the stage was excluded from the model. This model showed that only Nx had a significant hazard ratio of 0.11 ± 1.37. Table 4 summarizes the result.

Zaishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Baseline characteristics and age groups (total 225 patients)

Factor	Group		Alive (%)	<i>P</i> value	< 20	20-59	60+	<i>P</i> value
n (%)		225	67 (29.8)		62 (27.5)	114 (50.7)	49 (21.8)	
Median age (IQR)		27 (19-56)			15.5 (13-17)	28.5 (23-44)	69.0 (65-76	5)
Male (%)		141 (62.7)	42 (29.8)	0.99	33 (23.4)	74 (52.5)	34 (24.1)	0.17
Race (%)	White	124 (55.1)	39 (31.5)	0.66	34 (27.4)	67 (54.3)	23 (18.6)	0.07
	Black	27 (12.0)	8 (29.6)		6 (22.2)	16 (59.3)	5 (18.5)	
	API	22 (9.8)	4 (18.2)		3 (13.6)	9 (40.9)	10 (45.5)	
	Hispanic	52 (23.1)	16 (30.8)		19 (36.5)	22 (42.3)	11 (21.2)	
Household income (%)	< \$55000	55 (24.4)	20 (36.4)	0.47	16 (29.1)	32 (58.2)	7 (12.7)	0.37
	\$55000-70000	88 (39.1)	24 (27.8)		26 (29.6)	40 (45.5)	22 (25.0)	
	> \$70,000	82 (36.4)	23 (28.0)		20 (24.4)	42 (51.2)	20 (24.4)	
Living settings (%)	Population > 1 million	144 (61.0)	36 (25.0)	0.04	38 (26.4)	71 (49.3)	35 (24.3)	0.47
	Other	81 (36.0)	31 (38.3)		24 (29.6)	43 (53.1)	14 (17.3)	
Stages (%)	Ι	65 (28.9)	32 (49.2)	< 0.001	13 (20)	29 (44.6)	23 (35.4)	0.02
	II	18 (8.0)	8 (44.4)		7 (38.9)	7 (38.9)	4 (22.2)	
	III	61 (27.1)	19 (31.1)		20 (32.8)	32 (25.5)	9 (14.8)	
	IV	61 (27.1)	2 (3.3)		20 (32.8)	34 (55.7)	7 (11.5)	
	Unknown	20 (8.9)	6 (30.0)		2 (10.0)	12 (60.0)	6 (30.0)	
Lymph Node status (%)	N0	143 (63.6)	52 (36.4)	0.009	35 (24.5)	68 (47.6)	40 (28.0)	0.004
	N1	60 (26.7)	13 (21.7)		24 (40.0)	32 (53.3)	4 (6.7)	
	Nx	22 (9.78)	2 (9.1)		3 (13.6)	14 (63.6)	5 (22.7)	
Metastasis status (%)	M0	154 (68.4)	64 (41.6)	< 0.001	41 (26.6)	74 (48.05)	39 (25.3)	0.16
	M1	61 (27.1)	2 (3.3)		20 (32.8)	34 (55.7)	7 (11.5)	
	Mx	10 (4.4)	1 (10.0)		1 (10.0)	6 (60.0)	3 (30.0)	
Surgery (%)	Wedge/segmental resection	39 (17.8)	23 (59.0)	< 0.001	15 (38.5)	17 (43.6)	7 (18.0)	< 0.001
	Lobectomy	42 (19.2)	21 (50.0)		23 (43.4)	23 (54.8)	3 (7.1)	
	Extended lobectomy	11 (5.0)	6 (54.5)		7 (63.6)	4 (36.4)	0 (0)	
	Transplant	19 (8.7)	7 (36.8)		6 (31.6)	13 (68.4)	0 (0)	
	None	108 (49.3)	10 (9.3)		18 (16.7)	54 (50.0)	36 (33.3)	

DISCUSSION

FL-HCC is a rare and unique type of HCC, and it commonly affects younger patients without underlying cirrhosis. Due to the rare nature of FL-HCC, disease characteristics and survival of FL-HCC by age, race, and surgical intervention remain scarce. To our knowledge, this is one of the larger population-based studies on FL-HCC obtained from a nationwide cancer registry, including detailed tumor characteristics. The study highlights and provides a better understanding of FL-HCC survival based on age, race, and surgical interventions at the population level. Overall median survival of patients with FL-HCC in this study was 34 mo, similar to that of other studies[2,17]. Our median survival was lower than the 75 mo obtained by Mayo and colleagues in 2014, analyzing SEER data from 1986 to 2008[12]. This difference is due to the fact that they only included surgically managed FL-HCC. Besides, their patients were younger (mean age: 25 *vs* 36 years) than ours, and they had a smaller sample size of FL-HCC (90 patients) compared to ours. In effect, younger age at diagnosis has been associated with better survival[18,19]. Also, FL-HCC was only established as a separate diagnosis in 1986, and there may have been a few years of transition before providers consistently coded FL-HCC as a distinct entity[12].

Bishidena® WJCO https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Summary of Characteristics by Race (Total 225 patients)							
Factor	Group	Total	White	Black	API	Hispanic	P value
n (%)		225	124 (55.1)	27 (12.0)	22 (9.8)	52 (23.1)	
Median age (IQR)		27 (19-56)	27.0 (19-54.5)	32.0 (21-55)	52.0 (27-70)	23.0 (17-53.5)	0.04
Age groups (%)	≤19	62 (27.5)	34 (54.8)	6 (9.7)	3 (4.8)	19 (30.7)	0.07
	20-59	114 (50.7)	67 (58.8)	16 (14.0)	9 (7.9)	22 (19.3)	
	≥ 60	49 (21.8)	23 (46.9)	5 (10.2)	10 (20.4)	11 (22.5)	
Male (%)		141 (62.7)	75 (53.2)	18 (12.8)	14 (9.9)	34 (24.1)	0.89
Household income (%)	< \$55000	55 (24.4)	34 (61.8)	10 (18.2)	1 (1.8)	10 (18.2)	0.02
	\$55000-70000	88 (39.1)	42 (47.7)	6 (6.8)	12 (13.6)	28 (31.8)	
	> \$70000	82 (36.4)	48 (58.5)	11 (13.4)	9 (11.0)	14 (17.1)	
Living settings (%)	Population > 1 million	144 (61.0)	68 (47.2)	21 (14.6)	18 (12.5)	37 (25.7)	0.01
	Other	81 (36.0)	56 (69.1)	6 (7.4)	4 (4.9)	15 (18.5)	
Stages (%)	Ι	65 (28.9)	38 (58.5)	7 (10.8)	7 (10.8)	13 (20.0)	0.71
	II	18 (8.0)	11 (61.1)	2 (11.1)	2 (11.1)	3 (16.7)	
	III	61 (27.1)	30 (49.2)	7 (11.5)	3 (4.9)	21 (34.4)	
	IV	61 (27.1)	34 (55.7)	7 (11.5)	8 (13.1)	12 (19.7)	
	Unknown	20 (8.9)	11 (55.0)	4 (20.0)	2 (10.0)	3 (15.0)	
Lymph Node status (%)	N0	143 (63.6)	74 (51.8)	16 (11.2)	17 (11.9)	36 (25.2)	0.11
	N1	60 (26.7)	38 (63.3)	5 (8.3)	3 (5.0)	14 (23.3)	
	Nx	22 (9.78)	12 (54.6)	6 (27.3)	2 (9.1)	2 (9.1)	
Metastasis status (%)	M0	154 (68.4)	85 (55.2)	18 (11.7)	12 (7.8)	39 (25.3)	0.63
	M1	61 (27.1)	34 (55.7)	7 (11.5)	8 (13.1)	12 (19.7)	
	Mx	10 (4.4)	5 (50.0)	2 (20.0)	2 (20.0)	1 (10.0)	
Surgery (%)	Wedge/segmental resection	39 (17.8)	28 (71.8)	2 (5.1)	3 (7.7)	6 (15.4)	0.28
	Lobectomy	42 (19.2)	25 (59.5)	6 (14.3)	3 (7.1)	8 (19.1)	
	Extended lobectomy	11 (5.0)	5 (45.5)	0 (0)	1 (9.1)	5 (45.5)	
	Transplant	19 (8.7)	12 (63.2)	2 (10.5)	1 (5.3)	4 (21.1)	
	None	108 (49.3)	49 (45.4)	17 (15.7)	13 (12.0)	29 (26.9)	

Age, comparison to the previous study, possible explanations and implications

The median age of patients in our study was 36 years, similar to that of other studies [18,20]. FL-HCC is known to have a predilection to develop in young patients[18]; hence it was no surprise that the majority of patients with FL-HCC in our study were younger. Also, younger patients (< 19 years) in our study with FL-HCC were more likely to have advanced stags with positive lymph nodes status and were more often treated with resection or transplantation as described in previous studies[12,18]. These studies have suggested FL-HCC has a better prognosis because it primarily affects children and teens and because of the many surgical therapies available (wedge, segmental resection, lobectomy, and transplant) for this patient population, unlike with HCC[12]. Likewise, young patients with FL-HCC are usually otherwise healthy, lack liver cirrhosis, and have high resectability rates with low rates of surgical complications [21,22]. Pinna et al [22] in 1997 reported survival of 66% at five years despite 90% of FL-HCC patients presenting with stage IV disease.

Race, comparison to the previous study, possible explanations and implications

Patients with FL-HCC in our study were overwhelmingly non-Hispanic whites, findings similar to the study by El-Serag et al[18] in 2004. The rates of FL-HCC were not significantly different among Whites, Blacks, APIs, and Hispanics in our study, unlike with HCC patients, where incidence rates and prognosis vary with racial backgrounds[18,23]. APIs were older than others races in our study. Notably, there were no differences in tumor characteristics and surgical treatment by race. Also, survival rates of FL-HCC were similar across racial groups in our study; although there was a non-significant trend for



Table 3 Summary characteristics of by surgery types (total 219 patients)							
Factor	Group	None	Transplant	Wedge or segmental resection	Lobectomy	Extended lobectomy	P value
п	Total 219	108	19	39	42	11	
Alive	Total 67	10 (9.3)	7 (36.8)	23 (59.0)	21 (50.0)	6 (54.6)	< 0.001
Age group (%)	≤19	18 (16.7)	6 (31.6)	15 (38.5)	16 (38.1)	7 (63.6)	< 0.001
	20-59	54 (50.0)	13 (68.4)	17 (43.6)	23 (54.8)	4 (36.4)	
	≥ 60	36 (33.3)	0 (0)	7 (18.0)	3 (7.1)	0 (0)	
Sex (%)	Male	70 (64.8)	12 (63.2)	27 (69.2)	21 (50.0)	7 (63.6)	0.43
Stages (%)	Ι	22 (20.4)	4 (21.1)	19 (48.7)	15 (35.7)	2 (18.2)	< 0.001
	II	3 (2.8)	0 (0)	8 (20.5)	5 (11.9)	2 (18.2)	
	III	24 (22.2)	10 (52.6)	9 (23.1)	13 (31.0)	4 (36.4)	
	IV	43 (39.8)	4 (21.1)	3 (7.7)	8 (19.1)	2 (18.2)	
	Unknown	16 (14.8)	1 (5.3)	0 (0)	1 (2.4)	1 (9.1)	
Race (%)	API	13 (12.0)	1 (5.3)	3 (7.7)	3 (7.1)	1 (9.1)	0.28
	Black	17 (15.7)	2 (10.5)	2 (5.1)	6 (14.3)	0 (0)	
	Hispanic	29 (26.9)	4 (21.1)	6 (15.4)	8 (19.1)	5 (45.5)	
	White	49 (45.4)	12 (63.2)	28 (71.8)	25 (59.5)	5 (45.5)	
Income (%)	< \$55000	29 (26.9)	3 (15.8)	12 (30.8)	8 (19.1)	1 (9.1)	0.22
	\$55000-70000	41 (38.0)	8 (42.1)	15 (38.5)	13 (31.0)	8 (72.7)	
	> \$70000	38 (35.2)	8 (42.1)	12 (30.8)	21 (50.0)	2 (18.2)	
Lymph nodes status (%)	N0	64 (59.3)	12 (63.2)	32 (82.1)	24 (57.1)	6 (54.6)	0.007
	N1	25 (23.2)	6 (31.6)	7 (18.0)	17 (40.5)	4 (36.4)	
	Nx	19 (17.6)	1 (5.3)	0(0)	1 (2.4)	1 (9.1)	
Metastasis status (%)	M0	56 (52.9)	15 (79.0)	36 (92.3)	34 (81.0)	8 (72.7)	< 0.001
	M1	43 (39.8)	4 (21.1)	3 (7.7)	8 (19.1)	2 (18.2)	
	Mx	9 (8.3)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (9.1)	
Population (%)	\geq 1 million	76 (70.4)	13 (68.4)	21 (53.9)	24 (57.1)	7 (63.6)	0.32
	Others	32 (29.7)	6 (31.6)	18 (46.2)	18 (42.9)	4 (36.4)	
Size (%)	≤ 50 mm	18 (16.7)	1 (5.3)	12 (30.8)	6 (14.3)	1 (9.1)	< 0.001
	51-100 mm	25 (23.2)	5 (26.3)	15 (38.5)	14 (33.3)	3 (27.3)	
	≥100 mm	37 (34.3)	11 (57.9)	10 (25.6)	21 (50.0)	7 (63.6)	
	Unknown	28 (25.9)	2 (10.5)	2 (5.1)	1 (2.4)	0 (0)	

survival in Whites to be higher than in non-Whites, behaving like findings seen with HCC patients, where non-Whites have lower survival rates[23]. On the other hand, some studies have found the Whites and female gender to be negative prognostic factors after surgery[24]. However, these findings have remained controversial[18,25]. Racial disparities observed in HCC patients are thought to be related to etiological and socio-demographic factors[26]. Our findings suggest that these factors may not play a role in FL-HCC survival as we found no significant racial disparities.

Surgery, comparison to the previous study, possible explanations and implications

Surgical resection has remained the treatment of choice for FL-HCC given the younger age of these patients, localized disease, and lack of underlying liver cirrhosis[24,27]. Most of these surgeries were segmental surgeries and lobectomies, with fewer cases of liver transplantation. In our study, the majority of FL-HCC patients who had surgical intervention were young and had earlier stages. Nineteen (17.1%) patients underwent liver transplantation, and 11 (9.9%) had extended lobectomy, with many having an advanced disease. Our findings are similar to those of Eggert *et al*[25], 2013 and Assi *et al*[20], 2020. The survival in our study increased with surgery and was highest in FL-HCC patients who

Raishideng® WJCO https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 4 Multivariate Cox regression analysis				
		Hazard ratio	Standard error	P value
Age group (%)	20-59	0.931	0.327	0.83
	≥ 60	2.554	0.557	0.09
Sex (%)	Male	1.169	0.288	0.59
Race (%)	API	0.624	0.581	0.42
	Black	2.296	0.461	0.07
	Hispanic	0.9	0.368	0.78
Income (%)	\$55000-70000	1.044	0.368	0.91
	> \$70000	0.644	0.345	0.2
Sugery	Surgery	1.465	0.472	0.42
Population (%)	\geq 1 million	1.209	0.287	0.51
Size (%)	≥ 100 mm	1.104	0.44	0.82
	51-100 mm	1.233	0.426	0.62
	Unknown	3.196	0.646	0.07
Lymph nodes (%)	N1	1.503	0.39	0.3
	Nx	0.107	0.993	0.02
Metastasis status (%)	M1	0.301	0.782	0.13
	Mx	7.503	1.366	0.14

had a wedge or segmental hepatic resection with 112 mo. Previous studies have demonstrated age and tumor resectability to be independent predictors of survival in FL-HCC patients[2,19,20]. In effect, having normal underlying liver parenchyma may allow for more aggressive and complete resections, decreasing the risk for recurrence. Currently, there is a paucity of data on aggressive surgical intervention in the setting of extended disease. Our study also highlights the importance of surgical treatment regardless of lymph nodes or metastasis status. As we do not have randomized clinical trials to see the effectiveness of systemic chemotherapy or immunotherapy to treat FL-HCC, surgical treatment may reduce tumor burden for curative or palliative intent.

Limitation

Although this study included a large number of FL-HCC patients, there are several limitations to this study. Due to the nature of the SEER database, there is no information about comorbid medical conditions, laboratory data, or underlying liver disease, which may affect survival. One-third of the cases needed to be excluded due to inadequate information. As this is a registry study, we cannot account for errors and variations in reporting from the many coders required to acquire this data. Furthermore, the generalizability of this study may be limited as the SEER database includes select states and regions in United States. Finally, as FL-HCC is often diagnosed at an advanced stage in young, otherwise healthy patients, there may be a lead time bias when interpreting survival.

CONCLUSION

This study demonstrated a better survival of younger patients with FL-HCC despite the presence of aggressive diseases. There were no racial differences in survival for FL-HCC, which is typically seen in HCC. Surgical treatment provided better survival even in the face of nodal disease or metastases. Until more definitive data on locoregional therapy and systemic therapy can be elucidated, all patients with FL-HCC should be strongly considered for surgical intervention. Future studies will also be necessary to identify genetic markers for the population at risk for FL-HCC to enhance earlier detection.

Zeishidena® WJCO https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Overall Kaplan-Meier survival curve. Median survival for all patients is 34 (95%CI: 27-41) mo.



Figure 2 Kaplan-Meier survival curve by age groups. Median survival for patients \leq 19-years-old is 85 (95%CI: 37-137) mo, patients between 20 and 59-years-old are 29 (18-41) mo, and patients \geq 60-years-old is 12 (95%CI: 7-31) mo (P < 0.001).

Baishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Kaplan-Meier survival curve by race (all race). Median survival for White 39 (95%CI: 29-63) mo, Black 26 (95%CI: 5-92) mo, Asian and Pacific Islander is 28 (95%CI: 6-39) mo, and Hispanic 31 (95%CI: 11-54) mo (P = 0.28).



Figure 4 Kaplan-Meier survival curve by race (White vs non-White). Median survival for White 39 (95%CI: 29-63) mo, and Non-White is 29 (95%CI: 15-38) mo (P = 0.11).

Raishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 5 Kaplan-Meier survival curve by surgery types. Median survival for a wedge or segmental resection was 112 (95%CI: 78-NA) mo, lobectomy was 92 (95%CI: 57-NA) mo, extended lobectomy was 54 (95%CI: 23-NA) mo, none had 10 (95%CI: 6-13) mo, and the transplant was 63 (95%CI: 20-NA) mo (*P* < 0.001).



Figure 6 Kaplan-Meier survival curve by surgical status and metastasis status. Median survival for NM+/no surgery was 9 (95%CI: 4-14) mo, NM+/surgery was 54 (95%CI: 34-85) mo, NM-/no surgery was 11 (95%CI: 6-17) mo, and NM-/surgery was 142 (95%CI: 92-NA) mo (*P* < 0.001).

Zaishidena® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma (FL-HCC) is a rare and distinct type of hepatocellular carcinoma.

Research motivation

Due to its rare nature, there is a limited understanding of factors affecting the survival outcomes.

Research objectives

This study aims to characterize the survival of FL-HCC by age, race, and surgical intervention.

Research methods

FL-HCC patients were retrospectively identified with The Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results database. We conducted three separate survival analyses by age groups; \leq 19, 20-59, and \geq 60-year-old, and race; White, Black, Asian and Pacific Islanders (API), and Hispanic and surgical types; Wedge resection or segmental resection, lobectomy, extended lobectomy (lobectomy + locoregional therapy or resection of the other lobe), and transplant.

Research results

We identified 225 FL-HCC patients. Overall median survival was 34 (95%CI: 27-41) mo. Patients ≤ 19year-old had more advanced disease with positive lymph nodes status. However, they received more surgical interventions. Survival months for ≤ 19 was 85 (95%CI: 37-137), 20-59 was 29 (95%CI: 18-41), and \geq 60 was 12 (95%CI: 7-31) mo (P < 0.001). APIs lived in the area with a higher median household income, and Blacks lived in the area with a lower median household income. There were no differences in stages, lymph node status, metastasis status, and surgical treatment. Whites had 39 (95% CI: 29-63), Blacks 26 (95%CI: 5-92), Hispanics 31 (95%CI: 11-54), and APIs 28 (95%CI: 5-39) mo (*P* = 0.28). Of 225 patients, 111 FL-HCC patients had surgical procedures. Median survivals for a wedge or segmental resection was 112 (95%CI: 78-NA), lobectomy was 92 (95%CI: 57-NA), extended lobectomy was 54 (95%CI: 23-NA), and a transplant was 63 (95%CI: 20-NA) mo (P < 0.001). The median survival was better in patients who had surgical treatments regardless of lymph nodes or metastasis status (P < P0.001).

Research conclusions

This study demonstrated a better survival of younger patients with FL-HCC, although they had aggressive diseases. There were no racial differences in survival for FL-HCC, which is seen in HCC. Surgical treatment provided better survival regardless of advanced disease.

Research perspectives

This study can help healthcare professionals to guide FL-HCC patients about the outcome, especially after the surgical intervention. Further prospective studies are needed to elucidate in the era of personalized cancer therapy.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Sempokuya T contributed to study design, data collection, statistical analysis; Sempokuya T, Forlemu A, Silangcruz K, Azawi M, Khoury N contributed to the literature review, manuscript drafting, and editing; Ma J contributed to study design and statistical analysis; Wong LL contributed to study supervision, manuscript drafting, and editing; all of the authors have approved the final version of the manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: Due to the utilization of a publicly available, de-identified database, review by our institutional review board was not required.

Informed consent statement: Informed consent was not required to conduct this study.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Wong LL is a speaker bureau for Eisai. All other authors do not have any conflicts of interest.

Data sharing statement: All of the data used in this analysis is available from the SEER database.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license



their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Tomoki Sempokuya 0000-0002-7334-3528; Arnold Forlemu 0000-0002-6767-0194; Muaataz Azawi 0000-0003-0700-9641; Krixie Silangcruz 0000-0002-4750-9694; Nathalie Khoury 0000-0003-3453-8645; Jihyun Ma 0000-0002-4761-9607; Linda L Wong 0000-0003-3143-5384.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases; American College of Gastroenterology; American Gastroenterological Association; American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy.

S-Editor: Zhang H L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yu HG

REFERENCES

- Malouf GG, Job S, Paradis V, Fabre M, Brugières L, Saintigny P, Vescovo L, Belghiti J, Branchereau S, Faivre S, de 1 Reyniès A, Raymond E. Transcriptional profiling of pure fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma reveals an endocrine signature. Hepatology 2014; 59: 2228-2237 [PMID: 24443104 DOI: 10.1002/hep.27018]
- Mavros MN, Mayo SC, Hyder O, Pawlik TM. A systematic review: treatment and prognosis of patients with fibrolamellar 2 hepatocellular carcinoma. J Am Coll Surg 2012; 215: 820-830 [PMID: 22981432 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2012.08.001]
- Paradis V. Histopathology of hepatocellular carcinoma. Recent Results Cancer Res 2013; 190: 21-32 [PMID: 22941011 3 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-16037-0 2]
- 4 Liu S, Chan KW, Wang B, Qiao L. Fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma. Am J Gastroenterol 2009; 104: 2617-24; quiz 2625 [PMID: 19638962 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2009.440]
- 5 Lafaro KJ, Pawlik TM. Fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma: current clinical perspectives. J Hepatocell Carcinoma 2015; 2: 151-157 [PMID: 27508204 DOI: 10.2147/JHC.S75153]
- 6 Lin CC, Yang HM. Fibrolamellar Carcinoma: A Concise Review. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2018; 142: 1141-1145 [PMID: 30141990 DOI: 10.5858/arpa.2017-0083-RS]
- Llovet JM, Kelley RK, Villanueva A, Singal AG, Pikarsky E, Roayaie S, Lencioni R, Koike K, Zucman-Rossi J, Finn RS. 7 Hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2021; 7: 6 [PMID: 33479224 DOI: 10.1038/s41572-020-00240-3]
- Do RK, McErlean A, Ang CS, DeMatteo RP, Abou-Alfa GK. CT and MRI of primary and metastatic fibrolamellar carcinoma: a case series of 37 patients. Br J Radiol 2014; 87: 20140024 [PMID: 24896196 DOI: 10.1259/bjr.20140024]
- Stipa F, Yoon SS, Liau KH, Fong Y, Jarnagin WR, D'Angelica M, Abou-Alfa G, Blumgart LH, DeMatteo RP. Outcome of patients with fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer 2006; 106: 1331-1338 [PMID: 16475212 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.21703
- 10 Rimassa L, Personeni N, Czauderna C, Foerster F, Galle P. Systemic treatment of HCC in special populations. J Hepatol 2021; 74: 931-943 [PMID: 33248171 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.11.026]
- 11 Chakrabarti S, Tella SH, Kommalapati A, Huffman BM, Yadav S, Riaz IB, Goyal G, Mody K, Borad M, Cleary S, Smoot RL, Mahipal A. Clinicopathological features and outcomes of fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastrointest Oncol 2019; 10: 554-561 [PMID: 31183207 DOI: 10.21037/jgo.2019.01.35]
- 12 Mayo SC, Mavros MN, Nathan H, Cosgrove D, Herman JM, Kamel I, Anders RA, Pawlik TM. Treatment and prognosis of patients with fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma: a national perspective. J Am Coll Surg 2014; 218: 196-205 [PMID: 24315886 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2013.10.011]
- 13 McAteer JP, Goldin AB, Healey PJ, Gow KW. Hepatocellular carcinoma in children: epidemiology and the impact of regional lymphadenectomy on surgical outcomes. J Pediatr Surg 2013; 48: 2194-2201 [PMID: 24210185 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2013.05.007]
- SEER*Stat Database: Incidence-SEER Research Data, 18 Registries, Nov 2019 Sub (2000-2017)-Linked To County 14 Attributes-Time Dependent (1990-2017) Income/Rurality, 1969-2018 Counties, National Cancer Institute, DCCPS, Surveillance Research Program, released April 2020, based on the November 2019 submission. [cited 2021 Dec 25]. Database: Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program. Available from: www.seer.cancer.gov
- Mohanty S, Bilimoria KY. Comparing national cancer registries: The National Cancer Data Base (NCDB) and the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) program. J Surg Oncol 2014; 109: 629-630 [PMID: 24464362 DOI: 10.1002/jso.23568]
- Greene F, Page D, Fleming I, Fritz A, Balch C, Haller D, Morrow M; American Joint Committee on Cancer. AJCC 16 cancer staging manual. 6th ed. New York: Springer, 2002
- Lemekhova A, Hornuss D, Polychronidis G, Mayer P, Rupp C, Longerich T, Weiss KH, Büchler M, Mehrabi A, Hoffmann K. Clinical features and surgical outcomes of fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma: retrospective analysis of a singlecenter experience. World J Surg Oncol 2020; 18: 93 [PMID: 32397993 DOI: 10.1186/s12957-020-01855-2]
- 18 El-Serag HB, Davila JA. Is fibrolamellar carcinoma different from hepatocellular carcinoma? Hepatology 2004; 39: 798-803 [PMID: 14999699 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20096]
- 19 Moreno-Luna LE, Arrieta O, García-Leiva J, Martínez B, Torre A, Uribe M, León-Rodríguez E. Clinical and pathologic factors associated with survival in young adult patients with fibrolamellar hepatocarcinoma. BMC Cancer 2005; 5: 142



[PMID: 16259635 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407-5-142]

- Assi HA, Mukherjee S, Machiorlatti M, Vesely S, Pareek V, Hatoum H. Predictors of Outcome in Patients With 20 Fibrolamellar Carcinoma: Analysis of the National Cancer Database. Anticancer Res 2020; 40: 847-855 [PMID: 32014928 DOI: 10.21873/anticanres.14017]
- Llovet JM, Burroughs A, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet 2003; 362: 1907-1917 [PMID: 14667750 DOI: 21 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14964-1]
- 22 Pinna AD, Iwatsuki S, Lee RG, Todo S, Madariaga JR, Marsh JW, Casavilla A, Dvorchik I, Fung JJ, Starzl TE. Treatment of fibrolamellar hepatoma with subtotal hepatectomy or transplantation. Hepatology 1997; 26: 877-883 [PMID: 9328308 DOI: 10.1002/hep.510260412]
- 23 Barzi A, Zhou K, Wang S, Dodge JL, El-Khoueiry A, Setiawan VW. Etiology and Outcomes of Hepatocellular Carcinoma in an Ethnically Diverse Population: The Multiethnic Cohort. Cancers (Basel) 2021; 13 [PMID: 34298690 DOI: 10.3390/cancers13143476]
- Kassahun WT. Contemporary management of fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma: diagnosis, treatment, outcome, 24 prognostic factors, and recent developments. World J Surg Oncol 2016; 14: 151 [PMID: 27215576 DOI: 10.1186/s12957-016-0903-8]
- 25 Eggert T, McGlynn KA, Duffy A, Manns MP, Greten TF, Altekruse SF. Fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma in the USA, 2000-2010: A detailed report on frequency, treatment and outcome based on the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results database. United European Gastroenterol J 2013; 1: 351-357 [PMID: 24917983 DOI: 10.1177/2050640613501507]
- 26 Xu L, Kim Y, Spolverato G, Gani F, Pawlik TM. Racial disparities in treatment and survival of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr 2016; 5: 43-52 [PMID: 26904556 DOI: 10.3978/j.issn.2304-3881.2015.08.05]
- Njei B, Konjeti VR, Ditah I. Prognosis of Patients With Fibrolamellar Hepatocellular Carcinoma Versus Conventional 27 Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Gastrointest Cancer Res 2014; 7: 49-54 [PMID: 24799971]



World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2022 May 24; 13(5): 366-375

DOI: 10.5306/wico.v13.i5.366

Retrospective Study

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Modified binding pancreaticogastrostomy vs modified Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy after laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic or periampullary tumors

Satyaprakash Ray Choudhury, Raja Kalayarasan, Senthil Gnanasekaran, Biju Pottakkat

Specialty type: Oncology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Bencini L, Italy; Ferná ndez-Placencia RM, Peru

Received: January 18, 2022 Peer-review started: January 18, 2022 First decision: February 15, 2022 Revised: February 28, 2022 Accepted: May 7, 2022 Article in press: May 7, 2022 Published online: May 24, 2022



Satyaprakash Ray Choudhury, Raja Kalayarasan, Senthil Gnanasekaran, Biju Pottakkat, Department of Surgical Gastroenterology, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research, Puducherry 605006, India

Corresponding author: Raja Kalayarasan, MBBS, MCh, MS, Additional Professor, Department of Surgical Gastroenterology, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research, Room No. 5442, 4th Floor, Super Specialty Block, Puducherry 605006, India. kalayarasanraja@yahoo.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Laparoscopic pancreaticoenteric anastomosis is one of the technically challenging steps of minimally invasive pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD), especially during the learning curve. Despite multiple randomized controlled trials and meta-analyses, the type of pancreatico-enteric anastomosis as a risk factor for post-pancreatectomy complications is debatable. Also, the ideal technique of pancreatic reconstruction during the learning curve of laparoscopic PD has not been well studied.

AIM

To compare the short-term outcomes of modified binding pancreaticogastrostomy (PG) and Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy (PJ) during learning curve of laparoscopic PD.

METHODS

The first 25 patients with resectable pancreatic or periampullary tumors who underwent laparoscopic PD with modified binding PG or modified Blumgart PJ between January 2015 and May 2020 were retrospectively analyzed to compare perioperative outcomes during the same learning curve. A single layer of the fullthickness purse-string suture was placed around the posterior gastrotomy in the modified binding PG. In the modified Blumgart technique, only a single transpancreatic horizontal mattress suture was placed on either side of the pancreatic duct (total two sutures) to secure the pancreatic parenchyma to the jejunum. Also, on the ventral surface, the knot is tied on the jejunal wall without going through the pancreatic parenchyma. Post pancreatectomy complications are graded as per the



International Study Group for Pancreatic Surgery criteria.

RESULTS

During the study period, modified binding PG was performed in 27 patients and modified Blumgart PJ in 29 patients. The demographic and clinical parameters of the first 25 patients included in both groups were comparable. Lower end cholangiocarcinoma and ampullary adenocarcinoma were the primary indications for laparoscopic PD in both groups (32/50, 64%). The median operative time for pancreatic reconstruction was significantly lower in the binding PG group (42 vs 58 min, P = 0.01). The clinically relevant (Grade B/C) postoperative pancreatic fistula (POPF) was significantly more in the modified PJ group (28% vs 4%, P = 0.04). In contrast, intraluminal postpancreatectomy hemorrhage (PPH) was more in the binding PG group (32% vs 4%, P = 0.02). There was no significant difference in the incidence of delayed gastric emptying between the two groups.

CONCLUSION

During the learning curve of laparoscopic PD, modified binding PG reduces POPF but is associated with increased intraluminal PPH compared to PJ using the modified Blumgart technique.

Key Words: Pancreaticoduodenectomy; Laparoscopy; Pancreatic cancer; Pancreaticojejunostomy; Neoplasms; Tumors

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: During the learning curve of laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy, modified binding pancreaticogastrostomy reduces the operative time for pancreatic reconstruction. Also, modified binding pancreaticogastrostomy reduces clinically relevant postoperative pancreatic fistula compared to modified Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy. However, modified binding pancreaticogastrostomy is associated with increased intraluminal postpancreatectomy hemorrhage. The present study results could guide surgeons to tailor the pancreatic reconstruction during the learning curve of laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy.

Citation: Choudhury SR, Kalayarasan R, Gnanasekaran S, Pottakkat B. Modified binding pancreaticogastrostomy vs modified Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy after laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic or periampullary tumors. World J Clin Oncol 2022; 13(5): 366-375 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v13/i5/366.htm

DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.366

INTRODUCTION

Laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) is considered one of the most complex minimal access surgical procedures, requiring proficiency in advanced laparoscopic surgery. With advancements in laparoscopic skills and technology, multiple studies have reported the feasibility, safety, and oncological equivalence of Laparoscopic PD compared to open PD[1-3]. Despite improved surgical techniques and perioperative management, PD remains a morbid procedure with a 30%-50% estimated morbidity rate [4]. As in open PD, pancreatico-enteric anastomosis remains the Achilles' heel in laparoscopic PD, and postoperative pancreatic fistula (POPF) is the critical cause of morbidity in these patients. The type of pancreatico-enteric anastomosis as a risk factor for POPF is still debatable. Multiple retrospective studies, some randomized controlled trials (RCTs), and meta-analyses have reported that pancreaticogastrostomy (PG) is associated with less incidence of POPF compared to pancreaticojejunostomy (PJ)[5, 6]. However, other RCTs and meta-analyses did not report any difference between the two anastomotic techniques concerning clinically relevant POPF rates[7,8].

In laparoscopic PD, in addition to conventional risk factors for POPF, laparoscopic instruments' restricted range of motion poses an additional risk, especially during the learning curve. A review of various techniques of laparoscopic pancreatic reconstruction following laparoscopic PD reported that PJ was more commonly used than PG like open PD[9]. However, to date, no RCT has compared different techniques of pancreatic reconstruction in laparoscopic PD, precluding a definite conclusion. The ideal method of managing remnant pancreas following laparoscopic PD should be safe and easy to perform, especially during the learning curve. In open PD, binding PG using two layers of purse-string sutures has been described as a safe and technically simpler method of pancreatic reconstruction[10,11]. Of the



many techniques of PJ, the Blumgart method of PJ is a popular one, and its safety has been established in multiple open PD series [12-14]. However, the outcomes of these techniques of pancreatic reconstruction during the learning curve of Laparoscopic PD have not been previously studied. We used the binding PG and Blumgart method of PJ that was modified to suit the laparoscopic pancreatic reconstruction[12,15]. The present study compares the short-term outcomes of modified binding PG and Blumgart technique of PJ for pancreatic reconstruction in laparoscopic PD during the learning curve.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient selection

Laparoscopic PD was started in the institute in January 2015. Until October 2017, modified binding PG was used for pancreatic reconstruction in laparoscopic PD. Subsequently, the modified Blumgart technique was mainly used for pancreatic reconstruction, except in patients whose pancreatic duct could not be identified after pancreatic transection, where invagination PJ or binding PG was used. Clinical data of the first 25 patients with resectable pancreatic and periampullary tumors who underwent laparoscopic PD with modified binding PG or modified Blumgart PJ between January 2015 and May 2020 were retrospectively analyzed to evaluate the outcomes during the same learning curve. Pancreatic cancer patients with suspected vascular involvement and those with contraindications for laparoscopic surgery were not considered for laparoscopic PD. Patients who underwent laparoscopic PD with different techniques of pancreatic reconstruction and those who underwent robotic PD were excluded from the analysis. Also, patients who underwent laparoscopic PD for chronic pancreatitis or other nonmalignant etiology were not included in the study. All surgeries were performed by a single surgeon (RK) with sufficient experience in advanced minimally invasive gastrointestinal surgery. The study was approved by the institute scientific advisory committee (PGRMC 19.04.2021-18) and the institute ethics committee (JIP/IEC/2021/0194).

Operative technique

The procedure was performed using six laparoscopic ports: One infra umbilical 12 mm port, two 12 mm pararectal ports, one left subcostal 12 mm port, one right subcostal 5 mm port, and one 5 mm epigastric port with the patient in French position (supine with leg split). The infraumbilical port is used for laparoscopic camera except during uncinate dissection when the camera is moved to the right pararectal port. For ligation and division of gastrocolic trunk, division of stomach, lymph node dissection in hepatoduodenal ligament, and bile duct division, the two 12 mm ports on the left side are used as primary working ports with the surgeon standing on the left side of the patient. The primary surgeon moves to the patient's right side for the remaining dissection. The two right-sided ports are used as a primary working port for the pancreatic reconstruction using modified binding PG. Two full-thickness stay sutures are taken at the corners of the pancreatic cut surface using 3-0 polypropylene to facilitate pancreatic mobilization and invagination into the stomach (Figure 1). The pancreas is carefully mobilized from the splenic vein and artery after sealing and dividing small vessels for approximately 3-4 cm. The left gastric vein that usually drains to the splenic portal vein junction should be identified during pancreatic mobilization to avoid inadvertent injury and troublesome bleeding. Anterior gastrotomy of length approximately 4-5 cm was made proximal to the stapled end of the stomach. A posterior gastrotomy was made at a site where the pancreas can be invaginated without undue tension for a length approximately equivalent to the width of the pancreatic cut surface. In contrast to the original technique of binding PG that used two layers (inner mucosal and outer seromuscular) of pursestring sutures, the modified binding PG technique utilizes only a single layer of a full-thickness pursestring suture[10,15]. The modified binding PG technique used in the current series was adapted from the publication by Hong et al[15] that reported the feasibility of binding PG using a single layer of the full thickness purse-string suture in 10 patients undergoing laparoscopic central pancreatectomy. The placement of the purse-string suture using 3-0 polypropylene should start from the superior edge of the posterior gastrotomy to ensure adequate visualization of knots after invagination of the pancreas. The pancreas was lifted using the stay sutures and invaginated into the stomach through posterior gastrotomy. The stay sutures are held with a laparoscopic grasper advanced through anterior gastrotomy. Once the invagination of at least 2 cm of the pancreas into the stomach was confirmed, the stay suture is tied to bind the gastric wall to the pancreatic stump. The position of the pancreas inside the stomach was rechecked after completion of the hepaticojejunostomy to ensure a tension-free anastomosis. An anterior gastrotomy was used for hand sewn gastrojejunostomy.

For PJ using the modified Blumgart technique, the surgeon stands between the patient's legs and uses the infraumbilical and right subcostal ports as working ports. The laparoscopic camera was inserted through the right pararectal port. In the original Blumgart technique, two to three transpancreatic fullthickness U-shaped sutures were placed on either side of the pancreatic duct[16]. In the modified technique, a single transpancreatic horizontal mattress suture was placed on either side of the pancreatic duct (total two sutures) to secure the pancreatic parenchyma to the jejunum (Figure 2). The modified Blumgart PJ used in the present series was based on the previous studies in open PD that reported the





 $\textbf{DOI: } 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.366 \quad \textbf{Copyright} @ The Author(s) 2022. \\$

Figure 1 Steps of modified binding pancreaticogastrostomy. A: Two full-thickness stay sutures are taken at the corners of the pancreatic cut surface; B: A posterior gastrotomy is made at a site where the pancreas can be invaginated without undue tension; C: Anterior gastrotomy of approximately 4-5 cm is made proximal to the stapled end of the stomach; D: A full-thickness purse-string suture is placed around the posterior gastrotomy using 2-0 polypropylene; E: The pancreas lifted using the stay sutures and invaginated into the stomach through posterior gastrotomy; F: At least 2 cm of the pancreas invaginated into the stomach. Purse-string suture tied to bind the gastric wall to the pancreatic stump.

advantages of using fewer transpancreatic sutures to minimize the risk of pancreatic juice leakage[12, 14]. The 26 mm ½ circle round body needle of 3-0 polypropylene suture was straightened to facilitate the placement of transpancreatic suture. For duct to mucosa anastomosis, six interrupted 4-0 PDS sutures are placed at 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, and 2o'clock position. The needle moves in-out direction in the ductal end to ensure accurate placement of pancreatic duct sutures. In-out needle movement was facilitated by taking the initial bite in the pancreatic duct for 4, 6, and 8 o'clock sutures. For the remaining sutures, the initial bite was taken in the jejunal end. The pancreatic duct stent was placed after knotting the 6 and 8o'clock sutures. However, the stent was not fixed with sutures. After knotting the remaining duct to mucosa sutures, the transpancreatic suture needle was used to take a seromuscular bite on the antimesenteric edge of the jejunum. Ligation of these sutures wraps the ventral portion of the pancreatic cut edge with the jejunum. In contrast to the original Blumgart technique, no suture was taken on the anterior surface of the pancreas. A feeding jejunostomy was routinely performed in all patients undergoing laparoscopic PD.

Outcome measures

The patients' demographic and clinical data, including age, sex, body mass index, bilirubin level, preoperative biliary drainage, total operative time, time taken for pancreatic reconstruction, estimated blood loss, need for blood transfusions, fistula risk score, and tumor type, were reviewed and compared between the two groups[17]. Postoperative morbidity was graded as per Clavien-Dindo classification [18]. Delayed gastric emptying [DGE], postpancreatectomy hemorrhage (PPH), and postoperative pancreatic fistula [POPF] were graded as per the International Study Group for Pancreatic Surgery [ISGPS] definition[19-21]. Postoperative mortality is defined as any death, regardless of cause, occurring within 90 d after surgery in or out of the hospital.

Statistical analysis

Continuous variables were expressed as the median with range. Categorical variables were expressed as proportions. Continuous variables were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U test. Categorical variables were analyzed using the chi-square test or Fisher's exact test. A *P* value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 28.0. (Armonk, NY: IBM Corp).

Baishidena® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.366 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 2 Steps of modified Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy. A: The 26 mm ½ circle round body needle of 3-0 polypropylene suture is straightened to facilitate the placement of transpancreatic suture; B: One transpancreatic U suture is taken on either side of the pancreatic duct, and the sutures were held with bulldog clamps; C: 8 o'clock duct to mucosa suture taken with the needle moving in-out direction in the ductal end; D: The pancreatic duct stent is placed after ligating the 6 and 8 o'clock sutures; E: Completion of duct to mucosa sutures; F: Transpancreatic U suture is tied to wrap the pancreatic cut edge with the jejunum.

RESULTS

During the study period, 78 patients underwent minimally invasive PD. Of these, 22 patients [Robotic PD (n = 18), nonmalignant etiology (n = 2), invagination PJ (n = 2)] who did not meet the inclusion criteria were excluded from the analysis. Overall, modified binding PG was performed in 27 patients and modified Blumgart PJ in 29 patients. To evaluate the short-term outcomes during the learning curve of laparoscopic PD, the first 25 consecutive patients who underwent modified binding PG and modified Blumgart PJ were included in the study.

The demographic and clinical parameters between the two groups were comparable (Table 1). Both groups had lower end cholangiocarcinoma and ampullary adenocarcinoma as the primary indications for laparoscopic PD (32/50, 64%). Hence, most patients had jaundice (43/50, 86%) at presentation. All 3 patients with intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm had the main duct type of tumor. Of the 3 patients with neuroendocrine tumor, 1 patient had an ampullary tumor, and the other 2 had cancer in the head and uncinate process of the pancreas.

There was no significant difference in the total operative time and estimated blood loss between the two groups (Table 2). However, the median time to perform modified binding PG was significantly less than modified Blumgart PJ. While most patients had intermediate or high fistula risk scores (38/50, 76%), the proportion was not significantly different between the two groups. However, the modified binding PG group had a significantly lesser number of patients with Grade B/C POPF. None of the patients required reoperation for POPF. Overall, 9 patients had PPH (Grade A-3, Grade B-5, Grade C-1). The proportion of patients with PPH was significantly more in the modified binding PG group. On the fifth postoperative day, 1 patient in the binding PG group was reoperated in an emergency due to severe upper gastrointestinal bleeding that manifested as hematemesis. To visualize the pancreatic stump, an anterior gastrotomy was made away from the gastrojejunostomy site. After evacuating the clots in the gastric lumen, an arterial bleeder in the inferior edge of the pancreatic stump was suture ligated. DGE was present in 13 patients (Grade A-7, Grade B-4, Grade C-2). However, there was no significant difference in the rate of DGE between the two groups. There was no postoperative mortality in both groups.

Zaishidena® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

binding pancreaticogastrostomy and modified Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy						
Variable	Binding PG group, <i>n</i> = 25	Modified Blumgart PJ group, <i>n</i> = 25	P value			
Age in yr, median (range)	53.7 (37-75)	58.2 (31-79)	0.12			
Sex, Male:Female	14:11	15:10	> 0.99			
BMI in kg/m ² , median (range)	23.8 (17.6-41.6)	24.6 (18.2-40.0)	0.69			
Jaundice, n (%)	22 (88)	21 (84)	> 0.99			
Cholangitis, n (%)	8 (32)	5 (20)	0.52			
Peak total bilirubin levels in mg/dL, median (range)	12.8 (1.2-28.3)	10.6 (1.1-31.2)	0.59			
Preoperative biliary drainage, n (%)	14 (56)	12 (48)	0.78			
CA 19-9 (U/mL), median (range)	55 (1-5682)	84 (2-3318)	0.12			
Diagnosis, n (%)						
Cholangiocarcinoma	9 (36)	7 (28)	0.76			
Pancreatic adenocarcinoma	3 (12)	2 (8)	> 0.99			
Ampullary adenocarcinoma	7 (28)	9 (36)	0.76			
Duodenal adenocarcinoma	3 (12)	4 (16)	> 0.99			
Intraductal papillary mucinous	2 (8)	1 (4)	> 0.99			
Neoplasm pancreas						
Neuroendocrine tumor	1 (4)	2 (8)	> 0.99			

PG: Pancreaticogastrostomy; PJ: Pancreaticojejunostomy.

DISCUSSION

The present study results suggest that during the learning curve of laparoscopic PD, modified binding PG reduces POPF but is associated with increased intraluminal PPH compared to PJ using the modified Blumgart technique. The feasibility, safety, and oncological outcomes of laparoscopic PD have been documented in multiple retrospective series and a few single-center prospective trials[1-3]. However, the multicenter randomized trial (LEOPARD-2) comparing laparoscopic with open PD was prematurely terminated because of higher complication-related mortality in the laparoscopic group[22]. As in open PD, pancreatico-enteric anastomosis is the critical cause of morbidity and mortality in patients undergoing laparoscopic PD, especially during the learning curve in low and medium volume centers [4, 22]. While the learning curve for laparoscopic PD has not been well studied, a few single-center studies have suggested that operative time and complications stabilize after 30-42 procedures [23-25]. Hence, in the present study, the perioperative outcomes of the first 25 laparoscopic procedures are compared.

The type of pancreatico-enteric anastomosis as a risk factor for POPF is still controversial. While a few RCTs and meta-analyses have documented the benefits of PG in reducing POPF, others did not find any difference between the two anastomotic techniques[5-8]. The ideal pancreatic reconstruction technique during the learning curve of laparoscopic PD should be safe and easy to perform. The binding technique for pancreatoenteric anastomosis was described by Peng et al[26] based on the hypothesis that avoiding pancreatic sutures at the level of the anastomosis can minimize POPF. Initially, he described binding PJ with an excellent postoperative outcome[26]. However, binding PJ cannot be used when the pancreatic stump is too large to be invaginated into the jejunum. Hence, binding PG was developed in which the pancreatic stump was invaginated into the stomach and held in place by two purse-string sutures: an outer seromuscular and inner mucosal purse-string suture[10]. Despite encouraging outcomes with binding PG in open PD, its safety and feasibility have not been well studied in laparoscopic PD. Wakabayashi et al[27] reported the feasibility of double purse-string suture PG in robotic PD as a technical report. In the present study, only a single layer of the full-thickness purse-string suture was used that was adapted from the previous report on the feasibility of binding PG using a single layer of the full thickness purse-string suture in patients undergoing laparoscopic central pancreatectomy [28]. The efficacy of the Blumgart technique in reducing the POPF rate has been documented in multiple open PD series[29,30]. The transpancreatic, full-thickness, mattress U-sutures used in the Blumgart technique reduce the tangential tension and shear force at the pancreatic stump. However, more sutures on the pancreas increase the POPF risk[31]. Another potential risk with the original Blumgart technique



Table 2 Comparison of perioperative outcomes of patients who underwent laparoscopic pancreatoduodenectomy with binding pancreaticogastrostomy and modified Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy

Variable	Binding PG group, <i>n</i> = 25	Modified Blumgart PJ group, <i>n</i> = 25	<i>P</i> value
Total operative time in min, median (range)	445 (390-710)	405 (330-670)	0.06
Operative time for pancreatic reconstruction in min, median (range)	42 (26-65)	58 (44-81)	0.01
Estimated blood loss in mL, median (range)	320 (210-740)	310 (175-950)	0.09
Blood Transfusion, n (%)	6 (24)	7 (28)	> 0.99
Gland texture, n (%)			
Soft	17 (68)	19 (76)	0.75
Firm	8 (32)	6 (24)	
Pancreatic duct diameter in mm, median (range)	3 (1-9)	3 (2-10)	> 0.99
Fistula risk score, n (%)			
Low	5 (20)	7 (28)	0.74
Intermediate	12 (48)	13 (52)	> 0.99
High	8 (32)	5 (20)	0.52
Postoperative morbidity, Clavien-Dindo classification IIIa or more, $n~(\%)$	8 (32)	9 (36)	> 0.99
Pancreatic fistula as Grade B/C, n (%)	1 (4)	7 (28)	0.04
Delayed gastric emptying, n (%)	7(28)	6 (24)	> 0.99
Post pancreatectomy hemorrhage, n (%)	8 (32)	1 (4)	0.02
Bile leak, n (%)	0	1 (4)	> 0.99
Postoperative hospital stay in days, median (range)	9 (6-38)	8 (5-56)	0.72

PG: Pancreaticogastrostomy; PJ: Pancreaticojejunostomy.

is excessive compression on the pancreas while tying the transpancreatic sutures. Hence, only two transpancreatic U sutures were used in the present technique. Also, on the ventral surface, only a seromuscular bite was taken on the jejunum without taking any suture on the anterior surface of the pancreas to reduce shear force and excessive compression of the pancreatic parenchyma.

The perioperative outcomes of the modified binding PG and modified Blumgart technique of PJ have not been previously compared in the laparoscopic approach. As documented in the present study, modified binding PG can minimize the pancreatic reconstruction time as it requires only a single layer of the full-thickness purse-string suture. Also, only 1 patient developed clinically relevant POPF in the binding PG group despite the high fistula risk score of the included patients. In Binding PG, no sutures are taken to fix the pancreas with the stomach, which precludes the risk of suture cut through in the soft pancreas. Also, the portion of the pancreas through which stay sutures are taken is invaginated into the stomach. It ensures that a minor pancreatic leak from the needle entry site enters the gastric lumen rather than the peritoneal cavity. The clinically relevant POPF rate with the modified Blumgart technique was 28% in the present study. The grade B/C POPF rate with the Blumgart technique in open PD ranges from 2.5% to 20.5% [12-14,29,30]. Nagakawa et al[31] reported a Grade B/C POPF rate of 20% in their laparoscopic series using the modified Blumgart technique. The relatively high POPF rate in the present series could be due to the learning curve effect and inclusion of high fistula risk score patients.

In contrast to POPF, modified binding PG is associated with an increased incidence of intraluminal PPH. While most patients had Grade A or B PPH, surgical intervention was required in 1 patient. Also, seeing blood through the nasogastric gastric tube makes the patient anxious. Raw pancreatic stump lying freely in the gastric lumen without any compression effect of jejunum may be the reason for an increased incidence of intraluminal PPH. Hong et al[27] suggested that full-thickness suture closure of pancreatic stump can reduce the incidence of intraluminal PPH with binding PG. It is recommended to stent the pancreatic duct to avoid including it while taking the hemostatic sutures.

The choice of pancreatic reconstruction in both open and laparoscopic PD is determined by surgeon preference and familiarity with a particular technique. As binding PG is a technically more straightforward procedure, we used it in our initial patients who underwent PD. The increased incidence of



intraluminal PPH was the primary reason for changing to modified Blumgart PJ. The present study results suggest that it may be preferable to start with a simpler technique of pancreatic reconstruction to reduce the POPF rate. Modified Binding PG with hemostatic pancreatic sutures on either side of the pancreatic duct may achieve the goal without increasing PPH. Alternatively, tailored pancreatic reconstruction with modified binding PG for patients with a high fistula risk score and modified Blumgart PJ for patients with low fistula risk score may be a reasonable approach during the learning curve of laparoscopic PD. While retrospective study design is the primary limitation of the current series, it is the first study to compare the perioperative outcomes of modified binding PG and modified Blumgart technique of PJ.

CONCLUSION

Modified Binding PG reduces the pancreatic reconstruction time and POPF rate during the learning curve of laparoscopic PD but is associated with increased intraluminal PPH compared to PJ using the modified Blumgart technique.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Complications related to pancreatico-enteric anastomosis are a significant cause of morbidity, especially during the learning curve in laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD). Despite multiple randomized controlled trials and meta-analyses, the type of pancreatico-enteric anastomosis [pancreaticojejunostomy (PJ) vs pancreaticogastrostomy(PG)] as a risk factor for post-pancreatectomy complications is debatable.

Research motivation

The ideal technique of pancreatic reconstruction during the learning curve of laparoscopic PD has not been well studied.

Research objectives

To compare the short-term outcomes of modified binding PG and Blumgart technique of PJ for pancreatic reconstruction in laparoscopic PD during the learning curve.

Research methods

The first 25 patients with resectable pancreatic or periampullary tumors who underwent laparoscopic PD and pancreatic reconstruction with modified binding PG or Blumgart PJ between January 2015 and May 2020 were retrospectively analyzed. A single layer of the full-thickness purse-string suture was placed around the posterior gastrotomy in the modified binding PG. In the modified Blumgart technique, a total of two transpancreatic horizontal mattress sutures were placed on either side of the pancreatic duct to secure the pancreatic parenchyma to the jejunum. Also, on the ventral surface, the knot is tied to the jejunal wall without going through the pancreatic parenchyma. Post pancreatectomy complications are graded as per the International Study Group for Pancreatic Surgery criteria and compared to evaluate perioperative outcomes during the same learning curve.

Research results

The demographic and clinical parameters of the patients included in both groups were comparable. The median operative time for pancreatic reconstruction was significantly lower in the binding PG group (42 vs 58 min, P = 0.01). The clinically relevant (Grade B/C) postoperative pancreatic fistula (POPF) was significantly more in the modified PJ group (28% vs 4%, P = 0.04). In contrast, intraluminal postpancreatectomy hemorrhage (PPH) was more in the binding PG group (32% vs 4%, P = 0.02). There was no significant difference in the incidence of delayed gastric emptying between the two groups.

Research conclusions

Modified binding PG reduces the pancreatic reconstruction time and POPF rate during the learning curve of laparoscopic PD but is associated with increased intraluminal PPH compared to PJ using the modified Blumgart technique.

Research perspectives

Modified Binding PG combined with techniques to reduce PPH like hemostatic pancreatic sutures on either side of the pancreatic duct may reduce POPF without increasing PPH during the learning curve of laparoscopic PD. A tailored pancreatic reconstruction with modified binding PG for patients with a high fistula risk score and modified Blumgart PJ for patients with low fistula risk score may be a



reasonable approach during the learning curve of laparoscopic PD.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Kalayarasan R conceptualized the study and performed the surgical procedures; Choudhury SR and Gnanasekaran S performed the data acquisition and wrote the first draft of the manuscript; Kalayarasan R and Pottakkat B supervised the writing, gave intellectual inputs, and critically revised the manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The study was approved by the Institute scientific advisory committee (PGRMC 19.04.2021-18) and the Institute ethics committee (JIP/IEC/2021/0194).

Informed consent statement: Patients were not required to give informed consent to the study because the analysis used anonymous clinical data that were obtained after each patient agreed to treatment by written consent. For full disclosure, the details of the study are published on the home page of JIPMER (http://www.jipmer.edu.in study ID -JIP/IEC/2021/0194).

Conflict-of-interest statement: We have no financial relationships to disclose.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: India

ORCID number: Satyaprakash Ray Choudhury 0000-0001-6693-2546; Raja Kalayarasan 0000-0003-4056-8672; Senthil Gnanasekaran 0000-0002-8639-5423; Biju Pottakkat 0000-0002-8474-0270.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: International Hepato-Pancreato Biliary Association, M02056

S-Editor: Wang LL L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Wang LL

REFERENCES

- Palanivelu C, Senthilnathan P, Sabnis SC, Babu NS, Srivatsan Gurumurthy S, Anand Vijai N, Nalankilli VP, Praveen Raj P, Parthasarathy R, Rajapandian S. Randomized clinical trial of laparoscopic vs open pancreatoduodenectomy for periampullary tumours. Br J Surg 2017; 104: 1443-1450 [PMID: 28895142 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.10662]
- Wang M, Li D, Chen R, Huang X, Li J, Liu Y, Liu J, Cheng W, Chen X, Zhao W, Tan Z, Huang H, Zhu F, Qin T, Ma J, 2 Yu G, Zhou B, Zheng S, Tang Y, Han W, Meng L, Ke J, Feng F, Chen B, Yin X, Chen W, Ma H, Xu J, Lin R, Dong Y, Yu Y, Zhang H, Qin R; Minimally Invasive Treatment Group in the Pancreatic Disease Branch of China's International Exchange and Promotion Association for Medicine and Healthcare (MITG-P-CPAM). Laparoscopic vs open pancreatoduodenectomy for pancreatic or periampullary tumours: a multicentre, open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 6: 438-447 [PMID: 33915091 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(21)00054-6]
- 3 Sun R, Yu J, Zhang Y, Liang Z, Han X. Perioperative and oncological outcomes following minimally invasive vs open pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic duct adenocarcinoma. Surg Endosc 2021; 35: 2273-2285 [PMID: 32632485 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-020-07641-1]
- Tzeng CW, Katz MH, Fleming JB, Lee JE, Pisters PW, Holmes HM, Varadhachary GR, Wolff RA, Abbruzzese JL, Vauthey JN, Aloia TA. Morbidity and mortality after pancreaticoduodenectomy in patients with borderline resectable type C clinical classification. J Gastrointest Surg 2014; 18: 146-155; discussion 155 [DOI: 10.1007/s11605-013-2371-6]
- Menahem B, Guittet L, Mulliri A, Alves A, Lubrano J. Pancreaticogastrostomy is superior to pancreaticojejunostomy for 5 prevention of pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy: an updated meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Ann Surg 2015; 261: 882-887 [PMID: 24979604 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.000000000000806]
- Qin H, Luo L, Zhu Z, Huang J. Pancreaticogastrostomy has advantages over pancreaticojejunostomy on pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy. A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Int J Surg 2016; 36: 18-24 [PMID: 27768898 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2016.10.020]
- Li Y, Hua R. The optimal choice for pancreatic anastomosis after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a network meta-analysis. Minerva Surg 2021; In press [DOI: 10.23736/s2724-5691.21.08802-x]
- Ratnayake CBB, Wells CI, Kamarajah SK, Loveday B, Sen G, French JJ, White S, Pandanaboyana S. Critical appraisal of the techniques of pancreatic anastomosis following pancreaticoduodenectomy: A network meta-analysis. Int J Surg 2020;



73: 72-77 [PMID: 31843679 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2019.12.003]

- 9 Kang CM, Lee SH, Chung MJ, Hwang HK, Lee WJ. Laparoscopic pancreatic reconstruction technique following laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2015; 22: 202-210 [PMID: 25546026 DOI: 10.1002/jhbp.193
- 10 Peng SY, Wang JW, Hong DF, Liu YB, Wang YF. Binding pancreaticoenteric anastomosis: from binding pancreaticojejunostomy to binding pancreaticogastrostomy. Updates Surg 2011; 63: 69-74 [PMID: 21442343 DOI: 10.1007/s13304-011-0067-6]
- Routh D, Pathak N, Naidu CS, Singh AK, Rao PP, Ranjan P. A study on outcome of binding pancreaticogastrostomy 11 following pancreaticoduodenectomy: A prospective observational study. Int J Surg 2018; 50: 104-109 [DOI: 10.1016/i.iisu.2017.12.015
- Fujii T, Sugimoto H, Yamada S, Kanda M, Suenaga M, Takami H, Hattori M, Inokawa Y, Nomoto S, Fujiwara M, Kodera 12 Y. Modified Blumgart anastomosis for pancreaticojejunostomy: technical improvement in matched historical control study. J Gastrointest Surg 2014; 18: 1108-1115 [PMID: 24733259 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-014-2523-3]
- 13 Mishra PK, Saluja SS, Gupta M, Rajalingam R, Pattnaik P. Blumgart's technique of pancreaticojejunostomy: an appraisal. Dig Surg 2011; 28: 281-287 [PMID: 21811074 DOI: 10.1159/000329584]
- 14 Hirono S, Kawai M, Okada KI, Miyazawa M, Kitahata Y, Hayami S, Ueno M, Yamaue H. Modified Blumgart Mattress Suture Versus Conventional Interrupted Suture in Pancreaticojejunostomy During Pancreaticoduodenectomy: Randomized Controlled Trial. Ann Surg 2019; 269: 243-251 [PMID: 29697455 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000002802]
- Hong D, Xin Y, Cai X, Peng S. Application of binding pancreatogastrostomy in laparoscopic central pancreatectomy. World J Surg Oncol 2012; 10: 223 [PMID: 23101615 DOI: 10.1186/1477-7819-10-223]
- 16 Brennan M. Pancreaticojejunostomy. In: Blumgart LH, Fong Y, editors. Surgery of the liver and biliary tract, 3rd edition. Philadelphia: Saunders, 2000: 1073-1089 [DOI: 10.1016/b978-1-4160-3256-4.50009-0]
- 17 Callery MP, Pratt WB, Kent TS, Chaikof EL, Vollmer CM Jr. A prospectively validated clinical risk score accurately predicts pancreatic fistula after pancreatoduodenectomy. J Am Coll Surg 2013; 216: 1-14 [PMID: 23122535 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2012.09.002]
- Dindo D, Demartines N, Clavien PA. Classification of surgical complications: a new proposal with evaluation in a cohort 18 of 6336 patients and results of a survey. Ann Surg 2004; 240: 205-213 [DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000133083.54934.ae]
- Bassi C, Marchegiani G, Dervenis C, Sarr M, Abu Hilal M, Adham M, Allen P, Andersson R, Asbun HJ, Besselink MG, 19 Conlon K, Del Chiaro M, Falconi M, Fernandez-Cruz L, Fernandez-Del Castillo C, Fingerhut A, Friess H, Gouma DJ, Hackert T, Izbicki J, Lillemoe KD, Neoptolemos JP, Olah A, Schulick R, Shrikhande SV, Takada T, Takaori K, Traverso W, Vollmer CR, Wolfgang CL, Yeo CJ, Salvia R, Buchler M; International Study Group on Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS). The 2016 update of the International Study Group (ISGPS) definition and grading of postoperative pancreatic fistula: 11 Years After. Surgery 2017; 161: 584-591 [PMID: 28040257 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2016.11.014]
- 20 Wente MN, Bassi C, Dervenis C, Fingerhut A, Gouma DJ, Izbicki JR, Neoptolemos JP, Padbury RT, Sarr MG, Traverso LW, Yeo CJ, Büchler MW. Delayed gastric emptying (DGE) after pancreatic surgery: a suggested definition by the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS). Surgery 2007; 142: 761-768 [DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2007.05.005]
- 21 Wente MN, Veit JA, Bassi C, Dervenis C, Fingerhut A, Gouma DJ, Izbicki JR, Neoptolemos JP, Padbury RT, Sarr MG, Yeo CJ, Büchler MW. Postpancreatectomy hemorrhage (PPH): an International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS) definition. Surgery 2007; 142: 20-25 [DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2007.02.001]
- van Hilst J, de Rooij T, Bosscha K, Brinkman DJ, van Dieren S, Dijkgraaf MG, Gerhards MF, de Hingh IH, Karsten TM, 22 Lips DJ, Luyer MD, Busch OR, Festen S, Besselink MG; Dutch Pancreatic Cancer Group. Laparoscopic vs open pancreatoduodenectomy for pancreatic or periampullary tumours (LEOPARD-2): a multicentre, patient-blinded, randomised controlled phase 2/3 trial. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 4: 199-207 [PMID: 30685489 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30004-4]
- Kim H, Choi HZ, Kang BM, Lee JW. Learning Curve in Laparoscopic Pancreaticoduodenectomy: Using Risk-Adjusted Cumulative Summation Methods. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2021; In press [DOI: 10.1089/Lap.2021.0260]
- 24 Lu C, Jin W, Mou YP, Zhou J, Xu X, Xia T, Zhang R, Zhou Y, Yan J, Huang C, Zhang B, Wang J. Analysis of learning curve for laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Vis Surg 2016; 2: 145 [PMID: 29078532 DOI: 10.21037/jovs.2016.07.25]
- Wang M, Meng L, Cai Y, Li Y, Wang X, Zhang Z, Peng B. Learning Curve for Laparoscopic Pancreaticoduodenectomy: a CUSUM Analysis. J Gastrointest Surg 2016; 20: 924-935 [PMID: 26902090 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-016-3105-3]
- 26 Peng SY, Wang JW, Li JT, Mou YP, Liu YB, Cai XJ. Binding pancreaticojejunostomy -- a safe and reliable anastomosis procedure. HPB (Oxford) 2004; 6: 154-160 [DOI: 10.1080/13651820410016598]
- 27 Wakabayashi T, Felli E, Pessaux P. Robotic Double Purse-String Telescoped Pancreaticogastrostomy: How I Do It. World J Surg 2019; 43: 604-607 [DOI: 10.1007/s00268-018-4808-2]
- 28 Hong D, Liu Y, Peng S, Sun X, Wang Z, Cheng J, Shen G, Zhang Y, Huang D. Binding pancreaticogastrostomy in laparoscopic central pancreatectomy: a novel technique in laparoscopic pancreatic surgery. Surg Endosc 2016; 30: 715-720 [PMID: 26123326 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-015-4265-z]
- 29 Li Z, Wei A, Xia N, Zheng L, Yang D, Ye J, Xiong J, Hu W. Blumgart anastomosis reduces the incidence of pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep 2020; 10: 17896 [PMID: 33087777 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-74812-41
- Cao F, Tong X, Li A, Li J, Li F. Meta-analysis of modified Blumgart anastomosis and interrupted transpancreatic suture in 30 pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Asian J Surg 2020; 43: 1056-1061 [PMID: 32169516 DOI: 10.1016/j.asjsur.2020.01.011]
- Nagakawa Y, Takishita C, Hijikata Y, Osakabe H, Nishino H, Akashi M, Nakajima T, Shirota T, Sahara Y, Hosokawa Y, 31 Ishizaki T, Katsumata K, Tsuchida A. Blumgart method using LAPRA-TY clips facilitates pancreaticojejunostomy in laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy. Medicine (Baltimore) 2020; 99: e19474 [PMID: 32150110 DOI: 10.1097/MD.000000000019474



World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2022 May 24; 13(5): 376-387

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.376

Observational Study

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Assessing optimal Roux-en-Y reconstruction technique after total gastrectomy using the Postgastrectomy Syndrome Assessment Scale-45

Masami Ikeda, Masashi Yoshida, Norio Mitsumori, Tsuyoshi Etoh, Chikashi Shibata, Masanori Terashima, Junya Fujita, Kazuaki Tanabe, Nobuhiro Takiguchi, Atsushi Oshio, Koji Nakada

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Specialty type: Surgery

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Tharavej C

Received: March 8, 2021 Peer-review started: March 8, 2021 First decision: May 4, 2021 Revised: May 16, 2021 Accepted: April 20, 2022 Article in press: April 20, 2022 Published online: May 24, 2022



Masami lkeda, Department of Surgery, Asama General Hospital, Nagano 385-8558, Japan

Masashi Yoshida, Department of Surgery, International University of Health and Welfare Hospital, Tochigi 329-2763, Japan

Norio Mitsumori, Department of Surgery, The Jikei University School of Medicine, Tokyo 105-8461, Japan

Tsuyoshi Etoh, Department of Gastroenterological Surgery, Oita University, Oita 879-5593, Japan

Chikashi Shibata, Department of Surgery, Tohoku Medical and Pharmaceutical University, Miyagi 983-8512, Japan

Masanori Terashima, Division of Gastric Surgery, Shizuoka Cancer Center, Shizuoka, 411-8777, Japan

Junya Fujita, Department of Surgery, Yao Municipal Hospital, Osaka 581-0069, Japan

Kazuaki Tanabe, Department of Gastroenterological and Transplant Surgery, Institute of Biomedical and Health Sciences, Hiroshima University, Hiroshima 734-8551, Japan

Nobuhiro Takiguchi, Department of Gastroenterological Surgery, Chiba Cancer Center, Chiba 260-8717, Japan

Atsushi Oshio, Faculty of Letters, Arts and Sciences, Waseda University, Tokyo 162-8644, Japan

Koji Nakada, Department of Laboratory Medicine, The Jikei University School of Medicine, Tokyo 105-8461, Japan

Corresponding author: Masami Ikeda, MD, PhD, Chief Doctor, Surgeon, Department of Surgery, Asama General Hospital, 1862-1 Iwamurada, Saku, Nagano 385-8558, Japan. ikedam@tempo.ocn.ne.jp

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Following a total gastrectomy, patients suffer the most severe form of postgastrectomy syndrome. This is a significant clinical problem as it reduces quality of life (QOL). Roux-en-Y reconstruction, which is regarded as the gold standard for post-total gastrectomy reconstruction, can be performed using various techniques. Although the technique used could affect postoperative QOL, there are no previous reports regarding the same.

AIM

To investigate the effect of different techniques on postoperative QOL. The data was collected from the registry of the postgastrectomy syndrome assessment study (PGSAS).

METHODS

In the present study, we analyzed 393 total gastrectomy patients from those enrolled in PGSAS. Patients were divided into groups depending on whether antecolic or retrocolic jejunal elevation was performed, whether the Roux limb was "40 cm", "shorter" (≤ 39 cm), or "longer" (≥ 41 cm), and whether the device used for esophageal and jejunal anastomosis was a circular or linear stapler. Subsequently, we comparatively investigated postoperative QOL of the patients.

RESULTS

Reconstruction route: Esophageal reflux subscale (SS) occurred significantly less frequently in patients who underwent antecolic reconstruction. Roux limb length: "Shorter" Roux limb did not facilitate esophageal reflux SS and somewhat attenuated indigestion SS and abdominal pain SS. Anastomosis technique: In terms of esophagojejunostomy techniques, no differences were observed.

CONCLUSION

The techniques used for total gastrectomy with Roux-en-Y reconstruction significantly affected postoperative symptoms. Our results suggest that elevating the Roux limb, which is not overly long, through an antecolic route may improve patients' QOL.

Key Words: Total gastrectomy; Roux-en-Y; Postgastrectomy syndrome; Quality of life; Postgastrectomy Syndrome Assessment Scale-45

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Following a total gastrectomy using various techniques, patients suffer the severe form of postgastrectomy syndrome. We investigated the effect of different techniques in Roux-en-Y reconstruction on postoperative quality of life (QOL) using the Postgastrectomy Syndrome Assessment Scale-45. We analyzed 393 total gastrectomy patients. Esophageal reflux subscale (SS) occurred significantly less frequently in patients who underwent antecolic reconstruction. Shorter Roux limb did not facilitate esophageal reflux SS and somewhat attenuated indigestion SS and abdominal pain SS. Our results suggest that elevating the Roux limb which is not overly long, through an antecolic route may improve patients' OOL.

Citation: Ikeda M, Yoshida M, Mitsumori N, Etoh T, Shibata C, Terashima M, Fujita J, Tanabe K, Takiguchi N, Oshio A, Nakada K. Assessing optimal Roux-en-Y reconstruction technique after total gastrectomy using the Postgastrectomy Syndrome Assessment Scale-45. World J Clin Oncol 2022; 13(5): 376-387 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v13/i5/376.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.376

INTRODUCTION

Postgastrectomy syndrome is a serious clinical problem that decreases quality of life (QOL) of patients following gastrectomy [1-5]. As postgastrectomy syndrome is the severest form of the side effect following total gastrectomy[1,2,4,5], reducing the incidence of syndrome should be deliberated while choosing the surgical technique. Post-total gastrectomy Roux-en-Y reconstruction (TGRY) is a simple and robust form of reconstruction performed following a total gastrectomy, and it is widely performed and regarded as the gold standard. As laparoscopic surgery is more widely used in recent years, TGRY



techniques have become more diverse now than when open surgery was used[6-12]. Although the differences in techniques appear to affect postoperative QOL, the reasons remain unclear due to lack of sufficient investigation. Therefore, we used Postgastrectomy Syndrome Assessment Scale-45 (PGSAS-45), which has developed for postgastrectomy evaluation, to investigate how TGRY surgical techniques affect postoperative QOL[13].

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Retrieving the questionnaire

A total of 52 institutions participated in this study. A questionnaire was distributed to 2922 patients between July 2009 and December 2010 (Figure 1). Eligibility criteria for patients were as follows: (1) Diagnosis of pathologically-confirmed stage IA or IB gastric cancer^[14]; (2) first-time gastrectomy; (3) aged 20-75 years; (4) no history of chemotherapy; (5) no recurrence or distant metastasis indicated; (6) gastrectomy conducted one or more years prior to the enrollment date; (7) performance status (PS) ≤ 1 on the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group scale [15-17]; (8) full capacity to understand and respond to the questionnaire; (9) no history of other diseases or surgeries which might influence responses to the questionnaire; (10) absence of organ failure or mental illness; and (11) written informed consent. Patients with dual malignancy or concomitant resection of other organs (with co-resection equivalent to cholecystectomy being the exception) were excluded. Of the distributed questionnaires, 2520 (86%) were retrieved; 152 questionnaires were excluded. A total of 2368 questionnaires were analyzed and it was observed that total gastrectomy was performed in 393 patients; all underwent reconstruction using Roux-en-Y method. Questionnaires of these 393 patients were selected for examination in this study.

QOL assessment

PGSAS-45 consists of 45 items, including all eight items of the Short Form General Health Survey (SF-8) [18], all 15 items from the Gastrointestinal Symptom Rating Scale [19], and 22 newly-added items that cover various factors reflecting the postgastrectomy patient's well-being (Table 1)[13].

The following 18 outcome measures were evaluated, each consisting of a single item or an integration of related items from the PGSAS-45: esophageal reflux subscale (SS), abdominal pain SS, meal-related distress SS, indigestion SS, diarrhea SS, constipation SS, dumping SS, total symptom score, ingested amount of food per meal, necessity for additional meals, quality of ingestion SS, ability for working, dissatisfaction with symptoms, dissatisfaction at the meal, dissatisfaction at working and dissatisfaction for daily life SS, and the physical component summary (PCS) and mental component summary (MCS) of SF-8. Percentage changes in body weight (decrease in body weight/preoperative weight) were also determined as an outcome measure. These 19 main outcome measures were scored and classified into three domains: symptoms, living status, and QOL. Higher scores denote better outcomes for the items of PCS, MCS, ingested amount of food per meal, quality of ingestion SS, and changes in body weight, whereas lower scores denote better outcomes for the other 14 outcome measures.

Postoperative follow-up with PGSAS-45

The gastrectomy patients were provided with a PGSAS-45 questionnaire by the surgeon during an outpatient visit. Each patient was asked to complete the questionnaire and mail it to the data center. The clinical data were reported to the data center by the responsible surgeons using case report form and matched to PGSAS-45 responses. All the data were analyzed at the data center. Postgastrectomy daily living was compared among: (1) Elevated route of Roux limb: antecolic vs retrocolic; (2) length of the Roux limb (defined as the distance from esophagojejunostomy to jejunojejunostomy): "shorter (≤ 39 cm)" vs "40 cm" vs "longer (\geq 41 cm)"; and (3) anastomotic procedure for esophagojejunostomy: circular stapler (CS) vs linear stapler (LS) (Figure 2). The study protocol was approved by the institutional review board of each participating institution and registered with the University Hospital Medical Information Network's Clinical Trials Registry (registration number, 000002116). All patients provided their written informed consent for the confidential use of their information in the data analysis, in compliance with institutional guidelines.

Statistics

The values are shown as the mean ± SD. Two-group differences in the mean values were analyzed using an unpaired *t*-test and multiple-group differences were analyzed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Tukey multiple comparisons test was used when the ANOVA yielded a P value of < 0.1. Generally, a *P* value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. When the *P* values were < 0.1 in the *t*-test or Tukey-test, the effect size (Cohen's *d*) was calculated. The value of Cohen's *d* reflects the impact of each causal variable: values between 0.2 and < 0.5 denote a small but clinically meaningful difference between the groups; values between 0.5 and < 0.8 denote a medium effect; and values ≥ 0.8 indicate a large effect. All statistical analyses were performed using JMP12.0.1 software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, United States).



Table 1 Structure of postgastrectomy syndrome assessment scale 45 (domains/subdomains/items/subscales)					
Domains	Subdomains	Items	Subscales		
QOL	SF-8 (QOL)	1 Physical functioning*	Physical component summary* (items		
		2 Role physical*	1-8)		
		3 Bodily pain*	Mental component summary* (items 1-		
		4 General health*	8)		
		5 Vitality*			
		6 Social functioning*			
		7 Role emotional*			
		8 Mental health*			
Symptoms	GSRS (symptoms)	9 Abdominal pains	Esophageal reflux subscale (items 10,		
		10 Heartburn	11, 13, 24)		
		11 Acid regurgitation			
		12 Sucking sensations in the epigastrium	Abdominal pain subscale (items 9, 12, 28)		
		13 Nausea and vomiting			
		14 Borborygmus	Meal-related distress subscale (items 25-		
		15 Abdominal distension	27)		
		16 Eructation	Indigestion subscale (items 14-17)		
		17 Increased flatus	Diarrhea subscale (items 19, 20, 22)		
		18 Decreased passage of stool			
		19 Increased passage of stool	Constipation subscale (items 18, 21, 23)		
		20 Loose stool			
		21 Hard stool	Dumping subscale (items 30, 31, 33)		
		22 Urgent need for defecation			
		23 Feeling of incomplete evacuation	Total symptom score (above seven subscales)		
	Symptoms	24 Bile regurgitation			
		25 Sense of food sticking			
		26 Postprandial fullness			
		27 Early satiation			
		28 Lower abdominal pain			
		29 Number and type of early dumping symptoms			
		30 Early dumping general symptoms			
		31 Early dumping abdominal symptoms			
		32 Number and type of late dumping symptoms			
		33 Late dumping symptoms			
Living status	Meals (amount) 1	34 Ingested amount of food per meal*	Quality of ingestion subscale* (items 38-40)		
		35 Ingested amount of food per day*	,		
		36 Frequency of main meals			
		37 Frequency of additional meals			
	Meals (quality)	38 Appetite*			

Baisbideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

		39 Hunger feeling*	
		40 Satiety feeling*	
	Meals (amount) 2	41 Necessity for additional meals	
	Social activity	42 Ability to work	
QOL	Dissatisfaction (QOL)	43 Dissatisfaction with symptoms	Dissatisfaction for daily life subscale
		44 Dissatisfaction at the meals	(items 45-45)
		45 Dissatisfaction at working	

In items or subscales with *; higher score indicating better condition. In items or subscales without *; higher score indicating worse condition. Each subscale is calculated as the mean of composed items or subscales except PCS and MCS of SF-8. Item 29 and 32 don't have score. Then, they were analyzed separately. Citation: Nakada K, Ikeda M, Takahashi M, Kinami S, Yoshida M, Uenosono Y, Kawashima Y, Oshio A, Suzukamo Y, Terashima M, Kodera Y. Characteristics and clinical relevance of postgastrectomy syndrome assessment scale (PGSAS)-45: newly developed integrated questionnaires for assessment of living status and quality of life in postgastrectomy patients. *Gastric Cancer* 2015; 18: 147-158. QOL: Quality of life.



DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.376 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Outline of the study. TGRY: Total gastrectomy with Roux-en-Y reconstruction; DGRY: Distal gastrectomy with Roux-en-Y reconstruction; DGBI: Distal gastrectomy with Billroth I reconstruction; PPG: Pylorus-preserving gastrectomy; PG: Proximal gastrectomy; LR: Local resection.

RESULTS

Patient characteristics

Characteristics of the 393 patients are listed in Table 2. The mean age was 63.4 years and the mean postoperative follow-up period was approximately 35 mo. It was observed that the number of male patients was more than the number of female patients and open surgery was more commonly used than laparoscopic surgery. The combined resection of another organ was performed for the gall bladder (83 patients) and spleen (52 patients). Dissection of the lymph node was over D1b in most of the patients. Conversely, celiac branch of the vagus nerve was not preserved in most patients.

Route of the Roux limb

The jejunum elevation route during Roux-en-Y reconstruction was described for 385 (98.0%) patients (Table 3). Retrocolic elevation (206 patients) was performed more commonly than antecolic elevation (179 patients). Among the 19 main outcome measures, scores for the esophageal reflux SS were significantly superior in antecolic elevation group compared to retrocolic elevation group with small but clinically meaningful effect (P = 0.028, Cohen's = 0.23).

Table 2 Patients' characteristics (393 cases are listed)	
Characteristics	Values
Number of patients	393
Postoperative period (mo), mean ± SD	35.0 ± 24.6
Preoperative BMI, mean ± SD	23.0 ± 3.3
Postoperative BMI, mean ± SD	19.8 ± 2.5
Age, mean ± SD	63.4 ± 9.2
Gender (male/female)	276/113
Approach (laparoscopic/open)	97/293
Extent of lymph node dissection ¹	
D2	164
D1b	192
D1a	28
D1	4
D1>	0
None	0
Celiac branch of the vagal nerve (preserved/divided)	12/371
Combined resection	
Gallbladder	83
Spleen	52
Miscellaneous	2
None	246

¹According to the Japanese gastric cancer treatment guideline. BMI: Body mass index.

Length of the Roux limb

Of the 393 patients, the length of the Roux limb was described in 373 (94.9%) patients (Table 4). The most common Roux limb length was "40 cm" (238 patients), followed by "longer (≥ 41 cm)" (119 patients) and "shorter (≤ 39 cm)" (16 patients) Roux limb length (Figure 3). "Shorter" Roux limb length had not worsen the esophageal reflux SS, and rather reduced the indigestion SS compared to both the "40 cm" and "longer" Roux limb groups with medium effect size in terms of Cohen's d values (shorter *vs* 40 cm: *P* = 0.020, Cohen's *d* = 0.69; "shorter" *vs* "longer": *P* = 0.030, Cohen's *d* = 0.68, respectively). In addition, "shorter" Roux limb attenuated abdominal pain SS with marginal significance (P = 0.081).

Anastomotic procedure for esophagojejunostomy

Of the 393 patients, the device used for anastomosis between the esophagus and jejunum was described in 388 (98.7%) patients (Table 5). The CS was used in 348 patients, while the LS was used in 40 patients. Among the 19 main outcome measures of PGSAS-45, there was no difference between the two procedures.

DISCUSSION

Postgastrectomy syndrome is the severest following total gastrectomy and persists in the long-term; thereby, lowering patients' QOL[1,2,4,5]. Therefore improvement of surgical techniques to reduce the onset of this syndrome is important. TGRY is a simple and robust technique that is performed widely and regarded as the gold standard for post-total gastrectomy reconstruction. While the increased use of laparoscopic surgery and anastomotic devices has resulted in the diversification of TGRY surgical techniques[6-12], the effects of different TGRY techniques on patients' QOL remains unknown. Our results indicate that elevation of the Roux limb via antecolic route resulted in fewer esophageal reflux SS, and the relatively "shorter" Roux limb length accompanied by fewer indigestion SS without increasing esophageal reflux SS. In terms of device selection for esophagojejunostomy, no difference was


Table 3 The effect of the reconstruction route (antecolic or retrocolic) of Roux-limb on postoperative quality of life after total gastrectomy

Deconstruction route of Douv limb	Retro-colica (n = 206)		Ante-colica (n = 179)		Dyalua	Cohono d
Reconstruction route of Roux limb	mean	SD	mean	SD	Pvalue	Conens a
Esophageal reflux SS	2.1	1.1	1.8	0.9	0.028	0.229
Abdominal pain SS	1.8	0.8	1.7	0.8	NS	
Meal-related distress SS	2.7	1.1	2.6	1.1	NS	
Indigestion SS	2.3	0.98	2.3	0.9	NS	
Diarrhea SS	2.4	1.3	2.2	1.1	NS	
Constipation SS	2.1	1.0	2.0	0.8	NS	
Dumping SS	2.4	1.1	2.3	1.1	NS	
Total symptom score	2.2	0.8	2.1	0.7	NS	
Change in Body weight	-13.6%	7.8%	-14.0%	8.1%	NS	
Ingested amount of food per meal	6.5	1.9	6.4	1.8	NS	
Necessity for additional meals	2.3	0.8	2.4	0.7	NS	
Quality of ingestion SS	3.7	1.0	3.8	0.9	NS	
Ability to work	2.1	0.9	2.0	0.8	NS	
Dissatisfaction with symptoms	2.1	1.0	2.0	1.0	NS	
Dissatisfaction at the meal	2.8	1.1	2.8	1.1	NS	
Dissatisfaction at working	2.1	1.1	2.2	1.0	NS	
Dissatisfaction for daily life SS	2.4	0.9	2.3	0.9	NS	
Physical component summary	49.2	5.8	50.1	5.4	NS	
Mental component summary	49.1	6.1	49.2	5.9	NS	

SS: Subscale; NS: Not significant.

Table 4 The effect of the length of Roux-limb (shorter, 40 cm, longer) on postoperative quality of life after total gastrectomy Shorter (n = 16) 40 cm (n = 238) Longer (n = 119) ANOVA Multiple comparisons P value Cohens d Length of Roux limb SD SD SD P value mean mean mean Esophageal reflux SS 1.80.9 2.0 1.1 2.0 1.0 NS Abdominal pain SS 1.7 0.7 0.081 0.053 0.52 1.4 0.41.8 0.8 Shorter vs 40 cm Meal-related distress SS 2.2 0.9 2.7 1.2 2.7 1.0 NS Indigestion SS 1.7 0.7 2.3 0.9 2.3 0.9 0.026 Shorter vs 40 cm 0.020 0.69 Shorter vs longer 0.030 0.68 Diarrhea SS 2.0 1.2 2.3 1.2 2.3 1.2 NS Constipation SS 2.3 0.9 2.1 0.9 2.1 0.9 NS Dumping SS 1.80.9 2.4 1.1 2.3 1.1 NS Total symptom score 1.9 0.6 2.2 0.8 2.2 0.7 NS Change in Body weight -14.1% 8.6% -13.8% 8.2% -13.5% 7.5% NS Ingested amount of food per meal 5.5 1.9 6.5 1.7 NS 2.6 6.4Necessity for additional meals 2.3 0.7 2.4 0.82.4 0.8 NS NS Quality of ingestion SS 3.3 1.2 3.8 0.9 3.8 1.0 Ability to work 2.4 1.2 2.0 0.9 2.1 0.9 NS



Dissatisfaction with symptoms	1.8	1.0	2.0	1.1	2.2	1.0	NS
Dissatisfaction at the meal	3.3	1.2	2.8	1.2	2.8	1.0	NS
Dissatisfaction at working	2.5	1.3	2.2	1.1	2.1	1.0	NS
Dissatisfaction for daily life SS	2.5	1.0	2.3	0.9	2.4	0.8	NS
Physical component summary	49.2	6.7	49.4	5.7	50.1	5.5	NS
Mental component summary	48.1	5.9	48.7	6.3	49.9	5.5	NS

SS: Subscale; NS: Not significant.



DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.376 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 2 Schema of Roux-en-Y reconstruction after total gastrectomy. a: Route of the Roux limb (antecolic or retrocolic); b: Length of the Roux limb defined as the distance from the esophago-jejunostomy to the jejunojejunostomy [shorter (< 39 cm), average (40 cm) or longer (> 41 cm)]; c: Anastomotic procedure for esophagojejunostomy (reconstruction using a circular or linear stapler).



Figure 3 The distribution of the length of Roux-limb after total gastrectomy. N/A: Not answered group indicated.

observed between the CS and LS procedures. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report to demonstrate that differences in surgical techniques in TGRY affect postoperative QOL.

The Roux limb reconstruction in TGRY has often been performed via retrocolic route in open surgeries, as it applies slight tension to the anastomosis due to the short distance to the esophageal stump. With the increased use of laparoscopic surgery, surgeons began elevating the Roux limb via antecolic route due to its technical simplicity[7]. And then, the antecolic elevation became more common even for open total gastrectomy. Our investigation into the effects of different Roux limb reconstruction routes in TGRY on postoperative QOL indicate that esophageal reflux SS was significantly attenuated in

Table 5 The effect of anastomotic procedure for esophagojejunostomy (circular stapler, linear stapler) on postoperative quality of life after total gastrectomy

Anastanatia mathad	Circular stapler(n =	- 348)	Liner stapler (n = 4	B yoluo	
Anastomotic method	mean	SD	mean	SD	Pvalue
Esophageal reflux SS	2.0	1.0	1.9	0.8	NS
Abdominal pain SS	1.8	0.8	1.7	0.8	NS
Meal-related distress SS	2.6	1.1	2.8	1.2	NS
Indigestion SS	2.3	0.9	2.2	0.8	NS
Diarrhea SS	2.3	1.2	2.2	1.3	NS
Constipation SS	2.1	0.9	2.1	1.0	NS
Dumping SS	2.3	1.1	2.4	1.1	NS
Total symptom score	2.2	0.7	2.1	0.7	NS
Change in Body weight	-13.9%	7.9%	-12.8%	7.9%	NS
Ingested amount of food per meal	6.5	1.9	6.2	1.8	NS
Necessity for additional meals	2.3	0.8	2.4	0.8	NS
Quality of ingestion SS	3.8	1.0	3.8	0.9	NS
Ability to work	2.0	0.9	2.1	0.9	NS
Dissatisfaction with symptoms	2.1	1.0	2.1	0.9	NS
Dissatisfaction at the meal	2.8	1.1	3.0	1.0	NS
Dissatisfaction at working	2.1	1.1	2.2	1.0	NS
Dissatisfaction for daily life SS	2.3	0.9	2.5	0.8	NS
Physical component summary	49.6	5.7	50.2	4.9	NS
Mental component summary	49.2	6.0	49.2	5.9	NS

SS: Subscale; NS: Not significant.

the antecolic route group than the retrocolic route group. One of the possible explanation is that in the antecolic reconstruction, duodenal fluid hardly flow back into the esophagus unless it passes over the height of the transverse colon when the patient took the lying-down position. As a result, this physical barrier of gravity could attenuate the esophageal reflux SS in addition to the preventive effect of the peristalsis of the Roux limb. Based on these, the antecolic route may be a suitable surgical procedure when performing TGRY. Although the caution is needed for the occurrence of the internal hernia through Petersen's defect especially when the gastrectomy underwent laparoscopically, and the implementing preventive methods such as the closure of these defects with sutures[20,21] should be performed.

Many surgeons concern that the insufficient length of Roux limb likely to increase the esophageal regurgitation. However, in the present study, the esophageal reflux SS did not worsened in the "shorter" Roux limb length group compared to the other groups, therefore, even relatively short Roux limbs of 30-35 cm may have produced the sufficient intestinal peristalsis to prevent esophageal regurgitation. Interestingly, significantly more indigestion SS was observed in the "40 cm" and "longer" Roux limb length groups compared to the "shorter" group. This may be, in part, explained by the previous report[22] showing that relatively long Roux limbs could be a cause of Roux-en-Y syndrome. The Roux limb length should be adjusted as an appropriate length, and not too long[22].

Although esophagojejunostomy in TGRY had mainly performed using the CS, the increase in laparoscopic surgery has resulted in the diversification of anastomotic techniques and the esophagojejunostomy using the LS is increasing[9-11]. Comparison of the CS and LS procedures in terms of the effect of the esophagojejunostomy technique on postoperative QOL revealed no differences in any of the main outcome measures of PGSAS-45, therefore, either of the CS or LS procedures can be selected depending on the clinical situation to achieve a safe and simple anastomosis procedure.

Many surgeons had chosen the retrocolic route as that of the Roux limb from the problems concerned with the distance of Roux limb and occurrence of internal hernia, and enough length of the Roux limb preventing the regurgitation to esophagus. The result of this PGSAS study may provide a hint for the optimal surgical procedures after total gastrectomy. A limitation of the present study is its retrospective



nature and the unbalanced number of patients in each group. A well-designed prospective study should be conducted in the future.

CONCLUSION

Our results revealed that the specific surgical technique used for TGRY affects postoperative QOL to some extent. Since postgastrectomy syndrome is the severest following total gastrectomy, a technique that could maintain a favorable postoperative QOL should be selected. The findings of this study suggest that some of the postgastrectomy symptoms following TGRY could be attenuated by elevating Roux limb through antecolic route with not too long Roux limb length.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Following a total gastrectomy using various techniques, some patients suffer the severe form of postgastrectomy syndrome.

Research motivation

Although the differences in techniques of Roux-en-Y reconstruction appear to affect postoperative quality of life (QOL), the reasons remain unclear due to lack of sufficient investigation.

Research objectives

We investigated the effect of different techniques on postoperative QOL.

Research methods

Using the Postgastrectomy Syndrome Assessment Scale-45, we investigated the effect of different techniques in Roux-en-Y reconstruction on postoperative QOL. We analyzed 393 total gastrectomy patients.

Research results

Esophageal reflux subscale (SS) occurred significantly less frequently in patients who underwent antecolic reconstruction. Shorter Roux limb did not facilitate esophageal reflux SS and somewhat attenuated indigestion SS and abdominal pain SS.

Research conclusions

Our results suggest that elevating the Roux limb which is not overly long, through an antecolic route may attenuate some of the postgastrectomy symptoms.

Research perspectives

Patients' QOL after total gastrectomy may be improved by this study.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank all the physicians who participated in this study and the patients whose cooperation made this study possible. This study was completed by 52 institutions in Japan. The contributor of each institution is listed below. Masanori Terashima (Shizuoka Cancer Center), Junya Fujita (Sakai City Medical Center), Kazuaki Tanabe (Hiroshima University), Nobuhiro Takiguchi (Chiba Cancer Center), Masazumi Takahashi (Yokohama Municipal Citizen's Hospital), Kazunari Misawa (Aichi Cancer Center Hospital), Koji Nakada (The Jikei University School of Medicine), Norio Mitsumori (The Jikei University School of Medicine), Hiroshi Kawahira (Graduate School of Medicine, Chiba University), Tsutomu Namikawa (Kochi Medical School), Takao Inada (Tochigi Cancer Center), Hiroshi Okabe (Kyoto University Graduate School of Medicine), Takashi Urushihara (Hiroshima Prefectural Hospital), Yoshiyuki Kawashima (Saitama Cancer Center), Norimasa Fukushima (Yamagata Prefectural Central Hospital), Yasuhiro Kodera (Nagoya University Graduate School of Medicine), Takeyoshi Yumiba (Osaka Kosei-Nenkin Hospital), Hideo Matsumoto (Kawasaki Medical School), Akinori Takagane (Hakodate Goryoukaku Hospital), Chikara Kunisaki (Yokohama City University Medical Center), Ryoji Fukushima (Teikyo University School of Medicine), Hiroshi Yabusaki (Niigata Cancer Center Hospital), Akiyoshi Seshimo (Tokyo Women's Medical University), Naoki Hiki (Cancer Institute Hospital), Keisuke Koeda (Iwate Medical University), Mikihiro Kano (JA Hiroshima General Hospital), Yoichi



Nakamura (Toho University Ohashi Medical Center), Makoto Yamada (Gifu Municipal Hospital), SangWoong Lee (Osaka Medical College), Shinnosuke Tanaka (Fukuoka University School of Medicine), Akira Miki (Kobe City Medical Center General Hospital), Masami Ikeda (Yokosuka General Hospital Uwamachi), Satoshi Inagawa (University of Tsukuba), Shugo Ueda (Kitano Hospital), Takayuki Nobuoka (Sapporo Medical University School of Medicine), Manabu Ohta (Hamamatsu University school of Medicine), Yoshiaki Iwasaki (Tokyo Metropolitan Cancer and Infectious diseases Center Komagome Hospital), Nobuyuki Uchida (Haramachi Redcross Hospital), Eishi Nagai (Graduate School of Medical Sciences, Kyushu University), Yoshikazu Uenosono (Kagoshima University Graduate School of Medicine), Shinichi Kinami (Kanazawa Medical University), Yasuhiro Nagata (National Hospital Organization Nagasaki Medical Center), Masashi Yoshida (International University of Health and Welfare, Mita Hospital), Keishiro Aoyagi (School of Medicine Kurume University), Shuichi Ota (Osaka Saiseikai Noe hospital), Hiroaki Hata (National Hospital Organization, Kyoto Medical Center), Hiroshi Noro (Otemae Hospital), Kentaro Yamaguchi (Tokyo Women's Medical University Medical Center East), Hiroshi Yajima (The Jikei University Kashiwa Hospital), Toshikatsu Nitta (Shiroyama Hospital), Tsuyoshi Etoh (Oita University), Chikashi Shibata (Tohoku University Graduate School of Medicine), Atsushi Oshio (Waseda University).

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Ikeda M, Yoshida M, Mitsumori M, Etoh T, Shibata C, Terashima M, Fujita J, Tanabe K, Takiguchi N, Nakada K developed this protocol/project, collected data and performed the research; Oshio A contributed analytical tools; Ikeda M and Nakada K analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; all authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Supported by The Jikei University School of Medicine; and Japanese Society for Gastro-surgical Pathophysiology.

Institutional review board statement: The study was approved by the Ethics Committees of all participating institutions.

Informed consent statement: All study participants provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflicts of interests related to the publication of this study.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement-checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement-checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Japan

ORCID number: Masami Ikeda 0000-0002-2947-7705; Masashi Yoshida 0000-0002-5722-0843; Norio Mitsumori 0000-0002-4840-6339; Tsuyoshi Etoh 0000-0003-4093-816X; Chikashi Shibata 0000-0001-8191-4784; Masanori Terashima 0000-0002-2967-8267; Junya Fujita 0000-0002-6379-6750; Kazuaki Tanabe 0000-0002-8650-2735; Nobuhiro Takiguchi 0000-0002-1247-7143; Atsushi Oshio 0000-0002-2936-2916; Koji Nakada 0000-0002-4472-1008.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: Japan Surgical Society, No. 0229736; The Japanese Society of Gastroenterological Surgery, No. G0085947; Japanese Gastric Cancer Association, No. 5787; The Japanese Society for Gastro-surgical Pathophysiology; and Japanese Society of Clinical Surgeons, No. 1184.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Gong ZM

REFERENCES

- Karanicolas PJ, Graham D, Gönen M, Strong VE, Brennan MF, Coit DG. Quality of life after gastrectomy for adenocarcinoma: a prospective cohort study. Ann Surg 2013; 257: 1039-1046 [PMID: 23665970 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e31828c4a19
- 2 Lee JH, Lee HJ, Choi YS, Kim TH, Huh YJ, Suh YS, Kong SH, Yang HK. Postoperative Quality of Life after Total



Gastrectomy Compared with Partial Gastrectomy: Longitudinal Evaluation by European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer-OG25 and STO22. *J Gastric Cancer* 2016; **16**: 230-239 [PMID: 28053809 DOI: 10.5230/jgc.2016.16.4.230]

- 3 Rausei S, Mangano A, Galli F, Rovera F, Boni L, Dionigi G, Dionigi R. Quality of life after gastrectomy for cancer evaluated via the EORTC QLQ-C30 and QLQ-STO22 questionnaires: surgical considerations from the analysis of 103 patients. Int J Surg 2013; 11 Suppl 1: S104-S109 [PMID: 24380539 DOI: 10.1016/S1743-9191(13)60028-X]
- 4 Takiguchi N, Takahashi M, Ikeda M, Inagawa S, Ueda S, Nobuoka T, Ota M, Iwasaki Y, Uchida N, Kodera Y, Nakada K. Long-term quality-of-life comparison of total gastrectomy and proximal gastrectomy by postgastrectomy syndrome assessment scale (PGSAS-45): a nationwide multi-institutional study. *Gastric Cancer* 2015; 18: 407-416 [PMID: 24801198 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-014-0377-8]
- 5 Tanizawa Y, Tanabe K, Kawahira H, Fujita J, Takiguchi N, Takahashi M, Ito Y, Mitsumori N, Namikawa T, Oshio A, Nakada K; Japan Postgastrectomy Syndrome Working Party. Specific Features of Dumping Syndrome after Various Types of Gastrectomy as Assessed by a Newly Developed Integrated Questionnaire, the PGSAS-45. *Dig Surg* 2016; 33: 94-103 [PMID: 26682541 DOI: 10.1159/000442217]
- 6 Hirahara N, Monma H, Shimojo Y, Matsubara T, Hyakudomi R, Yano S, Tanaka T. Reconstruction of the esophagojejunostomy by double stapling method using EEATM OrVilTM in laparoscopic total gastrectomy and proximal gastrectomy. *World J Surg Oncol* 2011; 9: 55 [PMID: 21599911 DOI: 10.1186/1477-7819-9-55]
- 7 Hosoya Y, Lefor A, Ui T, Haruta H, Kurashina K, Saito S, Zuiki T, Sata N, Yasuda Y. Internal hernia after laparoscopic gastric resection with antecolic Roux-en-Y reconstruction for gastric cancer. *Surg Endosc* 2011; 25: 3400-3404 [PMID: 21573714 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-011-1739-5]
- 8 Zhao YL, Su CY, Li TF, Qian F, Luo HX, Yu PW. Novel method for esophagojejunal anastomosis after laparoscopic total gastrectomy: semi-end-to-end anastomosis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 13556-13562 [PMID: 25309086 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i37.13556]
- 9 Kitagami H, Morimoto M, Nakamura K, Watanabe T, Kurashima Y, Nonoyama K, Watanabe K, Fujihata S, Yasuda A, Yamamoto M, Shimizu Y, Tanaka M. Technique of Roux-en-Y reconstruction using overlap method after laparoscopic total gastrectomy for gastric cancer: 100 consecutively successful cases. *Surg Endosc* 2016; **30**: 4086-4091 [PMID: 26701704 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-015-4724-6]
- 10 Huang ZN, Huang CM, Zheng CH, Li P, Xie JW, Wang JB, Lin JX, Lu J, Chen QY, Cao LL, Lin M, Tu RH, Lin JL. Digestive tract reconstruction using isoperistaltic jejunum-later-cut overlap method after totally laparoscopic total gastrectomy for gastric cancer: Short-term outcomes and impact on quality of life. *World J Gastroenterol* 2017; 23: 7129-7138 [PMID: 29093621 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i39.7129]
- 11 Gong CS, Kim BS, Kim HS. Comparison of totally laparoscopic total gastrectomy using an endoscopic linear stapler with laparoscopic-assisted total gastrectomy using a circular stapler in patients with gastric cancer: A single-center experience. *World J Gastroenterol* 2017; 23: 8553-8561 [PMID: 29358863 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i48.8553]
- 12 Norero E, Muñoz R, Ceroni M, Manzor M, Crovari F, Gabrielli M. Two-Layer Hand-Sewn Esophagojejunostomy in Totally Laparoscopic Total Gastrectomy for Gastric Cancer. J Gastric Cancer 2017; 17: 267-276 [PMID: 28970957 DOI: 10.5230/jgc.2017.17.e26]
- 13 Nakada K, Ikeda M, Takahashi M, Kinami S, Yoshida M, Uenosono Y, Kawashima Y, Oshio A, Suzukamo Y, Terashima M, Kodera Y. Characteristics and clinical relevance of postgastrectomy syndrome assessment scale (PGSAS)-45: newly developed integrated questionnaires for assessment of living status and quality of life in postgastrectomy patients. *Gastric Cancer* 2015; 18: 147-158 [PMID: 24515247 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-014-0344-4]
- Japanese Gastric Cancer Association. Japanese gastric cancer treatment guidelines 2010 (ver. 3). Gastric Cancer 2011;
 14: 113-123 [PMID: 21573742 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-011-0042-4]
- 15 Aaronson NK, Ahmedzai S, Bergman B, Bullinger M, Cull A, Duez NJ, Filiberti A, Flechtner H, Fleishman SB, de Haes JC, Kaasa S, Klee M, Osoba D, Razavi D, Rofe PB, Schraub S, Sneeuw K, Sullivan M, Takeda F. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1993; 85: 365-376 [PMID: 8433390 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/85.5.365]
- 16 Sprangers MA, Cull A, Groenvold M, Bjordal K, Blazeby J, Aaronson NK. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer approach to developing questionnaire modules: an update and overview. EORTC Quality of Life Study Group. *Qual Life Res* 1998; 7: 291-300 [PMID: 9610213 DOI: 10.1023/a:1024977728719]
- Kaasa S, Bjordal K, Aaronson NK, Moum T, Wist E, Hagen S, Kvikstad A. The EORTC core quality of life questionnaire (QLQ-C30): validity and reliability when analysed with patients treated with palliative radiotherapy. *Eur J Cancer* 1995; 31A: 2260-2263 [PMID: 8652253 DOI: 10.1016/0959-8049(95)00296-0]
- 18 Turner-Bowker DM, Bayliss MS, Ware JE Jr, Kosinski M. Usefulness of the SF-8 Health Survey for comparing the impact of migraine and other conditions. *Qual Life Res* 2003; 12: 1003-1012 [PMID: 14651418 DOI: 10.1023/a:1026179517081]
- 19 Svedlund J, Sjödin I, Dotevall G. GSRS--a clinical rating scale for gastrointestinal symptoms in patients with irritable bowel syndrome and peptic ulcer disease. *Dig Dis Sci* 1988; 33: 129-134 [PMID: 3123181 DOI: 10.1007/BF01535722]
- 20 Kimura H, Ishikawa M, Nabae T, Matsunaga T, Murakami S, Kawamoto M, Kamimura T, Uchiyama A. Internal hernia after laparoscopic gastrectomy with Roux-en-Y reconstruction for gastric cancer. *Asian J Surg* 2017; 40: 203-209 [PMID: 26589299 DOI: 10.1016/j.asjsur.2015.09.003]
- 21 Ojima T, Nakamori M, Nakamura M, Katsuda M, Hayata K, Kato T, Tsuji T, Yamaue H. Internal Hernia After Laparoscopic Total Gastrectomy for Gastric Cancer. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech 2017; 27: 470-473 [PMID: 28945693 DOI: 10.1097/SLE.00000000000481]
- 22 Gustavsson S, Ilstrup DM, Morrison P, Kelly KA. Roux-Y stasis syndrome after gastrectomy. Am J Surg 1988; 155: 490-494 [PMID: 3344916 DOI: 10.1016/s0002-9610(88)80120-x]

Zaishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

W J C O World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2022 May 24; 13(5): 388-411

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.388

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

Immune checkpoint inhibitors in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: A systematic review of phase-3 clinical trials

Jissy Vijo Poulose, Cessal Thommachan Kainickal

Specialty type: Oncology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Awidi M, United States; Chen YH, China

Received: August 26, 2021 Peer-review started: August 26, 2021

First decision: October 22, 2021 Revised: November 3, 2021 Accepted: May 5, 2022 Article in press: May 5, 2022 Published online: May 24, 2022



Jissy Vijo Poulose, National Fellowship in Palliative Medicine (Training Program), Institute of Palliative Medicine, Calicut 673008, Kerala, India

Cessal Thommachan Kainickal, Department of Radiation Oncology, Regional Cancer Centre, Thiruvananthapuram 695011, Kerala, India

Corresponding author: Cessal Thommachan Kainickal, MBBS, MD, Additional Professor, Department of Radiation Oncology, Regional Cancer Centre, Medical College Campus, Thiruvananthapuram 695011, Kerala, India. drcessalthomas@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

The outcomes of patients diagnosed with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) who are not candidates for local salvage therapy and of those diagnosed with recurrent or metastatic disease are dismal. A relatively new systemic therapy option that emerged in recent years in the treatment of advanced HNSCC is immunotherapy using immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs). The safety profile and anti-tumor activity of these agents demonstrated in early phase clinical trials paved the way to the initiation of several promising phase-3 trials in the field.

AIM

To evaluate the evidence on the effectiveness of ICIs in HNSCC, based on published phase-3 clinical trials.

METHODS

We searched PubMed, Cochrane Library, Embase, and Scopus to identify published literature evaluating immunotherapy using ICIs in recurrent or metastatic HNSCC (R/M HNSCC) and locally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (LAHNSCC). We used a combination of standardized search terms and keywords including head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, recurrent, metastatic, locally advanced, immunotherapy, immune checkpoint inhibitors, monoclonal antibodies, programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1), programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1), cytotoxic T- lymphocyte associated protein-4 (CTLA-4), and phase-3 clinical trial. A sensitive search filter was used to limit our results to randomized controlled trials.

RESULTS

Five phase-3 clinical trials have reported the data on the effectiveness of immuno-



therapy in HNSCC so far: Four in R/M HNSCC and one in LAHNSCC. In patients with R/M HNSCC, anti-PD-1 agents nivolumab and pembrolizumab demonstrated improved survival benefits in the second-line treatment setting compared to the standard of care (standard singleagent systemic therapy). While the net gain in overall survival (OS) with nivolumab was 2.4 mo [hazard ratio (HR) = 0.69, P = 0.01], that with pembrolizumab was 1.5 mo (HR = 0.80 nominal P =0.0161). The anti-PD-L1 agent durvalumab with or without the anti-cytotoxic T- lymphocyte associated protein-4 agent tremelimumab did not result in any beneficial outcomes. In the first-line setting, in R/M HNSCC, pembrolizumab plus platinum-based chemotherapy resulted in significant improvement in survival with a net gain in OS of 2.3 mo (HR = 0.77, P = 0.0034) in the overall population and a net gain in OS of 4.2 mo in the PD-L1 positive (combined positive score > 20) population compared to standard of care (EXTREME regime). In patients with PD-L1 positive R/M HNSCC, monotherapy with pembrolizumab also demonstrated statistically significant improvement in survival compared to EXTREME. In LAHNSCC, immunotherapy using avelumab (an anti-PD-L1 agent) along with standard chemoradiation therapy did not result in improved outcomes compared to placebo plus chemoradiation therapy.

CONCLUSION

Anti-PD-1 agents provide survival benefits in R/M HNSCC in the first and second-line settings, with acceptable toxicity profiles compared to standard therapy. There is no proven efficacy in the curative setting to date.

Key Words: Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma; Recurrent/metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma; Locally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma; Immune checkpoint inhibitors; Immunotherapy; Monoclonal antibody

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Immune checkpoint inhibitors have demonstrated better survival outcomes and acceptable toxicity profiles in recurrent/metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma in the first and second-line treatment settings. While anti- programmed cell death protein-1 agents demonstrated efficacy, evidence on the effectiveness of anti-programmed death ligand-1 and anti-cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 agents is lacking. There is no proven efficacy in the curative setting to date. Gaps in knowledge were found in terms of predictive biomarkers and identification of patients who would benefit from immunotherapy based on biomarker assessment. Several promising trials are currently ongoing to fill this knowledge gap. Novel combination strategies to potentiate and prolong the anti-tumor activity of immune checkpoint inhibitors are also being evaluated currently.

Citation: Poulose JV, Kainickal CT. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: A systematic review of phase-3 clinical trials. World J Clin Oncol 2022; 13(5): 388-411 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v13/i5/388.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.388

INTRODUCTION

Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) is one of the major causes of cancer-associated morbidity and mortality globally [1-3]. Treatment approaches for HNSCC vary according to the stage of the disease at presentation. Around 40% of HNSCCs present at an early stage and are treated by a single treatment modality, either radical radiotherapy or surgery. The remaining 60% of cases present as locally advanced disease, and treatment options include chemoradiation or surgery followed by adjuvant therapy. However, within 3 years, over 50% of these patients relapse locally or at distant sites. Salvage approaches for the locally recurrent disease include surgery, surgery followed by re-irradiation, or re-irradiation with or without concurrent chemotherapy [4,5]. For a recurrent disease that is not amenable to salvage approach and for metastatic disease, platinum-based chemotherapy was the only available treatment option until recently. While the median survival of recurrent/metastatic HNSCC (R/M HNSCC) patients receiving platinum-based chemotherapy is 7.4 mo, some patients become refractory to platinum and die within a period of 4 mo[6-12]. Subsequently, the addition of the antiepidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) targeted agent cetuximab to platinum-based chemotherapy showed improvement in survival compared to platinum-based chemotherapy alone, as demonstrated in a landmark phase-3 trial in 2008[12-16].



A relatively new systemic therapy option that emerged in recent years in the treatment of advanced HNSCC is immunotherapy using immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs). The checkpoint pathways in the tumor microenvironment are responsible for immune escape and T cell exhaustion related to the survival of the cancer cells. ICIs are monoclonal antibodies that can block these pathways by inhibiting the binding of checkpoint proteins on the T cells to similar proteins on the tumor cells. Thus, these agents act by reinvigorating the immune cells and re-establishing the anti-tumor immune responses that promote the elimination of cancer cells. Programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1) receptors, programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) receptors, and cytotoxic T- lymphocyte associated protein-4 (CTLA-4) are the major established targets for cancer immunotherapy with ICIs, and the therapeutic effects of ICIs result from blockade of these receptors[17-20].

In recent years, many interventional studies have evaluated ICI therapy for the treatment of HNSCC. The objective of this systematic review is to gather the evidence from published phase-3 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) comparing immunotherapy with the standard of care (SOC), among patients with R/M HNSCC or locally advanced HNSCC (LAHNSCC). We aimed to evaluate and synthesize the evidence from the published phase-3 studies investigating immunotherapy in advanced head and neck cancer using checkpoint inhibitors, either alone or in combination with chemotherapy, radiation therapy, or another checkpoint inhibitor.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data sources and literature search

The study followed the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses (PRISMA) guidelines[21]. We systematically searched PubMed, SCOPUS, EMBASE, and COCHRANE Library without any language limit. We used a combination of standardized search terms and keywords including head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, recurrent, metastatic, locally advanced, immuno-therapy, checkpoint inhibitors, monoclonal antibodies, PD-1, PD-L1, CTLA-4, and phase-3 clinical trial. A sensitive search filter was used to limit our results to RCTs reported from January 2000 till February 2021. The initial search was conducted in February 2021. We also looked for any updates on the selected studies till April 2021. The search syntax is given in the Supplementary file.

Inclusion/exclusion criteria and study selection

Studies were included if they were completed phase-3 RCTs conducted among patients with R/M HNSCC or LAHNSCC, in which the intervention patients received ICI either alone or in combination with chemotherapy, radiation therapy, or with another IO and the control patients received SOC. Anatomical sites of primary tumors were oral cavity, oropharynx, hypopharynx, and larynx in the included studies. Early phase trials and observational studies were excluded. Studies involving patients with nasopharyngeal carcinoma were also excluded.

Titles generated from the initial search results were exported to EndNote. Duplicates were removed, and the remaining titles were scanned for relevance. Abstracts of articles pertaining to potentially eligible studies were independently reviewed by both authors and uncertainties were resolved through discussion. Potentially eligible studies were further evaluated for relevance, trial status (completed/ ongoing/withdrawn), and availability of results.

The following descriptive data were extracted from the included studies: Study design, population, details of the intervention, details of treatment received by the control arm, and the primary and secondary endpoints. Information on adverse events and statistical data on the outcomes were also extracted, which included, overall survival (OS), progression-free survival (PFS), overall response rate (ORR), biomarker effect, and patient-reported outcomes. The flow chart of study selection (PRISMA) is given in Figure 1.

RESULTS

The original literature search generated 565 titles altogether, of which 100 titles were eventually selected for abstract review for identification of potentially eligible studies. Others were excluded as they were related to phase-1 or phase-2 studies or not precisely relevant to the topic of the review. Through the abstract review, we identified 56 references (including one conference abstract) pertaining to potentially eligible studies. Through full-text review of these references, we selected five original phase-3 RCTs to be included in the systematic review[22-26]. In four of the trials[22-25], participants were patients with R/M HNSCC, while in one trial, participants were patients diagnosed with LAHNSCC[26,27]. All four studies among patients with R/M HNSCC were open-label RCTs; three of them investigated the effect-iveness of ICI as second-line treatment[22-24], while in one study[25], ICI was evaluated as first-line treatment. The study among LAHSCC patients was a double-blinded placebo-controlled RCT[26,27].



DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.388 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Article selection flow diagram. RCTs: Randomized controlled trials.

ICIs assessed in these studies were nivolumab, pembrolizumab, durvalumab, tremelimumab, and avelumab. While nivolumab and pembrolizumab are anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibodies, durvalumab and avelumab are anti-PD-L1 antibodies. The monoclonal antibody tremelimumab is an anti-CTLA-4 agent[28-31].

We classified the studies into three groups based on the disease status and the treatment setting. The details of these studies in terms of the study population, intervention, comparator, outcomes, and adverse events are given in Table 1.

Phase-3 studies evaluating ICI as second-line treatment in R/M HNSCC (three RCTs: CheckMate 141, KEYNOTE 040, and EAGLE)

So far, three phase-3 RCTs have compared the effectiveness of ICI against the existing SOC (single-agent systemic therapy with methotrexate, docetaxel, or cetuximab) in the second-line treatment setting[22-24] (Table 1).

CheckMate 141 (nivolumab vs standard single-agent systemic therapy)

Ferris *et al*[22] conducted a randomized, open-label, phase-3 study (n = 361) among patients with platinum-refractory recurrent HNSCC (recurrence within 6 mo after platinum-based chemotherapy) to investigate the effectiveness of the anti-PD-1 checkpoint inhibitor agent nivolumab. The intervention arm (n = 240) received nivolumab at a dose of 3 mg/kg body weight every 2 wk, while the control patients (n = 121) received SOC in the form of standard single-agent systemic therapy with methotrexate [40 mg/m² intravenously (IV) weekly], docetaxel (30 mg/m² IV weekly), or cetuximab (400 mg/m² IV once followed by 250 mg/m² weekly). OS was the primary endpoint of the study. Secondary endpoints included PFS, ORR, and biomarker effects on survival, safety, and quality of life assessments. The median duration of follow-up was 5.1 mo (range, 0 to 16.8).

Outcomes

OS: The median OS was 7.5 mo [95% confidence interval (CI): 5.5-9.1] with nivolumab vs 5.1 mo (95% CI: 4.0-6.0) with SOC [hazard ratio (HR) = 0.69; 97.73%CI: 0.53-0.91; P = 0.01]. The estimated 1-year survival rate was 36.0% in the nivolumab group vs 16.6% in the control group.



Poulose JV et al. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in HNSCC

Table 1 Stu	Table 1 Studies included in the systematic review											
Ref.	Design	Population	Intervention (I)	Control (C)	OS	PFS	ORR	QOL measures/symptom burden	Biomarker effect	AE Grade 3 or more		
Phase-3 clinical trials evaluating ICI as second line therapy in R/M HNSCC												
Ferris <i>et al</i> [22], 2016	RCT (2:1), open-label phase-3 trial	Patients with R/M HNSCC not amenable to curative therapy	Nivolumab 3 mg/kg IV Q2W	SOC: Investigator's, choice of methotrexate 40 mg/m ² IV weekly, docetaxel 30 mg/m ² IV weekly, or cetuximab 400 mg/m ² IV once followed by 250 mg/m ² weekly	Nivolumab: 7.5 mo (95%CI: 5.5-9.1)	Nivolumab: 2.0 mo, 95%CI: 1.9-2.1	Nivolumab: 13.3%, 95%CI: 9.3- 18.3	Between group differences in favor of Nivolumab group	OS	Nivolumab: 13.1%		
Checkmate 141		<i>n</i> = 361	MoA: PD-1 inhibition	<i>n</i> = 121	SOC: 5.1 mo, 95%CI: 4.0-6.0; HR 0.69, 95%CI: 0.53-0.91, <i>P</i> = 0.01	SOC: 2.3 mo, 95%CI: 1.9-3.1; HR 0.89, 95%CI: 0.70- 1.13, <i>P</i> = 0.32	SOC: 5.8%, 95%CI: 2.4-11.6	Physical functioning: at 9 wk <i>P</i> = 0.01; at 15 wk, <i>P</i> < 0.001	PD-L1 ≥ 1%: Nivolumab 8.7mo; SOC: 4.6 mo, HR for death 0.55 (95%CI: 0.36-0.83)	Two treatment related deaths		
			<i>n</i> = 240, median follow up = 5.1 mo (range: 0 to 16.8)		Estimated 1-yr survival rate 36.0% in the nivolumab group <i>vs</i> 16.6% in the control group			Role functioning: at 9 wk, <i>P</i> = 0.003; at 15 wk, <i>P</i> < 0.001	PD-L1 < 1%: Nivolumab, 5.7 mo; SOC: 5.8 mo, HR for death 0.89 (95%CI: 0.54-1.45) <i>P</i> for int. = 0.17	SOC: 35.0%		
								Social functioning: at 9 wk <i>P</i> = 0.002; at 15 wk <i>P</i> < 0.001	P16 + ve tumors: Nivolumab 9.1 mo; SOC: 4.4 mo, HR for death 0.56 (95%CI: 0.32-0.99)	One treatment related death		
								Symptom burden pain: at 9 wk, <i>P</i> < 0.001; at 15 wk, <i>P</i> = 0.02	P16 -ve tumours: Nivolumab 7.5 mo; SOC: 5.8 mo, HR			
								Sensory problems: at 9 wk, <i>P</i> = 0.01; at 15 wk, <i>P</i> < 0.001	0.73 (95%CI: 0.42- 1.25), <i>P</i> for Interaction = 0.55			
								Social contact problems: at 9 wk, <i>P</i> = 0.26; at 15 wk, <i>P</i> < 0.001				
Cohen <i>et al</i> [23], 2019	RCT (1:1), open-label phase-3	Patients with R/M HNSCC	Pembrolizumab: 200 mg IV Q3W	SOC: methotrexate 40 mg/m ² weekly (in absence of	Pembrolizumab: 8.4 mo, 95%CI: 6.4-9.4	Pembrolizumab: 2.1 mo 95% CI: 2.1-2.3	Pembrolizumab: 14.6%, 95%CI: 10.4-19.6	Exploratory HRQOL analysis (published separately) by means of	OS	Pembrolizumab: 13%, treatment related death in		

	trial			toxicity could increase to 60 mg/m^2), docetaxel 75 mg/m^2 Q3W, or cetuximab loading dose of 400 mg/m^2 followed by 250 mg/m^2 weekly				EORTC QOLQ-C30, EORTC QOLQ- H&N35, and EuroQOL-5 dimensions questionnaires		four patients
KEYNOTE 040		3-6 mo after multimodal treatment with platinum or progression after platinum-based treatment	MoA: PD-1 inhibition	n = 248, median follow-up 7.1 mo (IQR 3.7-12.4)	SOC: 6.9 mo, 95%CI: 5.9-8.0; HR 0.80, 95%CI: 0.65-0.98, nominal <i>p</i> = 0.0161	SOC: 2.3 mo, 95%CI: 2.1-2.8; HR 0.96, 95%CI: 0.79- 1.16, nominal <i>P</i> = 0.325	SOC: 10.1%, 95%CI: 6.6-14.5, nominal <i>P</i> = 0.061	At 15 wk, GHS/QOL scores were stable with pembrolizumab: least square mean (LSM) 0.39; 95%CI: -3.00 to 3.78	TPS≥50%	SOC: 36.1%, treatment related death in two patients
		<i>n</i> = 495	n = 247, median follow up = 7.5 mo (IQR 3.4- 13.3) until data cut-off /8.4 mo (IQR 3.3-14.5) until death			PFS based on modified RECIST 1.1		At 15 wk, GHS/QOL scores declined with SOC; (LSM -5.86; 95%CI: -9.68 to -2.04)	Pembrolizumab 11.6 mo (95%CI: 8.3-19.5); SOC: 6.6 mo (95%CI: 4.8-9.2), HR 0.53 (95%CI: 0.35-0.81; nominal <i>P</i> = 00014)	
						Pembrolizumab: 3.5 mo SOC: 4.8 mo		LSM between-group difference was 6.25 points (95%CI: 1.32-11.18: nominal 2-sided <i>P</i> = 0.01)	TPS < 50% Pembrolizumab: 6.5 mo (95% CI 5.6-8.8); SOC: 7.1 mo (95% CI: 5.7-8.1), HR for death 0.93 (95% CI: 0.73-1.17; nominal P = 0.2675), P for int. = 0.015	
									CPS ≥ 1 Pembrolizumab: 8.7 mo (95%CI: 6.9-11.4); SOC: 7.1 mo (95%CI: 5.7-8.3), HR for death = 0.74 (95%CI: 0.58-0.93) nominal P = 0.0049)	
									CPS < 1 Pembrolizumab: 6.3 mo (95% CI 3.9-8.9); SOC: 7 mo (95%CI: 5.1-9.0), HR for death 1.28 (95%CI: 0.8-2.07; <i>P</i> = 08476) <i>P</i>	

									for int.= 0.07	
									PFS	
									Based on modified RECIST1.1	
									TPS ≥ 50%: PFS longer with Pembrolizumab than with SOC	
									CPS \geq 1: PFS almost equal to that in the overall population for both Pembrol- izumab and SOC (3.6 mo vs 4.8 mo)	
									CPS < 1, & TPS < 50%: PFS longer with SOC than with Pembrolizumab	
Ferris <i>et al</i> [<mark>24</mark>], 2020	RCT (1:1:1), open-label phase-3 trial	R/M HNSCC not amenable to curative therapy	Arm 1	SoC	Durvalumab: 7.6 mo 95%CI: 6.1-9.8	Durvalumab: 2.1 mo, 95%CI: 1.9-3.0	Durvalumab: 17.9%, 95%CI: 13.3-23.3	Not assessed	OS	Durvalumab: 10.1%, four treatment related deaths
EAGLE	u lai	<i>n</i> = 736	Durvalumab MoA: PD-L1 inhibition 10 mg/kg every 2 wk	Single-agent systemic therapy using one of the following: cetuximab paclitaxel, docetaxel, methotrexate, 5 FU, TS-1, or capecitabine	Durvalumab + Tremelimumab: 6.5 mo, 95%CI: 5.5-8.2	Durvalumab + Tremelimumab: 2.0 mo, 95%CI: 1.9-2.3	Durvalumab + Tremelimumab: 18.2%, 95%CI: 13.6-23.6		TC ≥ 25%	Durvalumab + Tremelimumab, 16.3 %, two treatment related deaths
			<i>n</i> = 240, median follow-up: 7.6 mo	<i>n</i> = 249, median follow-up = 7.8 mo	SoC: 8.3 mo, 95%CI: 7.3- 9.2	SoC: 3.7 mo, 95%CI: 3.1-3.7	SoC: 17.3%, 95%CI: 12.8-22.5		Durvalumab: 9.8 mo (95%CI: 4.3-14.1); Durvalumab + Tremelimumab: 4.8 mo (95%CI: 3.3-6.4); SoC: 9 mo (95%CI: 6.8-11.0)	SoC: 24.2%, No treatment related deaths
			Arm 2		Durvalumab <i>vs</i> SoC: HR = 0.88, 95%CI: 0.72- 1.08, <i>P</i> = 0.20	Durvalumab <i>vs</i> SoC: HR = 1.02, 95%CI: 0.84-1.25, <i>P</i> = 0.75			TC < 25%	
			Durvalumab plus Tremelimumab MoA: CTLA-4 blockade		Durvalumab + Tremelimumab vs SoC.: HR = 1.04, 95%CI: 0.85-	Durvalumab + Tremelimumab vs SoC: HR = 1.09,			Durvalumab: 7.6 mo (95%CI: 6.2-9.5); Durvalumab +	

			Durvalumab: 20 mg/kg plus Tremelimumab 1 mg/kg every 4 wk-4 times, then Durvalumab: 10 mg /kg every 2 wk		1.26, <i>P</i> = 0.76	95%CI: 0.90-1.33, P = 0.54			Tremelimumab: 7.8 mo (95%CI: 5.9-10.3); SoC: 8 mo (95%CI: 6.7-8.9) TC \geq 1%: Both treatment arms <i>vs</i> SoC had no difference in OS	
			<i>n</i> = 247, median follow-up: 6.3 mo						TC < 1%: OS was longer for Durvalumab vs SoC; but no difference for Durvalumab + Tremelimumab vs SOC	
Phase-3 clini	cal trials eval	uating ICI as first lir	ne therapy in R/M HNSC	С						
Burtness <i>et</i> <i>al</i> [25], 2019	RCT (1:1:1), open-label phase-3 trial	Patients with R/M HNSCC	Arm 1: Pembrol- izumab (MoA: PD-1 inhibition), monotherapy; Pembrolizumab 200 mg once every 3 wk	EXTREME regime: cetuximab 400 mg/m ² loading dose, then 250 mg/m ² , per week plus, carboplatin (AUC 5 mg/m ²) or cisplatin (100 mg/m ²) and 5-FU (1000 mg/m ² for 4 consecutive days) every 3 wk	Arm 1: Pembrolizu- mabalone, 11.6 mo, 95%CI: 10.5-13.6	Arm 1: Pembrol- izumab alone, 2.3 mo (95%CI: 2.2- 3.3)	Arm 1: Pembrol- izumab, 17%	NA	OS	Pembrolizumab alone: 55% (all cause), 17% (TRAE)AE led to death in 8% of pts
KEYNOTE 048		Three arms	<i>n</i> = 301, median follow-up: 11.5 mo	<i>n</i> = 300, median follow-up: 10.7 mo	Arm 2: Pembrolizumab + CT, 13.0 mo, 95%CI: 10.9-14.7	Control arm: Cetuximab + CT 5.2 mo (95%CI: 4.9-6)	Arm 2: Pembrol- izumab + CT, 36%		CPS of \geq 20: Pembrolizumab alone <i>vs</i> EXTREME: 14.9 mo <i>vs</i> 10.7 mo, HR 0.61; 95% CI: 0.45-0.83, <i>P</i> = 0.0007	Pembrolizumab + CT: 85% (all cause), 72% (TRAE), AE led to death in 12% of pts
		<i>n</i> = 882	Arm 2: Pembrol- izumab + CT (platinum-FU), Pembrolizumab 200 mg once every 3 wk plus carboplatin (AUC 5 mg/m ²) or cisplatin (100 mg/m ²) and 5-FU (1000 mg/m ² for 4 consecutive days) every 3 wk		Control arm: Cetuximab + CT, 10.7 mo, 95%CI: 9.3-11.7	Arm 2: Pembrol- izumab + CT, 4.9 mo (95%CI: 4.7-6)	Control arm: Cetuximab + CT, 36%		Pembrolizumab + CT <i>vs</i> EXTREME: 14.7 mo <i>vs</i> 11.0 mo, HR 0.60; 95%CI: 0.45-0.82, <i>P</i> = 0.0004	Cetuximab + CT: 83% (all cause), 69% (TRAE), AE led to death in 10% of pts

Poulose JV et al. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in HNSCC

			<i>n</i> = 281, median follow-up: 13.0 mo		Pembrolizumab alone vs EXTREMEHR 0.85, 95%CI: 0.71-1.03, P = 0.0456	Control arm: Cetuximab + CI, 5.1 mo (95%CI:4.9- 6)			CPS of ≥ 1: Pembrol- izumab alone vs EXTREME: 12.3 mo vs 10.3 mo, HR 0.78 [0.64-0.96], $P =$ 0.0086	
					Pembrolizumab + CT <i>vs</i> EXTREME, HR 0.77, 95%CI: 0.63-0.93, <i>P</i> = 0.0034	Pembrolizumab alone <i>vs</i> EXTREME: HR = 1.34; 95%CI: 1.13- 1.59			Pembrolizumab + CT vs EXTREME: 13.6 mo vs 10.4 moHR 0.65; 95%CI: 0.53-0.80, P < 0.0001	
						Pembrolizumab + CT <i>vs</i> EXTREME: HR = 0.92, 95%CI: 0.77-1.10, <i>P</i> = 0.169			PFS CPS of ≥ 20: Pembrolizumab alone vs EXTREME, 3.4 mo vs 5.0 mo, HR 0.99; 95%CI: 0.75- 1.29, $P = 0.456$ Pembrolizumab + CT vs EXTREME: 5.8 mo vs 5.2 mo, HR 0.73; 95%CI: 0.55- 0.97, $P = 0.0162$ CPS of ≥ 1: Pembrol- izumab alone vs EXTREME, 3.2 mo vs 5.0 mo, HR 1.16; 95%CI: 0.96-1.39 Pembrolizumab + CT vs EXTREME: 5.0 mo vs 5.0 mo, HR	
Phase 3 clini	ical trials oval	uating ICI for treatm	ant of LAHNISCC						1.00	
Cohen <i>et al</i>	RCT (1:1)	Patients with	Avelumab (PD-L1	Placebo plus CRT	OS: not reached, HR:	PFS: not reached,	Avelumab + CRT:	NA	PFS	Intervention: 80 %,
[26], 2020	double blind placebo- controlled	pathologically confirmed previously untreated LA HNSCC who were eligible for definitive CRT with curative intent	inhibitor) 10 mg/kg iv every 2 wk plus CRT with cisplatin 100 mg/m ² every 3 wk plus standard fractionation of 70 Gy in 35 fractions over 7 wk	with cisplatin 100 mg/m ² every 3 wk plus standard fractionation of 70 Gy in 35 fractions over 7 wk	1.31, 95%CI: 0.93-1.85; one sided <i>P</i> = 0.94	HR: 1.21, 95%CI: 0.93-1.57; one sided <i>P</i> = 0.92	74%, 95%CI: 69- 79; based on modified RECIST 1.1			serious AEs in 36% pts, treatment related death 1%, 7% pts discon- tinued due to TRAEs
Lee et al	Phase-3	<i>n</i> = 697	<i>n</i> = 350, median	<i>n</i> = 347, median	Favors control arm	Favors control	Placebo + CRT:		Avelumab + CRT vs	Control: 74%,

[<mark>31</mark>], 2021	trial	follow-up for PFS = 14.6 mo (IQR 8.5-19.6) for OS =16.7 mo (IQR 12.8-21.2)	follow-up for: PFS = 14.8 mo (11.6-18.8), OS =16.8 mo (IQR 13.1-20.8)	arm	75%; 95%CI: 70- 79; based on modified RECIST 1.1	Placebo + CRT, PD- L1 ≥ 25%: HR 0.59 (95%CI: 0.28-1.22); PD-L1 < 25%, HR: 1.37 (95%CI: 1.00-	serious AEs in 32% pts, treatment related death < 1%, 3% pts discon-
JAVELIN head and neck 100 trial					OR = 0.95; 95%CI: 0.66-1.35, <i>P</i> = 0.62	1.88), <i>P</i> for int. = 0.03	TRAEs

QOL: Quality of life; HRQOL: Health-related QOL; CRT: Chemoradiation therapy; OS: Overall survival; PFS: Progression-free survival; ORR: Objective response rate; ICI: Immune checkpoint inhibitors; R/M HNSCC: Recurrent or metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma; LAHNSCC: Locally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma; RCT: Randomized controlled trial; PD-1: Programmed cell death protein-1; PD-L1: Programmed death-ligand 1; CTLA-4: Cytotoxic T- lymphocyte associated protein-4; AE: Adverse event; TRAE: Treatment-related AEs; SOC: Standard of care; CPS: Combined positive score; CI: Confidence interval; IV: Intravenously; MoA: Mechanism of action; HR: Hazard ratio; IQR: Interquartile range; LSM: Least mean square; TPS: Tumor proportion score; Mab: Monoclonal antibody; CT: Chemotherapy.

PFS: PFS was reported as 2 mo (95%CI: 1.9-2.1) with nivolumab *vs* 2.3 mo (95%CI: 1.9-3.1) with SOC (HR = 0.89; 95%CI: 0.70-1.13; *P* = 0.32).

ORR: ORR was 13.3% (95%CI: 9.3-18.3) in the intervention arm with nivolumab, whereas it was 5.8% (95%CI: 2.4-11.6) in the control arm (SOC).

Patient-reported outcomes (quality of life): Physical, role, and social functioning (assessed by means of EORTC QOLQ-C30) as well as symptom burden (assessed using EORTC QLQ-H&N35) remained stable or slightly improved with nivolumab, while SOC patients had a decline in QOL. Statistical analysis showed significant between-group differences in physical functioning (P = 0.01 at 9 wk; P < 0.001 at 15 wk), role functioning (P = 0.003 at 9 wk; P < 0.001 at 15 wk), social functioning (P = 0.002 at 9 wk; P < 0.001 at 15 wk), pain (P < 0.001 at 9 wk; P = 0.02 at 15 wk), sensory problems (P = 0.01 at 9 wk; P < 0.001 at 15 wk), and social contact problems (P = 0.26 at 9 wk; P < 0.001 at 15 wk).

Biomarker effect: Biomarker effect on OS was evaluated after stratifying patients based on their PD-L1 expression status ($\geq 1\%$ vs < 1%). Among patients with PD-L1 $\geq 1\%$, median OS was 8.7 mo with nivolumab vs 4.6 mo with SOC (HR = 0.55; 95%CI: 0.36-0.83), whereas in patients with PD-L1 < 1%, median OS was 5.7 mo with nivolumab vs 5.8 mo with SOC (HR for death = 0.89; 95%CI: 0.54-1.45; *P* for interaction = 0.17). Post-hoc exploratory subgroup analysis based on p16 status was also done in this study. Among patients with p16 positive tumors, the median OS was 9.1 mo with nivolumab vs 4.4 mo with SOC (HR for death 0.56; 95%CI: 0.32-0.99), whereas, among patients with p16 negative tumors, the median OS was 7.5 mo with nivolumab vs 5.8 mo with SOC (HR =0.73; 95%CI: 0.42-1.25; *P* for interaction = 0.55).

Adverse events: In CheckMate 141, adverse events of grade 3 or more occurred in 13.1% of patients with nivolumab *vs* 35% with SOC. Two patients in the nivolumab arm and 1 patient in the control arm had treatment-related death. The most common adverse events (of any grade) with nivolumab were fatigue, nausea, decreased appetite, pruritis, and rash. Gastrointestinal side effects (primarily diarrhea) were less in the nivolumab group (6.8%) compared to SOC patients (14.4%), whereas adverse events of

skin (rash and pruritus) were more common in the nivolumab group (15.7%) than in the SOC patients (12.6%). Endocrine system-related side effects (hypothyroidism) were also more with nivolumab (7.6%) compared to SOC (0.9%)[22].

KEYNOTE 040 (Pembrolizumab vs standard single-agent systemic therapy)

In this open-label phase-3 RCT, the investigators tested the efficacy and safety of the immune checkpoint inhibitor pembrolizumab (an anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibody) compared to standard therapy for the treatment of metastatic/recurrent head and neck cancer^[23]. This was a multi-center study involving 97 medical centers across 20 countries. There were 247 patients in the intervention arm, while the control arm included 248 patients. Patients with platinum-refractory recurrent or metastatic (or both) HNSCC were included in this study. PD-L1 expression was assessed and categorized according to the tumor proportion score ($\geq 50\%$ vs < 50\%) as well as the combined positive score (≥ 1 vs < 1) The intervention arm received pembrolizumab 200 mg every 3 wk, while the control arm received investigator's choice of standard doses of methotrexate (40 mg/m² IV weekly), docetaxel (75 mg/m² IV every 3 wk) or cetuximab (250 mg/m² IV weekly following a loading dose of 400 mg/m²).

Outcomes

OS: Primary outcome of the study was OS. The median OS was 8.4 mo (95% CI: 6.4-9.4) with pembrolizumab *vs* 6.9 mo (95%CI: 5.9-8.0) with SOC (HR = 0.80; 95%CI: 0.65-0.98; nominal *P* = 0.0161).

PFS: PFS was 2.1 mo (95%CI: 5.9-8.0) with pembrolizumab vs 2.3 mo (95%CI: 2.1-2.8) with SOC (HR = 0.96; 95%CI: 0.79-1.16; nominal *P* = 0.325).

ORR: ORR was 14.6% (95%CI: 10.4-19.6) with pembrolizumab vs 10.1% (95%CI: 6.6-14.5) with SOC (nominal P = 0.061).

Patient-reported outcomes: Results (published separately in another article) of an exploratory healthrelated quality of life analysis showed that at 15 wk, global health status/quality of life (GHS/QOL) scores were stable with pembrolizumab with a least square mean (LSM) of 0.39; 95%CI: -3.00-3.78), while GHS/QOL scores declined with SOC (LSM -5.86; 95% CI: -9.68 to -2.04). LSM between-group difference was 6.25 points (95%CI: 1.32-11.18: nominal 2-sided *P* = 0.01)[32].

Biomarker effect: Cohen *et al*^[23] found statistically significant interaction between PD-L1 expression [in terms of tumor proportion score (TPS) and combined positive score (CPS)] and treatment effect in KEYNOTE 040. Among patients with TPS \geq 50%, median OS was 11.6 mo (95%CI: 8.3-19.5) with pembrolizumab vs 6.6 mo (95%CI: 4.8-9.2) with SOC (HR = 0.53;95%CI: 0.35-0.81; nominal P = 00014). Among patients with TPS < 50%, OS was 6.5 mo (95%CI: 5.6-8.8) with pembrolizumab vs 7.1 mo (95%CI: 5.7-8.1) with SOC (HR = 0.93;95% CI: 0.73-1.17; nominal *P* = 0.2675; *P* for interaction = 0.015). Similarly, among patients with CPS \geq 1, median OS was 8.7 mo (95% CI: 6.9-11.4) with pembrolizumab vs 7.1 mo (95%CI: 5.7-8.3) with SOC (HR = 0.74; 95%CI: 0.58-0.93; nominal *P* = 0.0049). Among patients with CPS < 1, OS was 6.3 mo (95% CI: 3.9-8.9) with pembrolizumab vs 7.0 mo (95% CI: 5.1-9.0) with SOC (HR = 1.28; 95% CI: 0.8-2.07; P = 08476; P for interaction = 0.07). In terms of PFS, based on the modified RECIST1.1, for patients with TPS \ge 50%, PFS was longer with pembrolizumab than with SOC, whereas for patients with CPS \geq 1, PFS was slightly lower (3.6 mo) with pembrolizumab compared to SOC (4.8 mo). Among patients with CPS < 1 and those with TPS < 50%, PFS was longer for SOC compared to pembrolizumab [23].

Adverse events: In KEYNOTE 040, adverse events of grade 3 or more occurred in 13% of patients with pembrolizumab vs 36.1% with SOC. Four patients in the pembrolizumab arm and 2 patients in the control arm had treatment-related death. While hypothyroidism was the most common treatmentrelated adverse event with pembrolizumab (13%), fatigue was the most common adverse event with SOC (18%)[23].

EAGLE study (durvalumab with or without tremelimumab vs standard single-agent systemic therapy)

Ferris et al[24] conducted an open-label phase-3 RCT among 736 patients with R/M HNSCC not amenable to curative therapy [24]. In this three-arm study (1:1:1), one of the intervention arms (n = 240, median follow-up 7.6 mo) received the anti PD-L1 agent durvalumab (10mg/kg every 2 wk), and the other intervention arm (n = 247, median follow-up 6.3 mo) received durvalumab (20 mg/kg every 4 wk-4 times followed by 10 mg /kg every 2 wk) plus the anti CTLA-4 agent tremelimumab (1 mg/kg every 4 wk-4 times). The control arm (n = 240 median follow-up 7.8 mo) received investigator's choice of a standard single-agent [cetuximab, paclitaxel, docetaxel, methotrexate, 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), TS-1, or capecitabine] systemic therapy (SOC) dosed and administered according to local regulations.

Outcomes

OS: Primary outcome of the EAGLE study was OS. The median OS was reported as 7.6 mo (95% CI: 6.1-9.8) with durvalumab vs 8.3 mo (95%CI: 7.3-9.2) with SOC (HR = 0.88; 95%CI: 0.72-1.08, P = 0.20),



whereas it was 6.5 mo (95% CI: 5.5-8.2) with durvalumab plus tremelimumab vs 8.3 mo with SOC (HR = 1.04; 95%CI: 0.85-1.26, *P* = 0.76).

PFS: PFS was 2.1 mo with durvalumab (95% CI: 1.9-3.0) vs 3.7 mo (95% CI: 3.1-3.7) with SOC (HR = 1.02; 95% CI: 0.84-1.25, P = 0.75). PFS with durvalumab plus tremelimumab was 2.0 mo (95% CI: 1.9-2.3) vs 3.7 mo (95%CI: 3.1-3.7) with SOC (HR = 1.09; 95%CI: 0.90-1.33, P = 0.54).

ORR: ORRs were 17.9% (95%CI: 13.3-23.3) with durvalumab monotherapy, 18.2% (95%CI: 13.6-23.6) with durvalumab plus tremelimumab, and 17.3% (95%CI: 12.8-22.5) with SOC.

Patient-reported outcomes: QOL measures were not assessed in the study.

Biomarker effect: In the EAGLE study, investigators measured PD-L1 expression in terms of percentage of tumor cell (TC). Among patients with TC \ge 25%, the median OS was 9.8 mo (95%CI: 4.3-14.1) with durvalumab and 4.8 mo (95% CI: 3.3-6.4) with durvalumab plus tremelimumab, while SOC patients had an OS of 9.0 mo (95%CI: 6.8-11.0). Among patients with TC < 25%, the median OS with SOC was 8.0 mo (95%CI: 6.7-8.9), whereas it was 7.6 mo (95%CI: 6.2-9.5) with durvalumab and 7.8 mo (95%CI: 5.9-10.3) with durvalumab plus tremelimumab. In patients with $TC \ge 1\%$, both intervention groups had no difference in OS compared to SOC. In patients with TC < 1%, OS was higher with durvalumab compared to SOC, but no difference in OS was found between the durvalumab plus tremelimumab arm and the SOC arm.

Adverse events: In the EAGLE study, 10.1% of patients in the durvalumab arm, 16.3% patients in the durvalumab plus tremelimumab arm, and 24.2% patients in the control arm developed adverse events of grade 3 or more. Six patients died due to treatment-related issues: 4 with durvalumab, 2 with durvalumab plus tremelimumab, and 0 with SOC. Hypothyroidism was the most common treatmentrelated adverse event (of any grade) in the durvalumab (11.4%) arm as well as in the durvalumab plus tremelimumab arm (12.2%). Anemia was the most common treatment-related adverse event in the SOC arm (17.5%)[24].

Phase-3 studies evaluating ICI as first-line treatment in R/M HNSCC (I RCT: Keynote 048)

Prior to immunotherapy, the standard first-line treatment option for R/M HNSCC was the EXTREME regime, a combination of cetuximab, platinum (carboplatin or cisplatin), and 5-FU[13]. So far, one phase-3 trial has evaluated immunotherapy against the EXTREME regime in the first-line treatment setting for patients diagnosed with R/M HNSCC.

KEYNOTE 048 (pembrolizumab monotherapy vs EXTREME, pembrolizumab plus platinum-based CT vs EXTREME)

In this large three-arm RCT (n = 882), one of the intervention arms (n = 301, median follow-up: 11.5 mo) received pembrolizumab as monotherapy (pembrolizumab 200 mg once every 3 wk), while the second intervention arm (n = 281, median follow-up: 13.0 mo) received pembrolizumab (200 mg once every 3 wk) along with platinum-based chemotherapy {carboplatin [area under the curve (AUC) 5 mg/m^2] or cisplatin (100 mg/m²) and 5-FU (1000 mg/m² for 4 consecutive d) every 3 wk}. The control arm (n = 300, median follow-up: 10.7 mo) received the EXTREME regime [cetuximab 400 mg/m² loading dose, then 250 mg/m^2 per week plus carboplatin (AUC 5 mg/m²) or cisplatin (100 mg/m^2) and 5-FU (1000 mg/m^2) for 4 consecutive days) every 3 wk][25] (Table 1).

Outcomes

OS: The median OS (primary end point) was 11.6 mo (95%CI: 10.5-13.6) with pembrolizumab monotherapy vs 10.7 mo (95%CI: 9.3-11.7) with EXTREME (HR = 0.85; 95%CI: 0.71-1.03; P = 0.0456). In the pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy arm, median OS was 13.0 mo vs 10.7 mo (95% CI: 9.3-11.7) in the EXTREME arm (HR = 0.77; 95%CI: 0.63-0.93; *P* = 0.0034).

PFS: PFS was assessed as a primary outcome and was reported as 2.3 mo (95% CI: 2.2-3.3) with pembrolizumab monotherapy vs 5.2 mo (95%CI: 4.9-6.0) with EXTREME (HR = 1.34; 95%CI: 1.13-1.59). In the pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy arm PFS was 4.9 mo (95%CI: 4.7-6.0) vs 5.1 mo (95%CI: 4.9-6) in the EXTREME arm (HR = 0.92; 95%CI: 0.77-1.10; P = 0.169).

ORR: The pembrolizumab monotherapy arm had an ORR of 17% compared to 36% in the EXTREME arm. With pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy, ORR was similar to that with EXTREME (36%).

Biomarker effect: In KEYNOTE 048, PD-L1 expression was measured as CPS. For patients with CPS \geq 20, median OS with pembrolizumab monotherapy was 14.9 mo vs 10.7 mo with EXTREME (HR = 0.61; 95% CI: 0.45-0.83; P = 0.0007), while median OS with pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy was 14.7 mo vs 11.0 mo with EXTREME (HR = 0.60; 95% CI: 0.45-0.82; P = 0.0004). Similarly, for patients with CPS ≥ 1 , median OS with pembrolizumab monotherapy was 12.3 mo vs 10.3 mo with EXTREME (HR = 0.78; 95% CI: 0.64-0.96; P = 0.0086), whereas OS was 13.6 mo in the pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy arm vs



10.4 mo with EXTREME (HR = 0.65; 95%CI: 0.53-0.80; *P* < 0.0001).

For patients with CPS \ge 20, median PFS with pembrolizumab monotherapy was 3.4 mo vs 5.0 mo with EXTREME (HR = 0.99; 95%CI: 0.75-1.29; P = 0.456). Median PFS with pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy was 5.8 mo vs 5.2 mo with EXTREME (HR = 0.73; 95% CI: 0.55-0.97; P = 0.0162). Similarly, for patients with CPS \geq 1, median PFS with pembrolizumab monotherapy was 3.2 mo vs 5.0 mo with EXTREME (HR = 1.16; 95% CI: 0.96-1.39), whereas PFS was 5.0 mo with pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy vs 5.0 mo with EXTREME (HR = 0.82; 95% CI: 0.67-1.00).

Adverse events: In KEYNOTE 048, 55% patients in the pembrolizumab arm, 85% patients in the pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy arm, and 83% patients in the control arm developed grade 3 or more adverse events of any cause. Of these, treatment-related adverse events consisted of 17% in the pembrolizumab alone group, 72% in the pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy group, and 69% in the control group. While adverse events led to death in 8% of patients in the pembrolizumab arm and 12% of patients in the pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy arm, 10% in the control arm also died of adverse events. Major adverse events (of any grade) in the intervention groups were anemia, fatigue, hypothyroidism, and nausea^[25].

Phase-3 studies evaluating ICI for treatment of LAHNSCC (I RCT: JAVELIN head and neck 100 trial)

The current SOC for the treatment of LAHNSCC is concurrent chemoradiation therapy (CRT)[33]. So far, only one phase-3 trial has investigated the usefulness of adding an ICI to concurrent CRT.

JAVELIN head and neck 100 trial (avelumab plus CRT vs placebo plus CRT)

The preliminary results of the study were presented in the 2020 European Society for Medical Oncology annual meeting by Cohen *et al*^[26] followed by a recent journal publication^[27].

This study (n = 697) was conducted among patients with previously untreated LA HNSCC who were eligible for definitive CRT with curative intent. The intervention arm (n = 350; median follow-up for PFS 14.6 mo, for OS 16.7 mo) received the PD-L1 inhibitor avelumab (10 mg/kg IV every 2 wk) plus CRT, which consisted of cisplatin (100 mg/m² every 3 wk) concurrently with intensity-modulated radiotherapy (standard fractionation of 70 Gy in 35 fractions over 7 wk). The control arm (n = 347; median follow-up for PFS 14.8 mo, for OS 16.8 mo) received placebo plus CRT (Table 1).

Outcomes

PFS: Median PFS (primary endpoint) was not reached in the intervention group or the control group. Statistical reports showed that hazard ratio (HR= 1.21; 95% CI: 0.93-1.5; one-sided P = 0.92) did not favor the avelumab plus CRT arm.

OS: OS was one of the secondary endpoints in this trial. Median OS was not reached in either study group. Statistical reports showed that the hazard ratio for death (HR = 1.31; 95% CI: 0.93-1.85; one-sided P = 0.937) did not favor the avelumab plus CRT arm.

ORR: Based on modified RECIST 1.1, ORR in the intervention arm was 74% (95%CI: 69-79) and that in the control arm was 75% (95%CI: 70-79) with an OR of 0.95 (95%CI: 0.66-1.35, P = 0.62).

Biomarker: Exploratory subgroup analysis of PFS based on PD-L1 expression showed that patients with PD-L1 ≥ 25% had an HR of 0.59 (95%CI: 0.28-1.22), while patients with PD-L1 < 25% had an HR of 1.37 (95%CI: 1.00-1.88) with avelumab plus CRT compared to placebo plus CRT (P for interaction = 0.03).

Adverse events: Treatment-related adverse events of grade 3 or more occurred in 80% of patients in the avelumab arm and in 74% of patients in the control arm. Serious adverse events occurred in 36% of patients in the intervention arm and in 32% of patients in the control arm. In the intervention arm, 7% of patients discontinued due to treatment-related adverse events vs 3% in the control arm[27].

DISCUSSION

ICIs have emerged as a novel treatment strategy for HNSCC in recent years. The safety profile and antitumor activity of these agents demonstrated in early phase clinical trials paved the way for the initiation of several promising phase-3 trials in the field. Safety profile and clinical activity of pembrolizumab were first reported in KEYNOTE 012, an open-label phase 1b trial among patients with R/M HNSCC [34]. KEYNOTE 055, a phase-2 trial conducted among patients with platinum-resistant R/M HNSCC also reported manageable toxicity and an acceptable safety profile of pembrolizumab[35]. The study demonstrated a clinically meaningful anti-tumor activity of the agent in terms of ORRs and survival. These findings led to the initiation of KEYNOTE 040, the phase-3 trial investigating pembrolizumab for treating patients with platinum-refractory R/M HNSCC, and KEYNOTE 048, the phase-3 trial investigating pembrolizumab as first-line therapy in R/M HNSCC[23,25]. Similarly, two phase-2 trials, the



HAWK study (a single-arm study investigating durvalumab monotherapy in R/M HNSCC with > 25% tumor PD-L1 expression) and the CONDOR phase-2 trial (an RCT investigating durvalumab with or without tremelimumab in PD-L1 Low/negative R/M HNSCC) served as the rationale for investigating combination immunotherapy regimens in platinum-refractory R/M HNSCC and to initiate the EAGLE study [24,36,37]. Studies on the effectiveness of nivolumab in other solid tumors supported the initiation of CheckMate 141 trial, the first phase-3 trial of nivolumab among patients with platinum-resistant R/M HNSCC[22,38]. Chemotherapy and radiotherapy, alone or in combination, have demonstrated potential synergetic effects when combined with immunotherapy in early phase studies. This phenomenon and the proven effectiveness of the anti-PD-L1 agent avelumab in other advanced solid tumors paved the way to the JAVELIN head and neck 100 trial, the first phase-3 RCT to investigate the effectiveness of combining ICI with chemoradiation in locally advanced head and neck cancer [27,39,40].

In this systematic review, we included the published phase-3 clinical trials evaluating the effectiveness of ICIs in HNSCC. Five studies met our eligibility criteria. Three studies (CheckMate 141, KEYNOTE 040, and EAGLE study) evaluated ICI as second-line treatment for R/M HSCC, one study (KEYNOTE 048) evaluated ICI as first-line treatment for R/M HSCC, while one phase-3 trial (JAVELIN head and neck 100 trial) evaluated the effectiveness of immunotherapy in LAHNSCC[22-27].

Effectiveness of ICI for R/M HNSCC in the second-line treatment setting

In the second-line treatment setting, nivolumab in CheckMate 141 and pembrolizumab in KEYNOTE 040 demonstrated promising outcomes among patients with platinum-refractory R/M HNSCC[22,23]. In CheckMate 141, the anti-PD-1 agent nivolumab showed a statistically significant 31% reduction in risk of death (HR = 0.69, P = 0.01) and a net gain of 2.4 mo in terms of OS. A 2.3-fold increase in ORR was also reported with nivolumab compared to SOC. A favorable toxicity profile was another finding with nivolumab, with lower rates of treatment-related adverse events of grade 3 or more compared to SOC (13.1% vs 35%). Patient-reported QOL measures remained stable with nivolumab, while a decline in QOL occurred among the control patients. However, the study did not demonstrate any significant PFS benefits with nivolumab (HR = 0.89, 95%CI: 0.70-1.13; P = 0.32). Regarding the impact of biomarkers, survival benefit with nivolumab was found to be irrespective of PD-L1 expression (P for int. = 0.17) in the subgroup analyses based on PD-L1 status, although patients with PD-L1 \geq 1% had a better magnitude of effect (HR = 0.55) than those with PD-L1 < 1 (HR = 0.89)[22,41,42]. Similarly, based on the post-hoc exploratory subgroup analysis according to p16 status, the investigators concluded that the longer median OS with nivolumab was irrespective of the p16 status (P for interaction = 0.55).

In KEYNOTE 040, the anti-PD-1 agent pembrolizumab demonstrated statistically significant improvement in OS with a 20% reduction in risk of death (HR = 0.80, P = 0.016) compared to SOC in the overall study population [23]. Higher ORR (14.6% vs 10.1%, nominal P = 0.061) and lower rates of adverse events of grade 3 or more (13% vs 36.1%) were also demonstrated with pembrolizumab compared to SOC. At 15 wk, stable GHS/QOL scores were reported with pembrolizumab, while the control patients had a decline in QOL. The study did not, however, demonstrate any PFS benefits with pembrolizumab (HR = 0.96, nominal P = 0.325) compared to SOC. Exploratory subgroup analyses based on PD-L1 expression demonstrated statistically significant interactions between treatment effects and PD-L1 status. For patients with TPS \geq 50% and CPS \geq 1, the treatment effects of pembrolizumab vs SOC were found to be higher than in those with TPS < 50% and CPS < 1[23]. For instance, in terms of OS, patients with TPS $\ge 50\%$ had a net gain of 5 mo with a 47% reduction in risk of death with pembrolizumab compared to SOC (HR = 0.53, nominal P = 00014), suggesting PD-L1 expression may be explored as a predictive biomarker while selecting patients for pembrolizumab therapy. Based on the findings of CheckMate 141 and KEYNOTE 040, nivolumab and pembrolizumab were approved as standard second-line treatment options for platinum-resistant R/M HNSCC[22,23,43].

The EAGLE study did not detect any statistically significant improvements in OS with durvalumab (HR = 0.88, P = 0.20) or with durvalumab plus tremelimumab (HR = 1.04, P = 0.76) compared to SOC. Again, there were no significant benefits in terms of PFS with durvalumab or with durvalumab plus tremelimumab, compared to SOC. However, investigators of EAGLE have postulated that control patients in the study had an unexpectedly high OS as the data were confounded by discrepancies in performance status favoring the control arm. Option of using paclitaxel as SOC (paclitaxel was not an option in the other two studies in the second-line setting), and subsequent immunotherapy after discontinuation of SOC treatment by control patients were also mentioned as reasons for this finding[24]. Although the primary objectives were not met, one positive finding was that the rates of adverse events of grade 3 or more were lower with immunotherapy compared to SOC.

Effectiveness of ICI for R/M HNSCC in the first-line treatment setting

In the first-line treatment setting, in KEYNOTE 048, pembrolizumab with platinum-based chemotherapy demonstrated statistically significant improvements in OS (13.0 vs 10.7 mo) with a 23% reduction in risk of death (HR = 0.77, P = 0.0034) compared to cetuximab plus platinum-based chemotherapy (EXTREME) in the total population. Pembrolizumab monotherapy was found to be noninferior to EXTREME (HR = 0.85; 95% CI: 0.71-1.03; P = 0.0456) in terms of OS (11.6 mo vs 10.7 mo) in the total population. No significant impact on PFS was detected with pembrolizumab alone or pembrolizumab with chemotherapy compared to EXTREME in the overall population. Pembrolizumab alone



had a lower ORR (17%) compared to EXTREME (36%), while pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy had an ORR (36%) like that of EXTREME. Interestingly, biomarker (PD-L1) based stratified analysis demonstrated superiority in terms of OS in the CPS \geq 20 and CPS \geq subgroups with pembrolizumab alone as well as with pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy compared to EXTREME. For instance, within the CPS \ge 20 population, pembrolizumab monotherapy compared to EXTREME resulted in a net gain of 4.2 mo in terms of OS (14.9 mo vs 10.7 mo) with a highly significant 39% reduction in risk of death (HR = 0.61, P = 0.0007). In the CPS \geq subgroup pembrolizumab monotherapy also demonstrated superiority in terms of OS (12.3 mo vs 10.3 mo) compared to EXTREME (HR = 0.78, P = 0.0086), indicating that pembrolizumab monotherapy is a suitable treatment option for PD-L1 positive R/M HNSCC. Similarly, in both subgroups, pembrolizumab with chemotherapy resulted in statistically significant improvements in OS compared to EXTREME. For instance, R/M HNSCC patients with CPS ≥ 20 had a highly significant 40% reduction in risk of death with pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy compared to EXTREME (HR = 0.60, P = 0.0004). Patients with CPS \geq 1 also had a significant reduction in risk of death with pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy compared to EXTREME (HR = 0.65, P < 0.0001). These findings indicate that tumor PD-L1 expression can be a predictive biomarker for identifying patients who will benefit from pembrolizumab[25,44].

Based on the findings from KEYNOTE 048, pembrolizumab monotherapy was approved as an appropriate SOC for PD-L1 positive R/M HNSCC, and pembrolizumab plus platinum-based chemotherapy became the new SOC for the treatment of R/M HNSCC in the first-line setting[25,43]. In this study, rates of treatment-related adverse events of grade 3 or more were lower with pembrolizumab monotherapy (17%) compared to EXTREME (69%). However, rates of treatment-related adverse events of grade 3 or more were noticeably high (72%) in the combination therapy arm[25]. This finding highlights the importance of weighing up the survival benefits of the pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy regime against its adverse events profile while making treatment decisions for patients with R/M HNSCC.

Effectiveness of ICI in LAHNSCC

Regarding immunotherapy in LAHNSCC, there is no definite evidence of benefit according to the primary results of the JAVELIN study [26,27]. The combination of avelumab and CRT did not demonstrate any beneficial outcomes in terms of PFS or OS over placebo plus CRT, and based on the modified RECIST 1.1, there were no ORR benefits (74% vs 75%) either. Moreover, avelumab plus CRT resulted in slightly higher rates of adverse events of grade 3 or more compared to CRT plus placebo (80% vs 74%). As an explanation for the absence of PFS benefits, the investigators postulated that the dysfunction of T cells or changes in the tumor microenvironment after radiotherapy might have reduced the ability of the immune system to eliminate the microscopic disease. A recent phase-2 randomized trial of pembrolizumab with radiation therapy against cetuximab with radiotherapy in LAHNSCC also failed to demonstrate significant treatment benefits, although the combination therapy had a favorable toxicity profile^[45]. Similarly, a previous randomized phase-2 trial of nivolumab with stereotactic body radiotherapy compared to nivolumab alone did not result in tumor shrinkage in R/M HNSCC[46]. Interestingly, an exploratory subgroup analysis of patients with high PD-L1 expression in the JAVELIN study indicated a potential PFS benefit with avelumab plus CRT compared to placebo plus CRT. Although definite conclusions cannot be made based on this small subgroup analysis, this is a finding that should be explored further to understand the role of biomarker analysis to select patients for immunotherapy.

In terms of PFS, none of the studies included in this review demonstrated any beneficial outcomes. A recent meta-analysis by Gyawali et al[47] found no correlation between median OS and median PFS in studies evaluating anti-PD-1 agents. Defining PFS based on the traditional RECIST criteria (developed in the pre-immunotherapy era) that do not properly capture the concept of disease progression with immunotherapy was hypothesized as a probable reason for the finding.

While immunotherapy involving anti-PD-1 checkpoint inhibitors resulted in significant improvements in survival, PD-L1 and CTLA-4 blockade did not demonstrate any encouraging outcomes. More studies are needed to build evidence on the role of anti-PD-L1 and CTLA-4 blocking agents in the treatment of advanced HNSCC. Again, in the first-line setting, the evidence on the effectiveness of immunotherapy for R/M HNSCC is based on one single phase-3 trial (KEYNOTE 048), and currently, pembrolizumab is the only ICI approved for treating this group of patients[25]. During our literature search, we identified some of the ongoing phase-3 clinical trials investigating various checkpoint inhibitor agents either alone or as part of combination therapy. Subsequently, we searched the 'clinical trials.org' database and identified the major ongoing clinical trials and confirmed the status of those trials.

Major ongoing clinical trials

Studies investigating the combination of two different ICI agents or ICI in combination with another immunomodulatory agent in R/M HNSCC in the first-line treatment setting[48-51]: An ongoing openlabel phase-3 trial (KESTREL) is currently evaluating anti-PDL-1 agent durvalumab alone and in combination with the anti-CTLA-4 agent tremelimumab for R/M HNSCC against the EXTREME regime in the first-line treatment setting [48]. Checkmate 651, another ongoing phase-3 study, is currently



evaluating the anti-PD-1 agent nivolumab in combination with the CTLA-4 blocking agent ipilimumab for R/M HNSCC against the EXTREME regime in the first-line setting [49]. In a phase-3 trial among R/M HNSCC, patients with a PD-L1 biomarker expression of CPS \geq 1, the combination of pembrolizumab and lenvatinib, an anti-vascular endothelial growth factor-multiple kinase inhibitor, is being investigated as first-line treatment against pembrolizumab plus placebo [50]. Similarly, ICI in combination with another immunomodulatory agent is being investigated in the ECHO-304/KEYNOTE 669 study [51]. In this phase-3 trial, the combination of pembrolizumab and epacadostat, an indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1, inhibitor agent is being investigated against pembrolizumab monotherapy, and the EXTREME regime, in R/M HNSCC as first-line treatment[51].

Studies investigating ICI plus CRT vs CRT alone in LAHNSCC[52,53]: In KEYNOTE 412, the effectiveness of pembrolizumab given concurrently with CRT and as maintenance therapy is being evaluated against placebo plus standard CRT for the treatment of LAHNSCC[52]. In REACH, the superiority of avelumab in combination with RT-cetuximab compared to cisplatin -RT and/or to RT-cetuximab alone is being evaluated^[53].

Studies investigating ICI plus RT vs cetuximab plus RT in platinum ineligible LAHNSCC[54,55]: In HN004, durvalumab plus RT is being compared to cetuximab plus RT in platinum ineligible patients [54]. In a recently completed phase-3 trial with no published results (CheckMate 9TM), cisplatinineligible patients received nivolumab plus RT as intervention while control patients received cetuximab plus RT[55].

Studies investigating ICI as neoadjuvant/adjuvant therapy[56-59]: In KEYNOTE 689, pembrolizumab with RT (with or without cisplatin) before and after surgery is compared to RT (with or without cisplatin) given after surgery [56]. Atezolizumab, an anti-PD-L1 agent, is being evaluated as an adjuvant therapy against placebo in the ongoing trial iMvoke010[57]. In IMSTAR-HN, nivolumab alone or in combination with the anti-CTLA-4 agent ipilimumab is evaluated as follow-up after adjuvant therapy against standard follow-up in surgically resectable LAHNSCC^[58]. In NIVOPOSTOP, the efficacy of postoperative adjuvant nivolumab along with CRT is compared to post-operative CRT alone[59].

The details of these ongoing phase-3 studies are given in Table 2.

Future directions

Novel combination strategies to potentiate and prolong the anti-tumor activity of ICI are being evaluated currently. Thus, several early phase clinical trials (phase 1/2) investigating combination strategies of ICIs and other novel immunomodulatory agents are in the pipeline[60,61]. For example, a randomized phase-2 trial to study the safety and tolerability of nivolumab administered alone or in combination with relatlimab (antibody targeting the novel immunomodulatory receptor lymphocyte activation gene-3) or the anti-CTLA-4 agent ipilimumab is currently ongoing among patients with locally advanced surgically resectable HNSCC[62]. Immune biomarker modulation in response to nivolumab given along with Toll-like receptor 8 agonist motolimod is being analyzed in an ongoing phase-1b pre-operative biomarker trial[63]. Combination of pembrolizumab and the vascular endothelial growth factor-multiple kinase inhibitor lenvatinib demonstrated good anti-tumor activity and manageable toxicity among R/M HNSCC patients in a phase-1b/2 trial, and LEAP 010, a phase-3 trial of this combination strategy is currently ongoing[50,64]. The combination of pembrolizumab and the anti-EGFR agent cetuximab had demonstrated encouraging outcomes in the interim analysis of an ongoing multi-arm phase-2 trial[65,66]. A recently completed study among R/M HNSCC patients investigating pembrolizumab in combination with epacadostat has shown clinically meaningful results, and a larger phase-3 trial (ECHO 304/KEYNOTE 669) of this combination strategy is ongoing currently [51,67]. Combination therapy of pembrolizumab with the EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitor afatinib, which also included predictive biomarker analysis, had been evaluated recently in a phase-2 clinical trial (the ALPHA study) in R/M HNSC[68]. The study demonstrated augmentation of the anti-tumor activity of pembrolizumab by afatinib, and the results of biomarker analysis suggested that PD-L1 and EGFR amplification could be predictive biomarkers for cancer immunotherapy. EACH, a randomized phase-2 trial among R/M HNSCC is investigating the superiority of avelumab and cetuximab combination compared to avelumab monotherapy[69]. Another recently completed early phase study on the combination of pembrolizumab with the therapeutic vaccine talimogene laherparepvec demonstrated a tolerable safety profile among patients with R/M HNSCC. However, this investigation did not progress into a phase-3 trial as the efficacy of the combination was found to be similar to pembrolizumab monotherapy^[70].

Immunotherapy trials among patients with p16-positive head and neck cancer (oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma) are also currently underway. In this group of patients, p16 positivity is a known independent predictive biomarker for survival[71]. The efficacy and tolerability of the combination of ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4) and nivolumab (anti-PD-1) along with RT in locoregionally advanced human papilloma virus-positive oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma are being evaluated in an ongoing phase-2 single-arm trial^[72]. Another phase-2 randomized study (KEYCHAIN trial) is investigating RT along with concurrent and adjuvant pembrolizumab against concurrent chemoradiation among p16-positive HNSCC[73,74].



Table 2 Major ongoing phase-3 studies investigating immunotherapy in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma

Study	Status/trial ID	Population	Intervention	Control	No of participants	Target receptor
KESTREL[47]	Active, not	R/M HNSCC	Arm 1: Durvalumab	EXTREMEregime	823	PDL-1,
	recruiting/INC102551159		Arm 2: Durvalumab with Tremelimumab			CILA-4
Checkmate 651[48]	Active, not recruiting/NCT02741570	R/M HNSCC	Nivolumab with Ipilimumab	EXTREME regime	947	PD-1, CTLA- 4
LEAP-10[49]	Active, recruiting/NCT04199104	R/M HNSCC	Pembrolizumab with Lenvatinib	Pembrolizumabwith placebo	500	PD-1, VEGF- multiple kinase
ECHO- 304/KEYNOTE	Active, not recruiting/NCT03358472	R/M HNSCC	Arm1: Pembrolizumab with Epacadostat	EXTREME	625	PD-1,IDO1
005[00]			Arm 2: Pembrolizumab alone			
KEYNOTE 412[51]	Active, not recruiting/NCT03040999	LAHNSCC	Pembrolizumab with CRT concurrently and as maintenance	Standard CRT plus placebo	780	PD-1
REACH[52]	Active, not recruiting/NCT02999087	LAHNSCC	Avelumab in combination with RT- cetuximab	Cisplatin-RT and/or RT- cetuximab alone	707	PD-L1
HN004[53]	Active, recruiting/NCT03258554	LAHNSCC	Durvalumab plus RT	Cetuximab plus RT	474	PD-L1
	recruiting/inc105256554	Platinum in eligible patients				
CheckMate 9TM	Completed awaiting results/NCT03349710	LAHNSCC	Nivolumab plus RT	Cetuximab plus RT	68	PD-1
[~*]		Platinum ineligible cohort				
		LAHNSCC	Nivolumab pluscisplatin	Cisplatin plus RT		
		Platinum eligible cohort	plus KI			
KEYNOTE 689[55]	Active, recruiting/NCT03765918	LAHNSCC	Pembrolizumab with RT (with or without cisplatin) before and after surgery	RT (with or without cisplatin) given after surgery	704	PD-1
iMvoke010[<mark>56</mark>]	Active, recruiting/NCT03452137	LAHNSCC	Atezolizumab as adjuvant therapy after definitive local therapy	Placebo	400	PD-L1
IMSTAR-HN[57]	Active, not recruiting/NCT03700905	Surgically resectable LAHNSCC	Nivolumab alone or in combination Ipilimumab as follow up after adjuvant therapy	Standard follow-up after adjuvant therapy	276	PD-1, CTLA- 4
NIVOPOSTOP[58]	Active, recruiting/NCT03576417	LAHNSCC	Adjuvant Nivolumab with CRT postoper- atively	CRT alone post operatively	680	PD-1

CRT: Chemoradiation therapy; R/M HNSCC: Recurrent or metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma; LAHNSCC: Locally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma; PD-1: Programmed cell death protein-1; PD-L1: Programmed death-ligand 1; CTLA-4: Cytotoxic T- lymphocyte associated protein-4; IDO1: Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1; VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor.

> Regarding biomarkers, in addition to p-16 positivity and PD-L1 expression, other biomarkers like microsatellite instability (MSI) and tumor mutation burden were also found to be associated with favorable outcomes with ICI therapy in HNSCC[75]. Tardy et al[76] recently reported a case of complete response to anti-PD-L1 therapy in HNSCC in a patient with high tumor MSI (MSI-H) and a negative PD-L1 histochemical status. Similarly, Hanna et al[77] reported that higher tumor mutation burden predicted response to ICI and better treatment outcomes in virus-negative head and neck cancer. Again, some subtypes of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) such as PD-1+TIM-3+CD8+ TILs and PD-1+LAG-3⁺ CD8⁺ TILs have also predicted treatment response to ICIs[75,77]. The data on these emerging predictive biomarkers is still not conclusive; therefore, further research is essential. PRECISION 01, an ongoing prospective observational study is currently evaluating biomarker signatures in tissue samples



of platinum-refractory HNSCC patients who received nivolumab monotherapy; the findings may contribute to the knowledge on predictive biomarkers for ICIs[78].

In future studies, patient-reported outcomes like QOL should be evaluated meticulously since such outcomes are very crucial for advanced HNSCC patients and their families[79,80]. Cost-effectiveness is another issue to be considered before including ICIs in the routine treatment guidelines for patients from developing countries and resource-poor settings[81,82]. The impact of factors like age, comorbidities, and performance status on outcomes of patients receiving immunotherapy also needs to be determined[83].

Limitations/strengths

There are very few published phase-3 clinical trials evaluating checkpoint inhibitor immunotherapy among patients diagnosed with HNSCC, and the evidence we gathered in this review is based on the five phase-3 RCTs published so far. A previous systematic review on this topic included eight studies, of which two were phase-3 RCTs[84]. Wang *et al*[85] conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis of nine studies on the effectiveness of checkpoint inhibitors in HNSCC, of which two were phase-3 trials.

To our knowledge, this is the first systematic review conducted on the effectiveness of ICIs in HNSCC incorporating phase-3 trials alone. The evidence we presented based on the five studies in this review will help the practicing clinicians to make informed decisions. We further explored the literature and identified a variety of promising clinical studies that are ongoing currently focusing on combination strategies in enhancing and prolonging the anti-tumor effects of ICIs. We also identified the gaps in knowledge on some important issues such as predictive biomarkers and about the identification of patients who will benefit from immunotherapy based on biomarker assessment[86,87].

CONCLUSION

ICIs have shown improved survival outcomes with acceptable toxicity profile in R/MHNSCC in the first and second-line treatment settings. The marginal improvement in survival should be weighed against the cost of these therapeutic agents and the QOL of patients. While anti-PD-1 agents demonstrated efficacy, evidence on the effectiveness of anti-PD-L1 and anti-CTLA-4 agents is lacking. There is no proven efficacy in the curative setting to date. The ongoing clinical trials may better define the role of ICI in R/M HNSCC and LAHNSCC in the future.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) is one of the major causes of cancer-associated morbidity and mortality globally, especially in developing countries. Treatment approaches for HNSCC vary according to the stage of the disease at presentation. For recurrent/metastatic HNSCC (R/M HNSCC), platinum-based chemotherapy was the only available treatment option until recently. A relatively new systemic therapy option that emerged in recent years in the treatment of advanced HNSCC is immunotherapy using immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI).

Research motivation

Advanced HNSCCs are often associated with significant functional limitations, and aggressive treatment may adversely affect the quality of life of these patients who are already suffering from the effect of advanced cancer. The median survival of R/M HNSCC patients receiving platinum-based chemotherapy is 7.4 mo. Some patients become refractory to platinum and die within a period of 4 mo. The safety profile and anti-tumor activity of ICIs demonstrated in early phase clinical trials paved the way to the initiation of several promising phase-3 trials in the field. Therefore, we decided to gather the current evidence on the effectiveness of these agents in advanced head and neck cancer based on the findings from phase-3 clinical trials of ICI published so far. We also wanted to examine the feasibility of incorporating these agents into routine clinical practice in resource-poor settings.

Research objectives

The objective of this systematic review was to gather the evidence from phase-3 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) evaluating the effectiveness of immunotherapy among patients with advanced HNSCC. We aimed to synthesize the evidence from the published phase-3 studies that investigated the efficacy and toxicity profile of ICIs administered either alone or in combination with chemotherapy, radiation therapy, or with another checkpoint inhibitor, in advanced HNSCC.

Zaishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

Research methods

We conducted this systematic review according to the PRISMA (preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses) guidelines. We searched four major databases including PubMed, Scopus, Embase, and COCHRANE library, without any language limit. A combination of standardized search terms and keywords including head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, recurrent, metastatic, locally advanced, immunotherapy, checkpoint inhibitors, monoclonal antibodies, programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1), programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1), cytotoxic T- lymphocyte associated protein-4 (CTLA-4), and phase-3 clinical trial were used for searching the literature. Studies were included if they were completed phase-3 RCTs conducted among patients with R/M HNSCC or LAHNSCC, in which the intervention patients received ICI either alone or in combination with chemotherapy, radiation therapy, or with another ICI and the control patients received the standard of care treatment (SOC). Anatomical sites of primary tumors were oral cavity, oropharynx, hypopharynx, and larynx in the included studies.

Research results

Five phase-3 clinical trials have reported the data on the effectiveness of immunotherapy in HNSCC so far: Four in R/M HNSCC and one in LAHNSCC. In patients with R/M HNSCC, anti-PD-1 agents nivolumab and pembrolizumab demonstrated improvement in overall survival (OS) in the second-line treatment setting compared to the SOC. While the net gain in OS with nivolumab was 2.4 mo, that with pembrolizumab was 1.5 mo. However, the study that investigated the anti-PD-L1 agent durvalumab with or without the anti-CTLA-4 agent tremelimumab in the second-line treatment setting did not demonstrate any beneficial outcomes.

In the first-line setting, pembrolizumab together with platinum-based chemotherapy demonstrated statistically significant improvement in survival with a net gain in OS of 2.3 mo in the overall population and a net gain in OS of 4.2 mo in the population with a combined positive score of > 20 compared to the SOC treatment. Pembrolizumab monotherapy was found to be non-inferior to EXTREME in terms of OS (11.6 mo vs 10.7 mo) in the total population. In patients with PD-L1 positive R/M HNSCC, monotherapy with pembrolizumab also demonstrated statistically significant improvement in survival compared to SOC. In LAHNSCC, immunotherapy using the anti-PD-L1 agent avelumab along with standard chemoradiation therapy did not result in improved outcomes compared to placebo plus chemoradiation therapy.

Research conclusions

This systematic review helped us to conclude that anti-PD-1 agents provide survival benefits in R/M HNSCC in the first and second-line settings with manageable toxicity profiles. However, it is important to weigh the marginal survival benefits provided by these therapeutic agents against their cost, especially in resource-poor settings. The review showed that the evidence on the effectiveness of anti-PD-L1 and anti-CTLA-4 agents in advanced head and neck cancer is lacking. To date, there is no evidence on the effectiveness of ICIs in the curative setting either. We believe that the ongoing clinical trials (discussed in the article) will help to define better the role of ICI in R/M HNSCC and LAHNSCC in the future.

Research perspectives

Novel combination strategies to potentiate and prolong the anti-tumor activity of ICI are being evaluated currently. Gaps in knowledge exist on some important issues such as predictive biomarkers, and about the identification of patients who will benefit from immunotherapy based on biomarker assessment. Future studies should focus on these issues.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Dr. Vijo Poulose for his assistance in searching the databases.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Kainickal CT contributed to conceptualization; Poulose JV contributed to the methodology and literature search; Both authors participated in drafting and critically revising the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors have nothing to disclose.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: India

ORCID number: Jissy Vijo Poulose 0000-0002-1773-8699; Cessal Thommachan Kainickal 0000-0003-3149-3074.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: Association of Radiation Oncologists of India, No. 1058.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Gong ZM

REFERENCES

- 1 Gupta B, Johnson NW, Kumar N. Global Epidemiology of Head and Neck Cancers: A Continuing Challenge. Oncology 2016; 91: 13-23 [PMID: 27245686 DOI: 10.1159/000446117]
- 2 Vigneswaran N, Williams MD. Epidemiologic trends in head and neck cancer and aids in diagnosis. Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am 2014; 26: 123-141 [PMID: 24794262 DOI: 10.1016/j.coms.2014.01.001]
- 3 Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018; 68: 394-424 [PMID: 30207593 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21492]
- 4 Cognetti DM, Weber RS, Lai SY. Head and neck cancer: an evolving treatment paradigm. Cancer 2008; 113: 1911-1932 [PMID: 18798532 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.23654]
- 5 Marur S, Forastiere AA. Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma: Update on Epidemiology, Diagnosis, and Treatment. Mayo Clin Proc 2016; 91: 386-396 [PMID: 26944243 DOI: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2015.12.017]
- 6 Molin Y, Fayette J. Current chemotherapies for recurrent/metastatic head and neck cancer. Anticancer Drugs 2011; 22: 621-625 [PMID: 21131821 DOI: 10.1097/CAD.0b013e3283421f7c]
- 7 Colevas AD. Systemic Therapy for Metastatic or Recurrent Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2015; 13: e37-e48 [PMID: 26158134 DOI: 10.6004/jnccn.2015.0080]
- 8 Jacob LA, Chaudhuri T, Lakshmaiah KC, Babu KG, Dasappa L, Babu M, Rudresha AH, Lokesh KN, Rajeev LK. Current status of systemic therapy for recurrent and/or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Indian J Cancer 2016; **53**: 471-477 [PMID: 28485332 DOI: 10.4103/0019-509X.204786]
- Price KA, Cohen EE. Current treatment options for metastatic head and neck cancer. Curr Treat Options Oncol 2012; 13: 35-46 [PMID: 22252884 DOI: 10.1007/s11864-011-0176-y]
- 10 Lau A, Yang WF, Li KY, Su YX. Systemic Therapy in Recurrent or Metastatic Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma-A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2020; 153: 102984 [PMID: 32569853 DOI: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2020.102984]
- 11 León X, Hitt R, Constenla M, Rocca A, Stupp R, Kovács AF, Amellal N, Bessa EH, Bourhis J. A retrospective analysis of the outcome of patients with recurrent and/or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck refractory to a platinum-based chemotherapy. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2005; 17: 418-424 [PMID: 16149284 DOI: 10.1016/j.clon.2005.02.014]
- Kainickal CT, Aparna MP, Kumar RR, et al Targeted therapy in recurrent or metastatic head and neck carcinoma. 12 Hos Pal Med Int Jnl 2018; 2: 71-76 [DOI: 10.15406/hpmij.2018.02.00058]
- Vermorken JB, Mesia R, Rivera F, Remenar E, Kawecki A, Rottey S, Erfan J, Zabolotnyy D, Kienzer HR, Cupissol D, Peyrade F, Benasso M, Vynnychenko I, De Raucourt D, Bokemeyer C, Schueler A, Amellal N, Hitt R. Platinum-based chemotherapy plus cetuximab in head and neck cancer. N Engl J Med 2008; 359: 1116-1127 [PMID: 18784101 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0802656
- Sacco AG, Cohen EE. Current Treatment Options for Recurrent or Metastatic Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. J 14 Clin Oncol 2015; 33: 3305-3313 [PMID: 26351341 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2015.62.0963]
- Blasco MA, Svider PF, Raza SN, Jacobs JR, Folbe AJ, Saraf P, Eloy JA, Baredes S, Fribley AM. Systemic therapy for head 15 and neck squamous cell carcinoma: Historical perspectives and recent breakthroughs. Laryngoscope 2017; 127: 2565-2569 [PMID: 28581126 DOI: 10.1002/lary.26629]
- 16 Vermorken JB, Specenier P. Optimal treatment for recurrent/metastatic head and neck cancer. Ann Oncol 2010; 21 Suppl 7: vii252-vii261 [PMID: 20943624 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdq453]
- Bauml JM, Aggarwal C, Cohen RB. Immunotherapy for head and neck cancer: where are we now and where are we 17 going? Ann Transl Med 2019; 7: S75 [PMID: 31576284 DOI: 10.21037/atm.2019.03.58]
- 18 Gauduchon T, Reverdy T, Gau M, Karabajakian A, Collet L, Neidhardt EM, Fayette J. Head and neck cancer and immunotherapy: current knowledge and perspective. J Cancer Metastasis Treat 2019; 5: 72 [DOI: 10.20517/2394-4722.2019.023
- 19 Moy JD, Moskovitz JM, Ferris RL. Biological mechanisms of immune escape and implications for immunotherapy in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Eur J Cancer 2017; 76: 152-166 [PMID: 28324750 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2016.12.035]



- Yang Y. Cancer immunotherapy: harnessing the immune system to battle cancer. J Clin Invest 2015; 125: 3335-3337 20 [PMID: 26325031 DOI: 10.1172/JCI83871]
- 21 Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, Ghersi D, Liberati A, Petticrew M, Shekelle P, Stewart LA; PRISMA-P Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. Syst Rev 2015; 4: 1 [PMID: 25554246 DOI: 10.1186/2046-4053-4-1]
- 22 Ferris RL, Blumenschein G Jr, Fayette J, Guigay J, Colevas AD, Licitra L, Harrington K, Kasper S, Vokes EE, Even C, Worden F, Saba NF, Iglesias Docampo LC, Haddad R, Rordorf T, Kiyota N, Tahara M, Monga M, Lynch M, Geese WJ, Kopit J, Shaw JW, Gillison ML. Nivolumab for Recurrent Squamous-Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck. N Engl J Med 2016; 375: 1856-1867 [PMID: 27718784 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1602252]
- Cohen EEW, Soulières D, Le Tourneau C, Dinis J, Licitra L, Ahn MJ, Soria A, Machiels JP, Mach N, Mehra R, Burtness 23 B, Zhang P, Cheng J, Swaby RF, Harrington KJ; KEYNOTE-040 investigators. Pembrolizumab versus methotrexate, docetaxel, or cetuximab for recurrent or metastatic head-and-neck squamous cell carcinoma (KEYNOTE-040): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet 2019; 393: 156-167 [PMID: 30509740 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31999-8]
- Ferris RL, Haddad R, Even C, Tahara M, Dvorkin M, Ciuleanu TE, Clement PM, Mesia R, Kutukova S, Zholudeva L, Daste A, Caballero-Daroqui J, Keam B, Vynnychenko I, Lafond C, Shetty J, Mann H, Fan J, Wildsmith S, Morsli N, Fayette J, Licitra L. Durvalumab with or without tremelimumab in patients with recurrent or metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: EAGLE, a randomized, open-label phase III study. Ann Oncol 2020; 31: 942-950 [PMID: 32294530 DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.04.001]
- Burtness B, Harrington KJ, Greil R, Soulières D, Tahara M, de Castro G Jr, Psyrri A, Basté N, Neupane P, Bratland Å, 25 Fuereder T, Hughes BGM, Mesía R, Ngamphaiboon N, Rordorf T, Wan Ishak WZ, Hong RL, González Mendoza R, Roy A, Zhang Y, Gumuscu B, Cheng JD, Jin F, Rischin D; KEYNOTE-048 Investigators. Pembrolizumab alone or with chemotherapy versus cetuximab with chemotherapy for recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (KEYNOTE-048): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet 2019; 394: 1915-1928 [PMID: 31679945 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32591-7]
- Cohen EE, Ferris RL, Psyrri A, Haddad R, Tahara M, Bourhis J, Harrington KJ, Chang PM, Lin J, Razaq M, Teixeira MM, 26 J. Lovey S, J. Chamois13, A. Rueda Dominguez14, C. Hu15, M. Dvorkin16, De Beukelaer17, Pavlov D, Thurm H, Lee N. Primary results of the phase III JAVELIN head & neck 100 trial: avelumab plus chemoradiotherapy (CRT) followed by avelumab maintenance vs CRT in patients with locally advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (LA SCCHN). Ann Oncol 2020; 31: S599-S628 [DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.08.1025]
- 27 Lee NY, Ferris RL, Psyrri A, Haddad RI, Tahara M, Bourhis J, Harrington K, Chang PM, Lin JC, Razaq MA, Teixeira MM, Lövey J, Chamois J, Rueda A, Hu C, Dunn LA, Dvorkin MV, De Beukelaer S, Pavlov D, Thurm H, Cohen E. Avelumab plus standard-of-care chemoradiotherapy versus chemoradiotherapy alone in patients with locally advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2021; 22: 450-462 [PMID: 33794205 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30737-3]
- 28 Guo L, Zhang H, Chen B. Nivolumab as Programmed Death-1 (PD-1) Inhibitor for Targeted Immunotherapy in Tumor. J Cancer 2017; 8: 410-416 [PMID: 28261342 DOI: 10.7150/jca.17144]
- McDermott J, Jimeno A. Pembrolizumab: PD-1 inhibition as a therapeutic strategy in cancer. Drugs Today (Barc) 2015; 29 51: 7-20 [PMID: 25685857 DOI: 10.1358/dot.2015.51.1.2250387]
- Wang BC, Li PC, Fan JQ, Lin GH, Liu Q. Durvalumab and tremelimumab combination therapy versus durvalumab or 30 tremelimumab monotherapy for patients with solid tumors: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2020; **99**: e21273 [PMID: 32664183 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000021273]
- Cristina V, Herrera-Gómez RG, Szturz P, Espeli V, Siano M. Immunotherapies and Future Combination Strategies for Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Int J Mol Sci 2019; 20 [PMID: 31671550 DOI: 10.3390/ijms20215399]
- 32 Harrington KJ, Soulières D, Le Tourneau C, Dinis J, Licitra LF, Ahn MJ, Soria A, Machiels JH, Mach N, Mehra R, Burtness B, Ellison MC, Cheng JD, Chirovsky DR, Swaby RF, Cohen EEW. Quality of Life With Pembrolizumab for Recurrent and/or Metastatic Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma: KEYNOTE-040. J Natl Cancer Inst 2021; 113: 171-181 [PMID: 32407532 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djaa063]
- Lacas B, Carmel A, Landais C, Wong SJ, Licitra L, Tobias JS, Burtness B, Ghi MG, Cohen EEW, Grau C, Wolf G, Hitt R, 33 Corvò R, Budach V, Kumar S, Laskar SG, Mazeron JJ, Zhong LP, Dobrowsky W, Ghadjar P, Fallai C, Zakotnik B, Sharma A, Bensadoun RJ, Ruo Redda MG, Racadot S, Fountzilas G, Brizel D, Rovea P, Argiris A, Nagy ZT, Lee JW, Fortpied C, Harris J, Bourhis J, Aupérin A, Blanchard P, Pignon JP; MACH-NC Collaborative Group. Meta-analysis of chemotherapy in head and neck cancer (MACH-NC): An update on 107 randomized trials and 19,805 patients, on behalf of MACH-NC Group. Radiother Oncol 2021; 156: 281-293 [PMID: 33515668 DOI: 10.1016/j.radonc.2021.01.013]
- Seiwert TY, Burtness B, Mehra R, Weiss J, Berger R, Eder JP, Heath K, McClanahan T, Lunceford J, Gause C, Cheng JD, 34 Chow LQ. Safety and clinical activity of pembrolizumab for treatment of recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (KEYNOTE-012): an open-label, multicentre, phase 1b trial. Lancet Oncol 2016; 17: 956-965 [PMID: 27247226 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30066-3]
- Bauml J, Seiwert TY, Pfister DG, Worden F, Liu SV, Gilbert J, Saba NF, Weiss J, Wirth L, Sukari A, Kang H, Gibson 35 MK, Massarelli E, Powell S, Meister A, Shu X, Cheng JD, Haddad R. Pembrolizumab for Platinum- and Cetuximab-Refractory Head and Neck Cancer: Results From a Single-Arm, Phase II Study. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35: 1542-1549 [PMID: 28328302 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.70.1524]
- Zandberg DP, Algazi AP, Jimeno A, Good JS, Fayette J, Bouganim N, Ready NE, Clement PM, Even C, Jang RW, Wong 36 S, Keilholz U, Gilbert J, Fenton M, Braña I, Henry S, Remenar E, Papai Z, Siu LL, Jarkowski A, Armstrong JM, Asubonteng K, Fan J, Melillo G, Mesía R. Durvalumab for recurrent or metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: Results from a single-arm, phase II study in patients with ≥25% tumour cell PD-L1 expression who have progressed on platinum-based chemotherapy. Eur J Cancer 2019; 107: 142-152 [PMID: 30576970 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2018.11.015]
- Siu LL, Even C, Mesía R, Remenar E, Daste A, Delord JP, Krauss J, Saba NF, Nabell L, Ready NE, Braña I, Kotecki N, Zandberg DP, Gilbert J, Mehanna H, Bonomi M, Jarkowski A, Melillo G, Armstrong JM, Wildsmith S, Fayette J. Safety



and Efficacy of Durvalumab With or Without Tremelimumab in Patients With PD-L1-Low/Negative Recurrent or Metastatic HNSCC: The Phase 2 CONDOR Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Oncol 2019; 5: 195-203 [PMID: 30383184 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.4628]

- 38 Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, Crinò L, Eberhardt WE, Poddubskaya E, Antonia S, Pluzanski A, Vokes EE, Holgado E, Waterhouse D, Ready N, Gainor J, Arén Frontera O, Havel L, Steins M, Garassino MC, Aerts JG, Domine M, Paz-Ares L, Reck M, Baudelet C, Harbison CT, Lestini B, Spigel DR. Nivolumab versus Docetaxel in Advanced Squamous-Cell Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2015; 373: 123-135 [PMID: 26028407 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1504627]
- Dovedi SJ, Adlard AL, Lipowska-Bhalla G, McKenna C, Jones S, Cheadle EJ, Stratford IJ, Poon E, Morrow M, Stewart R, 39 Jones H, Wilkinson RW, Honeychurch J, Illidge TM. Acquired resistance to fractionated radiotherapy can be overcome by concurrent PD-L1 blockade. Cancer Res 2014; 74: 5458-5468 [PMID: 25274032 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-1258]
- 40 Heery CR, O'Sullivan-Coyne G, Madan RA, Cordes L, Rajan A, Rauckhorst M, Lamping E, Oyelakin I, Marté JL, Lepone LM, Donahue RN, Grenga I, Cuillerot JM, Neuteboom B, Heydebreck AV, Chin K, Schlom J, Gulley JL. Avelumab for metastatic or locally advanced previously treated solid tumours (JAVELIN Solid Tumor): a phase 1a, multicohort, doseescalation trial. Lancet Oncol 2017; 18: 587-598 [PMID: 28373007 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30239-5]
- 41 Ferris RL, Blumenschein GR, Fayette J, Guigay J, Colevas AD, Licitra L, Harrington KJ, Kasper S, Vokes EE, Even C, Worden F, Saba NF, Docampo LCI, Haddad R, Rordorf T, Kiyota N, Tahara M, Lynch M, Jayaprakash V, Li L, Gillison ML. Nivolumab (Nivo) vs investigator's choice (IC) in recurrent or metastatic (R/M) squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (SCCHN): 2-yr outcomes in the overall population and PD-L1 subgroups of CheckMate 141. Cancer Res 2018; 78: CT116 [DOI: 10.1158/1538-7445.AM2018-CT116]
- 42 Ferris RL, Concha-Benavente F, Blumenschein GR, Harrington KJ, Fayette J, Dimitrios Colevas A, Licitra LF, Kasper S, Even C, Gillison ML, Worden F, Saba NF, Haddad RI, Tahara M, Hasegawa Y, Yen CJ, Lynch MJ, Monga M, Geese WJ, Vokes EE. Characterization of potential predictive biomarkers of response to nivolumab in CheckMate-141 in patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (SCCHN). J Clin Oncol 2017; 35: 5 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2017.35.15_suppl.6050]
- 43 Cohen EEW, Bell RB, Bifulco CB, Burtness B, Gillison ML, Harrington KJ, Le QT, Lee NY, Leidner R, Lewis RL, Licitra L, Mehanna H, Mell LK, Raben A, Sikora AG, Uppaluri R, Whitworth F, Zandberg DP, Ferris RL. The Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer consensus statement on immunotherapy for the treatment of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (HNSCC). J Immunother Cancer 2019; 7: 184 [PMID: 31307547 DOI: 10.1186/s40425-019-0662-5]
- 44 Burtness B, Rischin D, Greil R, Soulieres D, Tahara M, De Castro G, Psyrri A, Basté N, Neupane P, Bratland Å, Fuereder T, Hughes BG, Mesia R, Ngamphaiboon N, Rordorf T, Wan Ishak WZ, Ge J, Swaby R, Gumuscu B, Harrington K. Efficacy of first-line (1L) pembrolizumab by PD-L1 combined positive score <1, 1-19, and \geq 20 in recurrent and/or metastatic (R/M) head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC): KEYNOTE-048 subgroup analysis. Cancer Res 2020; 80: LB-258 [DOI: 10.1158/1538-7445.AM2020-LB-258]
- Bourhis J, Sire C, Tao Y, Martin L, Alfonsi M, Prevost JB, Rives M, Lafond C, Tourani JM, Biau J, Geoffrois L, Coutte 45 A, Liem X, Vauleon E, Drouet F, Pechery A, Guigay J, Wanneveich M, Aupérin A, Sun X. LBA38 Pembrolizumab vs cetuximab, concomitant with radiotherapy (RT) in locally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (LA-HNSCC): Results of the GORTEC 2015-01 "PembroRad" randomized trial. Ann Oncol 2020; 31: S1168 [DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.08.2268]
- McBride S, Sherman E, Tsai CJ, Baxi S, Aghalar J, Eng J, Zhi WI, McFarland D, Michel LS, Young R, Lefkowitz R, 46 Spielsinger D, Zhang Z, Flynn J, Dunn L, Ho A, Riaz N, Pfister D, Lee N. Randomized Phase II Trial of Nivolumab With Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy Versus Nivolumab Alone in Metastatic Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2021; 39: 30-37 [PMID: 32822275 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.20.00290]
- 47 Gyawali B, Hey SP, Kesselheim AS. A Comparison of Response Patterns for Progression-Free Survival and Overall Survival Following Treatment for Cancer With PD-1 Inhibitors: A Meta-analysis of Correlation and Differences in Effect Sizes. JAMA Netw Open 2018; 1: e180416 [PMID: 30646078 DOI: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.0416]
- 48 Seiwert TY, Weiss J, Baxi SS, Ahn MJ, Fayette J, Gillison ML, Machiels JPH, Takahashi S, Melillo G, Franks A, Emeribe U, Raben D, McDevitt M, Psyrri A. A phase 3, randomized, open-label study of first-line durvalumab (MEDI4736) ± tremelimumab vs standard of care (SoC; EXTREME regimen) in recurrent/metastatic (R/M) SCCHN: KESTREL. J Clin Oncol 2016; 34: TPS6101 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.34.15_suppl.TPS6101]
- 49 Argiris A, Gillison M, Ferris RL, Harrington K, Sanchez TK, Baudelet C, et al A randomized, open-label, phase 3 study of nivolumab in combination with ipilimumab vs extreme regimen (cetuximab + cisplatin/carboplatin + fluorouracil) as firstline therapy in patients with recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck-CheckMate 651. Ann Oncol 2016; 27: vi350 [DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdw376.68]
- Clinical Trials. gov [Internet]. A Study of Pembrolizumab (MK-3475) With or Without Lenvatinib (E7080/MK-7902) as 50 First Line (1L) Intervention in a Programmed Cell Death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) Selected Population With Recurrent or Metastatic Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma (R/M HNSCC) (LEAP-010) (MK-7902-010). 2021. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04199104
- Cohen EEW, Rischin D, Pfister DG, Vermorken JB, Zhao Y, Gowda H, Ge JY, Jin F, Harrington KJ. A phase 3, 51 randomized, open-label study of epacadostat plus pembrolizumab, pembrolizumab monotherapy, and the EXTREME regimen as first-line treatment for recurrent/metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (R/M SCCHN): ECHO-304/KEYNOTE-669. J Clin Oncol 2018; 36: TPS6090 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2018.36.15_suppl.TPS6090]
- Machiels JP, Tao Y, Burtness B, Tahara M, Licitra L, Rischin D, Waldron J, Simon C, Gregoire V, Harrington K, Alves 52 GV, Figueiredo Lima IP, Pointreau Y, M Hughes BG, Aksoy S, Hetnal M, Ge JY, Brown H, Cheng J, Bidadi B, Siu LL. Pembrolizumab given concomitantly with chemoradiation and as maintenance therapy for locally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: KEYNOTE-412. Future Oncol 2020; 16: 1235-1243 [PMID: 32490686 DOI: 10.2217/fon-2020-0184]
- Tao Y, Aupérin A, Sun X, Sire C, Martin L, Coutte A, Lafond C, Miroir J, Liem X, Rolland F, Even C, Nguyen F, Saada E, 53 Maillard A, Colin-Batailhou N, Thariat J, Guigay J, Bourhis J. Avelumab-cetuximab-radiotherapy versus standards of care in locally advanced squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck: The safety phase of a randomised phase III trial



GORTEC 2017-01 (REACH). Eur J Cancer 2020; 141: 21-29 [PMID: 33125944 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2020.09.008]

- Mell LK, Torres-Saavedra PA, Wong SJ, Chang S, Kish JA, Minn A, Jordan RC, Liu T, Truong MT, Bauman JE, Powell 54 SF, Khomani A, Riaz MK, Raben D, Le QT. Safety of radiotherapy with concurrent and adjuvant MEDI4736 (durvalumab) in patients with locoregionally advanced head and neck cancer with a contraindication to cisplatin: NRG-HN004. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37: 6065 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2019.37.15_suppl.6065]
- 55 Haddad R, Harrington K, Licitra L, Brossart P, Soulières D, Mell L. CheckMate 9TM: Phase 3 study of nivolumab + radiotherapy (RT) vs cetuximab + RT in cisplatin-ineligible patients with intermediate-/high-risk locally advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the head/neck. J ImmunoTher Cancer 2018
- Lee NY, Uppaluri R, Westra W, Cohen EE, Haddad RI, Temam S, Tourneau CL, Chernock R, Safina S, Klochikhin A, 56 Meirovitz A, Brana I, Ge JY, Swaby RF, Pinheiro C, Adkins D. KEYNOTE-689: A phase 3 study of neoadjuvant and adjuvant pembrolizumab plus standard of care (SOC) in locally advanced (LA) head and necksquamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC). Cancer Res 2020; 80: CT285 [DOI: 10.1158/1538-7445.AM2020-CT285]
- 57 Wong DJ, Fayette J, Guo Y, Kowgier M, Cohen E, Nin RM, Dechaphunkul A, Prabhash K, Geiger J, Bishnoi S, Schafer H, Matheny C, Kabbinavar F, Sandler A, Raben D, Haddad R. IMvoke010: Randomized Phase III study of atezolizumab as adjuvant monotherapy after definitive therapy of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (SCCHN). Cancer Res 2019; 79: CT123 [DOI: 10.1158/1538-7445.AM2019-CT123]
- Zech HB, Moeckelmann N, Boettcher A, Muenscher A, Binder M, Vettorazzi E, Bokemeyer C, Schafhausen P, Betz CS, Busch CJ. Phase III study of nivolumab alone or combined with ipilimumab as immunotherapy versus standard of care in resectable head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Future Oncol 2020; 16: 3035-3043 [PMID: 32902312 DOI: 10.2217/fon-2020-0595
- ClinicalTrials. gov [Internet]. A trial evaluating the addition of nivolumab to cisplatin-RT for treatment of cancers of the head and neck (NIVOPOSTOP). 2021 Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03576417
- Dogan V, Rieckmann T, Münscher A, Busch CJ. Current studies of immunotherapy in head and neck cancer. Clin 60 Otolaryngol 2018; 43: 13-21 [PMID: 28464441 DOI: 10.1111/coa.12895]
- Cramer JD, Burtness B, Ferris RL. Immunotherapy for head and neck cancer: Recent advances and future directions. Oral 61 Oncol 2019; 99: 104460 [PMID: 31683169 DOI: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2019.104460]
- 62 ClinicalTrials. gov [Internet]. Study of Safety and Tolerability of Nivolumab Treatment Alone or in Combination With Relatlimab or Ipilimumab in Head and Neck Cancer. 2021 Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04080804
- 63 ClinicalTrials. gov [Internet]. A Study to Evaluate Immune Biomarker Modulation in Response to VTX-2337 in Combination With an Anti- PD-1 Inhibitor in Head and Neck Cancer. 2021. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03906526
- Taylor MH, Rasco DW, Brose MS, Vogelzang NJ, Richey SL, Cohn AL, Richards DA, Stepan DE, Dutcus CE, Guo M, 64 Shumaker RC, Schmidt EV, Wirth LJ. A phase 1b/2 trial of lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab in patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. J Clin Oncol 2018; 36: 6016 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2018.36.15 suppl.6016]
- 65 Sacco AG, Chen R, Ghosh D, Wong DJL, Worden FP, Adkins D, Pittman E, Messer K, Gold KA, Daniels GA, Swiecicki P, Sutton B, Natsuhara A, Cohen EEW. An open label, nonrandomized, multi-arm, phase II trial evaluating pembrolizumab combined with cetuximab in patients with recurrent/metastatic (R/M) head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC): Results of cohort 1 interim analysis. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37: 6033 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2019.37.15 suppl.6033]
- Sacco AG, Chen R, Worden FP, Wong DJL, Adkins D, Swiecicki P, Chai-Ho W, Oppelt P, Ghosh D, Bykowski J, 66 Molinolo A, Pittman E, Estrada MV, Gold K, Daniels G, Lippman SM, Natsuhara A, Messer K, Cohen EEW. Pembrolizumab plus cetuximab in patients with recurrent or metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: an openlabel, multi-arm, non-randomised, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 2021; 22: 883-892 [PMID: 33989559 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(21)00136-4
- Hamid O, Bauer TM, Spira AI, Olszanski AJ, Patel SP, Wasser JS, Smith DC, Balmanoukian AS, Aggarwal C, Schmidt EV, Zhao Y, Gowda H, Gangadhar TC. Epacadostat plus pembrolizumab in patients with SCCHN: Preliminary phase I/II results from ECHO-202/KEYNOTE-037. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35: 6010 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2017.35.15_suppl.6010]
- Kao HF, Liao BC, Huang YL, Huang HC, Chen CN, Chen TC, Hong YJ, Chan CY, Hong RL. Afatinib and 68 pembrolizumab for recurrent or metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (ALPHA Study): A phase II study with biomarker analysis. J Clin Oncol 2021; 39: 6024 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2021.39.15 suppl.6024]
- 69 Forster MD, Sacco JJ, Kong AH, Wheeler G, Forsyth S, Bhat R, Blair K, Lowe H, Spanswick VJ, Ensell L, Hartley JA, White L. EACH: A randomised phase II study evaluating the safety and anti-tumour activity of the combination of avelumab and cetuximab relative to avelumab monotherapy in recurrent/metastatic head and neck squamous cell cancer. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37: TPS6091 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2019.37.15_suppl.TPS6091]
- 70 Harrington KJ, Kong A, Mach N, Chesney JA, Fernandez BC, Rischin D, Cohen EEW, Radcliffe HS, Gumuscu B, Cheng J, Snyder W, Siu LL. Talimogene Laherparepvec and Pembrolizumab in Recurrent or Metastatic Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck (MASTERKEY-232): A Multicenter, Phase 1b Study. Clin Cancer Res 2020; 26: 5153-5161 [PMID: 32669371 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-1170]
- Ang KK, Harris J, Wheeler R, Weber R, Rosenthal DI, Nguyen-Tân PF, Westra WH, Chung CH, Jordan RC, Lu C, Kim H, 71 Axelrod R, Silverman CC, Redmond KP, Gillison ML. Human papillomavirus and survival of patients with oropharyngeal cancer. N Engl J Med 2010; 363: 24-35 [PMID: 20530316 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0912217]
- ClinicalTrials. gov [Internet]. Ipilimumab, Nivolumab, and Radiation Therapy in TreatingPatients With HPV Positive 72 Advanced Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03799445
- 73 ClinicalTrials. gov [Internet]. Chemoradiation vs Immunotherapy and Radiation for Head and Neck Cancer. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03383094
- 74 Sacco AG, Sharabi A, Jing Z, Pittman E, Gold KA, Sumner W. Radiotherapy with Concurrent and Adjuvant Pembrolizumab in Patients with P16-Positive Locoregionally Advanced Head and Neck Cancer: KEYCHAIN Trial Lead-In Results. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2019; 105: E363-E364 [DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2019.06.1701]
- Hsieh JC, Wang HM, Wu MH, Chang KP, Chang PH, Liao CT, Liau CT. Review of emerging biomarkers in head and 75



neck squamous cell carcinoma in the era of immunotherapy and targeted therapy. Head Neck 2019; 41 Suppl 1: 19-45 [PMID: 31573749 DOI: 10.1002/hed.25932]

- 76 Tardy MP, Di Mauro I, Ebran N, Refae S, Bozec A, Benezery K, Peyrade F, Guigay J, Sudaka-Bahadoran A, Badoual C, Pedeutour F, Saada-Bouzid E. Microsatellite instability associated with durable complete response to PD-L1 inhibitor in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Oral Oncol 2018; 80: 104-107 [PMID: 29631799 DOI: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2018.04.001]
- Hanna GJ, Lizotte P, Cavanaugh M, Kuo FC, Shivdasani P, Frieden A, Chau NG, Schoenfeld JD, Lorch JH, Uppaluri R, 77 MacConaill LE, Haddad RI. Frameshift events predict anti-PD-1/L1 response in head and neck cancer. JCI Insight 2018; 3 [PMID: 29467336 DOI: 10.1172/jci.insight.98811]
- 78 Clinical Trials. gov [Internet]. WGA in Platinum-refractory HNSCC Underwent Nivolumab. 2021 Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03917537
- 79 Gandhi AK, Roy S, Thakar A, Sharma A, Mohanti BK. Symptom Burden and Quality of Life in Advanced Head and Neck Cancer Patients: AIIMS Study of 100 Patients. Indian J Palliat Care 2014; 20: 189-193 [PMID: 25191005 DOI: 10.4103/0973-1075.138389
- Rajendra A, Noronha V, Joshi A, Patil VM, Menon N, Prabhash K. Palliative chemotherapy in head and neck cancer: 80 balancing between beneficial and adverse effects. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2020; 20: 17-29 [PMID: 31899993 DOI: 10.1080/14737140.2020.1708197
- Liu M, Han S, Zheng B, Cai H, Yang J, Zhuang Q, Li N. Cost-Effectiveness Analysis Of Pembrolizumab In The Treatment Of Advanced Recurrent Metastatic Head And Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma In China And The United States. Cancer Manag Res 2019; 11: 9483-9493 [PMID: 31814756 DOI: 10.2147/CMAR.S226243]
- 82 Haddad R, Cohen EEW, Venkatachalam M, Young K, Singh P, Shaw JW, Korytowsky B, Abraham P, Harrington KJ. Cost-effectiveness analysis of nivolumab for the treatment of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck in the United States. J Med Econ 2020; 23: 442-447 [PMID: 31928375 DOI: 10.1080/13696998.2020.1715414]
- Sanderson CR, Currow DC. Palliative care meets immunotherapy: what happens as cancer paradigms change? BMJ Support Palliat Care 2018; 8: 431-432 [PMID: 30181318 DOI: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2018-001598]
- 84 Ghanizada M, Jakobsen KK, Grønhøj C, von Buchwald C. The effects of checkpoint inhibition on head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: A systematic review. Oral Oncol 2019; 90: 67-73 [PMID: 30846179 DOI: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2019.01.018
- 85 Wang BC, Cao RB, Li PD, Fu C. The effects and safety of PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors on head and neck cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer Med 2019; 8: 5969-5978 [PMID: 31436392 DOI: 10.1002/cam4.2510]
- Galot R, Le Tourneau C, Guigay J, Licitra L, Tinhofer I, Kong A, Caballero C, Fortpied C, Bogaerts J, Govaerts AS, 86 Staelens D, Raveloarivahy T, Rodegher L, Laes JF, Saada-Bouzid E, Machiels JP. Personalized biomarker-based treatment strategy for patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck: EORTC position and approach. Ann Oncol 2018; 29: 2313-2327 [PMID: 30307465 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdy452]
- Wang HC, Yeh TJ, Chan LP, Hsu CM, Cho SF. Exploration of Feasible Immune Biomarkers for Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma Treatment in Real World Clinical Practice. Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21 [PMID: 33076306 DOI: 10.3390/ijms21207621]



WJC0

World Journal of Worin jon... Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2022 May 24; 13(5): 412-416

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.412

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

Commentary: Evaluating potential glioma serum biomarkers, with future applications

Michael Goutnik, Brandon Lucke-Wold

Specialty type: Medicine, research and experimental

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Yu HC, China; Lei T, China

Received: November 28, 2021 Peer-review started: November 28, 2021 First decision: February 15, 2022 Revised: March 15, 2022 Accepted: May 14, 2022 Article in press: May 14, 2022 Published online: May 24, 2022



Michael Goutnik, Brandon Lucke-Wold, Department of Neurosurgery, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL 32608, United States

Corresponding author: Michael Goutnik, MS, Department of Neurosurgery, University of Florida, 1505 SW Archer Rd, Gainesville, FL 32608, United States. mgoutnik@ufl.edu

Abstract

Systemic inflammation within malignant glioma is a topic of ongoing significance. In this commentary, we highlight recent findings from Gandhi et al and discuss alternative approaches. We present a counter argument with findings that IL-6 markers are controversial. We highlight the potential benefit of looking at microRNAs and other biomarkers. Finally, we present ideas for future application involving differentiation between radiation necrosis and recurrence. The commentary is intended to serve as a catalyst for further scientific discovery.

Key Words: Systemic inflammation; Malignant glioma; Neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio; Interleukin-6

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Systemic inflammation in malignant glioma, along with the potential for blood-based biomarkers, is an exciting field of ongoing research. We have discussed supporting and contrasting evidence for glioma blood-based biomarkers, along with future research proposals.

Citation: Goutnik M, Lucke-Wold B. Commentary: Evaluating potential glioma serum biomarkers, with future applications. World J Clin Oncol 2022; 13(5): 412-416 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v13/i5/412.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.412

TO THE EDITOR

The paper titled "Novel molecular panel for evaluating systemic inflammation and survival in therapy naïve glioma patients" by Gandhi *et al*[1] highlights the use of a



non-invasive panel consisting of four inflammatory markers to distinguish between histological grades of glioma and IDH-mutant/wildtype glioma, as well as predicting overall survival. The premise behind the potential effectiveness of such a panel is the chronic inflammatory state that results from various stimuli like tumor antigens and oncogenes that promote abnormal growth and leakage of markers into the peripheral circulation. The inflammatory environment of gliomas is not a new finding, as Morimura et al[2] previously found. 20%-30% of cells in glioma samples were recognizable by various macrophage/microglia markers and that tumor proliferation correlates with macrophage infiltration[2]. Parney *et al*[3] similarly demonstrated the infiltration of gliomas by macrophages. However, there is conflicting evidence as to whether these infiltrating macrophages are capable of secreting cytokines and promoting an effective immune response[4,5].

Nonetheless, other studies have found similar results with respect to the markers that Gandhi *et al* $\begin{bmatrix} 1 \end{bmatrix}$ focused upon within their paper. For example, Adams et al[6] found the kynurenine pathway to be significantly activated in plasma samples from glioblastoma (GBM) patients, an effect that is hypothesized to inhibit anti-tumor immunity by depleting tryptophan from the tumor microenvironment and thus suppressing T-cell proliferation. Du *et al*^[7] also demonstrated that the serum Kyn/Trp ratio in patients with high grade gliomas was significantly higher than in those with lower grade gliomas. Similarly, Juhász et al^[8] used dynamic PET imaging of patients with gliomas to demonstrate shunting of tryptophan (Trp) toward kynurenine (Kyn) metabolism. Mitsuka et al[9] evaluated the expression of indoleaine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), an important enzyme in tryptophan metabolism that yields catabolites including kynurenine, in 75 surgical specimens including diffuse astrocytomas, anaplastic astrocytomas, and GBMs. The authors found IDO expression correlated with glioma grade, expression increased in secondary glioblastoma relative to the initial lower-grade glioma, and stronger expression was associated with worse survival in GBM patients[9]. Zhai et al[10] also found GBM patients with high kynurenine/tryptophan ratios to have worse survival compared to those with lower values. However, no other studies were found that replicated Gandhi et al[1]'s findings of tryptophan metabolites distinguishing between IDH-wildtype and mutant gliomas.

The neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio was another significant marker in Gandhi *et al*[1]'s study, which has been shown to be effective in distinguishing between different grades of glioma and predicting overall survival and progression-free survival in a variety of gliomas[11-19]. Concurrent with Gandhi *et al*[1]'s results, NLR has also been shown to distinguish between IDH-mutant and wildtype gliomas, with mutant IDH1 gliomas featuring lower levels of NLR[17]. Furthermore, telomerase activity has also been associated with glioma grade and overall survival, which Gandhi et al^[22] also demonstrated^[20-22]. However, IDH mutant cell lines appear to indirectly reactivate hTERT, which contrasts with Gandhi et al[22]'s finding of higher hTERT in IDH-wildtype tumors[23].

Gandhi et al^[1] highlighted positive correlations between median marker values and tumor grade, as well as significantly higher molecular marker values for IDH-wildtype compared to IDH-mutant gliomas. Furthermore, they found that IL-6 had a strong correlation with tumor grade, which has been replicated by immunohistochemistry, gene expression studies and CSF and serum analysis[24,25]. Some of these findings have been challenged in the literature, however. Cytokines interact with receptors, antibodies, binding proteins, and also often have short half-lives, so total concentrations may not reflect production and/or secretion levels [26]. Samaras et al [26] thus used the ELISPOT method (a cell-based cytokine measuring system) to demonstrate greater IL-6 secretion from peripheral monocytes and greater IL-10 secretion from peripheral mononuclear and tumor cells in glioma patients compared to controls. However, there was only a marginal increase in significance in median IL-6 secretion between glioma grades, but this may be due to small sample size[26]. Holst et al[27] studied 158 patients and found no difference in serum IL-6 between GBM and lower grade gliomas once age was accounted for, and that IL-6 was significant for worse survival only in univariate analysis. However, Holst et al [27] and Jiang et al^[28] did find IL6 RNA expression to differ between IDH-mutant and wild type gliomas, which parallels the finding of Gandhi et al[1]. Other studies have not found a relationship between IL-6 Levels and survival in GBM[29,30]. In one study involving 38 glioma patients, serum IL-6 decreased in glioma patients and inversely correlated with grade, while serum IL-17A was specific to gliomas (compared to meningiomas and schwannomas) and positively correlated with grade[31]. However, serum IL-6 has been associated with a negative prognosis in other cancers[32].

Divergent results regarding IL-6 may reflect confounding bias and/or differential treatment, as corticosteroid treatment may decrease plasma IL-6[27,33]. Similarly, brain surgery may increase serum inflammatory markers, suggesting that these proteins reflect brain injury and disruption of the bloodbrain barrier rather than tumor burden[34]. There may also be false positives in patients with other inflammatory or malignant processes[12]. Furthermore, there are a variety of other circulating biomarkers that may influence survival, such as circulating tumor cells and microRNAs[35,36]. In addition, other non-serum based noninvasive biomarkers like urinary 2-hydroxyglutarate (2-HG), a product of mutant IDH acting on α-ketoglutarate, may distinguish between IDH-mutant and IDH-wild type glioma[37,38]. This metabolite may also be detected by magnetic resonance spectroscopy, and correlates with IDH mutation status[39]. Nonetheless, Gandhi et al[1]'s panel is promising with a 94.4% sensitivity and 96.7% specificity, suggesting potential therapeutic targets. More prospective work with larger cohorts is needed to evaluate the efficacy of Gandhi *et al*[1]'s proposed immune marker panel in predicting tumor grade and survival, and whether adding, removing, and/or combining other



circulating and non-circulating biomarkers may be more effective in terms of accuracy and cost.

An interesting application of Gandhi *et al*[1]'s work would involve testing the ability of their panel to differentiate tumor progression from radiation necrosis^[40]. Inflammation, including the pro-inflammatory IL-6 cytokine, likely contributes to the pathophysiology of radiation necrosis[41,42]. It is feasible that a different set of thresholds for the four molecular markers, or the inclusion of other markers like miR-21[43], predicts radiation necrosis compared to tumor progression. Furthermore, a different choice of patient controls could be useful in further evaluating the panel's specificity. Instead of forty-five healthy controls without a history of inflammation or autoimmune disease, patients with non-glial brain tumors and/or other inflammatory conditions may serve as controls.

Further testing of the panel may include other potentially important molecules like IL-33. IL-33 has been shown to induce a pro-inflammatory environment within gliomas and inversely correlates with survival[44-46]. De Boeck et al[44] also demonstrated IL-33 induced upregulation of inflammatory gene expression, including IL-6, and proposed that IL-33 secretion from glioma cells recruits monocytic cells from the circulation. Thus, IL-33 may be more specific to glioma than Gandhi *et al*[1]'s markers, and may also be sufficient alone as a marker. Differentiating the markers that distinguish high grade verse low grade gliomas early will be valuable and can be validated in preclinical studies.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Goutnik M wrote the manuscript; Lucke-Wold B contributed to writing, and edited the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors deny any conflicts of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Michael Goutnik 0000-0002-3720-2330; Brandon Lucke-Wold 0000-0001-6577-4080.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- Gandhi P. Shrivastava R. Garg N. Sorte SK. Novel molecular panel for evaluating systemic inflammation and survival in 1 therapy naïve glioma patients. World J Clin Oncol 2021; 12: 947-959 [PMID: 34733616 DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.947]
- Morimura T, Neuchrist C, Kitz K, Budka H, Scheiner O, Kraft D, Lassmann H. Monocyte subpopulations in human gliomas: expression of Fc and complement receptors and correlation with tumor proliferation. Acta Neuropathol 1990; 80: 287-294 [PMID: 2399810 DOI: 10.1007/BF00294647]
- 3 Parney IF, Waldron JS, Parsa AT. Flow cytometry and in vitro analysis of human glioma-associated macrophages. Laboratory investigation. J Neurosurg 2009; 110: 572-582 [PMID: 19199469 DOI: 10.3171/2008.7.JNS08475]
- Hussain SF, Yang D, Suki D, Aldape K, Grimm E, Heimberger AB. The role of human glioma-infiltrating microglia/macrophages in mediating antitumor immune responses. Neuro Oncol 2006; 8: 261-279 [PMID: 16775224 DOI: 10.1215/15228517-2006-008]
- 5 Charles NA, Holland EC, Gilbertson R, Glass R, Kettenmann H. The brain tumor microenvironment. Glia 2011; 59: 1169-1180 [PMID: 21446047 DOI: 10.1002/glia.21136]
- Adams S, Teo C, McDonald KL, Zinger A, Bustamante S, Lim CK, Sundaram G, Braidy N, Brew BJ, Guillemin GJ. Involvement of the kynurenine pathway in human glioma pathophysiology. PLoS One 2014; 9: e112945 [PMID: 25415278 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0112945]
- 7 Du L, Xing Z, Tao B, Li T, Yang D, Li W, Zheng Y, Kuang C, Yang Q. Both IDO1 and TDO contribute to the malignancy of gliomas via the Kyn-AhR-AQP4 signaling pathway. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2020; 5: 10 [PMID: 32296044 DOI: 10.1038/s41392-019-0103-4
- 8 Juhász C, Chugani DC, Barger GR, Kupsky WJ, Chakraborty PK, Muzik O, Mittal S. Quantitative PET imaging of tryptophan accumulation in gliomas and remote cortex: correlation with tumor proliferative activity. Clin Nucl Med 2012; 37: 838-842 [PMID: 22889771 DOI: 10.1097/RLU.0b013e318251e458]
- 9 Mitsuka K, Kawataki T, Satoh E, Asahara T, Horikoshi T, Kinouchi H. Expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and correlation with pathological malignancy in gliomas. Neurosurgery 2013; 72: 1031-8; discussion 1038 [PMID: 23426156 DOI: 10.1227/NEU.0b013e31828cf945]



- 10 Zhai L, Dey M, Lauing KL, Gritsina G, Kaur R, Lukas RV, Nicholas MK, Rademaker AW, Dostal CR, McCusker RH, Raizer JJ, Parsa AT, Bloch O, Wainwright DA. The kynurenine to tryptophan ratio as a prognostic tool for glioblastoma patients enrolling in immunotherapy. J Clin Neurosci 2015; 22: 1964-1968 [PMID: 26279502 DOI: 10.1016/j.jocn.2015.06.018]
- 11 Wang PF, Meng Z, Song HW, Yao K, Duan ZJ, Yu CJ, Li SW, Yan CX. Preoperative Changes in Hematological Markers and Predictors of Glioma Grade and Survival. Front Pharmacol 2018; 9: 886 [PMID: 30154718 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00886
- Zheng SH, Huang JL, Chen M, Wang BL, Ou QS, Huang SY. Diagnostic value of preoperative inflammatory markers in 12 patients with glioma: a multicenter cohort study. J Neurosurg 2018; 129: 583-592 [PMID: 29099300 DOI: 10.3171/2017.3.JNS161648
- Lei YY, Li YT, Hu QL, Wang J, Sui AX. Prognostic impact of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in gliomas: a systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Surg Oncol 2019; 17: 152 [PMID: 31472673 DOI: 10.1186/s12957-019-1686-5]
- 14 Weng W, Chen X, Gong S, Guo L, Zhang X. Preoperative neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio correlated with glioma grading and glioblastoma survival. Neurol Res 2018; 40: 917-922 [PMID: 30074469 DOI: 10.1080/01616412.2018.1497271]
- Gomes Dos Santos A, de Carvalho RF, de Morais ANLR, Silva TM, Baylão VMR, Azevedo M, de Oliveira AJM. Role of 15 neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio as a predictive factor of glioma tumor grade: A systematic review. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2021; 163: 103372 [PMID: 34062242 DOI: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2021.103372]
- Clavreul A, Lemée JM, Soulard G, Rousseau A, Menei P. A Simple Preoperative Blood Count to Stratify Prognosis in Isocitrate Dehydrogenase-Wildtype Glioblastoma Patients Treated with Radiotherapy plus Concomitant and Adjuvant Temozolomide. Cancers (Basel) 2021; 13 [PMID: 34830935 DOI: 10.3390/cancers13225778]
- 17 Auezova R, Ivanova N, Akshulakov S, Zhetpisbaev B, Kozhakhmetova A, Ryskeldiyev N, Mustafin K, Teltayev D, Auezova L. Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 mutation is associated with reduced levels of inflammation in glioma patients. Cancer Manag Res 2019; 11: 3227-3236 [PMID: 31114362 DOI: 10.2147/CMAR.S195754]
- Gan Y, Zhou X, Niu X, Li J, Wang T, Zhang H, Yang Y, Liu Y, Mao Q. Neutrophil/Lymphocyte Ratio Is an Independent Prognostic Factor in Elderly Patients with High-Grade Gliomas. World Neurosurg 2019; 127: e261-e267 [PMID: 30898756 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2019.03.085]
- Tan Z, Shen L, Wu H, Deng L, Li Z, Huang X. Preoperative Neutrophil/Lymphocyte Ratio Is an Independent Prognostic 19 Biomarker in Patients with Low-Grade Gliomas. World Neurosurg 2019; 132: e585-e590 [PMID: 31442642 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2019.08.068
- 20 Huang F, Kanno H, Yamamoto I, Lin Y, Kubota Y. Correlation of clinical features and telomerase activity in human gliomas. J Neurooncol 1999; 43: 137-142 [PMID: 10533725 DOI: 10.1023/a:1006258817785]
- Dorris K, Sobo M, Onar-Thomas A, Panditharatna E, Stevenson CB, Gardner SL, Dewire MD, Pierson CR, Olshefski R, 21 Rempel SA, Goldman S, Miles L, Fouladi M, Drissi R. Prognostic significance of telomere maintenance mechanisms in pediatric high-grade gliomas. J Neurooncol 2014; 117: 67-76 [PMID: 24477622 DOI: 10.1007/s11060-014-1374-9]
- Gandhi P, Khare R, Garg N. Evaluating the potential of circulating hTERT levels in glioma: can plasma levels serve as an independent prognostic marker? J Neurooncol 2017; 135: 255-261 [PMID: 28756592 DOI: 10.1007/s11060-017-2578-6]
- 23 Ohba S, Mukherjee J, Johannessen TC, Mancini A, Chow TT, Wood M, Jones L, Mazor T, Marshall RE, Viswanath P, Walsh KM, Perry A, Bell RJ, Phillips JJ, Costello JF, Ronen SM, Pieper RO. Mutant IDH1 Expression Drives TERT Promoter Reactivation as Part of the Cellular Transformation Process. Cancer Res 2016; 76: 6680-6689 [PMID: 27758882 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0696]
- 24 Rolhion C, Penault-Llorca F, Kémény JL, Lemaire JJ, Jullien C, Labit-Bouvier C, Finat-Duclos F, Verrelle P. Interleukin-6 overexpression as a marker of malignancy in human gliomas. J Neurosurg 2001; 94: 97-101 [PMID: 11147905 DOI: 10.3171/jns.2001.94.1.0097
- Shan Y, He X, Song W, Han D, Niu J, Wang J. Role of IL-6 in the invasiveness and prognosis of glioma. Int J Clin Exp 25 Med 2015; 8: 9114-9120 [PMID: 26309566]
- 26 Samaras V, Piperi C, Korkolopoulou P, Zisakis A, Levidou G, Themistocleous MS, Boviatsis EI, Sakas DE, Lea RW, Kalofoutis A, Patsouris E. Application of the ELISPOT method for comparative analysis of interleukin (IL)-6 and IL-10 secretion in peripheral blood of patients with astroglial tumors. Mol Cell Biochem 2007; 304: 343-351 [PMID: 17551671 DOI: 10.1007/s11010-007-9517-31
- 27 Holst CB, Christensen IJ, Skjøth-Rasmussen J, Hamerlik P, Poulsen HS, Johansen JS. Systemic Immune Modulation in Gliomas: Prognostic Value of Plasma IL-6, YKL-40, and Genetic Variation in YKL-40. Front Oncol 2020; 10: 478 [PMID: 32363159 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00478]
- Jiang Y, Han S, Cheng W, Wang Z, Wu A. NFAT1-regulated IL6 signalling contributes to aggressive phenotypes of 28 glioma. Cell Commun Signal 2017; 15: 54 [PMID: 29258522 DOI: 10.1186/s12964-017-0210-1]
- 29 Chiorean R, Berindan-Neagoe I, Braicu C, Florian IS, Leucuta D, Crisan D, Cernea V. Quantitative expression of serum biomarkers involved in angiogenesis and inflammation, in patients with glioblastoma multiforme: correlations with clinical data. Cancer Biomark 2014; 14: 185-194 [PMID: 24878820 DOI: 10.3233/CBM-130310]
- Reynés G, Vila V, Martín M, Parada A, Fleitas T, Reganon E, Martínez-Sales V. Circulating markers of angiogenesis, 30 inflammation, and coagulation in patients with glioblastoma. J Neurooncol 2011; 102: 35-41 [PMID: 20607353 DOI: 10.1007/s11060-010-0290-x
- 31 Doroudchi M, Pishe ZG, Malekzadeh M, Golmoghaddam H, Taghipour M, Ghaderi A. Elevated serum IL-17A but not IL-6 in glioma versus meningioma and schwannoma. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2013; 14: 5225-5230 [PMID: 24175805 DOI: 10.7314/apjcp.2013.14.9.5225]
- 32 Lippitz BE. Cytokine patterns in patients with cancer: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol 2013; 14: e218-e228 [PMID: 23639322 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70582-X]
- 33 Fujio N, Masuoka S, Shikano K, Kusunoki N, Nanki T, Kawai S. Apparent Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis Suppression via Reduction of Interleukin-6 by Glucocorticoid Therapy in Systemic Autoimmune Diseases. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0167854 [PMID: 27930715 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167854]
- Holdhoff M, Yovino SG, Boadu O, Grossman SA. Blood-based biomarkers for malignant gliomas. J Neurooncol 2013;



113: 345-352 [PMID: 23670054 DOI: 10.1007/s11060-013-1144-0]

- 35 He J, Jiang Y, Liu L, Zuo Z, Zeng C. Circulating MicroRNAs as Promising Diagnostic Biomarkers for Patients With Glioma: A Meta-Analysis. Front Neurol 2020; 11: 610163 [PMID: 33597912 DOI: 10.3389/fneur.2020.610163]
- Müller Bark J, Kulasinghe A, Chua B, Day BW, Punyadeera C. Circulating biomarkers in patients with glioblastoma. Br J 36 Cancer 2020; 122: 295-305 [PMID: 31666668 DOI: 10.1038/s41416-019-0603-6]
- 37 Fathi AT, Nahed BV, Wander SA, Iafrate AJ, Borger DR, Hu R, Thabet A, Cahill DP, Perry AM, Joseph CP, Muzikansky A, Chi AS. Elevation of Urinary 2-Hydroxyglutarate in IDH-Mutant Glioma. Oncologist 2016; 21: 214-219 [PMID: 26834160 DOI: 10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0342]
- 38 Lombardi G, Corona G, Bellu L, Della Puppa A, Pambuku A, Fiduccia P, Bertorelle R, Gardiman MP, D'Avella D, Toffoli G, Zagonel V. Diagnostic value of plasma and urinary 2-hydroxyglutarate to identify patients with isocitrate dehydrogenase-mutated glioma. Oncologist 2015; 20: 562-567 [PMID: 25862748 DOI: 10.1634/theoncologist.2014-0266]
- 39 Choi C, Ganji SK, DeBerardinis RJ, Hatanpaa KJ, Rakheja D, Kovacs Z, Yang XL, Mashimo T, Raisanen JM, Marin-Valencia I, Pascual JM, Madden CJ, Mickey BE, Malloy CR, Bachoo RM, Maher EA. 2-hydroxyglutarate detection by magnetic resonance spectroscopy in IDH-mutated patients with gliomas. Nat Med 2012; 18: 624-629 [PMID: 22281806 DOI: 10.1038/nm.2682]
- Zachariah MA, Oliveira-Costa JP, Carter BS, Stott SL, Nahed BV. Blood-based biomarkers for the diagnosis and 40 monitoring of gliomas. Neuro Oncol 2018; 20: 1155-1161 [PMID: 29746665 DOI: 10.1093/neuonc/nov074]
- 41 Yoritsune E, Furuse M, Kuwabara H, Miyata T, Nonoguchi N, Kawabata S, Hayasaki H, Kuroiwa T, Ono K, Shibayama Y, Miyatake S. Inflammation as well as angiogenesis may participate in the pathophysiology of brain radiation necrosis. J Radiat Res 2014; 55: 803-811 [PMID: 24676944 DOI: 10.1093/jrr/rru017]
- Sultana N, Sun C, Katsube T, Wang B. Biomarkers of Brain Damage Induced by Radiotherapy. Dose Response 2020; 18: 42 1559325820938279 [PMID: 32694960 DOI: 10.1177/1559325820938279]
- 43 Westphal M, Lamszus K. Circulating biomarkers for gliomas. Nat Rev Neurol 2015; 11: 556-566 [PMID: 26369507 DOI: 10.1038/nrneurol.2015.171]
- De Boeck A, Ahn BY, D'Mello C, Lun X, Menon SV, Alshehri MM, Szulzewsky F, Shen Y, Khan L, Dang NH, Reichardt 44 E, Goring KA, King J, Grisdale CJ, Grinshtein N, Hambardzumyan D, Reilly KM, Blough MD, Cairncross JG, Yong VW, Marra MA, Jones SJM, Kaplan DR, McCoy KD, Holland EC, Bose P, Chan JA, Robbins SM, Senger DL. Glioma-derived IL-33 orchestrates an inflammatory brain tumor microenvironment that accelerates glioma progression. Nat Commun 2020; 11: 4997 [PMID: 33020472 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-18569-4]
- 45 Zhang J, Wang P, Ji W, Ding Y, Lu X. Overexpression of interleukin-33 is associated with poor prognosis of patients with glioma. Int J Neurosci 2017; 127: 210-217 [PMID: 27050560 DOI: 10.1080/00207454.2016.1175441]
- 46 Gramatzki D, Frei K, Cathomas G, Moch H, Weller M, Mertz KD. Interleukin-33 in human gliomas: Expression and prognostic significance. Oncol Lett 2016; 12: 445-452 [PMID: 27347163 DOI: 10.3892/ol.2016.4626]



World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2022 May 24; 13(5): 417-422

DOI: 10.5306/wico.v13.i5.417

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

How to improve metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma patients' selection: Between clinical trials and the real-world

Andrea Pretta, Dario Spanu, Stefano Mariani, Nicole Liscia, Pina Ziranu, Valeria Pusceddu, Marco Puzzoni, Elena Massa, Mario Scartozzi, Eleonora Lai

Specialty type: Oncology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Valente R, Sweden; Yang ZG, China

Received: January 5, 2022 Peer-review started: January 5, 2022 First decision: February 15, 2022 Revised: April 1, 2022 Accepted: May 5, 2022 Article in press: May 5, 2022 Published online: May 24, 2022



Andrea Pretta, Dario Spanu, Stefano Mariani, Pina Ziranu, Valeria Pusceddu, Marco Puzzoni, Elena Massa, Mario Scartozzi, Eleonora Lai, Medical Oncology Unit, University Hospital and University of Cagliari, Monserrato 09042, Cagliari, Italy

Nicole Liscia, Department of Oncology, IRCCS San Raffaele Scientific Institute Hospital, Vita-Salute San Raffaele University, Milano 20121, Italy

Corresponding author: Mario Scartozzi, MD, Chairman, Full Professor, Medical Oncology Unit, University Hospital and University of Cagliari, SS 554, bivio per Sestu, km 4,500, Monserrato 09042, Cagliari, Italy. marioscartozzi@gmail.com

Abstract

As underlined in the minireview by Blomstrand et al, given the poor prognosis and the paucity of data on a therapeutic sequence in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC), additional randomized controlled trials and real-world evidence studies addressing current and novel regimens are needed. The real-world outcomes of first-line chemotherapy regimens such as FOLFIRINOX and gemcitabine/nab-paclitaxel are thoroughly reviewed and seem to be largely generalizable in a real-world context. Regarding second-line chemotherapy, the key question about the optimal sequence of regimens remains uncertain. Precisely in this setting, it is therefore useful to encourage the implementation of clinical studies that may contribute to the scarcity of data available up to now. We report our experience with a small group of patients treated with second-line liposomal irinotecan (nal-IRI) plus 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin. To improve the treatment of patients affected by PDAC, it is useful to identify subgroups of patients who may benefit from target treatments (e.g., BRCA mutant) and it is also important to focus on any prognostic factors that may affect the survival and treatment of these patients.

Key Words: Metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma; Palliative chemotherapy; Realworld data; Molecular selection; Biomarkers; Second-line treatment

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.
Core Tip: The present letter is intended to contribute to the collection of data on pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) treatments in second-line settings through our experience with the promising data of efficacy and safety of a small group of study patients treated with second-line liposomal irinotecan (nal-IRI) plus 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin. We also focused on highlighting the subgroups of PDAC patients who might benefit from target treatments, such as a small proportion of mutated BRCAs, and to identify comorbidities or characteristics that impact the prognosis of PDAC patients through our retrospective analysis that demonstrate a correlation between type II diabetes mellitus and improved overall survival.

Citation: Pretta A, Spanu D, Mariani S, Liscia N, Ziranu P, Pusceddu V, Puzzoni M, Massa E, Scartozzi M, Lai E. How to improve metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma patients' selection: Between clinical trials and the real-world. World J Clin Oncol 2022; 13(5): 417-422

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v13/i5/417.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v13.i5.417

TO THE EDITOR

We read with great interest the review by Pretta et al[1], entitled "Real-world evidence on first- and second-line palliative chemotherapy in advanced pancreatic cancer". This review provides a comprehensive overview on real-life data of metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) patients treated in the first- and second-line setting. The authors critically compare the results obtained in a realworld population with those provided by randomised clinical trials (RCT), highlighting that the outcomes are consistent and similar, especially on first-line with FOLFIRINOX and gemcitabine -nabpaclitaxel.

We agree with the authors that PDAC patients enrolled in RCT represent a highly selected population and that despite real-world outcomes derive from different countries, with various regulatory agencies and health care systems, all data available in the literature seems to confirm the effectiveness and safety of chemotherapy regimens in real-life settings. Moreover, since no strong data on second-line settings are available, we greatly appreciate the authors' effort to analyse this topic.

At our Centre, we conducted a retrospective analysis in a real-world population of metastatic PDAC patients treated with second-line liposomal irinotecan (nal-IRI) plus 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin (5FU/LV) in a compassionate use program, in order to assess clinical outcome, tolerability and potential prognostic factors. Statistical analysis was performed with the MedCalc package. The association between categorical variables was estimated by chi-square test. Survival distribution was estimated by the Kaplan-Meier method and survival curves comparison was evaluated with the log-rank test. The cut off value for laboratory parameters was identified with ROC curves. The study was approved by the Ethical Committee of the Cagliari University Hospital (Prot. PG / 2018/7339, June 1, 2018) and was performed in accordance with the ethical principles stated in the Declaration of Helsinki and in the International Conference on Harmonization (ICH) Note for Guidance on Good Clinical Practice (GCP, ICH E6, 1995) and all applicable regulatory requirements.

Globally, 14 patients treated with nal-IRI and 5FU/LV from June 2016 to November 2018 were included in our analysis. Baseline characteristics are shown in Table 1. Median overall survival (OS) was 9.1 (95% CI: 5.8-13.1) mo. Median progression free survival (PFS) was 7.2 mo (95% CI: 3.0-33.8). Three patients achieved a partial response, two had stable disease, and nine developed progression. Median duration of treatment with nal-IRI plus 5FU/LV was 6 mo; treatment longer than 6 mo was related to improved OS [13.1 mo (95%CI: 9-17) vs 7.1 mo (95%CI: 2.9-13.1), P = 0.0127, HR = 0.18] and PFS [9.1 mo (95% CI: 7.2-33.8) vs 3.1 mo (95% CI: 2.2-7.7), P = 0.0011, HR = 0.08]. Baseline haemoglobin levels equal or lower than 10 g/dL were associated with worse prognosis [OS: 11 mo (95%CI: 1-15.9) vs 3 mo, P = 0.0384, HR = 0.005; PFS: 7.6 mo (95%CI: 3.1-33.8) vs 3 mo, P = 0.0384, HR = 0.005]. 64% of patients developed grade > 2 toxicity. The occurrence of grade > 2 anaemia was related to shorter OS [3 mo vs 11 mo (95%CI: 7.1-15.9), P = 0.0384, HR = 0.005] and PFS [3 mo vs 7.6 mo (95%CI: 3.1-33.8), P = 0.0384, HR = 0.005]. As shown in Figure 1, the need for erythropoietin administration was associated with poorer OS [3 mo vs 10.7 mo (95%CI: 7.1-15.9), P = 0.0287, HR = 0.003] and PFS [3 mo vs 7.6 mo (95%CI 3.1-33.8), P = 0.0287, HR = 0.003]. In our real-world retrospective analysis, nal-IRI plus 5FU/LV confirmed its efficacy and tolerability, consistently with NAPOLI-1 RCT[2,3]. Longer duration of treatment was related to improved survival, whereas lower baseline haemoglobin levels, anaemia occurrence and the necessity of erythropoietin were negative prognostic factors. These results are consistent with some findings of a previous Italian large real-world analysis[4].

As underlined by Blomstrand *et al*[1], there is an urgent need for prognostic and predictive biomarkers to improve the therapeutic management of PDAC patients and to prolong survival as well as more effective treatment strategies. Indeed, intensive research efforts and substantial progress in the



WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Baseline characteristics of patients treated with second-line Nal-iri at the Medical Oncology Unit, University Hospital and University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy	
Baseline characteristics	Patients, %
Sex	
Male	71
Female	29
Age, yr	
< 65	36
≥ 65	64
Location of primary tumour	
Head-uncinate process	57
Body	21.5
Tail	21.5
Previous surgery	
Yes	28.5
No	71.5
Number of metastatic sites	
Single site	36
Multiple sites	64
Location of metastatic sites	
Lymph nodes	78.5
Liver	57
Peritoneum	42.8
Lung	35.7
First-line chemotherapy regimen	
Gemcitabine-nab-paclitaxel	92.8
Other	7.2

understanding of the PDAC genetic background and molecular biology have not yet been matched either by the successful development of novel agents or by the identification of predictive biomarkers that could increase the effectiveness of existing therapies[5]. In contrast to other solid tumours, immunotherapy strategies have failed to yield any notable impact in PDAC. This is likely related to the critical role of the tumour microenvironment as a physical barrier and its inhibitory immune signalling. The most promising therapeutic strategy seems to be combination of immunotherapeutics with other targeted treatments[6].

To our knowledge, the only successful biomarker-driven phase III RCT so far is the POLO trial, which showed improved PFS with maintenance Olaparib, a PARP-inhibitor, *vs* placebo in germline BRCA-mutant PDAC not progressing after first-line platinum-based chemotherapy[7]. Notably, BRCA-mutant PDAC represents a unique entity with specific disease features that are still to be fully understood and BRCA1/2 alterations are the most explored targetable mutations. Moreover, in this patients' setting, the sensitivity to platinum chemotherapy requires further research and confirmations. Recently, the concept of "BRCAness" has gained increasing importance. This term refers to high-grade genomic instability of non-BRCA-mutant cancers and represents a phenotype of defective homologous recombination to which somatic mutations in genes like *BRCA1/2*, *ATM*, *PALB2*, *CHEK1*, *RAD51*, and *FANCA*, can contribute. For these reasons, "BRCAness" is under evaluation as a biomarker for DNA-damaging agents and PARP inhibitors[8].

Finally, we believe that in a real-life focusing-approach, a particular focus should be deserved to the assessment of the impact of comorbidities on the PDAC patients' prognosis. In a retrospective analysis that we conducted on 164 advanced PDAC patients, we demonstrated a correlation between type II diabetes mellitus and improved OS, both in the exploratory and in the validation cohort at univariate analysis (16 *vs* 10 mo; P = 0.004 and 11 *vs* 6 mo; P = 0.01, respectively). Moreover, in multivariate

Baishidena® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Kaplan-Meier overall survival and progression free survival curves according to clinical variables. A: Overall survival (OS) Kaplan-Meier curve according to nal-IRI treatment duration; B: Progression free survival (PFS) Kaplan-Meier curve according to nal-IRI treatment duration; C: OS Kaplan-Meier curve according to baseline haemoglobin levels; D: PFS Kaplan-Meier curve according to baseline haemoglobin levels; E: OS Kaplan-Meier curve according to occurrence of grade > 2 anaemia; F: OS Kaplan-Meier curve according to occurrence of grade > 2 anaemia; F: OS Kaplan-Meier curve according to the need for

Raishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

erythropoietin administration; H: PFS Kaplan-Meier curve according to the need for erythropoietin administration.

analysis, insulin-treated patients compared with non-diabetic patients had a significantly increased survival of 4.6 mo (P = 0.03). Surely, the correlation between OS and insulin-treated type II diabetes mellitus should be confirmed in prospective clinical trials[9].

In conclusion, in the era of precision medicine, larger and prospective studies in the real-world population, with the focus on specific PDAC subtypes (e.g., BRCA-mutant), would further clarify the impact of available and innovative treatment strategies on PDAC patients and help identify potential biomarkers to improve patients' selection and prognosis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We acknowledge all the authors whose publications are referred in our article.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: All authors wrote and edited the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Prof. Scartozzi reports associations with Amgen, Sanofi, MERCK SHARP DOHME, Eisai, Merck, and Bayer, outside the submitted work.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Andrea Pretta 0000-0002-0262-9270; Dario Spanu 0000-0003-2968-6811; Stefano Mariani 0000-0002-2513-1408; Nicole Liscia 0000-0002-0799-0209; Pina Ziranu 0000-0002-5659-7366; Valeria Pusceddu 0000-0003-4167-9091; Marco Puzzoni 0000-0001-5880-4309; Mario Scartozzi 0000-0001-5977-5546; Eleonora Lai 0000-0002-0275-8187.

S-Editor: Wu YXJ L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Wu YXJ

REFERENCES

- 1 Blomstrand H, Batra A, Cheung WY, Elander NO. Real-world evidence on first- and second-line palliative chemotherapy in advanced pancreatic cancer. World J Clin Oncol 2021; 12: 787-799 [PMID: 34631442 DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v12.i9.787]
- Wang-Gillam A, Hubner RA, Siveke JT, Von Hoff DD, Belanger B, de Jong FA, Mirakhur B, Chen LT. NAPOLI-1 phase 3 2 study of liposomal irinotecan in metastatic pancreatic cancer: Final overall survival analysis and characteristics of long-term survivors. Eur J Cancer 2019; 108: 78-87 [PMID: 30654298 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2018.12.007]
- 3 Wang-Gillam A, Li CP, Bodoky G, Dean A, Shan YS, Jameson G, Macarulla T, Lee KH, Cunningham D, Blanc JF, Hubner RA, Chiu CF, Schwartsmann G, Siveke JT, Braiteh F, Moyo V, Belanger B, Dhindsa N, Bayever E, Von Hoff DD, Chen LT; NAPOLI-1 Study Group. Nanoliposomal irinotecan with fluorouracil and folinic acid in metastatic pancreatic cancer after previous gemcitabine-based therapy (NAPOLI-1): a global, randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2016; 387: 545-557 [PMID: 26615328 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00986-1]
- Pellino A, Manai C, Merz V, Scartozzi M, Milella M, De Vita F, Antonuzzo L, Zichi C, Satolli MA, Panebianco M, Noventa S, Giordano G, Nappo F, Zecchetto C, Puzzoni M, Vaccaro V, Pappalardo A, Giommoni E, Melisi D, Lonardi S. Observational retrospective evaluation of treatment with liposomal irinotecan plus fluorouracil/leucovorin for metastatic pancreatic cancer patients: An Italian large real-world analysis. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38: 660-660 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2020.38.4_suppl.660]
- 5 Lai E, Puzzoni M, Ziranu P, Pretta A, Impera V, Mariani S, Liscia N, Soro P, Musio F, Persano M, Donisi C, Tolu S, Balconi F, Pireddu A, Demurtas L, Pusceddu V, Camera S, Sclafani F, Scartozzi M. New therapeutic targets in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Treat Rev 2019; 81: 101926 [PMID: 31739115 DOI: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2019.101926]
- Pretta A, Lai E, Persano M, Donisi C, Pinna G, Cimbro E, Parrino A, Spanu D, Mariani S, Liscia N, Dubois M, Migliari M, 6 Impera V, Saba G, Pusceddu V, Puzzoni M, Ziranu P, Scartozzi M. Uncovering key targets of success for immunotherapy in pancreatic cancer. Expert Opin Ther Targets 2021; 25: 987-1005 [PMID: 34806517 DOI: 10.1080/14728222.2021.2010044]



- 7 Golan T, Hammel P, Reni M, Van Cutsem E, Macarulla T, Hall MJ, Park JO, Hochhauser D, Arnold D, Oh DY, Reinacher-Schick A, Tortora G, Algül H, O'Reilly EM, McGuinness D, Cui KY, Schlienger K, Locker GY, Kindler HL. Maintenance Olaparib for Germline BRCA-Mutated Metastatic Pancreatic Cancer. N Engl J Med 2019; 381: 317-327 [PMID: 31157963 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1903387]
- 8 Lai E, Ziranu P, Spanu D, Dubois M, Pretta A, Tolu S, Camera S, Liscia N, Mariani S, Persano M, Migliari M, Donisi C, Demurtas L, Pusceddu V, Puzzoni M, Scartozzi M. BRCA-mutant pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Br J Cancer 2021; 125: 1321-1332 [PMID: 34262146 DOI: 10.1038/s41416-021-01469-9]
- 9 Pretta A, Ziranu P, Puzzoni M, Lai E, Orsi G, Liscia N, Molinaro E, Mariani S, Riggi L, Rovesti G, Dubois M, Migliari M, Persano M, Saba G, Impera V, Musio F, Batzella E, Demurtas L, Pusceddu V, Astara G, Faloppi L, Casadei Gardini A, Andrikou K, Cascinu S, Scartozzi M. Retrospective survival analysis in patients with metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma with insulin-treated type 2 diabetes mellitus. Tumori 2021; 107: 550-555 [PMID: 33243068 DOI: 10.1177/0300891620976945]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

